
FULL COUNCIL

Please note that this meeting will be recorded for subsequent broadcast via 
the Authority’s Internet Site. 

 
The images and sound recording may also be used for training purposes 

within the Authority.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the 
Chamber and using the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are 

consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound 
recordings as outlined above.  

Dear Sir/Madam

You are hereby summoned to attend a Meeting of the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council to be held at the COUNCIL CHAMBER on Wednesday, 26th September, 
2018 at 5.30 pm being a Meeting for the following purposes.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be 
found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers

A G E N D A

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
Members are reminded of their personal responsibility 
to declare any personal and prejudicial interest in 
respect of matters contained in this agenda in 
accordance with the provisions of the Local 
Government and Finance Act 1992 relating to Council 
Tax, the Local Government Act 2000, the Council’s 
Constitution and the Members Code of Conduct

Note:



(a) Members are reminded that they must identify 
the item number and subject matter that their 
interest relates to and signify the nature of the 
personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting as a 
consequence of the disclosure of a prejudicial 
interest they must notify the Chair when they 
leave

Presentation

3. MTCBC Annual Improvement Report 2017/18 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 5 - 34

Minutes

4. Minutes of Previous Meeting(s) 
To approve as accurate the Minutes of the following 
Meetings:

4.a  Full Council: 25/07/2018 35 - 40

4.b  Cabinet: 25/07/2018 41 - 46

4.c  SACRE: 14/06/2018 47 - 52

4.d  Standards: 20/07/2018 53 - 56

4.e  Planning, Regulatory and Licensing: 18/07/2018 57 - 60

4.f  Licensing Committee: 18/07/2018 61 - 62

4.g  Rights of Way: 30/07/2018 63 - 64

4.h  Audit: 09/07/2018 65 - 68

4.i  Scrutiny : Governance, Performance, Business 
Change and Corporate Services: 04/09/2018

69 - 72

4.j  Scrutiny : Regeneration and Public Protection: 17/07 
2018

73 - 76

4.k  Scrutiny : Learning and LAESCYP: 16/07/2018 77 - 80

4.l  Scrutiny : Learning and LAESCYP: 03/09/2018 81 - 84



4.m  Scrutiny : Social Services: 24/07/2018 85 - 90

4.n  Scrutiny : Neighbourhood Services, Planning and 
Countryside: 18/06/2018

91 - 96

Committee Report(s)

5. Annual Governance Statement for Financial Year 
2017/18 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 97 - 100

6. Appointment of Audit Committee Lay Member 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 101 - 104

7. Letter of Representation 2017/18 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 105 - 110

8. Statement of Accounts 2017/18 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 111 - 274

9. Ethical Employment Practices In Supply Chains – Code 
Of Practice 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 275 - 282

10. Annual Scrutiny Report 2017–18 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 283 - 294

11. Change to Committee Appointments 2018-2019 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 295 - 296

12. Home to school Transport 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 297 - 320

13. Post-16 Home to School Transport 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 321 - 356

14. Period Poverty 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 357 - 366



Information Report(s)

15. Petition received by the Authority 
To receive report of the Chief Executive 367 - 368

16. Update to the Email Acceptable Use Policy 
To receive report of the Deputy Chief Executive 369 - 370

17. Locking of Cemetery Gates 
To receive report of the Deputy Chief Executive 371 - 376

Other Items

18. To deal with any other urgent business or 
correspondence 

19. To receive communications from Her / His  Worship the 
Mayor 

By order of the Mayor

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

MTCBC Annual Improvement Report - WAO

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 In 2017/18 the Wales Audit Office (WAO) undertook improvement assessment work 
at all Councils across Wales.

1.2 The WAO are presenting the findings to Full Council on the 26th September 2018 
(appendix A).  

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 the content of this report is noted and debated.  

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 In 2017/18 the Wales Audit Office (WAO) undertook improvement assessment work 
at all Councils across Wales.  The WAO also undertook work at all councils in 
relation to the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act, a service-user-perspective 
themed review and a review of overview and scrutiny arrangements.

3.2 The WAO are presenting the findings to Full Council on the 26th September 2018.  
The report can be found in appendix A of this report.

3.3 The report states: “The Council is meeting its statutory requirements in relation to 
continuous improvement”.  However the report does outline recommendations.  
These can be found in appendix 3 of the report.

Date Written 3rd September 2018
Report Author Andrew Mogford
Service Area Performance and Scrutiny
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

4.1 There are no specific financial implications identified in this report.  

5.0 EQUALITY IMPACT  ASSESSMENT

5.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  The form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via ‘Equality 
Impact Assessment’ link.

Appendix A – Wales Audit Office Annual Improvement Report 2017/18 on Merthyr 
Tydfil County Borough Council

ELLIS COOPER
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE,
PERFORMANCE, BUSINESS CHANGE & 

CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 6



Annual Improvement Report  
2017-18  

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council
Issued: September 2018
Document reference: 735A2018-19

Page 7



The Auditor General is independent of government, and is appointed by Her Majesty the Queen. The Auditor 
General undertakes his work using staff and other resources provided by the Wales Audit Office Board, which is 
a statutory board established for that purpose and to monitor and advise the Auditor General. The Wales Audit 
Office is held to account by the National Assembly.

The Auditor General audits local government bodies in Wales, including unitary authorities, police, probation, 
fire and rescue authorities, national parks and community councils. He also conducts local government value for 
money studies and assesses compliance with the requirements of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009.

Beyond local government, the Auditor General is the external auditor of the Welsh Government and its sponsored 
and related public bodies, the Assembly Commission and National Health Service bodies in Wales.

The Auditor General and staff of the Wales Audit Office aim to provide public-focused and proportionate reporting 
on the stewardship of public resources and in the process provide insight and promote improvement.

We welcome correspondence and telephone calls in Welsh and English. Corresponding in Welsh will not lead to 
delay. Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth a galwadau ffôn yn Gymraeg a Saesneg. Ni fydd gohebu yn Gymraeg yn 
arwain at oedi.

This document is also available in Welsh. 

This Annual Improvement Report has been prepared on 
behalf of the Auditor General for Wales by Ian Phillips and 

Sara-Jane Byrne under the direction of Huw Rees.

Adrian Crompton
Auditor General for Wales

Wales Audit Office
24 Cathedral Road

Cardiff
CF11 9LJ

Page 8



Summary report 4

2017-18 performance audit work 4

The Council is meeting its statutory requirements in relation  
to continuous improvement 4

Recommendations and proposals for improvement 5

Audit, regulatory and inspection work reported during  
2017-18 6

Appendices 10

Appendix 1 – Status of this report 10

Appendix 2 – Annual Audit Letter  11

Appendix 3 – National report recommendations 2017-18 15

Contents

Page 9



Annual Improvement Report 2017-18 – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council4

2017-18 performance audit work
1  In determining the breadth of work undertaken during the year, we 

considered the extent of accumulated audit and inspection knowledge 
as well as other available sources of information including Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council’s (the Council) own mechanisms for review and 
evaluation. For 2017-18, we undertook improvement assessment work 
at all councils. We also undertook work at all councils in relation to the 
Wellbeing of Future Generations Act, a service-user-perspective themed 
review and a review of overview and scrutiny arrangements. At some 
councils, we supplemented this work with local risk-based audits, identified 
in the Audit Plan for 2017-18. 

2  The work carried out since the last Annual Improvement Report (AIR), 
including that of the relevant regulators, is set out in Exhibit 2.

The Council is meeting its statutory requirements in relation 
to continuous improvement
3 Based on, and limited to, the work carried out by the Wales Audit Office 

and relevant regulators, the Auditor General believes that the Council is 
likely to comply with the requirements of the Local Government Measure 
(2009) during 2018-19.

Summary report

Page 10



Annual Improvement Report 2017-18 – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 5

Recommendations and proposals for improvement
4  Given the wide range of services provided by the Council and the 

challenges it is facing, it would be unusual if we did not find things that can 
be improved. The Auditor General is able to:

• make proposals for improvement – if proposals are made to the 
Council, we would expect it to do something about them and we will 
follow up what happens;

• make formal recommendations for improvement – if a formal 
recommendation is made, the Council must prepare a response to that 
recommendation within 30 working days;

• conduct a special inspection, and publish a report and make 
recommendations; and

• recommend to ministers of the Welsh Government that they intervene in 
some way.

5  During the course of the year, the Auditor General did not make any 
formal recommendations. However, we have made a number of proposals 
for improvement and these are repeated in this report. We will monitor 
progress against them and relevant recommendations made in our 
national reports (Appendix 3) as part of our improvement assessment 
work.

Page 11



Annual Improvement Report 2017-18 – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council6

Issue 
date

Brief description Conclusions Proposals for improvement

April 
2018

Aligning the 
Levers of 
Change – 
Workshop 
Summary
A series of 
workshops with 
members and 
senior officers 
focusing on 
transformation 
and risk 
management. 
A better 
understanding 
of the attitudes 
and behaviours 
that influence 
risk and failure 
can contribute to 
better decision 
making and well 
managed risk 
taking.

 Conclusion from Aligning 
the Levers of Change 
workshops:
• how a scenario is 

described influences 
how risk and failure are 
perceived;

• more people are likely 
to share learning if the 
situation is considered 
‘safe to fail’ compared 
to when ‘failure is not an 
option’; 

• for ‘safe to fail’ scenarios, 
with many unknowns 
many people favoured 
the use of common 
sense and freedom 
to act rather than 
compliance with process 
and the rules; and

• involving services users 
in decision making 
is context specific. It 
appears to work best 
in complex situations 
where there are no clear 
answers. 

Taking Risks - how to make 
it safe to fail

Given that ‘Failure is not an option’ is likely 
to create a perception that failure will lead 
to negative consequences, the Council 
was asked to consider the following 
questions:
• What steps could it take to describe 

challenges in a way that encourages 
well managed risk taking?

• How does the council share learning 
from its activities to help people within 
its own organisation and more widely? 
How is this achieved if the learning has 
come from hard lessons or failure?

• What steps could it take to support staff 
to operate in a way that encourages 
well managed risk taking?

Exhibit 1: audit, regulatory and inspection work reported during 2017-18

Description of the work carried out since the last AIR, including that of the 
relevant regulators, where relevant.

Audit, regulatory and inspection work reported during  
2017-18

Page 12

https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/academi-live-storage/7e/42/48/05/f98046e79f1bdc97245c21eb/32629Sowingseeds-Risk_Finaleng_WEB.pdf
https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/academi-live-storage/7e/42/48/05/f98046e79f1bdc97245c21eb/32629Sowingseeds-Risk_Finaleng_WEB.pdf


Annual Improvement Report 2017-18 – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 7

Dyddiad 
cyhoeddi

Disgrifiad byr Casgliadau Cynigion ar gyfer gwella

July 2018 ‘Scrutiny: Fit 
for the Future?’ 
Review
Review of how 
well placed 
Councils’ 
overview and 
scrutiny functions 
are to respond to 
current and future 
challenges.

Conclusion from scrutiny 
review report:
• the Council is 

beginning to respond 
to weaknesses in its 
overview and scrutiny 
arrangements, but 
further work remains to 
make it better placed to 
respond to current and 
future challenges;

• the Council is 
beginning to respond 
to weaknesses in its 
overview and scrutiny 
arrangements, but 
scrutiny committees are 
not effectively holding 
the Cabinet to account; 

• scrutiny activity is not 
always well planned 
and the Council should 
consider how its 
scrutiny function can 
work differently and 
engage the public more 
effectively in its activity in 
order to be better placed 
to respond to current and 
future challenges; and

• the Council cannot 
demonstrate the 
effectiveness of overview 
and scrutiny activity as 
it does not evaluate its 
impact effectively.

P1 The Council’s scrutiny committees 
should ensure that where appropriate 
Cabinet members rather than council 
officers are held to account for 
the efficient exercise of executive 
functions in accordance with statutory 
guidance.

P2 The Council should ensure that the 
minutes of overview and scrutiny 
committee meetings are recorded 
in sufficient detail to provide a 
transparent record of discussions.

P3 The Council should review the level 
and type of scrutiny support required 
to enable the scrutiny function 
to respond to current and future 
challenges.

P4 The Council should improve the 
development of scrutiny forward work 
programming through:

• ensuring that overview and 
scrutiny committees take 
ownership of forward work 
programmes and committee 
agendas; and

• reviewing its arrangements for 
planning and undertaking scrutiny 
activity, and consider different 
ways of working that best suit the 
topic area and desired outcome. 

P5 The Council should strengthen 
arrangements for engaging the public 
in overview and scrutiny activity.

P6 The Council should put in place 
arrangements for evaluating the 
effectiveness and impact of overview 
and scrutiny activity.

Page 13



Annual Improvement Report 2017-18 – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council8

Dyddiad 
cyhoeddi

Disgrifiad byr Casgliadau Cynigion ar gyfer gwella

The following proposals for improvement 
from our ‘Good governance when 
determining service changes’ report, 
issued to the Council in February 2017 
also remain applicable1. 

The Council’s governance arrangements 
could be strengthened by introducing 
greater transparency through: 

P1 Publishing a Cabinet forward work 
programme that includes details for 
forthcoming service change proposals 
to be determined; and 

P2 Ensuring that scrutiny committees 
have the opportunity to determine 
if they wish to scrutinise proposed 
service changes, including sufficient 
time in decision making processes to 
enable meaningful consideration of 
proposals.

1 Auditor General for Wales, Good Governance when determining service changes, Wales Audit 
Office, February 2017 Page 14



Annual Improvement Report 2017-18 – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 9

Dyddiad 
cyhoeddi

Disgrifiad byr Casgliadau Cynigion ar gyfer gwella

November 
2017

Annual audit letter 
2016-17
Letter summarising 
the key messages 
arising from the Auditor 
General’s statutory 
responsibilities under 
the Public Audit (Wales) 
Act 2004 and his 
reporting responsibilities 
under the Code of 
Audit Practice. The 
Annual Audit Letter is 
in Appendix 2 of this 
report.

• The Council complied 
with its responsibilities 
relating to financial 
reporting and use of 
resources;

• I am satisfied that the 
Council has appropriate 
arrangements in place 
to secure economy, 
efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use 
of resources, but the 
financial outlook is very 
challenging; and

• my work to date on 
certification of grant 
claims and returns has 
not identified significant 
issues that would impact 
on the 2016-17 accounts 
or key financial systems.

None.

Improvement planning and reporting

October 
2017

Wales Audit Office 
annual improvement 
plan audit
Review of the 
Council’s published 
plans for delivering on 
improvement objectives

The Council has 
complied with its statutory 
improvement planning 
duties.

None

November 
2017

Wales Audit Office 
annual assessment of 
performance audit
Review of the Council’s 
published performance 
assessment.

The Council has 
complied with its statutory 
improvement reporting 
duties.

None

Reviews by inspection and regulation bodies

No reviews by inspection and regulation bodies have taken place during the time period covered in this report

Page 15



Annual Improvement Report 2017-18 – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council10

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Status of this report
The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 (the Measure) requires 
the Auditor General to undertake a forward-looking annual improvement 
assessment, and to publish an annual improvement report, for each 
improvement authority in Wales. Improvement authorities (defined as local 
councils, national parks, and fire and rescue authorities) have a general duty to 
‘make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the exercise of [their] 
functions’.

The annual improvement assessment considers the likelihood that an 
authority will comply with its duty to make arrangements to secure continuous 
improvement. The assessment is also the main piece of work that enables the 
Auditor General to fulfil his duties. Staff of the Wales Audit Office, on behalf 
of the Auditor General, produce the annual improvement report. The report 
discharges the Auditor General’s duties under section 24 of the Measure, by 
summarising his audit and assessment work in a published annual improvement 
report for each authority. The report also discharges his duties under section 19 
to issue a report certifying that he has carried out an improvement assessment 
under section 18 and stating whether (as a result of his improvement plan audit 
under section 17) he believes that the authority has discharged its improvement 
planning duties under section 15.

The Auditor General may also, in some circumstances, carry out special 
inspections (under section 21), which will be reported to the authority and 
Ministers, and which he may publish (under section 22). An important 
ancillary activity for the Auditor General is the co-ordination of assessment 
and regulatory work (required by section 23), which takes into consideration 
the overall programme of work of all relevant regulators at an improvement 
authority. The Auditor General may also take account of information shared by 
relevant regulators (under section 33) in his assessments.

Page 16



Annual Improvement Report 2017-18 – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 11

Appendix 2 – Annual Audit Letter 

Councillor Kevin O’Neill – Leader/ Gareth Chapman – Chief Executive 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
Civic Centre
Merthyr Tydfil
CF47 8AN

Reference: 293A2017-18
Date issued: 30 November 2017

Dear Kevin and Gareth 

Annual Audit Letter Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 2016-17  

This letter summarises the key messages arising from my statutory 
responsibilities under the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004 and my reporting 
responsibilities under the Code of Audit Practice.

The Council complied with its responsibilities relating to financial reporting and 
use of resources  

It is Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council’s (the Council) responsibility to:

• put systems of internal control in place to ensure the regularity and 
lawfulness of transactions and to ensure that its assets are secure; 

• maintain proper accounting records;

• prepare a Statement of Accounts in accordance with relevant requirements; 
and

• establish and keep under review appropriate arrangements to secure 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

The Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004 requires me to:

• provide an audit opinion on the accounting statements;

• review the Council’s arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources; and

• issue a certificate confirming that I have completed the audit of the 
accounts.

Page 17



Annual Improvement Report 2017-18 – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council12

Local authorities in Wales prepare their accounting statements in accordance 
with the requirements of the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom. This code is based on International 
Financial Reporting Standards. 

On 28 September 2017 I issued an unqualified audit opinion on the 2016/17 
financial statements confirming they present a true and fair view of the Council’s 
financial position and transactions. My report is contained within the financial 
statements. The key matters arising from the audit of the financial statements 
were reported to Members at the Council Meeting on 27 September 2017, in my 
Audit of Financial Statements Report. I issued a certificate confirming that the 
audit of the financial statements has been completed on 28 September 2017.

Overall, the financial statements and associated working papers provided for 
audit were of good standard. Your officers were helpful and supplied us with 
all the information we requested. I reported to you the more significant issues 
arising from our audit, which are summarised below:

• The Council’s draft financial statements presented for audit were much 
improved on the prior year with regard to content, format and disclosures 
therein. 

• Our audit identified further disclosure amendments required in order to 
refine the readability of the financial statements, its internal consistency, and 
compliance with the Code. The resulting final financial statements are Code 
compliant and will form a good basis for future years.

• The financial statements were supported by accessible and comprehensive 
working papers at the outset of our audit, helping us to achieve the overall 
completion timetable.

• We reported two non-trivial uncorrected misstatements within the financial 
statements. Council agreed with management’s decision not to amend for 
these given their immaterial value with no resulting impact upon our audit 
opinion.

Page 18



Annual Improvement Report 2017-18 – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 13

The Council has made good progress in bringing forward the production of the 
financial statements. This year the financial statements were available for audit 
in mid-June. The Council is therefore making good progress towards achieving 
the 31 May deadline in 2020-21.

Since completion of the audit we have held a joint post project learning exercise 
with your Finance officers. We have identified areas where we can both 
learn from this year, and make improvements for the future. We have set up 
regular meetings to take these issues forward and to start preparations for the 
challenges that will be brought about by future requirements to bring forward the 
financial statements preparation and audit.

I am satisfied that the Council has appropriate arrangements in place to secure 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, but the financial 
outlook is very challenging

My consideration of the Council’s arrangements to secure economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness has been based on the audit work undertaken on the 
accounts as well as placing reliance on the work completed under the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2009. 

In his Annual improvement report issued in July 2017 the Auditor General 
concluded that the Council is meeting its statutory requirements in relation to 
continuous improvement. 

We issued our Savings Planning report to the Council in March 2017 which 
concluded that whilst the Council lacks some indicative savings plans for future 
years it continues to strengthen its financial planning framework to better 
support future financial resilience. The Council has increased investment in its 
corporate priorities by a planned review and release of earmarked reserves, 
and has continued the development of its Medium Term Financial Plan which 
encompasses all medium term financial planning assumptions. The Council 
now needs to strengthen its financial planning arrangements by providing more 
details of planned savings proposals when setting the annual budget to improve 
the transparency of decision-making.

In 2016-17, the Council had a net revenue surplus of £1.643 million which was 
transferred to the earmarked Budget Reserve. As at 30 September 2017, the 
Council is forecasting a net revenue deficit of £39,000 for the 2017-18 financial 
year. Significant pressures exist in some departments which are currently being 
offset by savings in others. The financial outlook is challenging with a settlement 
of -1% for 2018-19 and uncertainty beyond.

Page 19



Annual Improvement Report 2017-18 – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council14

My work to date on certification of grant claims and returns has not identified 
significant issues that would impact on the 2016-17 accounts or key financial 
systems

My ongoing work on the certification of grants claims and returns has not 
identified any significant issues to date in relation to the accounts or the 
Council’s key financial systems. A more detailed report on my grant certification 
work will follow in the spring 2018 once this year’s programme of certification 
work is complete. 

The financial audit fee for 2016-17 is currently expected to be in line with the 
agreed fee set out in the Annual Audit Plan. 

Yours sincerely

John Herniman
Engagement Director
For and on behalf of the Auditor General for Wales

Page 20



Annual Improvement Report 2017-18 – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 15

Appendix 3 – National report recommendations 2017-18
Exhibit 2: national report recommendations 2017-18
Summary of proposals for improvement relevant to local government, included 
in national reports published by the Wales Audit Office, since publication of the 
last AIR.

Date of 
report

Title of review Recommendation

June 2017 Savings 
Planning in 
Councils in 
Wales

The report did not include any recommendations or proposals for 
improvement, although proposals for improvement were included in local 
reports issued to each Council.

October 
2017

Public 
Procurement in 
Wales

The report contained seven recommendations. Six of the 
recommendations were for the Welsh Government, one of the 
recommendations was for public bodies:
R3  It was clear from our sampling that some procurement strategies 

are out of date and there has also been a mixed response to new 
policy and legislation, such as the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015. We recommend that public bodies review their 
procurement strategies and policies during 2017-18 and on an 
annual basis thereafter to ensure that they reflect wider policy and 
legislative changes and support continuous improvement.

October 
2017

Good 
governance 
when 
determining 
significant 
service changes 
– National 
Summary

The report did not include any recommendations or proposals for 
improvement, although proposals for improvement were included in local 
reports issued to each Council. The report was designed primarily to 
provide insight, share existing practice and prompt further conversations 
and discussions between councils and other organisations.

December 
2017

Local 
Government 
Financial 
Reporting  
2016-17

The report did not include any recommendations or proposals for 
improvement.

Page 21

http://www.audit.wales/publication/savings-planning-councils-wales
http://www.audit.wales/publication/savings-planning-councils-wales
http://www.audit.wales/publication/savings-planning-councils-wales
http://www.audit.wales/publication/savings-planning-councils-wales
http://www.audit.wales/publication/public-procurement-wales
http://www.audit.wales/publication/public-procurement-wales
http://www.audit.wales/publication/public-procurement-wales
http://www.audit.wales/publication/good-governance-when-determining-significant-service-changes
http://www.audit.wales/publication/good-governance-when-determining-significant-service-changes
http://www.audit.wales/publication/good-governance-when-determining-significant-service-changes
http://www.audit.wales/publication/good-governance-when-determining-significant-service-changes
http://www.audit.wales/publication/good-governance-when-determining-significant-service-changes
http://www.audit.wales/publication/good-governance-when-determining-significant-service-changes
http://www.audit.wales/publication/good-governance-when-determining-significant-service-changes
http://www.audit.wales/publication/good-governance-when-determining-significant-service-changes
http://Local Government Financial Reporting 2016-17 
http://Local Government Financial Reporting 2016-17 
http://Local Government Financial Reporting 2016-17 
http://Local Government Financial Reporting 2016-17 
http://Local Government Financial Reporting 2016-17 


Annual Improvement Report 2017-18 – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council16

Date of 
report

Title of review Recommendation

January 
2018

How Local 
Government 
manages 
demand – 
Homelessness

R1  Implementing the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 requires local authorities 
to develop services which are focussed on preventing homelessness 
and reducing demand. These are very different to traditional 
casework led homelessness services, and prevention work requires 
new skills and early interaction with users and potential users. 
We found local authorities’ progress in revising and strengthening 
services is variable (paragraphs 1.12 to 1.20). We recommend that 
local authorities: 
• ensure their staff are sufficiently skilled to deal with the new 

demands of mediating, problem solving, negotiating and 
influencing with homeless people; and 

• review and reconfigure their services to engage more effectively 
with homeless and potentially homeless people to prevent 
homelessness. 

R2  The Welsh Government provided funding to support local authorities 
to implement the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 and this funding has 
been critical in enabling new preventative services to be developed. 
The funding is in place until 2019-20 but authorities need to ensure 
they use headspace provided by these resources to revise their 
services to deliver their responsibilities in the future (paragraphs 
1.21 to 1.28). We recommend that local authorities review their 
funding of homelessness services to ensure that they can 
continue to provide the widest possible preventative approach 
needed. Reviews should consider use of Supporting People as 
well as General Council fund monies to support delivery of the 
authority’s homelessness duties.

R3  How services are configured and managed at the first point of 
contact can significantly influence how effective local authorities are 
in managing and reducing demand. Easy to access services which 
maximise usage, avoid gate keeping and focus on early solutions 
can significantly improve the prospects for successful homelessness 
prevention. We found that some authority point of entry systems are 
poorly designed which reduces the authority’s prospects for early 
intervention to prevent homelessness from occurring (paragraphs 2.4 
to 2.11). We recommend that local authorities: 
• design services to ensure there is early contact with service 

users; 
• use ‘triage’ approaches to identify and filter individuals seeking 

help to determine the most appropriate response to address their 
needs; and 

• test the effectiveness of first point of contact services to ensure 
they are fit for purpose. 

Page 22

http://www.audit.wales/publication/how-local-government-manages-demand-homelessness
http://www.audit.wales/publication/how-local-government-manages-demand-homelessness
http://www.audit.wales/publication/how-local-government-manages-demand-homelessness
http://www.audit.wales/publication/how-local-government-manages-demand-homelessness
http://www.audit.wales/publication/how-local-government-manages-demand-homelessness


Annual Improvement Report 2017-18 – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 17

Date of 
report

Title of review Recommendation

January 
2018

How Local 
Government 
manages 
demand – 
Homelessness

R4  Establishing clear standards of service that set out what the authority 
provides and is responsible for is critical to ensuring people know 
what they are entitled to receive and what they need to resolve 
themselves. We found that authorities are not always providing clear, 
concise and good quality information to help guide people to find 
the right advice quickly and efficiently (paragraphs 2.12 to 2.17). We 
recommend that local authorities publish service standards that 
clearly set out what their responsibilities are and how they will 
provide services to ensure people know what they are entitled 
to receive and what they must do for themselves. Service 
standards should: 
• be written in plain accessible language.
• be precise about what applicants can and cannot expect, and 

when they can expect resolution.
• clearly set out the applicant’s role in the process and how they 

can help the process go more smoothly and quickly.
• be produced collaboratively with subject experts and include the 

involvement of people who use the service(s).
• effectively integrate with the single assessment process.
• offer viable alternatives to the authority’s services.
• set out the appeals and complaints processes. These should be 

based on fairness and equity for all involved and available to all.
R5  Local authorities need to design services to engage with service 

users effectively and efficiently, but current standards are too variable 
to ensure service users are getting access to the advice they need 
(paragraphs 2.18 to 2.24). To improve current performance we 
recommend that local authorities make better use of their websites to 
help manage demand by:  
• testing the usability and effectiveness of current website 

information using our lines of enquiry set out in Appendix 5; 
• increasing and improving the range, quality and coverage 

of web based information; making better use of online 
applications; and 

• linking more effectively to information from specialist 
providers and advice specialists, such as Citizens Advice.

R6  The Housing (Wales) Act 2014 introduces a new duty on social 
services and housing associations to collaborate with local authority 
homelessness services in preventing homelessness. We found 
that these arrangements are not operating effectively and service 
responses to prevent homelessness and assist homeless people 
are not always being provided, nor are they consistently effective 
(paragraphs 3.13 to 3.25). We recommend that local authorities 
set out and agree their expectations of partners identifying 
how they will work together to alleviate homelessness. The 
agreement should be reviewed regularly and all partners’ 
performance reviewed to identify areas for improvement.

Page 23

http://www.audit.wales/publication/how-local-government-manages-demand-homelessness
http://www.audit.wales/publication/how-local-government-manages-demand-homelessness
http://www.audit.wales/publication/how-local-government-manages-demand-homelessness
http://www.audit.wales/publication/how-local-government-manages-demand-homelessness
http://www.audit.wales/publication/how-local-government-manages-demand-homelessness


Annual Improvement Report 2017-18 – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council18

Date of 
report

Title of review Recommendation

January 
2018

How Local 
Government 
manages 
demand – 
Homelessness

R7  Local authorities monitoring systems and evaluation approaches to 
ensure compliance with their responsibility under the Equality Act 
2010 and the Public Sector Equality Duty are not working as well as 
they should (paragraph 3.35 to 3.39). We recommend that local 
authorities address weaknesses in their equalities monitoring, 
and ensure that their homelessness service accurately records 
and evaluates appropriate data to demonstrate equality of 
access for all service users that the local authority has a duty 
towards. 

R8 Managing demand can be challenging for local authorities. There are 
some clear lessons to be learnt with regard to the implementation 
of the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 and homelessness prevention 
duties that can be applied to managing demand in other services 
(paragraphs 4.24 to 4.27). We recommend that local authorities 
use the checklist set out in Appendix 10 to undertake a self-
assessment on services, to help identify options to improve 
how they can help manage demand.

Page 24

http://www.audit.wales/publication/how-local-government-manages-demand-homelessness
http://www.audit.wales/publication/how-local-government-manages-demand-homelessness
http://www.audit.wales/publication/how-local-government-manages-demand-homelessness
http://www.audit.wales/publication/how-local-government-manages-demand-homelessness
http://www.audit.wales/publication/how-local-government-manages-demand-homelessness


Annual Improvement Report 2017-18 – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 19

Date of 
report

Title of review Recommendation

February 
2018

Housing 
Adaptations

The report contained nine recommendations. One of the 
recommendations was for the Welsh Government, eight of the 
recommendations were for local authorities and/or delivery organisations:
R1 There are many sources of funding and policies for adaptations, 

which results in disabled and older people receiving very different 
standards of service (paragraphs 1.5 to 1.9). To address these 
discrepancies we recommend that the Welsh Government set 
standards for all adaptations to ensure disabled and older 
people receive the same standard of service irrespective of 
where they live, who their landlord is and whether they own 
their own home.

R2 Most public bodies are clear on how their work on adaptations can 
positively impact on disabled and older people, and have set suitable 
aims that provide focus for action. For adaptations, having the right 
strategic goals also establishes a clear basis for decision-making 
on who should be prioritised for services and how and where to use 
resources. However, we found that current policy arrangements have 
a number of deficiencies and public bodies are not maximising the 
benefit of their investment (paragraphs 3.8 to 3.15). We recommend 
that local authorities work with partner agencies (health bodies, 
housing associations and Care and Repair) to strengthen their 
strategic focus for the provision of adaptations by:
• setting appropriate strategic objectives for adaptations that 

focus on wellbeing and independence; 
• improving the quality of information on the demand for 

adaptations by using a wide range of data to assess need 
including drawing on and using information from partners 
who work in the local-authority area; and 

• linking the system for managing and delivering adaptations 
with adapted housing policies and registers to make best 
use of already adapted homes.

R3 Ensuring that all those who might need an adaptation have all 
the information they need in order to apply for and receive an 
adaptation is important. Good-quality and accessible information 
is therefore essential for delivery organisations to demonstrate fair 
access and transparency. However, we identified weaknesses in 
the quality and coverage of public information relating to housing 
adaptations (paragraphs 2.6 to 2.15). We recommend that delivery 
organisations provide information on housing adaptations 
in both Welsh and English, and accessible formats including 
braille, large fonts, audio versions and other languages. 
Information should be promoted widely via a range of media 
including social media, websites and published information, 
and also through key partners. Preferably, information should 
be produced jointly and policies aligned between delivery 
bodies to improve coverage and usage.

Page 25



Annual Improvement Report 2017-18 – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council20

Date of 
report

Title of review Recommendation

February 
2018

Housing 
Adaptations

R4 Given the wide number of routes into services, delivery organisations 
need to ensure they have robust systems to deal effectively and 
quickly with applications. However, we found that the processes used 
by delivery organisations vary widely and often create difficulties for 
disabled and older people seeking assistance (paragraphs 2.16 to 
2.19). We recommend that delivery organisations streamline 
applications by creating single comprehensive application 
forms covering all organisations within a local-authority area 
that are available via partners and online.

R5 Delivery of adaptations can be delayed by a variety of factors 
(paragraphs 2.20 to 2.33). To improve timeliness in delivery we 
recommend that: 
• the Welsh Government reviews whether local authorities should 

continue to use the means test for Disabled Facilities Grants 
(DFGs); 

• local authorities provide or use home improvement agency 
services to support disabled and older people to progress their 
DFG applications efficiently; 

• delivery organisations work with planning authorities to fast track 
and streamline adaptations that require approvals; 

• delivery organisations use Trusted Assessors to undertake less 
complex adaptation assessments; and 

• the Welsh Government streamlines its approval processes for 
Physical Adaptation Grants (PAGs).

Page 26



Annual Improvement Report 2017-18 – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 21

Date of 
report

Title of review Recommendation

February 
2018

Housing 
Adaptations

R6 Most local authorities, housing associations and Care and Repair 
agencies have established processes to appoint, oversee and 
manage builder and/or contractor performance. However, we found 
wide variations in how delivery organisations arrange, contract and 
deliver building works (paragraphs 2.37 to 2.44). We recommend 
that delivery organisations: 
• introduce formal systems for accrediting contractors to 

undertake adaptations. These should include: 
‒ standards of customer care such as keeping to appointments, 

keeping the site tidy, controlling noise etc; 
‒ vetting of financial standing, tax and VAT status; 
‒ promoting good health and safety practices; 
‒ requiring the use of warranty schemes; 
‒ ensuring that adequate insurance is held; and 
‒ requiring references. 

• use framework agreements and partnered contracts to 
deliver adaptations; 

• address weaknesses in the contracting of adaptations, 
updating Schedule of Rates used to tender work and 
undertaking competitive tendering to support value for 
money in contracting;

• develop effective systems to manage and evaluate contractor 
performance by:
‒ setting an appropriate range of information to judge 

performance and delivery of works covering timeliness of 
work; quality of work; applicant/tenant feedback; cost of work 
(including variations); health and safety record; and customer 
feedback; 

‒ regularly reporting and evaluating performance to identify 
opportunities to improve services; and 

‒ providing formal feedback to contractors on their performance 
covering key issues such as client satisfaction, level and 
acceptability of variations, right first-time work, post-inspection 
assessment and completion within budget and on time.

Page 27



Annual Improvement Report 2017-18 – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council22

Date of 
report

Title of review Recommendation

February 
2018

Housing 
Adaptations

R7 Maximising impact and value for money in provision of adaptations 
requires effective joint working between housing organisations and 
health and social care services to ensure the needs of often very 
vulnerable people can be met, and their quality of life improved. 
However, our findings highlight that delivery organisations continue 
to have a limited strategic focus on adaptations, concentrating on 
organisational specific responses rather than how best collectively 
to meet the needs of disabled or older people (paragraphs 3.16 to 
3.21). We recommend that local authorities work with partner 
agencies (health bodies, housing associations and Care and 
Repair) to develop and improve joint working to maximise 
both take-up and the benefits of adaptations in supporting 
independence by pooling of resources, co-locating staff and 
creating integrated delivery teams

R8 Most public bodies recognise the value of adaptations in reducing 
the risk of falls, preventing hospital admissions and speeding up 
discharge from hospital. However, the importance of adaptations 
is not always reflected in local partnership arrangements and 
outside of Occupational Therapists, health professionals noted that 
the different local-authority and housing-association systems for 
administering, approving and delivering adaptations are difficult to 
navigate (paragraphs 3.22 to 3.24). To enhance take-up and usage 
of adaptations with health bodies we recommend that delivery 
organisations jointly agree and publish joint service standards 
for delivery of adaptations within each local-authority area. 
The service standards should clearly set out how each agency 
approaches delivery of adaptations and how they will provide 
services to ensure people know what they are entitled to 
receive. Service Standards should: 
• be written in plain accessible language; 
• be precise about what people can and cannot expect to receive; 
• be produced collaboratively to cover all adaptations services 

within an area;
• set out the eligibility for the different funding streams, application 

and assessment processes, timescales and review processes; 
and

• offer the viable options and alternatives for adaptations including 
linking with adapted housing registers to maximise use of already 
adapted homes. 

Page 28



Annual Improvement Report 2017-18 – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 23

Date of 
report

Title of review Recommendation

February 
2018

Housing 
Adaptations

R9 Having the right performance indicators and regularly reporting 
performance against these are important for public bodies to 
manage operational performance, identify areas of improvement 
and evaluating the positive impact of services. We found that the 
current range of performance indicator data is extremely limited and 
not sufficient to enable a full evaluation of performance (paragraphs 
4.5 to 4.20). To effectively manage performance and be able to 
judge the impact of adaptations, we recommend that the Welsh 
Government and delivery organisations: 
• set appropriate measures to judge both the effectiveness and 

efficiency of the different systems for delivering adaptations and 
the impact on wellbeing and independence of those who receive 
adaptations; 

• ensure delivery organisations report against their responsibilities 
in respect of the Equalities Act 2010; 

• ensure performance information captures the work of all delivery 
organisations – local authorities, housing associations and Care 
and Repair agencies; and 

• annually publish performance for all delivery organisations to 
enable a whole systems view of delivery and impact to support 
improvement to be taken.

April 2018 Speak my 
language: 
Overcoming 
language and 
communication 
barriers in public 
services

Ensuring that people who face language and communication barriers can 
access public services
R1 Public bodies are required to ensure that people can access the 

services they need. To take account of the requirements of the 2010 
Equality Act and other legislation, we recommend that public bodies 
regularly review the accessibility of their services to people who 
do not speak English or Welsh as a main language including Deaf 
people who use sign language. This assessment can include using 
our checklist.

Developing interpretation and translation services in Wales
R2 Our work with public bodies, interpretation and translation service 

providers and service users has identified some challenges for 
interpretation and translation services. We recommend that the 
Welsh Government work with public bodies, representative 
groups and other interested parties to make sure that:
• the supply of interpreters is sufficient especially for 

languages in high demand such as BSL and Arabic; 
• interpreters with specialist training are available to work 

in mental health services and with people who have 
experienced trauma or violence; and 

• quality assurance and safeguarding procedures are in place. 

Page 29

http://www.audit.wales/publication/speak-my-language-overcoming-language-and-communication-barriers-public-services
http://www.audit.wales/publication/speak-my-language-overcoming-language-and-communication-barriers-public-services
http://www.audit.wales/publication/speak-my-language-overcoming-language-and-communication-barriers-public-services
http://www.audit.wales/publication/speak-my-language-overcoming-language-and-communication-barriers-public-services
http://www.audit.wales/publication/speak-my-language-overcoming-language-and-communication-barriers-public-services
http://www.audit.wales/publication/speak-my-language-overcoming-language-and-communication-barriers-public-services
http://www.audit.wales/publication/speak-my-language-overcoming-language-and-communication-barriers-public-services


Annual Improvement Report 2017-18 – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council24

Date of 
report

Title of review Recommendation

May 2018 Reflecting on 
Year One: 
How Have 
Public Bodies 
Responded 
to the Well-
being of Future 
Generations 

The report did not include any recommendations or proposals for 
improvement.

May 2018 Strategic 
Commissioning 
of 
Accommodation 
Services for 
Adults with 
Learning 
Disabilities 

R1 People with a learning disability have a right to live independently. 
The last 50 years have seen significant changes in the provision 
of accommodation and support. Service provision has moved to 
a model that enables people to live in the community in ordinary 
houses throughout Wales (paragraphs 1.3 to 1.10). We recommend 
that local authorities continue to focus on preventing people 
becoming dependent on more expensive placements in care 
homes by providing effective support at home and a range of 
step up accommodation by: 
• improving the evaluation of prevention activity so local 

authorities understand what works well and why.
• utilising the mapping of prevention services under the Social 

Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 that covers other 
agencies and service providers.

• improving the signposting of additional help so carers and 
support networks can be more resilient and self-reliant. This 
should include encouraging carers to make long-term plans 
for care to maintain and protect their dependants’ wellbeing.

• sharing risk analysis and long-term planning data with other 
local authorities, service providers, and partners to agree a 
shared understanding of the range of options. 

R2 Population projections show that the number of people with a 
learning disability will increase in the future, and those aged over 
65 and those with a moderate or severe learning disability will rise 
significantly (paragraphs 1.3 to 1.10). We recommend that local 
authorities improve their approach to planning services for 
people with learning disabilities by building on the Regional 
Partnership Boards’ population assessments for people with 
learning disabilities and agreeing future priorities.

Page 30

http://www.audit.wales/publication/reflecting-year-one
http://www.audit.wales/publication/reflecting-year-one
http://www.audit.wales/publication/reflecting-year-one
http://www.audit.wales/publication/reflecting-year-one
http://www.audit.wales/publication/reflecting-year-one
http://www.audit.wales/publication/reflecting-year-one
http://www.audit.wales/publication/reflecting-year-one
http://www.audit.wales/publication/reflecting-year-one
http://www.audit.wales/news/strategic-commissioning-learning-disabilities
http://www.audit.wales/news/strategic-commissioning-learning-disabilities
http://www.audit.wales/news/strategic-commissioning-learning-disabilities
http://www.audit.wales/news/strategic-commissioning-learning-disabilities
http://www.audit.wales/news/strategic-commissioning-learning-disabilities
http://www.audit.wales/news/strategic-commissioning-learning-disabilities
http://www.audit.wales/news/strategic-commissioning-learning-disabilities
http://www.audit.wales/news/strategic-commissioning-learning-disabilities


Annual Improvement Report 2017-18 – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 25

Date of 
report

Title of review Recommendation

May 2018 Strategic 
Commissioning 
of 
Accommodation 
Services for 
Adults with 
Learning 
Disabilities

R3 The Welsh Government produced guidance to local authorities, 
entitled ‘developing a commissioning strategy for people with a 
learning disability’ to support authorities in producing strategic plans 
for the commissioning of learning disability services. In conjunction 
with codes of practice developed following the Social Services and 
Well-being (Wales) Act 2014, the Welsh Government requires local 
authorities to develop integrated commissioning options with Local 
Health Board services. The aim is to provide a joined-up and cost-
effective approach to the commissioning of services but our review-
highlighted weaknesses in current arrangements (paragraph 2.4 to 
2.12). We recommend that local authorities do more to integrate 
commissioning arrangements with partners and providers and 
take account of the work of the National Commissioning Board 
by: 
• understanding the barriers that exist in stopping or hindering 

further integration;
• improving the quality of joint strategic plans for learning 

disability services (see also paragraphs 3.11 to 3.14); 
• establishing investment models and sustainable financial 

structures, joint workforce planning and multi-year 
budgeting; and 

• developing appropriate governance and data sharing 
frameworks with key local partners that include a clear 
process for managing risk and failure.

R4 Local authorities’ engagement with people with learning disabilities 
and their carers is variable. Whilst many authority services have 
positive relationships with advocacy groups, some are less 
successful in involving these groups and carers in evaluating the 
quality of services (paragraph 2.18 to 2.20). We recommend 
that local authorities do more to involve people with learning 
disabilities and their carers in care planning and agreeing 
pathways to further independence by:
• consistently including people with learning disabilities and 

their carers in the writing, monitoring and development of 
care plans; 

• systematically involving carers and advocacy groups in 
evaluating the quality of services; 

• involving people with learning disabilities in procurement 
processes; and 

• ensuring communications are written in accessible and 
appropriate language to improve the understanding and 
impact of guidance and information.

Page 31

http://www.audit.wales/news/strategic-commissioning-learning-disabilities
http://www.audit.wales/news/strategic-commissioning-learning-disabilities
http://www.audit.wales/news/strategic-commissioning-learning-disabilities
http://www.audit.wales/news/strategic-commissioning-learning-disabilities
http://www.audit.wales/news/strategic-commissioning-learning-disabilities
http://www.audit.wales/news/strategic-commissioning-learning-disabilities
http://www.audit.wales/news/strategic-commissioning-learning-disabilities
http://www.audit.wales/news/strategic-commissioning-learning-disabilities


Annual Improvement Report 2017-18 – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council26

Date of 
report

Title of review Recommendation

May 2018 Strategic 
Commissioning 
of 
Accommodation 
Services for 
Adults with 
Learning 
Disabilities 

R5 Local Authorities could do more to involve service providers in 
commissioning and make the tendering process more effective 
by making it easier to navigate and more outcome focused. 
However, providers are not as effectively engaged as they should 
be (paragraphs 2.28 to 2.38). We recommend that local authorities 
collaborate with providers, the third sector and suppliers in 
understanding challenges, sharing data, and pooling expertise by: 
• improving the quality, range, and accessibility of tendering 

information; and 
• working with providers to shape local markets by coming to a 

common understanding of the opportunities, risks, and future 
priorities in providing learning disabilities services.

R6 Most local authorities do not have effective arrangements to monitor 
and evaluate their commissioning of learning disability services 
(paragraphs 3.3 to 3.15). We recommend that local authorities 
develop a more appropriate set of performance indicators and 
measures of success that make it easier to monitor and demonstrate 
the impact of service activity by: 
• co-designing measures, service and contract performance 

indicators with service providers, people with learning disabilities 
and their carers; 

• ensure commissioners have sufficient cost and qualitative 
information on the full range of placement and care options 
available; 

• equipping commissioners with data to demonstrate the long-term 
financial benefits of commissioning choices, this includes having 
the right systems and technology; 

• integrating the outcomes and learning from reviews of care plans 
into performance measures; 

• evaluating and then learning from different types of interventions 
and placements; and 

• including learning disability services in local authority scrutiny 
reviews to challenge performance and identify improvements.

Page 32

http://www.audit.wales/news/strategic-commissioning-learning-disabilities
http://www.audit.wales/news/strategic-commissioning-learning-disabilities
http://www.audit.wales/news/strategic-commissioning-learning-disabilities
http://www.audit.wales/news/strategic-commissioning-learning-disabilities
http://www.audit.wales/news/strategic-commissioning-learning-disabilities
http://www.audit.wales/news/strategic-commissioning-learning-disabilities
http://www.audit.wales/news/strategic-commissioning-learning-disabilities
http://www.audit.wales/news/strategic-commissioning-learning-disabilities


Annual Improvement Report 2017-18 – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 27
Page 33



Wales Audit Office

24 Cathedral Road

Cardiff CF11 9LJ

Tel: 029 2032 0500

Fax: 029 2032 0600

Textphone: 029 2032 0660

E-mail: info@audit.wales

Website: www.audit.wales

Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru

24 Heol y Gadeirlan

Caerdydd CF11 9LJ

Ffôn: 029 2032 0500

Ffacs: 029 2032 0600

Ffôn Testun: 029 2032 0660

E-bost: post@archwilio.cymru

Gwefan: www.archwilio.cymru

Page 34



MINUTES OF MEETING

FULL COUNCIL MEETING
WEDNESDAY, 25TH JULY, 2018

PRESENT: Councillors   C Tovey (Chair)
                      H Barrett (Vice-Chair)

Councillors   J Amos, A Barry, C J Barry, S P Brown, B Carter, 
D Chaplin, M Colbran, C Davies, L Davies, E Galsworthy, 
K Gibbs, D Hughes, D Isaac, S Jago, C T Jones, D Jones, 
H R Jones, G Lewis, L Mytton, K O'Neill, G Richards, D Roberts, 
T Rogers, D Sammon, W R Smith, J Thomas, G Thomas, 
I Thomas and S Thomas

Officers:
G W Chapman (Chief Executive), C Kennedy (Head of Legal 
and Governance Services - Monitoring Officer), E Cooper 
(Deputy Chief Executive), S Jones (Head of Finance), 
M Thomas (Head of Corporate Services), L Curtis Jones (Chief 
Officer (Social Services)), C Evans (Chief Officer 
(Neighbourhood Services)), A Owen (Chief Officer 
(Regeneration and Public Protection)), A Mogford (Business 
Change Manager), F Donnelly (H R Manager), P Lewis (Trading 
Standards and Licensing Manager), J Jones (Head of  Planning 
and Countryside), J Raine (Planning Officer), A Lewis (Head of 
School Planning Performance and Resource), P Jones 
(Environmental Cleansing and Enforcement Manager), 
C Dinham (Communications, Consultation and Engagement 
Manager) and B Melhuish (Corporate Communications Officer)

K Vokes (Democratic Services Officer) and A Taylor 
(Democratic Services Team Leader)

Page 35

Agenda Item 4a



ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

229  Apologies for Absence Apologies for absence received from Councillor Tanya 
Skinner. 

230  Declarations of Interest Councillor Paul Brown declared his interest in item 12 
(replacement Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan)  and 
advised that he has been granted dispensation by the 
Standards Committee to speak and vote on matters relating 
to the Local Development Plan.  

Councillor John Thomas declared his interest in item 8 
(Delegated Authority for Taxi Licensing) and item 10 (Post 
16 Home to School Transport) as he is a proprietor and 
driver of a taxi company.

Councillor Andrew Barry declared his interest in item 8 
(Delegated Authority for Taxi Licensing) and item 10 (Post-
16 Home to School Transport) as he is a proprietor and 
driver of a taxi company.   

231  Minutes of Previous 
Meeting(s)

The Council approves as accurate (subject to any 
amendments) the minutes of the following meetings.

231a  Full Council: 
27/06/2018

RESOLVED that:

The minutes of the Full Council meeting held on 27th June 
2018 be accepted as a correct record.

231b  Cabinet: 20/06/2018 RESOLVED that:

The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 20th June 2018 
be accepted as a correct record.

231c  Cabinet: 04/07/2018 RESOLVED that:

The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 4th July 2018 
be accepted as a correct record.

231d  Audit: 11/06/2018 RESOLVED that:

The minutes of the Audit Committee held on 11th June 2018 
be accepted as a correct record.

231e  Licensing Committee: 
15/05/2018

RESOLVED that:

The minutes of the Licensing Committee held on 15th May 
2018 be accepted as a correct record.

231f  Licensing 
Committee:15/05/2018

RESOLVED that:

The minutes of the Licensing Committee held on 15th May 
2018 be accepted as a correct record.

231g  Licensing Committee: 
21/06/2018

RESOLVED that:

Page 36



The minutes of the Licensing Committee held on 21st June 
2018 be accepted as a correct record.

231h  Licensing Committee: 
21/06/2018

RESOLVED that:

The minutes of the Licensing Committee held on 21st June 
2018 be accepted as a correct record.

231i  Planning, Regulatory 
and Licensing: 
20/062018

RESOLVED that:

The minutes of the Planning, Regulatory and Licensing 
Committee held on 20th June 2018 be accepted as a correct 
record.

231j  Scrutiny : Learning and 
LAESCYP: 16/04/2018

RESOLVED that:

The minutes of the Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny 
Committee held on 16th April 2018 be accepted as a 
correct record.

231k  Scrutiny : Learning and 
LAESCYP: 04/06/2018

RESOLVED that:

The minutes of the Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny 
Committee held on 4th June 2018 be accepted as a correct 
record.

231l  Scrutiny : 
Regeneration and 
Public Protection: 
05/06/2018

RESOLVED that:

The minutes of the Regeneration and Public Protection 
Scrutiny Committee held on 5th June 2018 be accepted as a 
correct record.

231m  Scrutiny : Social 
Services: 12/06/2018

RESOLVED that:

The minutes of the Social Services Scrutiny Committee held 
on 12th June 2018 be accepted as a correct record.

231n  Scrutiny : Governance, 
Performance, Business 
Change and Corporate 
Services: 10/07/2018

RESOLVED that:

The minutes of the Governance, Performance, Business 
Change and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee held 
on 10th July 2018 be accepted as a correct record.

232  Addressing the 
Funding from Local 
Government

The Leader of the Council, Councillor Kevin O’Neill, referred 
the Council to the Notice of Motion  -  addressing the 
funding from Local Government. 

RESOLVED that:

The Authority writes to Gerald Jones MP and Dawn 
Bowden AM to ask for an explanation as to their strategy to 
ensure that Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council receives 
parity of allocation from the Barnett Consequential and 
distribution by Welsh Government Revenue Grant. 

233  Budget Savings 
2018/19 – Responding 
To Notice Of Motion

RESOLVED that:

 The service budget reductions of £801,000 and 

Page 37



schools savings of £408,000 in respect of the 
2018/19 financial year be noted.

 The £527,000 earmarked reserves identified as no 
longer required for their original purposes, as 
governed by the Corporate Reserves Policy, be 
noted.

 Given the Council is currently in a period of 
statutory consultation in respect of Breakfast Clubs, 
which ends on 17th August 2018, and that the Trade 
Unions are currently negotiating in the best 
interests of their members, that no decision is made 
in respect of the re-allocation of the £200,000 
earmarked reserves until such time as the 
consultation is complete and negotiations 
concluded.

 A further report will be presented to Council at the 
next available date following conclusion of the 
consultation. 

234  Proposal To 
Incorporate The 
Internal Audit Service 
Into An Existing 
Shared Service

RESOLVED that:

 The proposal for the Council’s Internal Audit 
Service to join the existing RIASS in place between 
the Vale of Glamorgan Council and Bridgend 
County Borough Council be approved.

 Powers be delegated to the Chief Finance Officer 
and Head of Corporate Services in consultation 
with the Council’s Legal Service to make the 
necessary arrangements to implement the 
proposal, including updating the Partnership 
Agreement. 

235  Ffos y Fran 
Community Fund 
Constitution and Terms 
of Reference

RESOLVED that:

Clause 3 of the Ffos-y-fran Community Fund Constitution 
and Terms of Reference be amended to read as follows: 

 “The quorum shall be 3 members. However in the 
event that a representative from Merthyr (South 
Wales) Ltd is not in attendance the Council shall 
notify and consult Merthyr (South Wales) Ltd upon 
any recommendation made at the Panel and shall 
allow Merthyr (South Wales) Ltd 7 days within 
which to make any comment. The Council shall 
take due regard to the comments made however 
shall be entitled to make decisions as it thinks fit.”    

236  Delegated Authority – 
Taxi Licensing

Having declared an interest, Councillors Andrew Barry and 
John Thomas left the Chamber.

RESOLVED that:

Delegated authority be given to both the Public Protection 
and Housing Manager and the Trading Standards and 

Page 38



Licensing Manager, in consultation with the Chair or Vice 
Chair of Planning and the Head of Legal and Democratic 
Services, to determine applications to re-license drivers and 
vehicles made up to three days after the expiry of the 
previous licence. 

237  Post-16 Home to 
School Transport

It was agreed that this item be considered as item 9. 

Having declared an interest, Councillors Andrew Barry and 
John Thomas left the Chamber.

RESOLVED that:

This item be deferred to September’s Full Council meeting 
in order that discussions can take place with the Cabinet 
and Leader of the Opposition on how to take this forward.

238  Cardiff Capital Region 
City Deal Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee  -  Proposal 
and DRAFT Terms of 
Reference

Councillors Andrew Barry and John Thomas returned to the 
meeting. 

Councillor Andrew Barry referred to the report and advised 
members of two additional recommendations, namely:

 Councillor Darren Roberts be the Authority’s 
Substantive representative of the Cardiff Capital 
Region City Deal JOSC.   

 Councillor Gareth Lewis be the Authority’s 
Substitute of the Cardiff Capital  Region City Deal 
JOSC.  

Following discussion it was RESOLVED that subject to 
the foregoing:

 Council agrees to the creation of the Cardiff Capital 
Region City Deal JOSC which will comprise of 
elected Members from the ten Local Authorities 
involved in the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal, 
namely: Blaenau Gwent; Bridgend; Cardiff; 
Caerphilly; Merthyr Tydfil; Monmouthshire; 
Newport; Rhondda Cynon Taf; Torfaen and Vale of 
Glamorgan.

 Delegated authority be given to the Chief Executive 
in consultation with the Leader of the Council and 
the Chair of the Governance, Performance, 
Business Change and Corporate Services Scrutiny 
Committee to amend and finalise the terms of 
reference (draft Terms of Reference are set out in 
Appendix 1) until such time the JOSC is 
operational.  

 The Council agrees a non-executive Member to 
represent Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
on the proposed City Deal JOSC.  

 Councillor Darren Roberts be the Authority’s 
Substantive representative of the Cardiff Capital 
Region City Deal JOSC.   

Page 39



 Councillor Gareth Lewis be the Authority’s 
Substitute of the Cardiff Capital  Region City Deal 
JOSC.  

239  An update on the 
Environmental 
Enforcement Officers 
for Littering and Dog 
Fouling

Councillor Kevin Gibbs gave an update on the 
Environmental Enforcement Officers for Littering and Dog 
Fouling and advised that an additional recommendation be 
considered that the Feasibility Study be bought before the 
appropriate Scrutiny Committee before a recommendation 
is made to Full Council. 

RESOLVED subject to the foregoing that:

 Arrangements be made to look at the feasibility of 
‘Street Wardens’ to carry out litter and dog fouling 
enforcement as well as parking enforcement.

 The feasibility study be brought before the 
appropriate Scrutiny Committee before a 
recommendation is made to Full Council.  

240  Replacement Merthyr 
Tydfil Local 
Development Plan 
(2016-2031) Deposit 
Plan

RESOLVED that:

 The issues raised during the pre-deposit Preferred 
Strategy public consultation in 2017 and 
recommended responses be noted. 

 The Replacement Deposit Local Development Plan 
2016  -  2031 and associated documents be 
approved for a statutory six week period of public 
consultation commencing in July 2018.

241  Remuneration Paid to 
Members 2017 – 2018

RESOLVED that:

The report for information be received. 

242  To deal with any other 
urgent business or 
correspondence

The Mayor advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent.  

243  To receive 
communications from 
Her/His  Worship the 
Mayor

No communications were received from His Worship the 
Mayor. 

Page 40



MINUTES OF MEETING

CABINET MEETING
WEDNESDAY, 25TH JULY, 2018

PRESENT: Councillors    K O'Neill (Chair)
                      L Mytton (Vice-Chair) 

Councillors   A Barry, K Gibbs, D Hughes and G Thomas

Other Councillors in Attendance:
D Sammon and H R Jones

Officers
G W Chapman (Chief Executive), E Cooper (Deputy Chief 
Executive), C Kennedy (Head of Legal and Governance 
Services - Monitoring Officer), S Jones (Head of Finance), 
M Thomas (Head of Corporate Services), L Curtis Jones (Chief 
Officer (Social Services)), B Melhuish (Corporate 
Communications Officer), A Owen (Chief Officer (Regeneration 
and Public Protection)), C Evans (Chief Officer (Neighbourhood 
Services)), A Lewis (Schools Department), A Mogford (Business 
Change Manager) and F Donnelly (H R Manager)

M Hemmings (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

210  Apologies for absence No apologies for absence were received.

211  Declarations of Interest No Declarations of Interest were made.

212  Final Draft Scrutiny 
Report  -  Capital 
Project Referral 
(Brandy Bridge 
scheme / Road Slip - 
South of Pontygwaith)

Councillor D Sammon presented the report to Committee.

Councillors A Barry and K Gibbs congratulated Councillor D 
Sammon and the Task and Finish Group for the work 
undertaken.  

Page 41

Agenda Item 4b



Resolved that:

a) This report be received.
b) A further report be brought back to Committee 

within 2 – 3 months following analysis of the six 
recommendations and providing a way to move 
forward.

213  Scrutiny Report - 
Review of Attendance 
& Attainment in 
Primary & Secondary 
Schools

Councillor H Jones presented the report to Committee.

Councillors L Mytton thanked Councillor H Jones and the 
Task and Finish Group for the robust report provided and 
made the following comments:-

 The difficulties involved in moving position in the 
league table due to such small percentages (.06% 
could equate to just 1 or 2 pupils).

 Welsh Government initiative coming out in 
September for improving attendance and corporate 
communications will drive this through to schools.

Resolved that:

a) This report be received.
b) A further report be brought back to Committee 

within 2 months.

214  Provisional Capital 
Outturn 2017/18

Resolved that:

a) The Provisional Capital Outturn 2017/18 be noted.
b) The amendment to the budget as paragraph 4.1.1 

and 4.2.2 be noted.
c) Variances to the revised budget as per paragraph 

4.1.3 and 4.2.3 be noted.
d) The amendments to the approved 2018/19 budget 

following the 2017/18 carry forward requirements 
as per paragraph 4.1.4 be approved.

215  Capital Budget 
Monitoring 2018-19 - 
Quarter 1

Resolved that:

a) The Capital Monitoring Report for the first quarter of 
2018/19 be noted.

b) Approval be given to the budget amendments for 
core funded projects as outlined in 4.1 below.

c) The requirement for Officers to continue to 
rigorously monitor budgets to ensure that 
expenditure remains within approved budgets be 
noted.

d) The requirement for Chief Officers to scrutinise 
project delivery to ensure expenditure remains 
within approved budgets be noted.

216  Revenue Budget 
Monitoring 2018/19 – 
Quarter 1

Resolved that:

a) The first Revenue Budget Monitoring report for the 
2018/19 financial year based on 1st Quarter 
projections be accepted.

Page 42



b) Budget Virements outlined in Appendix 2 be 
approved.

c) Managers to urgently address projected budget 
deficits within their respective service areas, 
identifying all possible remedial measures to offset 
projected deficits.

d) Managers to continue to monitor all revenue 
budgets and immediately notify the Chief Finance 
Officer of potential financial difficulties. 

217  School Reorganisation 
- 3-16 Voluntary Aided 
School

Resolved that:

a) a period of consultation with all appropriate bodies 
is entered into, with a view to:

 closing St Aloysius RC Primary, St Illtyd’s RC 
Primary and St Mary’s RC Primary Schools and 
Bishop Hedley RC High School;

 creating a 3-16 all through Catholic education 
provision with effect from 1st September 2019; and

 continuing to provide education on existing sites 
until such time as the proposals for utilising 21st 
Century Band B monies are agreed by Council.

b) A further report be presented to Council following 
the period of consultation. 

218  Charging for 
Community Care 
Support Services

Resolved that:

Recommendation 2.1 and 2.2 be removed and replaced 
with:-

a) To keep the charge at its current level.

219  Cwm Taf Carers 
Annual Report 2017-18

Resolved that:

a) The contents of this report be noted and that the 
Annual report is also being submitted for approval 
by the Cabinet in Rhondda Cynon Taf County 
Borough Council and the Cwm Taf University 
Health Board.

b) Cabinet notes the Annual Report was due in Welsh 
Government at the end of June 2018.  However, in 
line with previous practice which has been 
acceptable to Welsh Government, as the timeline of 
Cabinets in Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf 
County Borough Councils and UHB Board meetings 
did not neatly fit, a draft report will be submitted, 
with the final version sent to Welsh Government 
following approval by all three partners.

c) The Annual Report attached as Appendix 1 for 
submission to Welsh Government be approved.

d) The work relating to Carers being taken forward as 
part of the Regional Plan for the implementation of 
the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 
2014, specifically through implementation of the 
Cwm Taf Carers Strategy 2016-19 approved by 
partners in July 2016 be noted.

220  Funding Flexibility & Councillor D Hughes referred Committee to the Report and 

Page 43



Supporting People proposed an amendment to Recommendation 2.2 to include 
an additional statement and a further recommendation be 
added.

Resolved that:

a) The contents of the report and the challenge of 
indicative reductions in grant funding for 2019/20 be 
noted. 

b) A further paper is brought to Cabinet outlining how 
these budget reductions for 2019/20 are to be met 
and no budget reductions to be agreed without 
Cabinet sign off.

c) The revised governance arrangements as set out in 
5.2.1 and 5.2.3 regarding Supporting People be 
noted.

d) That a Cabinet workshop be arranged to focus on 
funding flexibilities with consideration to the future 
budget requirements.

221  Scheme of Delegation 
- Educated Other Than 
At School (EOTAS)

Resolved that:

a) The responsibility and funding for EOTAS provision 
be de-delegated from schools and be managed 
centrally by the local authority within the overall 
Schools’ Budget from 2018/19 onwards.  

222  Formal Approval Of A 
New Interreg Vb 
Transnational Project 
Entitled Sunse

Resolved that:

a) Merthyr Tydfil CBC becomes a formal partner on 
the SuNSE Project be approved.

b) The appointment of an additional fixed term staff 
post to manage the local and transnational 
elements of the Programme be approved.

c) The matched funding profile be approved.
d) The acceptance of the INTERREG IVB grant offer 

in principle; following on from the technical 
requirements being accepted by the Monitoring 
Committee be approved.

223  MTCBC Change 
Programme - End of 
Year Report 
2017/2018

Resolved that:

The Report for Information be received.

224  Direct Payments 
Scheme 2018-19

Resolved that:

The Report for Information be received.

225  UK CONTEST 
Strategy

Resolved that:

The Report for Information be received.

Page 44



CLOSED SESSION

226  Repayment Of Long 
Term Loans – Update

Resolved that:

The Repayment of Long Term Loans as outlined in 
Paragraphs 2.1 and 2.2 of the Report be approved.

227  Award of the 
Framework Agreement 
for the Disposal of 
Household Waste 
Recycling Centre 
Waste Streams

Resolved that:

The Award of the Framework Agreement for the Disposal of 
Household Waste Recycling Centre Waste Streams as 
outlined in Paragraphs 2.1 and 2.2 of the Report be 
approved.

RE-OPENED SESSION

228  Any Other Business 
Deemed Urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no other business 
deemed urgent.

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF MEETING

SACRE MEETING
THURSDAY, 14TH JUNE, 2018

PRESENT: Councillors:    E Galsworthy (Chair)
                        D Hughes (Vice-Chair)

Councillors:     L Davies and I Thomas

Professional Associations:
A  Jones, S Bernard Henderson, L McCarthy and L Draper

Faith Communities:
D O'Keefe, A Pitt and Rev. M Prevett

Officers:
S Bowen (Inclusion and Wellbeing Manager) and P Webber 
(Consultant for Merthyr SACRE)

K Vokes (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

65  Welcome and 
apologies for absence

Apologies for absence received from Helen Price, Mark 
Carrington and Ann Star.  

66  Declaration of Interest No declarations of interest were made. 

67  Minutes of the last 
meeting

It was noted that Andy Pitt had sent his apologies for the 
meeting on the 22nd March 2018 and could this be duly 
amended on the attendance list for this meeting.  

Subject to the above amendment, it was RESOLVED that:

The minutes of the meeting held on the 22nd March 2018 be 
accepted.  

68  SACRE Membership Discussion ensued in relation to the current membership of 
Merthyr SACRE and the contents were noted. 

Page 47

Agenda Item 4c



Paula Webber referred to the letter received from Welsh 
Government on whether persons who hold non-religious 
beliefs (such as Humanists) should be permitted full 
membership on Group A in light of the Human Rights Act 
1988.    

She advised members that guidance received outlines that 
the appointment of persons to SACRE is a matter for local 
authorities in discussion with SACRE’s but, taking legal 
advice into consideration, Welsh Government is of the 
opinion that representatives from non-religious belief 
systems may be appointed to Group A (religious 
denomination) of a SACRE to ensure that SACREs fully 
reflect the beliefs of the communities that they are 
representing and to comply with current legislation. 

Following discussion, it was RESOLVED that:

 The current SACRE membership at Merthyr be 
noted.  

 Clarification be sought on the number of faith 
denomination representatives on this Committee 
and that Paula Webber make enquiries on whether 
there is a Constitution in place for the Merthyr 
SACRE Committee to confirm this number.  

 Paula Webber to seek further guidance on this. 

69  To receive from 
Members items and 
suggestions for 
SACRE News Bulletin

Paula Webber referred to the Spring SACRE Bulletin 
attached to the agenda and advised members that items 
are now required for the Summer edition.

RESOLVED that:

Members contact Karen Vokes before the end of term if 
they wish to place an article in the Summer News Bulletin.  

70  Curriculum 
development update

Humanities AoLE Proposals

Paula gave an update to members and the Committee 
discussed in detail the latest proposals in the progression 
frameworks from the Humanities AoLE Group. 

Following discussion it was RESOLVED that:

 Members return any additional comments to Karen 
Vokes by no later than Friday, 22nd June 2018 at 
the latest in order that they can be included into the 
response to Welsh Government by the 1st July.  

Estyn Update and Estyn Thematic Review

Paula Webber advised members that the Estyn document, 
namely Religious Education at Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 
3, had been published in the last few days which outlines 
standards in religious education and participation and 
engagement in learning.    

Page 48



RESOLVED that:

 Karen Vokes e-mail the link for members to view 
the document.

 Paula Webber to provide an update to the next 
meeting.

71  Monitoring Collective 
Worship and RE

School Inspection Reports

Paula Webber referred to the School Inspection Reports in 
respect of Trelewis Primary School and Heolgerrig 
Community School and led Committee through the 
outcomes of the inspections.

Self Evaluation

Paula Webber referred to the consideration of a self 
evaluation form being sent out to Schools that have recently 
had a successful inspection with Estyn.   This could assist 
SACREs to consider and recommend ways in which the 
Local Authority might best continue to support Schools in 
these areas. 

RESOLVED that:  

Letters be sent out to Schools congratulating them on their 
recent inspection together with a self evaluation form for 
completion. 

GCSE Examination Data

The GCSE Examination Data, which was circulated at the 
meeting, was discussed and noted. 

KS3 Data

KS3 Data, which was circulated at the meeting, was 
discussed and noted. 

72  WASACRE WASACRE Meeting at Swansea on 9th March 2018

Minutes of the meeting were noted by members. 

Nominations for WASACRE Executive Committee

It was brought to members’ attention that at the last meeting 
Paula Webber was nominated by this Committee to join the 
WASACRE Executive Committee.   Paula Webber however 
advised that she withdrew the nomination as she will retain 
a position on the Executive Committee as Immediate Past 
Secretary should she decide to discontinue her role as 
Secretary.
 
Nominations for the Executive Committee  -  Paula Webber 
advised there is one nomination for one position on the 
WASACRE Executive Committee.    The Committee took a 
vote and agreed to support the nomination, namely Kathy 

Page 49



Riddick.  It was also agreed that Paula Webber would 
contact WASACRE requesting that any future pen pictures 
to be considered by the Committee should contain more 
detail about the individual.    

WASACRE Constitution

The Committee discussed the changes to the WASACRE 
Constitution as outlined in the agenda.

RESOLVED that:

The amendments, as outlined in the Constitution, be agreed 
by the Committee

WASACRE Survey withdrawal from RE

Paula Webber advised members of the original survey in 
relation to the withdrawal from RE which should have been 
sent to all Schools.   Following discussion it was  
RESOLVED that:

 Paula Webber contact Gill Vaisey for a copy of the 
original survey. 

 Karen Vokes send out survey to all Schools. 

 Deadline date for completion be agreed with Gill 
Vaisey.  

The Commission on RE (England) and its relevance to 
Wales representation

Paula Webber referred to the discussion paper attached to 
the agenda which outlines how the Interim Report of the 
Commission on Religious Education in England is relevant 
to Wales.   She advised that a full report will be published in 
September and will update members when this report 
becomes available.  

Date of future WASACRE meetings

Paula Webber advised that the Summer meeting of 
WASACRE will be held on Friday, 6th July in Anglesey.   
RESOLVED that Paula Webber and Mark Prevett will be 
attending this meeting. 

She also advised that the Autumn meeting has not yet been 
confirmed and will liaise with members when further details 
are available. 

73  To receive a copy of 
Diversity of Religion 
and Belief:   A 
guidance and resource 
pack for primary 
schools in England and 
Wales and Executive 
Summary

Paula Webber gave an update to members on the Diversity 
of Religion and Belief guidance and resource pack for 
primary schools in England and Wales.

She advised members that this document has already been 
e-mailed to all Schools.  

Page 50



74  To confirm the date of 
the Autumn SACRE 
meeting

Date of next meeting
Tuesday, 23rd October 2018 at 3.45 pm  -  Conference 
Room 1 at the Civic Centre. 

75  Any other business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent. 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF MEETING

STANDARDS MEETING
FRIDAY, 20TH JULY, 2018

PRESENT: J Morgan (In the Chair)
I Cathrew (Vice Chair)

Councillors: 
J Amos and G Richards

Independent Members:
D McCarthy and A L Morgan

Community Council Representative:
H Thomas

Officers:
C Kennedy (Head of Legal and Governance Services - 
Monitoring Officer)

K Vokes (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

183  Apologies for absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Clive 
Tovey and Nathan Fear (Independent Member).

184  Declarations of Interest No declarations of interest were made.  

185  Analysis of Data in 
respect of Complaints 
received by the 
Authority

Carys Kennedy referred to the complaints data presented to 
the Standards Committee on the 16th March 2018 where it 
was agreed that a report be brought  back to today’s 
meeting giving a more detailed breakdown of the corporate 
areas where complaints had been received.

Carys then referred to the data outlined in the report which 
sets out the total number of corporate complaints for the 

Page 53

Agenda Item 4d



2017/18 financial year, the outcomes of these complaints 
and a breakdown of the complaints into service areas. 

Detailed discussion ensued in relation to:

 The different stages of the complaints process.
 Referrals to the Ombudsman. 
 Current position of complaints within the service 

areas.   
 How the complaints are being dealt with by 

departments.  

RESOLVED that:

 The timetabled Work Programme be amended to 
include consideration of the complaints data in July 
each year. 

 Any future complaints data be broken down into 
service areas, as outlined in 4.1 of the report. 

 The 2018/19 complaints data be considered at the 
July 2019 Standards Committee which will also 
include the 2017/18 data so that members can see 
a year on year comparison.  

186  Code of Conduct for 
Members and Co-
opted Members:  
Request for 
Dispensation  -  
Councillor Kevin 
O'Neill

A detailed discussion ensued in relation to Councillor 
O’Neill’s dispensation request and the ongoing updates to 
the Governance Scrutiny Committee on the current position 
of the Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust.

RESOLVED that:

Councillor Kevin O’Neill’s dispensation request be deferred 
until such time as the Scrutiny Committee has completed its 
process so that the application can be considered by the 
Standards Committee.  

187  Joint Training Event 
with RCT's Standard 
Committee Members  -  
23rd July 2018

The Chair reminded members of the Joint Training event at 
Rhondda Cynon Taff CBC next Monday, 23rd July 2018, 
and advised that the training will take the form of a “Mock 
Hearing”.    

The Chair, Mike McCarthy, Helen Thomas and Councillor 
Gareth Richards confirmed that they will be attending.

The Chair advised that Mel Jehu, Chair of the Standards 
Committee at RCT, had extended an invitation to Merthyr 
Tydfil members of the Standards Committee to any events 
that are being held at RCT.  

RESOLVED that:

 The Chair will give feedback on the training to the 
next meeting. 

Page 54



 Karen Vokes to enquire with RCT on the training 
material used in order that copies can be sent to 
those members unable to attend.

188  Update on Standards 
Conference scheduled 
for the 14th September 
2018

Carys Kennedy advised that the Chair, Anne Morgan and 
herself had been booked onto the Standards Conference in 
Aberystwyth for Friday, 14th September 2018 and that 
Karen Vokes will forward details on when they become 
available.  

Following a discussion, Carys Kennedy advised that if 
Councillor Gareth Richards wishes to attend the 
Conference that he could take her place.

RESOLVED that:

 Councillor Gareth Richards contact Carys Kennedy 
and Karen Vokes to confirm whether he wishes to 
attend the Standards Conference in Carys’ place. 

 Carys Kennedy to liaise with the Monitoring Officer 
Group to enquire whether feedback notes are 
available following the scheduled workshops at the 
Standards Conference. 

189  Date of Next Meeting It was agreed that the date of the next meeting will be 
Friday, 23rd November 2018 at 2.00 pm in Conference 
Room 2 at the Civic Centre.   

190  Any other item deemed 
urgent by the Chair

Carys Kennedy brought to members’ attention that she had 
received an e-mail from Nathan Fear advising that, due to 
other commitments, he will have to resign from the 
Standards Committee.    

Detailed discussion ensued in relation to this Independent 
Member vacancy and how this vacancy could be 
advertised.

RESOLVED that:

 On the request of the Chair, a letter be sent to 
Nathan Fear thanking him for all his efforts and 
contributions to this Committee.  

 Karen Vokes liaise with Corporate Communications 
on how they can assist in publicising the 
recruitment of the Independent Member vacancy. 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF MEETING

PLANNING, REGULATORY 
AND LICENSING MEETING

WEDNESDAY, 18TH JULY, 2018

PRESENT: Councillors    H Barrett (Chair)
                      C Tovey (Vice-Chair)

Councillors J Amos, D Chaplin, E Galsworthy, C T Jones, 
G Lewis, J Thomas and S Thomas

Officers:
S Jones (Senior Solicitor), A Cordingley (Licensing Officer), 
G Morgan (Solicitor), H Roberts (Group Leader Development 
Control), D Cross (Principal Planning Officer) and
M Phillips (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

174  Apologies for absence Apologies for absence received from the following 
committee members: Councillor Kevin Gibbs

175  Declarations of Interest Councillor Clive Tovey declared a personal and prejudicial 
interest in Item 4 as he owns a shop within the vicinity of the 
application and the applicant is a neighbour.

176  P/18/0138 -  Unit 20, 
Merthyr Tydfil 
Industrial Park, CF48 
4DR

Change of use of council offices and highway depot to 
general offices and re-use shop and waste storage / 
recycling facilities including the erection of a new building 
and extension to former salt storage building with 
associated parking areas and other facilities.

The Planning Officer introduced the item and led the 
committee through the power point presentation in relation 
to the application.

Page 57

Agenda Item 4e



The following questions were raised by the committee and 
were responded to by the Planning Officers:

 The existing waste unit is across the road, does it 
have any issues with vermin, rubbish or fly tipping. 
Can any evidence be provided to the committee?

 How many businesses in the area were consulted 
in relation to this application

After consideration by the committee, it was RESOLVED 
that:

In accordance with the recommendation of the Head of 
Town Planning and Countryside, the application be 
approved subject to the conditions outlined in the report.

177  P/16/0094 - Blaen-y-
Garth Farm, Blaen-Y-
Garth Access Road, 
Pant, CF48 2UY

Creation of tourist park comprising 57 camping and caravan 
pitches. The restoration and change of use of the farm 
house to accommodate an office, store rooms and shop. 
Conversion and extension to existing barn to provide tourist 
information area and café. Erection of two amenity buildings 
and construction of a new vehicular access road, 
landscaping and associated infrastructure works.

Councillor Clive Tovey left the meeting after declaring a 
personal and prejudicial interest in this item.

The Planning Officer introduced the item and led the 
committee through the power point presentation in relation 
to the application.

The Planning Officer advised the committee of some minor 
annotations had been removed from the plans on page 27, 
Condition 2, drawings 02, 11 and 12 and the date received 
should read 11th July 2018 and final drawing 16 received 
on 13th July 2018.

The following questions were raised by the committee and 
were responded to by the Planning Officers:

 The report states that there are no community 
benefits – has this been raised with the developer

 Concerns were raised in relation to the lack of 
response from consultees 

 Can the Planning Officer elaborate on the objectors 
concern in relation to the design of the proposal 
being substandard 

 The site is located within a local mineral 
safeguarding zone, can you provide an explanation 
of this and what minerals are located in the area

 Access to the site 

 Signage at the entrance to the site

Page 58



 Can you confirm where the objection letters came 
from

 Can you confirm that the development doesn’t 
affect the right of way through Garth Farm

 Can the Planning Officer clarify the settlement 
boundary explain why the countryside location is 
justified

Councillor Julian Amos moved that a site visit be called in 
relation to this application.

Resolved that:

A Fact Finding Site Visit be convened and that the 
appropriate officers from Planning and Highways 
department be invited to attend.
 

178  P/17/ 0178 Appeal 
Decision

Councillor Clive Tovey returned to the meeting.

Resolved that:

Appeal decision P/17/0178 be received.

179  Delegated Report Resolved that:

The delegated report be received.

180  Review of Statement of 
Licensing Principles 
2019-2022 under the 
Gambling Act 2005

Simon Jones led the committee through the report and 
provided a background in relation to why the report was 
being brought before the committee. 

The following questions were raised by the committee and 
responded to in detail by the appropriate officers in detail.

 Can any major issues be brought to full committee 
rather than being delegated to Head of Licensing 
and the Chair of the Planning

 The report refers to gaming machines does this 
include fixed odds betting machines

 Do you take into consideration the large number of 
betting premises in Merthyr Tydfil before issuing a 
new licence 

After consideration by the committee, it was RESOLVED 
that:

The draft Statement of Licensing Policy appended to this 
report be agreed as the basis of a revised policy to be 
subject to public consultation, and then taken to Full Council 
for approval and adoption from 31st January 2019. 

Page 59



It was also resolved that the following additional 
recommendation be approved

Delegated power be given to the Community Safety and 
Regulatory Compliance Manager to consider responses to 
the proposed policy and to
make amendments to the Policy if considered appropriate. 
This delegated power shall be exercised in consultation with 
the Chair of the Planning
Licensing and Regulatory Committee who reserves the right 
to refer the amendments to the Planning, Regulatory & 
Licensing Committee.

181  Five Year Revision of 
Statement of Licensing 
Policy Under the 
Licensing Act 2003

Simon Jones led the committee through the report and 
provided a background in relation to why the report was 
being brought before the committee. 

No questions were raised in relation to this item.

Simon Jones highlighted an amendment in 
recommendation 3.2 which stated a 122 week consultation 
period and should read a 12 week period. He also notified 
the committee of an amendment to recommendation 3.3.

Councillor Clive Jones asked for a correction on 11.4, Page 
102 of the report as the Merthyr Police Station address is 
incorrect.

After consideration by the committee, it was RESOLVED 
that:

That members approve the draft version of the revised 
Statement of Licensing Policy at Appendix 1.

That members agree to statutory public consultation taking 
place on the draft Statement of Licensing Policy for a 12 
week period in accordance with the Licensing Act 2003.

It was further resolved that: 

Delegated power be given to the Community Safety and 
Regulatory Compliance Manager to consider responses to 
the proposed policy and to make amendments to the Policy 
if considered appropriate. This delegated power shall be 
exercised in consultation with the Chair of the Planning 
Licensing and Regulatory Committee who reserves the right 
to refer amendments to the Planning, Regulatory and 
Licensing Committee. 

182  Any Other Business 
Deemed Urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent and closed the meeting.

Page 60



MINUTES OF MEETING

LICENSING COMMITTEE 
MEETING

WEDNESDAY, 18TH JULY, 2018

PRESENT: Councillor   H Barrett (Chair)

Councillors D Chaplin and S Thomas

Officers:
S Jones (Senior Solicitor) and J Baber (Licensing Officer)

K Vokes (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

Substitute Member

Due to the absence of Councillor Malcolm Colbran, Councillor Scott Thomas agreed to attend 
as a substitute member.  

170  Apologies for absence No apologies for absence were received.

171  Declarations of Interest No declarations of interest were made. 

Exempt

RESOLVED that:

The public be excluded from the meeting on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 12 and 13 under Part 4 of Schedule 12A Section 
100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972.

Page 61

Agenda Item 4f



172  Hackney Carriage 
Driver Licence

HACKNEY CARRIAGE DRIVER LICENCE

RESOLVED that:

The application for a Hackney Carriage Driver Licence in 
respect of (DS) be granted.

173  Any other business 
deemed Urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent.

Page 62



MINUTES OF MEETING

RIGHTS OF WAY MEETING
MONDAY, 30TH JULY, 2018

PRESENT: Councillors:   C Tovey (Vice-Chair, in the Chair)
                      

Councillors:   D Chaplin, K Gibbs and S Thomas

Officers:
G Morgan (Solicitor), C Jones (Rights of Way Officer) and
M Phillips (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

244  Apologies for absence Apologies for absence where received by Councillor B 
Smith.

245  Declarations of Interest No declarations of interest were received. 

246  Guidance Resolved that:

The Guidance be received.

247  Gurnos 18 The Chair referred the Committee to the ‘Gurnos 18’ report.

The Committee then proceeded to walk the route.

Resolved that:

a. On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient 
evidence to support that the route marked with bold 
black line between points A – B on the plan, Gurnos 
18, has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
footpath, and that the evidence has not been 
rebutted by other evidence.

Page 63

Agenda Item 4g



b. On confirming (a) above to approve the making of 
the Definitive Map Modification Order to show 
Gurnos 18 as a footpath.

c. To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 
Modification Order made as a result of (b) above 
provided no objections or representations are made 
within the prescribed period or if any objections or 
representations so made are withdrawn.

d. If any objections or representations are made within 
the prescribed periods and not subsequently 
withdrawn then to refer the relevant Oder to the 
Planning Inspectorate for determination.

248  Any other Business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent.

Page 64



MINUTES OF MEETING

AUDIT MEETING
MONDAY, 9TH JULY, 2018

PRESENT: Councillors      D Roberts (Chair)
                        C J Barry (Vice-Chair)

Councillors:      J Amos, G Lewis, D Sammon and J Thomas

Lay Member:
D Gibby

Other Councillors in Attendance:
A Barry (Cabinet Member)

Officers:
M Thomas (Head of Corporate Services), C Kennedy (Head of 
Legal and Governance Services - Monitoring Officer), G Evans 
(Audit Manager), K O'Donovan (Corporate Risk and Equalities 
Manager), H Harbord (Senior Auditor) and A Lewis (Chief 
Accountant)

M Hemmings (Democratic Services Officer)

Outside Bodies: 
Helen Goddard/Caitlin Smith (Wales Audit Office)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

137  Apologies for absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Clive 
Jones and Clive Tovey.

138  Declarations of Interest No Declarations of Interest were made.

139  Proposal to incorporate 
the Internal Audit 
Service into an existing 
Shared Service

Mark Thomas referred Committee in detail to the ‘Proposal 
to incorporate the Internal Audit Service into an existing 
shared service’ report and welcomed Helen Smith, Vale of 
Glamorgan to the meeting.

Page 65

Agenda Item 4h



The following questions/comments were then raised by 
Committee and responded to in detail by the Officers:-

 Concern about the reduction in productive audit 
days and how will better service be achieved.

 Wales Audit Office standards 
 Current staffing levels 
 Location of staff
 Will there be a joint partnership board
 How are the £19K savings being reached
 Has it gone through RCT Cabinet 
 Are there any other shared groups e.g. Caerphilly, 

Cardiff and why have we picked this one.
 Future training costs

Committee sought the views of the audit staff that were 
present at Committee.

Resolved that:

(a) The proposal for the Council’s Internal Audit 
Service to join the existing RIASS in place between 
the Vale of Glamorgan Council and Bridgend 
County Borough Council be noted.

140  Update on Progress in 
Managing the Council's 
Corporate Risks

Kerry O’Donovan referred Committee to the ‘Update on 
progress in managing the Council’s Corporate Risks’ report.  

The following questions were then raised by the Committee 
and were responded to in detail by the Officers.

 Clarity sought on Appendix 1 as to why some areas 
are listed at 50% complete and others are listed as 
ongoing.

Resolved that:

(a) Councillors receive an update on progress in 
managing the Council’s Corporate Risks in relation 
to Finance and Governance.

141  Draft Statement of 
Accounts 2017/18

Steve Jones referred Committee in detail to the ‘Statement 
of Accounts 2017-18’ report.  

The following questions were then raised by the Committee 
and were responded to in detail by the Officers.

 Explanation sought on budget deficits with regard 
to:

- Council Homes for the Elderly
- Looked After Children Residential 

Placements
- Enhanced Provision
- Street cleansing 
- Insurances

Page 66



 Clarity sought on Funding and School Balances
 Are we any closer to resolving Pengarnddu 

Provision.

142  Draft Annual 
Governance Statement 
2017/18

Gary Evans referred the Committee to the ‘Draft Annual 
Governance Statement for Financial Year 2017/18 and in 
particular brought to the attention of Committee that this 
was a backward looking statement and thanked Helen 
Harbord for the work undertaken on the report.

The Chair thanked Helen Goddard and Caitlin Smith (Wales 
Audit Office) for attending.

Resolved that:

(a) Audit Committee note and contribute to the content 
and production of the Annual Governance 
Statement for 2017/2018.

143  Reflection and 
Evaluation of Meeting

The Chair and the Committee reflected on the issues that 
had been considered at the meeting.

144  Any other business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair

No other business was deemed urgent by the Chair.

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF MEETING

SCRUTINY : GOVERNANCE, 
PERFORMANCE, BUSINESS 
CHANGE AND CORPORATE 

SERVICES MEETING
TUESDAY, 4TH SEPTEMBER, 2018

PRESENT: Councillors:   T Skinner (Chair)
                       T Rogers (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: J Amos, D Roberts, D Sammon and W R Smith

Cooptees:
J Beard (Public)

Officers:
E Cooper (Deputy Chief Executive), M Thomas (Head of 
Corporate Services), A Mogford (Business Change Manager), 
J Sellwood (Leisure, Culture and Sports Development Manager) 
and M Purnell (Performance and Scrutiny Officer)

Outside Bodies:
Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust:
Sally Church, Jayne Sellwood, Wendy Groves, Jeremy Ashdown 
and Geraint Morgan

M Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

259  Apologies for Absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillor H R 
Jones and K Sutton Youth Forum Representative.

Page 69

Agenda Item 4i



260  Declarations of Interest 
(including whipping 
declarations)

Councillor D Sammon Declared his Interest in Item Three – 
Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust Update as he is a Member of 
the Trust Board and has received Dispensation.

261  Merthyr Tydfil Leisure 
Trust Update

The Chair welcomed Sally Church, Jayne Sellwood, Wendy 
Groves, Geraint Morgan and Jeremy Ashdown representing 
the Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust to the Meeting.

The Chair advised that the update and Presentation from 
the Trust may include exempt information.

Resolved that:

The item be deferred.

The representatives of the Trust then left the Meeting.

262  Change Programme The Chair welcomed Andrew Mogford to the Meeting.

Andrew Mogford then led the Committee in detail through 
the ‘MTCBC Change Programme’ report.

The following questions were then raised by the Committee 
and were responded to in detail by the Officer:

 Clarification sought on the Work Programme tie in 
to the Wellbeing tiers

 How is the Council being innovative in terms of the 
Wellbeing goals – Examples requested of local 
employment opportunities

 Paragraph 5.3 – Breakdown of the projects 
requested and what the projects entailed – Request 
made for this information to be circulated to the 
Committee

Resolved that:

The content of the report be noted.

263  Work Programme 
2018/19

The Chair referred the Committee to the ‘Scrutiny 
Committee Work Programme’ report.

The Chair also referred to the Cabinet Work Programme 
and the Task and Finish Group that had been convened to 
look at this matter and that together with Councillor C 
Davies a former Committee Member a draft Task and Finish 
report had been prepared.  This draft report would be 
circulated to the Committee and that by the next Meeting 
this draft report would have been progressed.

The Committee then considered the Work Programme and 
agreed the Programme.

264  Scrutiny Referrals, 
Feedback and Follow 
up Actions

The Chair advised that there was no update on this item.

Page 70



265  Reflection and 
Evaluation of Meeting

The Chair and the Committee reflected in detail on the 
items that had been considered at the Meeting.

266  Any other business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent.

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF MEETING

SCRUTINY : REGENERATION 
AND PUBLIC PROTECTION 

MEETING
TUESDAY, 17TH JULY, 2018

PRESENT: Councillors   G Lewis (Chair)                     

Councillors   C J Barry and M Colbran

Cooptees:
H Hopkins (Public)

Other Councillors in Attendance:
G Thomas (Cabinet Member)

Officers:
A Owen (Chief Officer (Regeneration and Public Protection)), 
Z Thomas (European & External Funding Support Officer) and 
M Purnell (Performance and Scrutiny Officer)

M Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

Chair

In the absence of the Committee Chair and Vice Chair it was

Resolved that:

Councillor G Lewis take the Chair. 

Page 73

Agenda Item 4j



163  Apologies for Absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillor J 
Amos, Councillor B Carter, Councillor P Brown and Mr H 
Jackson Co-opted Member. 

164  Declarations of Interest 
(including whipping 
declarations)

No Declarations of Interest were made.

165  Cyfarthfa Heritage 
Area

The Chair welcomed Councillor G Thomas, Alyn Owen and 
Zoe Thomas to the Meeting.

Alyn Owen then led the Committee in detail through the 
‘Cyfarthfa Heritage Area’ report.

The following questions were then raised by the Committee 
and were responded to in detail by Councillor Thomas and 
the Officers:

 Paragraph 4.4 – Cyfarthfa Furnaces – Why has 
fencing been erected

 Explanation requested regarding delivery of the 
scheme

 Explanation requested in relation to the Sponsor 
Board / Steering Group – Who will be doing what

 Work being undertaken with the Leisure Trust – 
What are the Trust / Authority doing – Relationship 
with the Trust

 Paragraph 6.4 – Pandy Farm - Update requested 
 Paragraph 7.4 – CADW – Update requested
 Is there anyone from the Heritage Trust involved in 

the Steering Group
 Paragraph 5.9 – Further explanation requested in 

relation to the £50m 
 Paragraphs 4.3 and 4.4 – Cyfarthfa Park / Cyfarthfa 

Furnaces – Further information requested on the 
scale of the projects – Cross cutting aspects – 
Visitors to Merthyr Tydfil 

 Composition of the Steering Group - Is there 
representation from the Community and/or a young 
person representative

 The use of Acronyms
 Paragraph 5.11 – Will it be listed with Companies 

House – Will it have a Director and Treasurer
 Paragraph 7.5 – ‘Parks Manager’ – When would 

this appointment be made and who would be the 
employer

 Paragraph 5.18 – Further detail requested 
regarding ‘adequate’

 Paragraph 7.5 – Marketing Strategy – Who will be 
responsible

Resolved that:

The report be noted. 

The Chair then thanked Councillor Thomas and the Officers 

Page 74



for attending and the update to the Committee.

166  Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme

The Chair referred the Committee to the ‘Scrutiny 
Committee Work Programme’ report.

A Member enquired if the Item in relation to Violence 
against Women and Girls could be considered earlier and 
Alyn Owen advised that he would come back to the 
Committee on this. 

167  Scrutiny Referrals, 
Feedback and Follow 
Up Actions

The Chair advised that there was no update on this item.

168  Reflection and 
Evaluation of Meeting

The Chair and the Committee reflected in detail on the 
items that had been discussed at the Meeting.

169  Any Other Business as 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent.

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF MEETING

SCRUTINY : LEARNING AND 
LAESCYP MEETING

MONDAY, 16TH JULY, 2018

PRESENT: Councillors  H R Jones (Chair)
                       C Davies (Vice-Chair)

Councillors D Chaplin, L Davies, S Jago and S Thomas

Cooptees:
R Lazell (Parent Governor-Secondary/Special), K Phelan 
(Diocesan Representative), M Symonds (MT Assoc. of School 
Governors), A Roberts (Voluntary Sector) and R Crowley (Youth 
Forum Representative)

Other Councillors in Attendance:
L Mytton (Cabinet Member)

Officers:
S Walker (Chief Education Officer) B Parry (Education 
Psychology) L Beattie (Preventions and Early Intervention) and 
S Lyons (Performance and Scrutiny Officer)

M Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

Welcome

The Chair welcomed Kath Phelan to her first Committee Meeting.

Page 77

Agenda Item 4k



OPEN SESSION

154  Apologies for absence Apologies for absence were received from Mr A Rees Co-
opted Member.

155  Declarations of Interest 
(including whipping 
declarations)

No Declarations of Interest were made.

156  The work of the Public 
Service Board and 
links with Education

The Chair welcomed Councillor L Mytton, Sue Walker, 
Bronwen Parry and Lisa Beattie to the Meeting.

The Chair referred the Committee to ‘The Work of the 
Public Service Board and Links with Education’ report and 
advised that under Paragraph 8.1 ‘Working Well’ should 
read ‘Working Life’ and that the complete description of 
‘Living Well’ and ‘Working Well’ were detailed under Item 6 - 
Appendix 1 of the Annual Work Programme. 

Sue Walker then led the Committee in detail through the 
report and gave details of the objectives.

The following questions were then raised by the Committee 
and were responded to in detail by Councillor Mytton and 
the Officers:

 ACES agenda – Will the film be extended to Early 
Years – Will it be shared with the Youth Forum

 The amount of new initiatives commencing at the 
same time- Is there Coaching and Mentoring 
available – Expectations 

 Statistics on ECO Schools – How many schools are 
taking part in the Welsh Baccalaureate

 Emotional Health Issues – What extra support is 
provided for Teachers to assist

 Education links to the Public Service Board – 
Stronger links between young people and the 
Public Service Board – Request to update the 
Committee how this is developing as part of the 
Public Service Board

 Volunteering and the Welsh Baccalaureate – The 
Community Zone

Resolved that:

The report be noted.
  

157  Overview of the 
progress of Youth 
Support Services since 
the ESTYN Monitoring 
Visit 2015

The Chair advised that this was an Information Report.

Sue Walker referred the Committee to the ‘Overview of the 
Progress of Youth Support Services Since the ESTYN 
Monitoring Visit 2015’ report and advised that arrangements 
could be made for the appropriate Officers to attend a future 
meeting if the Committee wished to Scrutinise the matter 
further.

Page 78



The Chair referred to where the Authority was in 2012 to 
where the Authority was now and suggested that later in the 
year arrangements be made for Chris Hole to attend a 
Committee Meeting.

Resolved that:

The report for Information be received.

CLOSED SESSION

Exempt

Resolved that:

The public be excluded from the Meeting on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in Paragraph 15 under Part 4 of Schedule 12A Section 100 (A) 
(4) of the Local Government Act 1972.

158  Additional Learning 
Needs (ALN) – Review 
of learning resource 
bases (LRBs) across 
the authority  - revised

Sue Walker led the Committee in detail through the 
‘Additional Learning Needs (ALN) – Review of Learning 
Resource Bases (LRBs) Across the Authority – Revised’ 
report.

Bronwen Parry and Lisa Beattie then gave an overview of 
their Service areas namely Education Psychology and 
Additional Learning Needs and together with Councillor 
Mytton and Sue Walker responded in detail to the questions 
raised by the Committee.

Resolved that:

The report be noted.

The Chair then thanked Councillor L Mytton, Sue Walker, 
Bronwen Parry and Lisa Beattie for attending and the 
update to the Committee.

RE-OPENED SESSION

159  Annual Work 
Programme

The Chair referred the Committee to the ‘Scrutiny 
Committee Work Programme’ report and suggested that 
any amendments to the Programme be considered at the 
Meeting scheduled for September and that Attendance 
could be an item for consideration.

160  Scrutiny Referrals, 
Feedback and Follow 
up Actions

The Chair advised that there was no update on this item.

Page 79



161  Reflection and 
Evaluation of Meeting

The Chair and the Committee reflected in detail on the 
issues that had been discussed at the Meeting.

Councillor S Jago left the Meeting at 5.27 pm.

162  Any other business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent.

Page 80



MINUTES OF MEETING

SCRUTINY : LEARNING AND 
LAESCYP MEETING
MONDAY, 3RD SEPTEMBER, 2018

PRESENT: Councillors  H R Jones (Chair)
                       C Davies (Vice-Chair)

Councillors D Chaplin, L Davies, S Jago and S Thomas

Cooptees:
R Lazell (Parent Governor-Secondary/Special), M Symonds (MT 
Assoc. of School Governors), A Rees (Public) and A Roberts 
(Voluntary Sector)

Officers:
S Walker (Chief Education Officer), A Lewis (Head of School 
Planning Performance and Resource), J Colsey (Head of School 
Improvement) and A McCafferty (Performance and Scrutiny 
Officer)

M Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

249  Apologies for absence Apologies for absence were received from Claire Brown, 
Ryan Crowley and Kath Phelan Co-opted Members.

250  Declarations of Interest 
(including whipping 
declarations)

Rosa Lazelle Declared her Interest in the items on the 
agenda as she is Chair of Governors Afon Taf High School.

Michelle Symonds Declared her Interest in the items on the 
agenda as she is Chair of Governors Ysgol Rhyd Y Grug.

Councillor C Davies Declared his Interest in Item Six – 

Page 81

Agenda Item 4l



Update on Welsh Education Strategic Plan as he is the 
Welsh Language Champion for the Authority and is part of 
the Welsh Education Strategic Plan (WESP) Group.

251  Performance Report - 
Corporate Plan:  
Standards of 
Attainment 2018

The Chair welcomed Sue Walker, Joe Colsey and Anthony 
Lewis to the Meeting.

Joe Colsey then led the Committee in detail through the 
‘Performance Report – Corporate Plan: Standards of 
Attainment 2018’ report.

The following questions were then raised by the Committee 
and were responded to in detail by the Officers:

 KS2 Performance Outcomes – What have the LEA 
and the Consortium done to support this

 Are details available of where a child is 
underperforming – Is this information available in all 
schools – Is this information available for each 
individual child

 Outcome 6 – Has there been a change
 The number of Interventions introduced
 Paragraph 7.1 – Explanation of ‘resilience’ 

requested

Resolved that:

The judgements and evaluations be noted.

252  School Budgets Anthony Lewis led the Committee in detail through the 
‘School Budgets’ report.

The following questions were then raised by the Committee 
and were responded to in detail by the Officers:

 Paragraph 7.5 – What are the present savings 
requirements

 Paragraph 5.13 –The impact on learning and young 
people

 Is there a breakdown of expenditure per annum for 
schools – Is there a percentage breakdown of 
expenditure on utility bills – Is there liaison with the 
Energy Officer

Resolved that:

The contents of the report be noted. 

253  Overview of School 
Building Stock

Anthony Lewis led the Committee in detail through the 
‘Overview of School Building Stock’ report.

The following questions were then raised by the Committee 
and were responded to in detail by the Officers:

 Will there be a full list from the Property Department 
and can this be shared with the Committee

 Are there any in Band C at risk of going into Band D

Page 82



 Band B – Start and end date
 How much money will be received from Welsh 

Government

Resolved that:

The contents of the report be noted.

Alan Rees left the Meeting at 5.15 pm.

Anne Roberts left the Meeting at 5.20 pm.

254  Update on Welsh 
Education Strategic 
Plan

Councillor C Davies Declared his Interest in the Welsh 
Education Strategic Plan (WESP) as Welsh Language 
Champion for the Authority he is part of the Group.

Sue Walker led the Committee in detail through the ‘Update 
on Welsh Education Strategic Plan’ report.

The following question was then raised by the Committee 
and was responded to by the Officers:

 Long term impact on Secondary School setting

Resolved that:

The report be noted.

255  Scrutiny Referrals, 
Feedback and Follow 
up Actions

A Member referred to arranging a Joint Scrutiny Committee 
with the Social Services Scrutiny Committee in relation to 
Looked after Children.

256  Reflection and 
Evaluation of Meeting

The Chair and the Committee reflected in detail on the 
items that had been considered at the Meeting.

257  Work Programme The Chair referred to the Committee Work Programme and 
the Committee agreed the Programme.

258  Any other business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent. 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF MEETING

SCRUTINY : SOCIAL 
SERVICES MEETING

TUESDAY, 24TH JULY, 2018

PRESENT: Councillors:  W R Smith (Chair)
                     S Jago (Vice-Chair)

Councillors G Richards, D Sammon and I Thomas

Other Councillors in Attendance:
Councillor David Hughes (Cabinet Member)

Officers:
M Purnell (Performance and Scrutiny Officer), L Curtis Jones 
(Chief Officer (Social Services)), M Anderton (Head of Adult 
Services), L Lewis (Youth Offending Team), A Lloyd (Head of 
Children's Services) and M Phillips (Democratic Services 
Officer)

Outside Bodies:
(none)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

199  Apologies for absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillor T 
Rogers and Co-opted member B Lewis.

200  Declarations of Interest 
(including whipping 
declarations)

No declarations of interest were received.

Page 85

Agenda Item 4m



201  Update on Residential 
Care Home 
Accommodation

Mark Anderton introduced the item to the committee and 
explained that the purpose of the report is to provide an 
update on occupancy and developments around the two 
residential care homes in Merthyr Tydfil.

The following questions were raised by the committee and 
responded to in detail by the appropriate officers.

 Can a presentation be arranged for the committee 
in relation to the butterfly approach

 In relation to the care homes has there been any 
overspend in Quarter one

 What is the butterfly approach and will there be 
additional training for the care workers to take this 
approach forward

 Do all staff in the care home have level three 
dementia training

 Can a quarterly update be provided to the 
committee in relation to the current overspend

 In relation to the previous inspections at the homes, 
has there been any progress on the 
recommendations made by CSSIW

 Can you confirm what the overspend was last year

 With such tight budget constraints can you confirm 
if there will be any further cuts to the capacity in Ty 
Gurnos

 The report states there are 30 vacancies in the 
Independent Sector, can you confirm how many 
beds they currently offer

 Are Independent and Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council homes inspected in the same way

 Can you confirm why there have been more 
vacancies in Ty Gurnos than in Ty Bargoed

 What plans do you have once children’s services 
vacate the area in Ty Gurnos

 What timescales are in place to re-open this wing in 
Ty Gurnos

 Can you provide an update in relation to the action 
plan outlined in 7.2 of the report

Page 86



Resolved that:

Members note the progress and provide support for the 
ongoing developments around the implementation of the 
Dementia Care Matters programme within the homes and 
the future proposals regarding changes to rotas within Ty 
Gurnos Newydd.

202  Regional Partnership 
Business

Lisa Curtis-Jones introduced the item to the committee and 
provided information in relation to the regional partnership 
business that is currently carried out.  The Committee were 
informed that the report was brief but will assist them in 
deciding what more in depth reports they may want to 
request in the future.

The following questions were raised by the committee and 
responded to in detail by the appropriate officers.

 What is the best way to break down the issues 
addressed in the report as Social Services covers 
such a vast area. Should we set up a task and 
finish group and meet with specific officers

 How does the pool budget work and is it based on 
population

 Work under children and young people – can this 
be brought back to the committee in particular - 
Engagement Plan, what work has been done in 
Merthyr Tydfil and across the region to balance the 
resource shift from safeguarding and complex care 
to early and targeted help.  

 In relation to roll over work in the 16/17 annual 
report in response to referrals in respect of 
substance misuse and early pregnancies were not 
timely to effect change. Has this work been carried 
over to be included into the new work programme 

 Regional contracts for residential care, is this 
beyond the Cwm Taf area or just Cwm Taf region

The Chair agreed with the officers that the first report to be 
brought back to the committee will be Children and Young 
People as raised by Councillor Jago.

Resolved that:

Scrutiny Committee Members note and debate the contents 
of the report.

203  Adult Services 
Strategy Projects

Mark Anderton introduced the report to the committee and 
explained that the report provides information on the 
strategic projects currently running that link with the 
Wellbeing objective and the statement of Wellbeing – living 
well.

Page 87



The projects covered are:

 Valley’s Life
 Stay Well @ Home
 Supporting People Pricing System
 GP Shared Welfare Service 

The following questions were raised by the committee and 
responded to in detail by the appropriate officer.

 Can you provide the details on who sits on the Stay 
Well @ Home task and finish group

 The report states that Phase one of the Stay Well 
@ Home project was a success – can you provide 
some statistical and qualitative data in relation to 
this phase 

 Can the same statistical and qualitative data also 
be provided for the GP Shared Welfare Service as 
without this data how are we able to measure that 
success and whether the projects should continue

 In relation to the GP Shared Welfare Service are 
the six pilots being carried out in Merthyr Tydfil or 
across the Cwm Taf area

 Can you tell us where the pilots are being carried 
out in Merthyr Tydfil

Resolved that:

The committee discuss and note the progress on projects 
within the Adult Services Strategy.

204  Youth Offending 
Service – Inspection 
Action Plan

The Head of Cwm Taf Youth Offending Service Team 
Lyndon Lewis introduced the report to the committee and 
provided an overview of the Inspection Action Plan.

The following questions were raised by the committee and 
responded to by the appropriate officer.

 In relation to referrals to the Child and Adolescent 
Mental Health Service (CAMHS) how long is the 
waiting list

 Does a full joint inspection take place every year

 In relation to 4.4 3.Routine intelligence sharing 
between the police and the YOS should make sure 
that case managers receive timely information 
about all children and young people who are 
arrested (South Wales Constabulary and YOS 
Manager) 

Page 88



and 4.4 4. Joint working with children’s services 
and information sharing at case level should be 
consistent (YOS Manager and Directors of 
Children’s Services). Do you feel that people are 
now working together a lot better

 Can you update the committee in relation to funding 
for 2018/2019 

Resolved that:

The committee receive this update report in order to be 
satisfied of the progress and improvements being made as 
a result of the improvement action plan.

205  Social Services and 
Well-being (Wales) Act 
2014

Lisa Curtis-Jones updated the committee in relation to the 
Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. 

It was agreed that the item be removed and updates only 
be given when necessary.

206  Scrutiny Referrals, 
Feedback and Follow 
up Actions

The Chair advised that there was no update on this item.

207  Reflection and 
Evaluation of Meeting

The Chair and the Committee reflected on the issues that 
had been considered.

208  Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme

The committee raised their concerns in relation to two items 
listed on the work programme for today’s meeting that were 
not included in the agenda. The Chair addressed the 
committee and explained that the items would be listed for 
the next meeting.

209  Any other business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair

No other business deemed urgent by the Chair.

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF MEETING

SCRUTINY : 
NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES, 

PLANNING AND 
COUNTRYSIDE MEETING

MONDAY, 18TH JUNE, 2018
PRESENT: Councillors   D Sammon (Chair)

                     D Jones (Vice-Chair)

Councillors L Davies and C T Jones

Cooptees:
R Holdaway (Public) and J McCarthy (Public)

Other Councillors in Attendance:
K Gibbs (Cabinet Member)

Officers:
C Evans (Chief Officer (Neighbourhood Services)), S Gow 
(Environmental Health Manager), Llewellyn Patrick (District 
Environmental Health Officer), M Campbell (Energy Officer), 
M Stark (Traffic Engineer), C Morris (Highways & Engineering) 
and S Lyons (Performance and Scrutiny Officer)

H Jones (Scrutiny Officer) and M Hemmings (Democratic 
Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

76  Apologies for absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillor 
Malcolm Colbran.

Page 91

Agenda Item 4n



77  Declarations of Interest 
(including whipping 
declarations)

No Declarations of Interest were made.

78  Environmental 
Wellbeing / EW1: 
Communities Protect, 
Enhance and Promote 
our Natural 
Environment and 
Countryside

The Chair introduced the report and advised both Sue Gow 
and Mick Campbell would be detailing the updated 
information.  

Sue Gow referred to the preparation of an air quality 
management area action plan and provided an overview 
and in particular made reference to:-

 Action Plan (key actions and key milestones).

 Measures/Options capable of improving air quality.

- Option 1a/1b - To reduce the volume of traffic on 
Twynyrodyn Road as a whole.

- Option 2 - To install a chicane on the uphill 
carriageway of the affected section of Twynyrodyn 
Road.

- Option 3 - To reduce the volume of traffic on the 
section of Twynyrodyn Road where the air quality is 
poor.

 Formal public consultation over 12 week period 
(between 16th March – 8 June 2018).  The report 
advises 152 responses had been received, the 
most up to date figure is 156.  94% of those 
responses choose Option 1 (50% choosing 1a/45% 
choosing 1b).

It was advised that Option 1a would be sent to Welsh 
Government for approval and as soon as confirmation 
received implementation would go ahead.

The following questions were raised and clarity sought by 
Committee and responded to in detail by the Officers:-

 Will there be a trial period.
 Where is estimated £100K coming from and how 

will this be managed if it goes over budget.
 Project Issues – How will capacity issues be 

overcome in your departments when the day to day 
business has to be conducted.

 How often is the air quality monitoring being 
undertaken and are Public Health Wales analysing 
the data.

 NPR Survey – should all of the outcomes been 
looked at before options were considered.

 How informative was the ANPR operation.
 Road Traffic Orders – how do you know this is the 

best option/will there be advertising.
 Considering the extent of the consultation and the 

poor response, how many responses were from the 
local area.

 Did local businesses respond to the consultation.
 What other options were considered.

Page 92



 Are you confident that this will significantly improve 
the air quality or just bring it below the required 
level.

 When traffic systems are reversed you still have 
problem of people going the wrong way. How will 
this be managed/monitored.

 Signage concerns.
 Do you foresee any delays in moving this forward 

from Welsh Government.

The Chair welcomed Mike Campbell to the meeting to 
provide an update on the Carbon Management Plan verbal 
report that was brought to Committee in April.  

Mike Campbell advised that previously he was only able to 
advertise the post of Energy Engineer as a temporary post 
and that he had now been given the authority to advertise 
the post on a permanent basis.

The following questions/observations were raised by 
Committee and responded to in detail by the Officers:-

 Request for a timetable of Energy Engineer 
appointment.

 Solar Farms - Is there capacity within the national 
grid to take any volume of power from us.

 Error in report on Page 30 Paragraph 3 – should 
read … Dependant on the scope of the 
requirements may mean more staff are required to 
collect and collate the data and financial penalties 
may be incurred if targets are not met.

 Preset emission reductions– How would this affect 
us in future targets, year on year reductions.

 Approximate outstanding British Gas bill (40K)
 What are Salix loans, how they are repaid and what 

are the interest rates.

The Chair thanked the Officers for attending.

Resolved that:

The content of the report be noted.

79  Environment 
Enforcement across 
the County Borough

The Chair advised this was a written update and will be 
regularly reported back to Committee. 

An update to the report to be noted at 5.1.2 where it states 
9 successful prosecutions for fly tipping and s.34 offence 
and 5 files with the legal department awaiting initial court 
hearings, this now stands at 10 successful prosecutions 
and 6 with the legal department.

The Enforcement Team will come back to Committee on 10 
September 2018 when questions can be asked.  The Chair 
advised any questions before then should be directed to 
himself, Sian Lyons, Paul Jones or Gemma Rough.

Page 93



Resolved that:

a) The content of the report be noted.
b) Updated information at 5.1.2 be noted.

80  Draft Scrutiny Report -
Capital Project Referral 
(Brandy Bridge 
scheme / Road Slip - 
South of Pontygwaith)

Howard Jones referred to the draft report which was 
circulated to Committee Members separately. 

The Chair advised that in the pre-meeting Councillors Clive 
Jones and David Jones made some observations on 
changes to the report, these changes are acknowledged.

Clarity was sought by Committee whether the senior officer 
that had left the Authority would be replaced within the 
structure.

Resolved that:

Any observations noted at this meeting will be considered 
prior to the report being scheduled to a Cabinet Meeting.

81  Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme

The Chair referred to the Scrutiny Committee Work 
Programme Report and advised that he had met with 
Councillor David Jones, Howard Jones, Sian Lyons and 
Cherylee Evans to discuss the Forward Working 
Programme and asked if anyone would like to add to it or 
add anything to the agenda. 

Howard Jones added that the Forward Working Programme 
was not set in stone, it will be put on the Council’s website 
and can be updated at any time.  It will give public and 
interested parties an idea of what the Committee will be 
looking at over the next twelve months.

The following matters were raised by Committee:-

 Fly tipping and litter deposited on private land.
 What enforcement powers the local authority have 

on private land.
 The opportunity to question officers on this matter.

Resolved that:

a) The Committee considers the attached draft work 
programme and approves, revises or amends it as 
deemed appropriate.

b) Fly tipping and litter deposited on private land and 
what enforcement powers the local authority have 
be added to the Forward Work Programme.

82  Scrutiny Referrals, 
Feedback and Follow 
up Actions

The Chair advised these matters had already been 
discussed and there were a few follow-ups going forward.

Page 94



83  Reflection and 
Evaluation of Meeting

The Chair and the Committee reflected on the items 
discussed at the meeting.

84  Any other business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair acknowledged that due to retirement this was 
Howard Jones’ last Committee Meeting and wished to thank 
him for his support and advice over the last year.

This was reiterated by Committee and Howard was wished 
every health and happiness in his future.

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Annual Governance Statement for Financial Year 
2017/18

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 For Councillors to receive and approve the Annual Governance Statement for 
2017/18.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) THAT

2.1 The Annual Governance Statement 2017/18 be approved.

3.0 INTRODUCTION 

3.1 The Accounts and Audit (Wales) regulations 2014 require that Council annually 
approve a Statement on Internal Control (SIC) for each financial year and that the 
SIC accompanies the audited Statement of Accounts. 

3.2 Guidance has been received which indicates that the inclusion of the Annual 
Governance Statement (AGS) with the Statement of Accounts instead of the SIC is 
regarded as best practice for Wales. The production of an AGS to accompany the 
accounts in respect of the 2017/18 financial year meets the requirement to produce a 
SIC.

Date Written 12th September 2018
Report Author Gary Evans
Service Area Audit
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 97

Agenda Item 5



3.3 New guidance has been published by CIPFA/Solace called Delivering Good 
Governance in Local Government: Framework 2016 (Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy / Society of Local Authority Chief Executives).  The 
framework applies to all annual governance statements prepared for the financial 
year 2016/17 onwards and has been taken into account in producing the AGS for 
2017/18.

3.4 The Annual Governance Statement has been presented to Corporate Management 
Team, the Governance, Performance, Business Change and Corporate Services 
Scrutiny Committee, the Audit Committee, the Leader of the Council, the Chief 
Executive and External Audit.  

4.0 FORMAT OF ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (AGS)

4.1 A standard format for the AGS has been produced by the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) as shown below:

1) Scope of Responsibility.
2) The Purpose of the Governance Framework.
3) The Governance Framework (this includes a description of the key elements 

of the systems and processes).
4) Review of Effectiveness.
5) Significant Governance Issues.
6) Significant Governance Issues reported in the previous year’s Statement 

including a positional update.

4.2 It is important to recognise that the AGS covers all significant corporate systems, 
processes and controls, spanning the whole range of the Council’s activities, 
including in particular those designed to ensure that:

 The Council’s policies are implemented in practice;
 High-quality services are delivered efficiently and effectively;
 The Council’s values and ethical standards are met;
 Laws and regulations are complied with;
 Required processes are adhered to;
 Performance statements and other published information are accurate and 

reliable; and
 Human, financial and other resources are managed efficiently and effectively.

4.3 The AGS should be approved at a meeting of the Council or delegated committee 
and signed by the Chief Executive and a Leading Member (usually the Leader of the 
Council).

4.4 The AGS for 2017/18 was considered by Audit Committee on 17th September 2018.  
Audit Committee recommended to Full Council that the Annual Governance 
Statement 2017/18 be approved.  

4.5 The Annual Governance Statement is included within the Statement of Accounts and 
can be seen on Pages 102-132 of the Accounts.

Page 98



5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

5.1 None specifically identified in this report although good Corporate Governance 
supports sound financial management and helps maximise financial resources and 
minimise losses. Some of the issues identified in the AGS may result in additional 
costs to address them. These will be identified at the appropriate time along with 
potential options for funding them.

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EQIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report. It has been found that full assessment is not required at this time. The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

& CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

CIPFA Guidance
AGS Evidence File 2017/18 Financial Year

Internal Audit Office
Internal Audit Office

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Appointment of Audit Committee Lay Member

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 For Councillors to approve the appointment of the Audit Committee Lay Member.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) THAT

2.1 Mr. Robert T. Williams be appointed Lay Member to the Council’s Audit Committee 
for the remaining term of this Council.

3.0 INTRODUCTION 

3.1 Councillors will be aware that this Authority operates an Audit Committee and that 
membership is agreed by Full Council. This satisfies the statutory requirement of the 
Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011.

3.2 Under the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 the Council is required to have 
on its Audit Committee at least one person who is a lay member in addition to those 
who are Councillors.

3.3 The lay person appointed should be independent from the Council and have no 
business connection with it.

3.4 The Corporate Communications Department of the Council advertised the position 
for a lay member of the Audit Committee on behalf of the Internal Audit Service with 

Date Written 12th September 2018
Report Author Gary Evans
Service Area Audit
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 101

Agenda Item 6



the aim of having a person appointed before the next Audit Committee meeting in 
October.

3.5 The Council received a high number of applicants interested in the position. This did 
not include the incumbent Lay Member who stated that due to other commitments he 
would be unable to continue attending future Audit Committee meetings as Lay 
Member and therefore would not be applying to continue serving in that capacity; 
however he confirmed that he would continue attending Audit Committee meetings 
as Lay Member until the appointment process had been completed and a new Lay 
Member installed. 

3.6 The Audit Manager shortlisted the most appropriate, skilled and experienced of the 
applicants for interview against set pre-defined criteria. The shortlist was agreed with 
the Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) with input from the Head of Corporate 
Services.

3.7 Interviews were conducted in June, the interviewing panel consisted of the Chief 
Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer), the Head of Corporate Services and the Audit 
Manager. The interviews were conducted in accordance with Council policy and 
each of the interviewees assessed against the same set of criteria that was designed 
to challenge and evaluate their suitability to undertake the duties of the role of Lay 
Member.

3.8 The interviewing panel reached a unanimous decision on the most appropriate 
candidate to appoint, said candidate being Mr. Robert T. Williams. This decision was 
shared with the Leader of the Council, the Chair of Audit Committee and the Cabinet 
Member for Governance and Corporate Services.

3.9 The Audit Manager contacted and confirmed with Mr. Robert T. Williams that he was 
the preferred candidate and he was offered the post of Lay Member subject to the 
approval of Full Council. Mr. Williams has accepted this provisional offer. The 
incumbent Lay Member has been notified of this decision and has been gratefully 
thanked for his services and input during his tenure on the Council’s Audit 
Committee to date and that provisionally the meeting to be held on the 17th 
September would be the last one he would be required to attend subject to Full 
Council’s approval of the appointment.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

4.1 Under the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 lay members serving on audit 
committees have been granted full voting rights and will therefore be entitled to 
receive a Co-opted Member’s fee for attending meetings. The fee involved is set out 
in the Council’s Members Allowances Scheme.

5.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Page 102



5.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EQIA) is not required for the purpose of this report.

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

& CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

The Local Government 
(Wales) Measure 2011 
and appropriate 
guidance.

Recruitment, interview 
and appointment 
records.

Internal Audit Office

Internal Audit Office

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Letter of Representation 2017/18

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To present for approval by Council ‘representations’ regarding the 2017/18 Financial 
Statements.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 Representations regarding the 2017/18 Financial Statements be approved and 
communicated to the Appointed Auditor.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 As part of the completion and audit of the annual Statement of Accounts Council is 
required to make representations regarding the financial statements to the Appointed 
Auditor. 

3.2 These representations give assurance to the Appointed Auditor that the Chief 
Finance Officer has fulfilled all obligations in preparing the financial statements for 
audit and that the financial statements present a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Authority.

3.3 A report was presented to Audit Committee on 11th June 2018 indicating Council’s 
views on a number of governance areas impacting upon the audit of accounts, 
relevant to both management and ‘those charged with governance’ and was the 
basis for this Letter of Representation.

Date Written 7th September 2018
Report Author Steve Jones/Adele Lewis
Service Area Accountancy
Exempt/Non Exempt Non-Exempt
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 105

Agenda Item 7



3.4 The Representations regarding the 2017/18 Financial Statements is included as 
Appendix 1 to this report.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(s)

4.1 All financial implications and obligations relating to this Letter of Representation are 
included within the Statement of Accounts 2017/18.

5.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Closure of Accounts 
working papers.

Audit enquiries to those 
charged with 
Governance and 
Management report to 
Audit Committee

Wales Audit Office  
Audit of Financial 
Statements report to 
Audit Committee

March 2018 to 
September 2018

11th June 2018

17th September 2018

Accountancy

MTCBC website

MTCBC website

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 106



Gareth Chapman CStJ., DL., LLM., MBA., CMgr., DipLG., CCMI., Solicitor APPENDIX 1
Chief Executive/Prif Weithredwr

 Auditor General for Wales 
 Wales Audit Office 
 24 Cathedral Road 
 Cardiff 
 CF11 9LJ

Dear Sir

REPRESENTATIONS REGARDING THE 2017-18 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

This letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements (including that 
part of the Remuneration Report that is subject to audit) of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council for the year ended 31 March 2018 for the purpose of expressing an opinion on their 
truth and fairness and their proper preparation.

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made enquiries as we 
consider sufficient, we can make the following representations to you.

MANAGEMENT REPRESENTATIONS

Responsibilities 

We have fulfilled our responsibilities for: 

• The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with legislative requirements 
and the Code of Audit Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom; 
in particular the financial statements give a true and fair view in accordance therewith. 

• The design, implementation, maintenance and review of internal control to prevent and 
detect fraud and error. 

Information provided 

We have provided you with: 

• Full access to: 
‒ all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the financial 
statements such as books of account and supporting documentation, minutes of 
meetings and other matters; 
‒ additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit; 
and

Civic Centre, Castle Street,
Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN

Canolfan Ddinesig, Stryd y Castell,
Merthyr Tudful, CF47 8AN

Tel/Ffôn: (01685) 725000
Fax/Ffacs: (01685) 374397

www.merthyr.gov.uk

Date/Dyddiad: 26th September 2018

Our ref./Ein Cyf.:  18 09 26 (L) AG/GC Please ask for/Gofynnwch am: Gareth Chapman
Your ref./Eich Cyf.: Direct Line/Llinell Uniongyrchol: (01685) 725000

e-mail/e-bost: chief.executive@merthyr .gov.uk

Page 107



Gareth Chapman CStJ., DL., LLM., MBA., CMgr., DipLG., CCMI., Solicitor APPENDIX 1
Chief Executive/Prif Weithredwr

‒ unrestricted access to staff from whom you determined it necessary to obtain audit 
evidence. 

• The results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be materially 
misstated as a result of fraud. 

• Our knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud that we are aware of and that affects Merthyr 
Tydfil County Borough Council and involves: 
‒ management; 
‒ employees who have significant roles in internal control; or 
‒ others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

• Our knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the financial 
statements communicated by employees, former employees, regulators or others. 

• Our knowledge of all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance 
with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing the 
financial statements. 

• The identity of all related parties and all the related party relationships and transactions 
of which we are aware. 

FINANCIAL STATEMENT REPRESENTATIONS

All transactions, assets and liabilities have been recorded in the accounting records and are 
reflected in the financial statements. 

Significant assumptions used in making accounting estimates, including those measured at 
fair value, are reasonable. 

Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and 
disclosed. 

All events occurring subsequent to the reporting date which require adjustment or disclosure 
have been adjusted for or disclosed. 

All known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered when 
preparing the financial statements have been disclosed to the auditor and accounted for and 
disclosed in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. 

The financial statements are free of material misstatements, including omissions.  The effects 
of the two uncorrected misstatements identified during the audit and reported to us are 
immaterial, both individually and in aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a whole. 
We agree with managements’ decision for non-correction.

We are aware that a restatement of the prior year income and expenditure for the People and 
Performance Directorate was required due to the identification of a material error arising from 
the inclusion of the Central South Consortium Joint Education Service within the financial 
statements.

Page 108



Gareth Chapman CStJ., DL., LLM., MBA., CMgr., DipLG., CCMI., Solicitor APPENDIX 1
Chief Executive/Prif Weithredwr

REPRESENTATIONS BY THE MEMBERS OF MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH 
COUNCIL

We acknowledge that the representations made by management, above, have been discussed 
with us. 

We acknowledge our responsibility for the preparation of true and fair financial statements in 
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. The financial statements were 
approved by Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council on 26 September 2018. 

We confirm that we have taken all the steps that we ought to have taken in order to make 
ourselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that it has been 
communicated to you. We confirm that, as far as we are aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which you are unaware.

Signed by: Signed by: 

D S Jones

Chief Finance Officer 

Councillor Clive Tovey

Chair of Council 

Date: 26th September 2018 Date: 26th September 2018

Page 109



Page 110



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Statement of Accounts 2017/18

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To present for approval by Council the Final Audited Statement of Accounts for the 
2017/18 financial year.

1.2 The report details legislation governing the process for compilation of the Statement 
of Accounts, changes in Accounting Policies and practices for the 2017/18 financial 
year and a brief summary of revenue, capital and financial position as at the 31st 
March 2018.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The Audited Statement of Accounts for 2017/18, being the financial year ended 31st 
March 2018, be approved.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014 require the responsible financial 
officer, by the 30th June to sign and date an unaudited Statement of Accounts and 
certify that it presents a true and fair view of the financial position of the Authority at 
the end of 31st March 2018. The Statement of Accounts 2017/18 were signed and 
dated 8th June 2018, three weeks earlier than the required deadline.

Date Written 7th September 2018
Report Author Steve Jones/Adele Lewis
Service Area Accountancy
Exempt/Non Exempt Non-Exempt
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 111

Agenda Item 8



3.2 The Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014 require final audited accounts to 
be reported to Council for approval prior to 30th September 2018, with best practice 
also recommending reporting to Audit Committee. 

3.3 Audit Committee of 17th September 2018 considered and recommended the audited 
Statement of Accounts 2017/18 to this Council for approval. Any amendments to the 
Provisional Statement of Accounts were presented by the External Auditors.

3.4 On approval of the audited accounts by this Council, the External Auditor, will 
complete an opinion of the financial statements and certify completion of the audit of 
the approved accounts. 

3.5 In accompanying the Final Audited Statement of Accounts this report is an Executive 
Summary of the financial performance of the Council during the financial year ended 
31st March 2018.

4.0 INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

4.1 The Statement of Accounts for 2017/18 is prepared in accordance with proper 
accounting practices. These practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18 and the Service 
Reporting code of Practice 2017/18, supported by International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). The Statement of Accounts incorporates the following financial 
statements:

 Expenditure Funding Analysis
 Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
 Movement in Reserves Statement
 Balance Sheet
 Cash Flow

5.0 JOINT OPERATIONS

5.1 Joint operations are activities undertaken by the Authority in conjunction with other 
joint operators that involve the use of the assets and resources of the joint operators 
rather than the establishment of a separate entity.

5.2 The Authority has reflected its share of the transactions of the following Joint 
Operations within the 2017/18 Statement of Accounts as follows:

 46.60 % of the Llwydcoed Crematorium Joint Committee
 6.68% of the Central South Consortium Joint Committee
 3.94% of the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Joint Committee

6.0 FINAL AUDITED STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS

6.1 The Statement of Accounts has been audited over the last three months by the 
External Auditor, Wales Audit Office. Attached at Appendix 1 is the External Auditor 
report to the Audit Committee of the 17th September 2018 in respect of findings 

Page 112



during the audit of the Statement of Accounts 2017/18. The audit identified no 
amendments to either the provisionally reported revenue or capital outturn.

7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(s)

7.1 Revenue Outturn: 

The General Fund Revenue to outturn budget for 2017/18 is as follows:

Revised
Budget Provisional

Summary 2017/18 Outturn
£'000 £'000 £'000 %

People and Performance
Social Services 29,928 29,027 -901 -3.01
Learning 43,923 44,200 277 0.63
Total 73,851 73,227 -624 -0.84
Place and Transformation
Deputy Chief Executive Services 2,200 2,087 -113 -5.14
Community Regeneration 3,346 3,337 -9 -0.27
Neighbourhood Services 10,518 10,613 95 0.90
Corporate Services 3,853 3,866 13 0.34
Finance 1,169 1,153 -16 -1.37
Total 21,086 21,056 -30 -0.14
Corporate Costs
Corporate Management - Executive 1,544 1,537 -7 -0.45
Corporate Authority 18,466 18,303 -163 -0.88
Legal and Democratic Services 1,542 1,421 -121 -7.85
Human Resources and Organisational Development 771 730 -41 -5.32
Performance 304 301 -3 -0.99
Total 22,627 22,292 -335 -1.48

Contributions and Recharges -2,769 -3,081 -312 -11.27
Total -2,769 -3,081 -312 -11.27
Net Expenditure (before transfer to earmarked 
reserves) 114,795 113,494 -1,301 -1.13

Transfer to Earmarked Reserves 0 1,228 1,228 n/a
Net Expenditure (after transfer to earmarked 
reserves) 114,795 114,722 -73 -0.06

Variance

7.1.1 For 2017/18 the Council is reporting a revenue surplus of £73,000, to be transferred 
to General Reserves, net of contributions to earmarked reserves.  The surplus 
position results from the continuation of the following initiatives:

 Moratorium on non-essential expenditure
 Improving departmental budget management
 Change Management Steering Group challenge
 Budget Board challenge

Page 113



 Service outcome focused redesign
 More robust framework governing vacant posts

7.1.2 The most significant movements from budget to outturn were presented to the Audit 
Committee on 9th July 2018 and were reported to Cabinet on 4th July2018.

 
7.1.3 As indicated in the revenue outturn table in paragraph 7.1 the net revenue budget 

surplus for 2017/18 is net of proposed transfers to earmarked reserves. The Table 
below details new earmarked reserves created as at 31st March 2018 to a value of 
£1.228 million, as approved by Cabinet on 4th July 2018.

Description Value
£’000

Capital Financing Reserve
Redundancy Reserve (existing reserve)
Children Looked After Residential Reserve
Information Technology Reserve
Environmental Health Reserve
Additional Learning Needs Reserve

340
500
263
111

7
7

Total 1,228

7.2 Capital Outturn
The Capital Outturn to Budget for 2017/18 is as follows: 

Revised
Budget Provisional

Summary 2017/18 Outturn
£'000 £'000 £'000 %

Expenditure
21st Century Schools Programme 1,508 1,379 -129 -8.55
Physical and Environmental Regeneration 3,686 1,900 -1,786 -48.45
Land and Buildings 2,117 2,327 210 9.92
Roads, Bridges and Transport 1,949 2,507 558 28.63
Disabled Facilities Grants 850 579 -271 -31.88
Collaborative Change Programme 1,296 364 -932 -71.91
Corporate 2,019 2,011 -8 -0.40
Total 13,425 11,067 -2,358 -17.56
Financed By
Borrowing 6,763 6,640 -123 -1.82
Capital Grants and Contributions 5,028 2,769 -2,259 -44.93
Merthyr Tydfil CBC's Own Resources 1,634 1,658 24 1.47
Total 13,425 11,067 -2,358 -17.56

Variance

7.2.1 In 2017/18, the Authority spent £11.1 million on capital projects compared to the 
planned Capital Programme of £13.4 million. Although not all the planned capital 
funding was utilised, no grant funding is lost as the monies are carried over into the 
2018/19 financial year.

Page 114



It should also be noted that the Council has incurred a further £954,000 capital 
expenditure as a contribution to the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Programme, to 
be financed through borrowing.

7.2.2 The most significant movements from budget to outturn were presented to the Audit 
Committee on 9th July 2018 and were reported to Cabinet on 4th July2018.

7.3 Financial Position

7.3.1 At 31st March 2018 the Authority’s general balances and reserves not earmarked for 
any specific purpose totals £4.700 million (31st March 2017 - £4.627 million), 
equating to 4% of the Council’s Budgeted Net Revenue Expenditure for 2018/19, in 
compliance with the Council’s Corporate Reserves Policy.

8.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

8.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Closure of Accounts 
working papers.

March 2018 to 
September 2018

Accountancy

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Audit of Financial Statements Report – 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council 
Audit year: 2017-18 

Date issued: September 2018 

Document reference: 805A2018-19 

 

Page 117



 

 

This document has been prepared as part of work performed in accordance with statutory functions. 

In the event of receiving a request for information to which this document may be relevant, attention  
is drawn to the Code of Practice issued under section 45 of the Freedom of Information Act 2000.  

The section 45 code sets out the practice in the handling of requests that is expected of public 
authorities, including consultation with relevant third parties. In relation to this document, the Auditor 

General for Wales and the Wales Audit Office are relevant third parties. Any enquiries regarding 
disclosure or re-use of this document should be sent to the Wales Audit Office at 

infoofficer@audit.wales. 

We welcome correspondence and telephone calls in Welsh and English. Corresponding in Welsh will 
not lead to delay. Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth a galwadau ffôn yn Gymraeg a Saesneg. Ni fydd 

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi. 

 
 

Page 118

mailto:infoofficer@audit.wales


Contents 

Page 3 of 20 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

The Auditor General intends to issue an unqualified audit report on your financial 
statements. There are some issues to report to you prior to their approval. 

 

Summary report  

Introduction 4 

Status of the audit 4 

Proposed audit report 4 

Significant issues arising from the audit 5 

The account and audit deadlines going forward                                                               6 

Recommendations arising from our 2017-18 financial audit work 7 

Independence and objectivity 7 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Final Letter of Representation 8 

Appendix 2 – proposed audit report of the Auditor General to the Members of Merthyr 
Tydfil County Borough Council 11 

Appendix 3 – summary of corrections made to the draft financial statements  
which should be drawn to the attention of the Members of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council 14 

Appendix 4 – recommendations arising from our 2017-18 financial audit work 17 

 

Page 119



Summary report 

Page 4 of 20 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Introduction 
1 

2 

3 

4 

The Auditor General is responsible for providing an opinion on whether the financial 
statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council (the Council) at 31 March 2018 and its income and 
expenditure for the year then ended. 
We do not try to obtain absolute assurance that the financial statements are 
correctly stated, but adopt the concept of materiality. In planning and conducting 
the audit, we seek to identify material misstatements in your financial statements, 
namely, those that might result in a reader of the accounts being misled. 

The quantitative levels at which we judge such misstatements to be material for the 
Council are £1.85 million. Whether an item is judged to be material can also be 
affected by certain qualitative issues such as legal and regulatory requirements, or 
areas of the financial statements that we consider to be of particular interest to the 
reader that we therefore judge to be sensitive. Examples of such areas are the 
remuneration report and related party disclosures, which we consider to be 
material by nature and hence set lower levels of materiality.  
International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 260 requires us to report certain matters 
arising from the audit of the financial statements to those charged with governance 
of a body in sufficient time to enable appropriate action. To meet this requirement, 
this report sets out for your consideration the matters arising from the audit of the 
Council’s 2017-18 financial statements. 

Status of the audit 
5 The Section 151 Officer signed the draft 2017-18 financial statements on 8 June 

2018 and provided them to us in advance of the agreed date of 18 June. The 
receipt of the accounts was three weeks ahead of the current statutory deadline 30 
June (see Exhibit 1). This is a noteworthy achievement by the finance team, 
preparing the accounts one week earlier than achieved last year. 

6 We have now substantially completed the audit work. We are reporting to you the 
more significant issues arising from the audit, which we believe you must consider 
prior to approval of the financial statements. The audit team has already discussed 
these issues with the relevant officers. 

Proposed audit report 
7 It is the Auditor General’s intention to issue an unqualified audit report on the 

financial statements once you have provided us with a Letter of Representation 
based on that set out in Appendix 1.  

8 The proposed audit report is set out in Appendix 2. 

Page 120



 

Page 5 of 20 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Significant issues arising from the audit 

Uncorrected misstatements  
9 Where we identify misstatements that are not trivial but have no impact on our 

opinion, we raise them with management who have the option to amend for them. 
Where they decide not to amend, their decision needs to be ratified by those 
charged with governance to ensure they agree. We set out below the 
misstatements we identified in the financial statements, which have been 
discussed with management who have decided not to amend for them due to them 
not being material and therefore not having a significant impact on the accounts or 
our opinion.  
• Included within property, plant and equipment are three properties to 

which the Council does not hold the rights of ownership  
The carrying value of these properties is £148,500. The Council does have a 
charge over the properties which it will realise on future sales. It would be more 
appropriate to classify these assets as a loan arrangement within long-term 
debtors. A capital receipt of £51,000 is included within the financial statements 
related to the charge realised on the in-year sale of a fourth property. 

• The Council currently holds £582,000 of payments in respect of Section 
106 agreements within earmarked reserves rather than with creditors 
Where Section 106 payments include a condition which requires the Council to 
repay any unspent funds after a specified period they should be recorded within 
creditors. 

Corrected misstatements 
10 The more important misstatements that were corrected are set out with brief 

explanations in Appendix 3. We consider that these reported corrections should be 
drawn to your attention due to their relevance to your responsibilities over the 
financial reporting process.  

There are no other significant issues arising from the audit 
11 During the audit we consider a number of matters both qualitative and quantitative 

relating to the financial statements and we report any significant issues to you. We 
comment below on any significant matters that arose, and also on aspects of our 
audit that we are required to report to you: 
• The Council has generally sound accounting and financial reporting 

practices. We found that the overall quality of the draft financial statements 
presented for audit has continued to improve, with officers having prepared 
them to a good standard for 2017-18. These ongoing improvements are 
particularly important given the challenges of ‘earlier closure’ that we cover 
below. 

Page 121



 

Page 6 of 20 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Generally, we found the information provided to be relevant, reliable, 
comparable, material and easy to understand. We concluded that the 
accounting policies, and the accounting estimates, are appropriate and 
financial statement disclosures unbiased, fair and clear.  

• We did not encounter any significant difficulties during the audit. We 
are grateful for the help and assistance provided to us by the staff of the 
finance and other departments throughout the audit. We generally received 
information in a timely and helpful manner and were not restricted in our 
work.    

• There were no significant matters discussed and corresponded upon 
with management which we currently need to report to you.  

• There are no other matters significant to the oversight of the financial 
reporting process that we need to report to you.  

• We did not identify any material weaknesses in your internal controls.  
• There are no other matters specifically required by auditing standards 

to be communicated to those charged with governance.     

The accounts and audit deadlines going forward 
12 Under the Accounts and Audit (Wale) (Amendments) Regulations 20181, in the 

future the Council and the Auditor General are required to meet earlier statutory 
deadlines. Under the amended regulations the new deadlines are due to change in 
stages, with the final change taking effect from 2020-21. Exhibit 1 sets out the new 
dates.    

Exhibit 1: changes introduced by the amended regulations  

Annual financial 
statements 

Financial statements 
signed by the 
responsible finance 
officer (Section 151 
Officer) 

Financial statements 
approved by the Council and 
published (with the signed 
audit certificate or an 
explanation for its absence) 

2017-18 30 June 2018 30 September 2018 
2018-19 15 June 2019 15 September 2019 

2019-20 15 June 2020 15 September 2020 

2020-21 and 
thereafter 

31 May 2021 31 July 2021 

13 In terms of the 2017-18 financial statements, Council officers have continued to 
make good progress in producing its draft financial statements three weeks earlier, 

 
1 www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2018/91/contents/made  

Page 122

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2018/91/contents/made


 

Page 7 of 20 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

without sacrificing their quality. After submitting the statements for audit, Council 
officers were present and available, and they engaged with us responsively and 
knowledgeably. These attributes were crucial in enabling us to conclude our main 
testing by the 17 August.  

14 This year Council officers had purposely retained the Audit Committee and Council 
meetings (to consider and approve the audited financial statements) in late 
September 2018, because the preparation and audit of the financial statements 
may not have met an earlier target date. Given this year’s successful outcome, for 
next year officers intend to provide us with draft financial statements by 31 May. 
Audit Committee and Council meetings will need to be brought forward to meet the 
15 September 2019 certification deadline. 

15 This coming autumn we will continue to work closely with officers to ensure that 
further improvements are made to the preparation and audit of the 2018-19 
financial statements. A key aspect of these improvements will be to bring more of 
our audit work forward, so that wherever possible it is completed before we receive 
the draft financial statements.    

Recommendations arising from our 2017-18 
financial audit work 
16 The recommendations arising from our financial audit work are set out in Appendix 

4. Management has responded to them and we will follow up progress on them 
during next year’s audit. Where any actions are outstanding, we will continue to 
monitor progress and report it to you in next year’s report. 

Independence and objectivity 
17 As part of the finalisation process, we are required to provide you with 

representations concerning our independence. 
18 We have complied with ethical standards and in our professional judgment, we are 

independent and our objectivity is not compromised. There are no relationships 
between the Wales Audit Office and the Council that we consider to bear on our 
objectivity and independence. 

 

Page 123



Appendix 1 

Page 8 of 20 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Final Letter of Representation 
Auditor General for Wales 
Wales Audit Office 

24 Cathedral Road 

Cardiff 
CF11 9LJ 

 

XX September 2018 

Representations regarding the 2017-18 financial statements 
This letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements (including 
that part of the Remuneration Report that is subject to audit) of Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council for the year ended 31 March 2018 for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on their truth and fairness and their proper preparation. 

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made enquiries as we 
consider sufficient, we can make the following representations to you. 

Management representations 

Responsibilities 

We have fulfilled our responsibilities for:  

• The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with legislative 
requirements and the Code of Audit Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom; in particular the financial statements give a true and fair view in 
accordance therewith. 

• The design, implementation, maintenance and review of internal control to prevent 
and detect fraud and error. 

Information provided 

We have provided you with: 

• Full access to: 
‒ all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of 

the financial statements such as books of account and supporting 
documentation, minutes of meetings and other matters; 

‒ additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the 
audit; and 

‒ unrestricted access to staff from whom you determined it necessary to 
obtain audit evidence. 

Page 124



 

Page 9 of 20 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

• The results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be 
materially misstated as a result of fraud. 

• Our knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud that we are aware of and that affects 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council and involves: 

‒ management; 

‒ employees who have significant roles in internal control; or 
‒ others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial 

statements. 
• Our knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the 

financial statements communicated by employees, former employees, regulators or 
others. 

• Our knowledge of all known instances of non-compliance or suspected  
non-compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered 
when preparing the financial statements. 

• The identity of all related parties and all the related party relationships and 
transactions of which we are aware. 

Financial statement representations 

All transactions, assets and liabilities have been recorded in the accounting records and 
are reflected in the financial statements. 
Significant assumptions used in making accounting estimates, including those measured 
at fair value, are reasonable. 
Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and 
disclosed. 

All events occurring subsequent to the reporting date which require adjustment or 
disclosure have been adjusted for or disclosed. 
All known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered 
when preparing the financial statements have been disclosed to the auditor and 
accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the applicable financial reporting 
framework. 

The financial statements are free of material misstatements, including omissions. The 
effects of the two uncorrected misstatements identified during the audit and reported to 
us are immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial statements 
taken as a whole. We agree with managements’ decision for non-correction.  
We are aware that a restatement of the prior year income and expenditure for the People 
and Performance Directorate was required due to the identification of a material error 
arising from the inclusion of the Central South Consortium Joint Education Service within 
the financial statements. 

Page 125



 

Page 10 of 20 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Representations by the members of Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council 
We acknowledge that the representations made by management, above, have been 
discussed with us. 
We acknowledge our responsibility for the preparation of true and fair financial 
statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. The financial 
statements were approved by Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council on 26 September 
2018. 
We confirm that we have taken all the steps that we ought to have taken in order to make 
ourselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that it has been 
communicated to you. We confirm that, as far as we are aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which you are unaware. 

  

 
 

 

Signed by: 
 

 

 

Signed by: 

Chief Financial Officer Chair of Council 

Date: Date: 

 
 

 

Page 126



Appendix 2 

Page 11 of 20 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Proposed audit report of the Auditor General to 
the Members of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council 
 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion 
I have audited the financial statements of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council for the 
year ended 31 March 2018 under the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004.  

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council’s financial statements comprise the Movement in 
Reserves Statement, the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, the 
Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement, and the related notes, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies and the Expenditure and Funding Analysis.  
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable 
law and the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017-
18 based on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). 

In my opinion the financial statements:  
• give a true and fair view of the financial position of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 

Council as at 31 March 2018 and of its income and expenditure for the year then 
ended; and 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with legislative requirements and the 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017-18. 

Basis for opinion 

I conducted my audit in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on 
Auditing in the UK (ISAs (UK)). My responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section 
of my report. I am independent of the council in accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to my audit of the financial statements in the UK including the Financial 
Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard, and I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs 
(UK) require me to report to you where: 

• the use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements is not appropriate; or 

• the responsible financial officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any 
identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the council’s 
ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at 
least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for 
issue. 

Page 127



 

Page 12 of 20 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Other information 

The responsible financial officer is responsible for the other information in the annual 
report and accounts. The other information comprises the information included in the 
annual report other than the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon. My 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to 
the extent otherwise explicitly stated later in my report, I do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the 
other information to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements 
and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or 
materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by me in the course of performing 
the audit. If I become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies I 
consider the implications for my report. 

 

Report on other requirements 

Opinion on other matters 
In my opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of my audit: 
• the information contained in the Narrative Report for the financial year for which the 

financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and the 
Narrative Report has been prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017-18;  

• The information given in the Annual Governance Statement for the financial year for 
which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial 
statements and the Annual Governance Statement has been prepared in accordance 
with guidance.  

Matters on which I report by exception 
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the council and its environment 
obtained in the course of the audit, I have not identified material misstatements in the 
Narrative Report or the Annual Governance Statement. 
I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters, which I report to you, if, in my 
opinion: 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept; 
• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and 

returns; or 

• I have not received all the information and explanations I require for my audit. 

Certificate of completion of audit 
I certify that I have completed the audit of the accounts of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council in accordance with the requirements of the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004 and the 
Auditor General for Wales’ Code of Audit Practice. 

Responsibilities 

Responsibilities of the responsible financial officer for the financial statements 

Page 128



 

Page 13 of 20 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of 
Accounts set out on pages 17 to 18, the responsible financial officer is responsible for the 
preparation of the statement of accounts, which give a true and fair view, and for such 
internal control as the responsible financial officer determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of statements of accounts that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 
In preparing the statement of accounts, the responsible financial officer is responsible for 
assessing the council’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
deemed inappropriate.  
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level 
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
(UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements. 
A further description of the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council's website 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of my auditor’s report. 

       
Anthony J Barrett      24 Cathedral Road 

For and on behalf of the Auditor General for Wales  Cardiff 

27 September 2018      CF11 9LJ 

 

Page 129



Appendix 3 

Page 14 of 20 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Summary of corrections made to the draft 
financial statements which should be drawn to 
the attention of the Members of Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council  
We consider that the following misstatements, which management have corrected, 
should be drawn to your attention due to their relevance to your responsibilities over the 
financial reporting process.  

Exhibit 2: summary of corrections made to the draft financial statements 

 

Value of correction Nature of correction Reason for correction 
Prior Year Adjustment 
£5,474,000 

2016-17 CIES 
Decrease in gross income 
and expenditure within the 
People and Performance 
directorate 

A restatement was 
required due to the 
identification of a material 
error in accounting for the 
inclusion of the Central 
South Consortium Joint 
Education Service within 
the financial statements. 

£2,323,000 CIES/Balance Sheet/ 
Note 14 Property Plant and 
Equipment 
Decrease in infrastructure 
assets (net book value). 

Downward revaluation of 
land reclamation 
erroneously included within 
infrastructure assets which 
is already correctly 
accounted for within land 
and buildings. 

£2,337,000 Note 14 Property, Plant and 
Equipment 
Decrease in land and 
buildings (gross book value) 

To derecognise the gross 
value of administration 
assets which are fully 
impaired but are not 
directly attributable to an 
asset in accordance with 
the Code. 

£163,000 (net) CIES 
Decrease in gross income 
and expenditure within the 
People and Performance 
directorate. 

The net impact of four 
misstatements: 
£890,000 To correct a mis-
posting of contributions to 
earmarked reserves for 
schools. 
(£395,000) To correct for a 
mis-posting for clearance 
of the prior year ESF Grant 
projects debtor balance. 

Page 130



 

Page 15 of 20 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Value of correction Nature of correction Reason for correction 
(£428,000) To correctly 
eliminate the in-year 
transactions between the 
Council and the Central 
South Consortium Joint 
Education Service. 
(£230,000) The Council’s 
match funding element of 
the EIG grant had been 
erroneously accounted for 
as income within revenue 
grants. 

£899,000 Note 22 Creditor 
Decrease in ‘other central 
government bodies and 
increase in ‘other entities’. 

To correctly classify the 
Local Government Pension 
Scheme creditor for month 
12. 

£640,000 Note 14 Property, Plant and 
Equipment 
Decrease in ‘surplus assets’ 
and increase in ‘land and 
buildings’ (net book value). 

To correctly classify land 
and buildings which are in 
operational use by the 
Council. 

£175,000 CIES/ Note 15 Heritage 
Assets 
Increase in Civic Regalia. 

To reflect the value of an 
asset not previously 
included within Heritage 
Assets. 

 
 

During our audit we recommended a number of additions, amendments and deletions to 
disclosures within the financial statements to ensure completeness, clarity, accuracy and 
consistency throughout, and to comply with best practice as set out in the Code. 

  

Page 131



 

Page 16 of 20 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Exhibit 3: summary of disclosure amendments made to the draft financial statements 

Disclosure Note Nature of amendment 
Narrative Report To improve the Report’s readability, consistency with the 

accounts and requirements of the Code, amendments were 
made to: 

• explain how the cabinet portfolios link to the CIES 
directorates; and 

• summarise the risks facing the Council, taken from the 
Corporate Risk Register. 

Note 31 Officers’ 
Remuneration 

• To include disclosure of the Chief Officer Learning 
within the senior employees disclosure who is 
seconded into the Council; 

• inclusion of an additional officer within the £60,000-
£65,000 remuneration Band; 

• disclosure of Chief Executive‘s returning officer fees; 
and 

• inclusion of four further persons and associated costs 
within other departures within the exit package 
disclosures. 

Note 34 Related 
Party Transactions 

• Simplification to the presentation of financial and non-
financial disclosures; and 

• Inclusion of members who served in the period leading 
up to the 2017 local elections. 

Note 35 Capital 
Expenditure and 
Capital Financing 

Inclusion of transactions for the Council’s joint operations to 
comply with the Code. 

Note 37 Defined 
Contribution 
Pension Schemes 

Expected contributions into the Teachers’ Pension Scheme for 
2018-19 amended to £3,050,000 to provide a consistent 
estimate of annual contributions. 

Note 38 Defined 
Benefit Pension 
Schemes 

Expected defined benefit scheme contributions for 2018-19 
amended to £10,380,000 to provide a consistent estimate of 
annual contributions. 

Note 40 Risks 
arising from 
Financial 
Instruments 

Liquidity risk: the maturity analysis of the Council’s borrowings 
has been updated to include all short and long term loans. 

Note 42 Interests in 
other entities 

Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust: to disclose the correct management 
fee paid to the Trust in the year of £2,673,000. 

Various disclosure 
notes 

A number of narrative and disclosure amendments, not identified 
separately in this table, as not regarded as material to the 
financial statements. 

Page 132



Appendix 4 

Page 17 of 20 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Recommendations arising from our 2017-18 
financial audit work 
We set out all the recommendations arising from our audit with management’s response 
to them. We will follow up these next year and include any outstanding issues in next 
year’s audit report: 

Exhibit 4: recommendations arising from our 2017-18 financial audit work 

Matter arising 1 – Narrative Report Performance Indicators 
Findings The 2017-18 Narrative Report does not contain an 

analysis of key financial and non-financial performance 
indicators relevant to the performance of the Council. 
The Code requires that the Council provides an analysis 
of performance indicators that it judges as central in 
assessing progress against its strategic objectives or 
monitoring its risks. 
 
The Council’s corporate performance analysis 
framework was under review during 2017-18. Therefore, 
no corporate summary of performance was available for 
inclusion in the 2017-18 Narrative Report. 

Priority Medium 
Recommendation The Council should include a summary of progress 

against its key performance indicators in the 2018-19 
Narrative Report. 

Benefits of implementing 
the recommendation 

An analysis of performance indicators will offer the user 
of the financial statements an insight into the 
effectiveness of the Council’s operations. The Council 
will ensure compliance with the Code by providing this 
analysis. 

Accepted in full by 
management 

Yes 

Management response The Council’s performance framework is under review, 
targets have been set for 2018-19. However, a report of 
Actual Performance against targets will not be available 
until October 2019. 

Implementation date Information on Targets can be included within the 2018-
19 financial statements. 

 

  

Page 133



 

Page 18 of 20 - Audit of Financial Statements Report – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

 

Matter arising 2 – Revenue Grant Income Accruals 
Findings The audit sample of twelve revenue grants included two 

instances where the Council had not applied the correct 
accounting treatment for accruals. In both cases, the 
Council had overstated its grant income. The total value 
of the misstatements identified is trivial at £21,000 and 
below our reporting level, so no adjustment is proposed. 
However, it is important that the Council ensures that it 
applies the correct treatment for accruals. 

Priority Medium 
Recommendation The Council should ensure that all relevant officers are 

advised of the correct accounting treatment for accruals, 
The Council should perform a review of all grant income 
account codes in 2018-19 to ensure grant income is 
correctly accounted for. 

Benefits of implementing 
the recommendation 

The Council will ensure its compliance with the Code 
and its accounting policies. 

Accepted in full by 
management 

Yes 

Management response The Council will review grant income codes and ensure 
all officers are re trained on the accounting treatment for 
grant income/accruals for the 2018-19 financial 
statements. 

Implementation date During preparation of the 2018-19 financial statements. 
 

 

 

Page 134



Page 135



 

 

Wales Audit Office 
24 Cathedral Road 
Cardiff CF11 9LJ 

Tel: 029 2032 0500 
Fax: 029 2032 0600 

Textphone.: 029 2032 0660 

E-mail: info@audit.wales 
Website: www.audit.wales 

Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru 
24 Heol y Gadeirlan 
Caerdydd CF11 9LJ 

Ffôn: 029 2032 0500 
Ffacs: 029 2032 0600 

Ffôn testun: 029 2032 0660 

E-bost: post@archwilio.cymru 
Gwefan: www.archwilio.cymru 

 

Page 136

mailto:info@audit.wales
http://www.audit.wales/
mailto:post@archwilio.cymru
http://www.archwilio.cymru/


 

 
MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY 

BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MYNEGIAD CYFRIFON AM Y FLWYDDYN 
YN DIWEDDU 31 MAWRTH 2018 

 

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS FOR 
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018 

 
 

 
DS Jones CPFA 

Chief Finance Officer 
Prif Swyddog Cyllid 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 137



 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
 

 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2018 
 
 

 
Contents 
 
Narrative Report 
 
Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts 
 
 
The Core Financial Statements 
 
Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
 
Movement in Reserves Statement  
 
Balance Sheet 
 
Cash Flow Statement 
 
 
Notes to the Statement of Accounts 
 
Glossary of Terms 
 
Annual Governance Statement 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report 

 
Page 

 
1-16 

 
17-18 

 
 
 
 

19 
 

20 
 

21-22 
 

23 
 

24 
 
 

25-97 
 

98-101 
 

102-132 
 

133-135 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 138



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

1 

 

 
NARRATIVE REPORT 
 

Introduction 
 
Located in the Heads of the Valleys, within the Cardiff Capital Region, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
is the smallest Welsh local authority, with a population of circa 59,000 and an area of approximately 
11,000 hectares of which 2,300 hectares lies within the Brecon Beacons National Park. 
 
Neighbouring Local Authorities are Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council (west and south-
west), Caerphilly County Borough Council (east and south-east) and Powys County Council (north). 
The A470 (north-south) and A465 (east-west) meet to the north-west of Merthyr Tydfil and are the 
County Borough’s major roads. 
 
The County Borough has rich geology and a mixture of quality habitats influenced by its industrial past. 
Having been the most productive centre of iron making in the world the County Borough has profound 
historic and cultural significance. 
 
The main town of Merthyr Tydfil lies approximately 20 miles north of Cardiff and is the main retail and 
service centre in the Heads of the Valleys fulfilling a key strategic role.  

 
 
Organisational Structure 
 
The Council consists of 33 Elected Members representing 11 electoral divisions with the political 
balance at 31st March 2018 being 18 Independent Members and 15 Labour Members. Full Council has 
responsibility for approving and adopting the Authority’s Budget and policy framework, that is the plans, 
schemes and strategies. 
  
The Cabinet is responsible for taking most of the major decisions but they must be in line with the 
Council’s overall policies and Budget. The Cabinet consists of 5 Cabinet Members led by the Leader of 
the Council as non-portfolio Chair. The 5 Cabinet portfolios are as follows: 
 

o Learning 
o Social Services 
o Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside 
o Regeneration and Public Protection 
o Governance and Corporate Services 

 
The services falling under the remit of the Cabinet Members for ‘Learning’ and ‘Social Services’ are 
included within the ‘People and Performance’ descriptor disclosed within the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement. 
 
The services falling under the remit of the Cabinet Members for ‘Neighbourhood Services, Planning 
and Countryside’ and ‘Regeneration and Public Protection’ are included within the ‘Place and 
Transformation’ descriptor disclosed within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
The services falling under the remit of the Cabinet Member for ‘Governance and Corporate Services’ 
are included within the ‘Place and Transformation’ and ‘Corporate Costs’ descriptors disclosed within 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
 
 

Page 139



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

2 

 

Scrutiny Committees and Audit Committee provide a further degree of challenge and scrutiny.  
Elected Members are supported by the Council’s Corporate Management Team led by the Chief 
Executive and Deputy Chief Executive and comprising of the following Chief Officers: 
 

o Chief Officer for Learning – supporting the Cabinet Member for Learning and responsible for 
schools and education 

o Chief Officer for Social Services – supporting the Cabinet Member for Social Services and 
responsible for children’s services, adult services, safeguarding and youth services 

o Chief Officer for Neighbourhood Services – supporting the Cabinet Member for Neighbourhood 
Services, Planning and Countryside and responsible for refuse and waste, highways and 
engineering, corporate property, planning and countryside, bereavement services, grounds 
maintenance, street cleansing and fleet management 

o Chief Officer for Community Regeneration – supporting the Cabinet Member for Regeneration 
and Public Protection and responsible for community regeneration, employability and 
worklessness and public protection 

 
In addition the Cabinet Member for Governance and Corporate Services is supported by a number of 
senior officers who also attend Corporate Management Team, namely the Deputy Chief Executive, 
Chief Finance Officer, Head of Legal and Democratic Services, Head of Corporate Services, Head of 
Human Resources, Head of Business Change and Head of Corporate Communications. 

 
 
Corporate Wellbeing Objectives 
 
The Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 2021/22 approved by Council on 7th March 2018 
was determined having regard to the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The Act 
embraces seven wellbeing goals: 
 

1. A prosperous Wales 
2. A resilient Wales 
3. A healthier Wales 
4. A more equal Wales 
5. A Wales of cohesive communities 
6. A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language 
7. A globally responsible Wales 

 
In setting its Wellbeing Objectives the Council must demonstrate how it has applied the sustainable 
development principles in aligning with the 5 ways of working of involvement, collaboration, integration, 
prevention and long-term. 
 
Council of 26th July 2017 approved the Wellbeing Objectives as set out in the plan, ‘Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our community’. Council of 4th April 2018 further approved the streamlining of the Council’s 
Wellbeing Objectives from 9 to 4, to ensure a greater focus on delivery and improved accountability. 
The 4 Wellbeing Objectives are: 
 

1. Best Start to Life – children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with 
the skills they need to be successful learners and confident individuals 

2. Working Life – people feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the needs of 
businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure that establishes Merthyr Tydfil as an attractive 
destination 

3. Environmental Wellbeing – communities protect, enhance and promote our environment and 
countryside 

Page 140



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

3 

 

4. Living Well – people are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they 
are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health 

 
 

Core Financial Statements 
 
This document presents the Statement of Accounts for Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council for the 
financial year ended 31st March 2018. It has been prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18.  
 
The financial statements – accompanied by a Statement of Responsibilities, Independent Auditor’s 
Report, and explanatory notes – are set out on pages 14 to 92, and comprise: 
 
Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
The Expenditure and Funding Analysis shows how annual expenditure is used and funded from 
resources (government grants, rents, council tax and Business rates) by local authorities in comparison 
with those resources consumed or earned by authorities in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting practices. It shows how this expenditure is allocated for decision making purposes between 
the Council’s directorates. Income and expenditure accounted for under generally accepted accounting 
practices is presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
This statement is fundamental to the understanding of a local authority’s activities, in that it reports the 
net cost for the year of all the functions for which the authority is responsible, and demonstrates how 
that cost has been financed from general government grants and income from local taxpayers. It brings 
together expenditure and income relating to all of the local authority’s functions. It shows the accounting 
cost in the year of providing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. 
 
Movement in Reserves Statement 
The Movement in Reserves Statement shows the movement from the start of the year to the end on 
different reserves held by the Authority, analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those that can be applied 
to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other ‘unusable reserves’. The Statement shows how 
the movements in year of the authority’s reserves are broken down between gains and losses incurred 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices and the statutory adjustments required to 
return to the amounts chargeable to council tax (or rents) for the year. The Net Increase/Decrease line 
shows the statutory General Fund Balance movements in the year following those adjustments. 
 
Balance Sheet 
This statement is fundamental to the understanding of the Authority's financial position at the Balance 
Sheet date as it shows the value of the assets and liabilities recognised by the Authority. The net assets 
of the Authority (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the Authority. Reserves are 
reported in two categories: 
 

 Usable Reserves – reserves that the Authority may use to provide services, subject to the need 
to maintain a prudent level of reserves and any statutory limitations on their use, for example 
the Capital Receipts Reserve may only be used to fund capital expenditure or repay debt. 

 

 Unusable Reserves – reserves that the Authority is not able to use to provide services. This 
includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses, for example the Revaluation Reserve, 
where amounts would only become available to provide services if the assets are sold, and 
reserves that hold timing differences shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

 

Page 141



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

4 

 

Cash Flow Statement 
This statement summarises the inflows and the outflows of cash arising from transactions with third 
parties for revenue and capital purposes. It shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the 
Authority during the reporting period. The statement shows how the Authority generates and uses cash 
and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities. 

 
 
Financial Performance 2017/18 
 
The Authority is structured in three Directorates: 
 

 People and Performance 

 Places and Transformation 

 Corporate Costs 
 
Services areas included within these Directorates can be seen in the Revenue Outturn to Budget 
Section of this Narrative Report. 
 
The following illustrations show, in broad terms, the Authority’s revenue activities for the financial year 
ended 31st March 2018, that is, where the money comes from and what it is spent on. 
 
 
Where the Money Comes From 
 

 
 
 
The largest single item is Government Grants which provides 67% of the total, whereas 6%                                                                     
comes from the services provided through rents, fees and charges. Council Tax income accounts for 
only 13% of the total income. 

£'000 %

Government Grants 111,492 67

Rents and Charges 10,282 6

Council Tax Payers 20,868 13

National Non Domestic Rates 19,065 11

Other Income 4,463 3

Total 166,170 100

Page 142



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

5 

 

 
 
 
What the Money is Spent On 
 

£'000 %

Employee Costs 71,570 43

Running Expenses 84,845 51

Capital Financing Costs 7,419 4

Levies 2,919 2

Total 166,753 100  
 
 

 
 
Running expenses such as maintaining buildings, operating vehicles and purchases of supplies and 
services comprises 51% of the total expenditure, whilst expenditure attributable to employees totals 
43%. 

67%
6%

13%

11%
3%

Where the Money Comes From

Government Grants

Rents and Charges

Council Tax Payers

National Non Domestic Rates

Other Income

43%

51%

4% 2%

What the Money is Spent On

Employee Costs

Running Expenses

Capital Financing Costs

Levies

Page 143



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

6 

 

The Services Provided 
 

£'000 %

People and Performance 97,947 59

Places and Transformation 34,578 21

Corporate Costs 34,228 20

Total 166,753 100  
 
 

 
 

 
Results Reported in the Statement of Accounts 
 
The totals for income and expenditure in the preceding section were derived from the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement on page 17, but they exclude: 
 

 the precept collected in Council Tax for South Wales Police (£3.94m for 2017/18, Note 11), 

 the authority’s share of joint committees (details are in Note 42 of the accounts), 

 capital grants and transactions (we review our capital projects on page 9), and 

 other non-cash entries required by accounting standards (particularly for pension liabilities, 
which we discuss on page 11). 

 
The £0.583 m net revenue surplus (i.e. the difference between the income and expenditure figures 
shown above) reconciles to the £0.266 m outturn shown in the Expenditure and Funding Analysis on 
page 19, because we recognised an additional £0.317 m surplus in the accounts from our share of joint 
committees.  
 
The surplus is transferred to the earmarked Budget Reserve, which will help the Council with its forward 
financial planning to arrive at balanced budgets over the medium term and totals £2.969 million at 31st 
March 2018. 
 
 
 

59%21%

20%

The Services Provided

People and Performance

Places and Transformation

Corporate Costs

Page 144



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

7 

 

Revenue Outturn to Budget 
      
The General Fund Revenue outturn to budget for 2017/18 is as follows: 
 

 
 
The figures included within the table above are net expenditure figures, the figures included within the 
financial performance section of this narrative report are gross figures. 
 

Revised  

Budget Provisional

Summary 2017/18 Outturn

 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

People and Performance

Social Services 29,928 29,027 -901 -3.01

Learning 43,923 44,200 277 0.63

Total 73,851 73,227 -624 -0.84

Place and Transformation

Deputy Chief Executive Services 2,200 2,087 -113 -5.14

Community Regeneration 3,346 3,337 -9 -0.27

Neighbourhood Services 10,518 10,613 95 0.90

Corporate Services 3,853 3,866 13 0.34

Finance 1,169 1,153 -16 -1.37

Total 21,086 21,056 -30 -0.14

Corporate Costs

Corporate Management - Executive 1,544 1,537 -7 -0.45

Corporate Authority 18,466 18,303 -163 -0.88

Legal and Democratic Services 1,542 1,421 -121 -7.85

Human Resources and Organisational Development 771 730 -41 -5.32

Performance 304 301 -3 -0.99

Total 22,627 22,292 -335 -1.48

Contributions and Recharges

Discretionary Non Domestic Rate Relief 20 36 16 80.00

Collection Fund Surplus -600 -731 -131 -21.83

Corporate Vacancy Factor 395 0 -395 -100.00

Change Management savings -97 0 97 100.00

Net Employee Severance Costs/Slippage 1,305 1,108 -197 -15.10

Capitalisation of Severance costs -500 -1,080 -580 -116.00

Living Wage Earmarked Reserve -277 -277 0 0.00

Contribution from Corporate Risk Fund -178 -178 0 0.00

Contribution from Budget Reserve -2,002 -957 1,045 52.20

Non General Fund Allocations -835 -928 -93 -11.14

Corporate Levy 0 -74 -74 n/a

Contribution to Earmarked Reserves 0 1,228 1,228 n/a

Total -2,769 -1,853 916 -33.08 

Net Expenditure 114,795 114,722 -73 -0.06

Variance

Page 145



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

8 

 

For 2017/18 the Council is reporting a revenue surplus of £73,000, to be transferred to General 
Reserves, net of contributions to earmarked reserves.  The surplus position results from the 
continuation of the following initiatives: 
 

 Moratorium on non-essential expenditure 

 Improving departmental budget management 

 Change Management Steering Group challenge 

 Budget Board challenge 

 Service outcome focused redesign 

 More robust framework governing vacant posts 
 
The most significant movements from budget to outturn are detailed as follows: 
 
People and Performance 
 
Council Homes for the Elderly – budget deficit of £154,000 resulting from staff cover, higher than 
anticipated utility costs and loss of income resulting from under occupancy 
 
Supported Placements – budget surplus of £231,000 resulting from changes in service users assessed 
needs and transfers out of service area to other social care provisions 

 
Independent Residential Establishments – budget surplus of £873,000 resulting from changes in 
service users assessed needs and transfers out of service area to other social care provisions together 
with the receipt of property income 
 
Looked After Children Residential Placements – budget deficit of £379,000 owing to additional 
placements within the Looked After Children system   
 
Enhanced Provision – budget deficit of £255,000 resulting from additional learning needs within schools 
 
Place and Transformation 
 
Information Technology – budget surplus of £111,000 resulting from miscellaneous pre-payments 
attributable to previous financial year 
 
Highways – budget deficit of £137,000 resulting from prolonged severe winter weather conditions 
 
Street Cleansing – budget deficit of £106,000 resulting from increased costs of fly tipping and reduced 
income from litter enforcement 
 
Corporate Costs 
 
Capital Financing Costs – budget surplus of £273,000 resulting from a strategy of short-term borrowing 
at lower interest rates rather than long-term borrowing at higher interest rates 
 
Insurances – budget deficit of £240,000 resulting from a potential increased liability arising from a long-
standing claim 
 
Living Wage / Energy Levy / Holiday Pay Budgets – budget surplus of £290,000 resulting from 
commitments being absorbed within service budgets therefore negating the requirement for these 
corporate budgets 
 

Page 146



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

9 

 

Social Care Creditor – budget deficit of £163,000 resulting from unbudgeted social care financial liability 
within adult services  
 
Contributions and Recharges 
 
Collection Fund Surplus – budget surplus of £131,000 resulting from increase council tax income 
 
Corporate Vacancy Factor – budget surplus of £395,000 resulting from the time elapsing between posts 
becoming vacant and being filled exceeding the original budget 
 
Net Employee Severance Costs/Capitalisation of Severance Costs – budget surplus of £777,000 
resulting from lower than projected severance costs and additional capital receipts available to meet 
the costs of service reform 
 
Contribution from Budget Reserve – required contribution is £1.045 million less than budgeted owing 
to net budget surpluses within service areas 
 
Contribution to Earmarked Reserves – owing to net budget surpluses within service areas a total of 
£1.228 million can be transferred to earmarked reserves to meet known current and future financial 
demands 
 
Capital Outturn to Budget 
 
The Capital Outturn to Budget for 2017/18 is as follows: 
 

Revised  

Budget Provisional

Summary 2017/18 Outturn

 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Expenditure

21st Century Schools Programme 1,508 1,379 -129 -8.55

Physical and Environmental Regeneration 3,686 1,900 -1,786 -48.45

Land and Buildings 2,117 2,327 210 9.92

Roads, Bridges and Transport 1,949 2,507 558 28.63

Disabled Facilities Grants 850 579 -271 -31.88

Collaborative Change Programme 1,296 364 -932 -71.91

Corporate 2,019 2,011 -8 -0.40

Total 13,425 11,067 -2,358 -17.56

Financed By

Borrowing 6,763 6,640 -123 -1.82

Capital Grants and Contributions 5,028 2,769 -2,259 -44.93

Merthyr Tydfil CBC's Own Resources 1,634 1,658 24 1.47

Total 13,425 11,067 -2,358 -17.56

Variance

   
 
In 2017/18, the Authority spent £11.1 million on capital projects compared to the planned Capital 
Programme of £13.4 million. Although not all the planned capital funding was utilised, where appropriate 
no funding is lost as the monies are carried over into the 2018/19 financial year. 
 

Page 147



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

10 

 

It should also be noted that the Council has incurred a further £954,000 capital expenditure as a 
contribution to the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Programme, to be financed through borrowing 
(details are included on page 16). 
 
The most significant movements from budget to outturn are detailed as follows: 
 
21st Century Schools Programme – budget underspend of £129,000 resulting from the re-profile of 
expenditure. 
 
Physical and Environmental Regeneration – budget underspend of £1.786 million mainly resulting from 
re-profile of the Vibrant and Viable Places Programme funded through Welsh Government Grant 
(£1.109 million), delays with the Cyfarthfa Heritage project owing to the strategic review of Cyfarthfa 
Castle by the Design Commission for Wales (£210,000), sewer works not required to be undertaken on 
site for the Riverside Phase 1 project (£280,000) and lower than anticipated house purchases in respect 
of the Riverside Phase 3 project (£110,000). 
 
Land and Buildings – budget overspend of £210,000 mainly resulting from emergency works 
undertaken on Coed Y Dderwen School’s roof owing to water leakage (£125,000) and greater than 
expected purchase price and costs of associated works in respect of the Unit 20 Depot (£87,000).  
 
Roads, Bridges and Transport – budget overspend of £558,000 mainly resulting from remedial works 
at Brandy Bridge (£323,000) and Road Slip South of Pontygwaith (£191,000).  
 
Disabled Facilities Grants – budget underspend of £271,000 resulting from lower than expected number 
of referrals. 
 
Collaborative Change Programme – external funding of £932,000 received from the Welsh Government 
is to be carried forward to the 2018/19 financial year owing to project re-profile 
 
 
Financial Health 
 
At 31st March 2018 the Authority’s general balances and reserves not earmarked for any specific 
purpose totals £4.700 million (31st March 2017 - £4.627 million), equating to 4% of the Council’s 
Budgeted Net Revenue Expenditure for 2018/19. As per the Terms of Reference of the Council’s Budget 
Board the overarching aim is: 
 
“To maintain an adequate, healthy General Reserves balance of between 3.5% and 4% of the Council’s 
annual budgeted Net Revenue Expenditure in ensuring the Council continues to remain financially 
viable.” 
  
This requirement was formally adopted by Council on 22nd March 2017 in approving the Council’s 
Corporate Reserves Policy, allowing the flexibility: 
 

o To adequately respond to the risk of potential budget overspends in volatile service areas 
o To address financial implications of increasing demographic pressures 
o To respond to the critical requirement for ‘one-off’ expenditure in meeting corporate priorities 
o To respond to governmental and regulatory demands 

 
In addition the Council holds further usable reserves at 31st March 2018 in respect of the Insurance 
Fund (£2.169 million), Schools Balances (£1.846 million) and Earmarked Reserves (£12.405 million), 
with corresponding balances at 31st March 2017 of £2.382 million, £956,000 and £13.662 million 
respectively.   

Page 148



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

11 

 

 
For the 2018/19 financial year, the Authority budgeted for a modest increase in net revenue expenditure 
of 0.68% from the 2017/18 budget (adjusted for Welsh Government net transfers in to the Local 
Government Settlement) resulting from reduced Welsh Government Funding of 0.36% and Council Tax 
increase of 4.15%. The Authority’s Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 2021/22 clearly outlines 
the financial challenges faced by the Authority over the medium term. 
 
 
Borrowing Facilities 
 
The Authority, when appropriate, will borrow from the Public Work Loans Board (PWLB), or from the 
Market if interest rates are considered favourable, to part finance expenditure on capital projects. This 
borrowing is typically on a long-term basis and is governed by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities whereby authorised limits 
for borrowing by Local Authorities are set and approved by a full Council meeting. For the 2017/18 
Statement of Accounts, borrowing to support capital expenditure fell within authorised borrowing limits 
approved by a full Council meetings of elected members on 22nd March 2017. 
 
Additionally, the Authority in its day-to-day management of cash transactions may also be required to 
borrow on a short-term basis when faced with a deficit cash balance for any particular day. Conversely, 
the Authority may also lend on a short-term basis when surplus cash balances are experienced. 
Approved organisations for short-term transactions include major British banks and building societies 
and other local authorities. 
 
Pension Liabilities 
 
The Statement of Accounts for 2017/18 are compiled under the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) with accounting for ‘Retirement Benefits’ based on the provisions of International 
Accounting Standard 19 (IAS 19) ‘Employee Benefits’. The provisions of IAS 19 relating to Post-
Employment Benefits require the Authority to recognise a net asset/liability and a pensions reserve in 
the balance sheet and entries in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for movements 
in the asset/liability relating to defined benefit schemes (with reconciling entries back to contributions 
payable for council tax purposes through the Movement in Reserves Statement). 
 
Under IAS 19 the Authority is required to disclose its pension liability representing the deficit position 
on the pension fund. The liability at the end of the year amounted to £189.32 million (£179.4 million as 
at 31st March 2017). The Authority is being charged stepped employer contributions in order to redress 
the deficit of the pension fund. 
 
Further details are included in Notes 25, 37 and 38 to the Statement of Accounts. 
 
 
Financial Climate 
 
Central Government’s proposals to tackle the national public sector borrowing deficit resulting from the 
global financial crisis has resulted in reduced financial settlements for the public sector for the medium 
to long term. 
 
The Council’s revenue settlements for the period 2013/14 to 2018/19 are outlined below. It should be 
noted that the Council Tax Reduction Scheme grant impact is excluded for 2013/14 to enable a more 
meaningful funding comparison. 
 

Page 149



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

12 

 

 
 
 
It is evident that the Council has faced significant financial challenges for the period 2013/14 to 2018/19, 
experiencing a period of unprecedented funding reductions as Central Government continues its policy 
of financial austerity. More efficient working practices have evolved in delivering services within the 
affordable financial envelope. This has included the continuation of the corporate voluntary early 
retirement and voluntary redundancy policies in streamlining the organisation to meet the demands of 
the future.  
 

It is clear that in an age of austerity transforming the Authority in ensuring it is fit for purpose to meet 
financial challenges for the future is critical. This involves aligning scarce resources to corporate 
priorities and wellbeing objectives ensuring effective and efficient service delivery is both maintained 
and further developed and improved.  
 
The Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 2018/19 to 2021/22 currently states that the Council 
is faced with identifying and delivering £6.557 million budget reductions for 2019/20 and £13.729 million 
for the period 2019/20 to 2021/22.  
 
The Council has budgeted for funding reductions of 1.5% per annum and a Council Tax increase of 
4.15% over the term of the MTFP, and is currently in the process of identifying proposals to address 
the projected budget deficits. 

 
The Provisional Local Government Settlement for 2019/20 is scheduled to be announced during 
October 2018 and is anticipated will have a significant bearing on the currently projected budget 
reduction requirements over the medium term.   
 
The Capital Programme for 2018/19 to 2021/22 indicates a core funded Capital Programme of £10.923 
million for 2018/19 and £37.142 million for the 4 year period, with the 2018/19 capital expenditure 
financed from Capital Grants (£988,000), Borrowing (£8.893 million) and from the Council’s own 
resources (£1.042 million)

0.53%
+£459k

-2.07%
-£1.9m

-2.52%
-£2.3m

-0.73%
-£660k

-0.50%
-£446k

-0.36%
-£330k

(3.00)

(2.50)

(2.00)

(1.50)

(1.00)

(0.50)

0.00

0.50

1.00

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Page 150



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

13 

 

Corporate Risks 
 
The Authority has a Corporate Risk Register to manage the Councils Corporate Risks that could impact on delivering the Council’s Wellbeing 
Objectives and wider Council Priorities, and to ensure that the risk exposure to the Council is reduced over time. The following is the Authorities Risk 
Register as at 31st March 2018. 
 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 

Risk 

No. 

Description of Risk Risk  Score 

for  

2017-18 

Latest 

Risk  Score 

Progress 

on Actions 

to Manage 

Risk (RAG 

Status) 

Assurance Statement on the 

Management of Corporate 

Risks and if any Further 

Actions are Required 

Lead Corporate 

Management 

Team Officer &  

Lead Officer 

Lead 

Councillor/ 

Cabinet 

Member 

1 Cyber Attack 

The risk that the Council is 

exposed to a cyber attack. 

20 

Catastrophic 

20 

Catastrophic 

Green Controls and further actions 
assessed as adequate/effective 
and in proportion to the 
Corporate Risk. 

Deputy Chief 

Executive 

& 

Information 

Security Officer 

Councillor 

Andrew 

Barry 

2 Capacity & Capability 
The risk that the Council loses 
staff with the skills and capacity 
to deliver on key outcomes and 
targets. 

16 
Critical 

       16 
      Critical 

Green Controls and further actions 
assessed as adequate/effective 
and in proportion to the 
Corporate Risk. 

Deputy Chief 
Executive 

& 
Head of HR 

Councillor 
Andrew 
Barry 

3 Finance 

The risk that the Council does 

not balance the budget and is not 

financially sustainable. 

* Please see further note below 

for this Corporate Risk. 

15 

Critical 

5  

Medium 

Green Controls and further actions 
assessed as adequate/effective 
and in proportion to the 
Corporate Risk. 

Chief Executive 

& 

Chief Finance 

Officer 

Councillor 

Andrew 

Barry 

4 Safeguarding 

The risk that the Council does 

not fulfil its statutory obligations 

and the Council’s safeguarding 

arrangements fail to safeguard 

children, adults and Council staff. 

15 

Critical 

15 

Critical 

Green Controls and further actions 

assessed as adequate/effective 

and in proportion to the 

Corporate Risk. 

Chief Officer - 

Social Services  

(Statutory 

Director of Social 

Services) 

& 

Principal 

Safeguarding 

Manager 

Councillor 

David 

Hughes 

P
age 151



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

14 

 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 

Risk 

No. 

Description of Risk Risk  Score 

for  

2017-18 

Latest 

Risk  Score 

Progress 

on Actions 

to Manage 

Risk (RAG 

Status) 

Assurance Statement on the 

Management of Corporate 

Risks and if any Further 

Actions are Required 

Lead Corporate 

Management 

Team Officer &  

Lead Officer 

Lead 

Councillor/ 

Cabinet 

Member 

5 Reputation 

The risk that the Council fails to 

maintain and protect its 

reputation. 

15 

Critical 

15 

Critical 

Green Controls and further actions 

assessed as adequate/effective 

and in proportion to the 

Corporate Risk. 

Deputy Chief 

Executive 

& 

Corporate 

Communications, 

Consultation & 

Engagement 

Manager 

Councillor 

Andrew 

Barry 

6 School Attainment 

The risk that all learners do not 

perform at expected levels. 

12 

Critical 

12 

Critical 

Green Controls and further actions 

assessed as adequate/effective 

and in proportion to the 

Corporate Risk. 

Chief Officer 

(Learning) 

&  

Senior Challenge 

Adviser /  

Head of School 

Planning & 

Improvement 

Councillor 

Lisa Mytton 

7 Performance 
The risk that the Future 
Generations Commissioner 
issues a formal recommendation 
to the Council on the steps taken 
to meet our Well-being 
Objectives. 

12 
Critical 

8 
High 

Green Controls and further actions 
assessed as adequate/effective 
and in proportion to the 
Corporate Risk. 

Deputy Chief 
Executive 

& 
Corporate 

Management 
Team  

Councillor 
Andrew 
Barry 

8 Governance 
The risk that the Council does 
not meet statutory requirements, 
laws and regulations. 

12 
Critical 

12 
Critical 

Green Controls and further actions 
assessed as adequate/effective 
and in proportion to the 
Corporate Risk. 

Chief Executive 
& 

Monitoring 
Officer 

Councillor 
Andrew 
Barry 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 152



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

15 

 

* Further Note for Corporate Risk No. 3 (Finance) 
 
The Risk Score for this Corporate Risk was 15 the beginning of the financial year 2017-2018 (Impact 5 
– Catastrophic / Likelihood 3 – Possible).  
 
The Risk Score for this Risk has been reduced to 5 for year end as at 31st March 2018 (Impact 5 – 
Catastrophic / Likelihood 1 – Very Low / Rare). The Likelihood Score for this Risk is very likely to 
increase at the beginning of this financial year looking forward for 2018-2019. 
 
 

RISK GROUPING 
CATEGORISED BY RISK SCORE  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Risk 
Risk 

Score 

Catastrophic 20 - 25 

Critical 12 - 16 

High 8 - 10 

Medium 4 - 6 

Low 1 - 3 

Page 153



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

16 

 

City Deal 
 
The Joint Working Agreement, in relation to the delivery of the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal 
encompassing 10 constituent Local Authorities in South East Wales, was signed and Regional Cabinet 
established on 1st March 2017. 
 
The City Deal provides funding to support schemes which will stimulate the economic growth of the 
region. The agreement with the UK Government and Welsh Government provides £1.2 billion of which 
£734 million is allocated to the Metro, with the balance of £495 million being made available as the 
Wider Investment Fund. 
 
The Wider Investment Fund is made up of: 
 

o £375 million grant from the UK Government paid over 20 years with years 1 to 5 being £50 
million revenue grant, followed by years 6 to 20 being £325 million capital grant 

o £120 million Local Authority Partnership capital contribution to be drawn down as required 
 

The Regional Cabinet has stated that the high level aims of the Wider Investment Fund are the creation 
of 25,000 new jobs and £4 billion of private sector investment. The first investment has been made in 
the compound semi-conductor project, providing a loan of £38.5 million, to be repaid, which has the 
potential to generate 2,000 jobs and over £380 million of private sector investment.    
 
The Joint Working Agreement Business Plan was approved by all 10 constituent Councils in March 
2018, with Merthyr Tydfil approving at a Council meeting on 7th March 2018. Merthyr Tydfil’s contribution 
to the first investment in 2017/18 was £0.954 million. 
 
Annual Governance Statement 
 
The Council is required to produce an Annual Governance Statement, a formal statement that covers 
all significant corporate systems, processes and controls. It is scrutinised by the Audit Committee before 
approval by Council. 
 
 
Further Information 
 
Further information about the accounts is available from the Finance Department, Civic Centre, Castle 
Street, Merthyr Tydfil.  This is part of the Authority's policy of providing full information about the 
Authority's affairs.  In addition, interested members of the public have a statutory right to inspect the 
accounts before the audit is completed.  The availability of the accounts for inspection is advertised on 
the Authority’s Website and within the Authority’s Civic Centre. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 154



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

17 

 

Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts 
 
 
The Authority’s Responsibilities 
 
The Authority is required to: 
 
- Make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one of its 

Officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs.  In this Authority, that Officer 
is the Chief Finance Officer. 

 
- Manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and safeguard its 

assets. 
 
- Approve the statement of accounts.  
 
 
 
The Chief Finance Officer’s Responsibilities 
 
The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the preparation of the Authority’s Statement of Accounts in 
accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom (‘the Code’). 
 
In preparing this statement of accounts, the Chief Finance Officer has: 
 
- Selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently. 
 
- Made judgments and estimates that were reasonable and prudent. 
 
- Complied with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer has also: 
 
- Kept proper accounting records which were up to date. 
 
- Taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
 
Signed  ------------------------------------------ Date  ----------------------------- 
 
  D S Jones 
  Chief Finance Officer 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 155



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

18 

 

Chief Finance Officer’s Certificate 

 

I hereby certify that the statement of accounts on pages 19 to 97 present a true and fair view of the 

financial position of the Authority at the accounting date and its income and expenditure for the year 

ended 31st March 2018.   

 
 
Signed  ------------------------------------------ Date  ----------------------------- 
 
  D S Jones 
  Chief Finance Officer 
   
 
 
 
Council Chairman’s Certificate 
 
 
I hereby certify that the Council approves the statement of accounts on pages 19 to 97 for the 
 
year ended 31st March 2018. 
 
 
 
Signed  ----------------------------------------- Date  ------------------------------- 
 
  Councillor Clive Tovey  
  Mayor 
 
 
 
 

Page 156



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

19 

 

Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
 
The Expenditure and Funding Analysis shows how annual expenditure is used and funded from resources (government grants, rents, council tax and 
Business rates) by local authorities in comparison with those resources consumed or earned by authorities in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting practices. It shows how this expenditure is allocated for decision making purposes between the Council’s directorates. Income and 
expenditure accounted for under generally accepted accounting practices is presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. 
 

2016/17 2017/18

Net Expenditure 

Chargeable to 

the General 

Fund Balances

Adjustments 

between the 

funding and 

Accounting basis

Net expenditure 

in the 

Comprehensive 

Income and 

Expenditure 

Statement Description

Net Expenditure 

Chargeable to 

the General 

Fund Balances

Adjustments 

between the 

funding and 

Accounting basis

Net expenditure 

in the 

Comprehensive 

Income and 

Expenditure 

Statement

(Note 7) (Note 7)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

70,616 3,194 73,810 People and Performance 72,272 2,747 75,019

20,952 6,504 27,456 Place and Transformation 20,561 6,547 27,108

5,522 5,934 11,456 Corporate Costs 6,622 5,678 12,300

97,090 15,632 112,722 Net Cost of Services 99,455 14,972 114,427

(98,984) (3,904) (102,888) Other Income and Expenditure (99,189) (3,868) (103,057)

(1,894) 11,728 9,834 (Surplus)/Deficit 266 11,104 11,370

20,289 Opening General Fund Balance 22,183

0

Opening Adjustment for Cardiff Capital Region 

City Deal 9

1,894

Plus Surplus/Deficit on General Fund Balance 

in Year (266)

22,183

Closing General Fund Balance at 31st 

March 21,926  
 
 
 

P
age 157



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

20 

 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
 
The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from taxation (or rents). Authorities raise taxation to cover expenditure in 
accordance with statutory requirements; this may be different from the accounting cost. The taxation position is shown in both the Expenditure and 
Funding Analysis and the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 

Restated 2016/17 2017/18

Gross 

Expenditure

Gross 

Income

Net 

expenditure Description

Gross 

Expenditure

Gross 

Income

Net 

expenditure

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

95,554 (21,744) 73,810 People and Performance 97,327 (22,308) 75,019

40,476 (13,020) 27,456 Place and Transformation 39,781 (12,673) 27,108

35,986 (24,530) 11,456 Corporate Costs 35,034 (22,734) 12,300

172,016 (59,294) 112,722 Cost of Services 172,142 (57,715) 114,427

6,579 Other operating expenditure (Note 11) 6,248

10,288

Financing and Investment income and 

expenditure (Note 12) 9,100

(119,755)

Taxation and non-specific grant income and 

expenditure (Note 13) (118,405)

9,834

(Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of 

Services 11,370

(5,856)

(Surplus) or deficit on revaluation of 

property, plant and equipment assets (3,569)

8,119

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit 

liability/(asset) 6,163

2,263

Other Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure 2,594

12,097

Total Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure 13,964  
 
 

P
age 158



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

21 

 

Movement in Reserves Statement 
 
The Movement in Reserves Statement shows the movement from the start of the year to the end on different reserves held by the Authority, analysed 
into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those that can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other ‘unusable reserves’. The Statement shows 
how the movements in year of the authority’s reserves are broken down between gains and losses incurred in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting practices and the statutory adjustments required to return to the amounts chargeable to council tax (or rents) for the year. The Net 
Increase/Decrease line shows the statutory General Fund Balance movements in the year following those adjustments. 
 
2017/18 
 

Description G
e
n

e
ra

l 

F
u

n
d

 £
0
0
0

C
a
p

it
a
l 

R
e
c
e
ip

ts
 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
 

£
0
0
0

C
a
p

it
a
l 

G
ra

n
ts

 

U
n

a
p

p
li
e
d

 

£
0
0
0

T
o

ta
l 

u
s
a
b

le
 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
s
 

£
0
0
0

U
n

u
s
a
b

le
 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
s
 

£
0
0
0

T
o

ta
l 

A
u

th
o

ri
ty

 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
s
 

£
0
0
0

Balance at 31st March 2017 22,183 0 0 22,183 (17,731) 4,452

Movement in reserves during 

2017/18

Total Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure (11,370) 0 0 (11,370) (2,594) (13,964)

 Adjustments between accounting 

basis and funding basis under 

regulations (Note 9) 11,104 238 2,048 13,390 (13,390) 0

Increase or Decrease in 

2017/18 (266) 238 2,048 2,020 (15,984) (13,964)

*Opening Cardiff Capital Region 

City Deal adjustment 9 0 0 9 0 9

Balance at 31st March 2018 

carried forward 21,926 238 2,048 24,212 (33,715) (9,503)  
 
 
 

P
age 159



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

22 

 

 
2016/17 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Description G
e
n

e
ra

l 

F
u

n
d

 £
0
0
0

C
a
p

it
a
l 

R
e
c
e
ip

ts
 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
 

£
0
0
0

C
a
p

it
a
l 

G
ra

n
ts

 

U
n

a
p

p
li
e
d

 

£
0
0
0

T
o

ta
l 

u
s
a
b

le
 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
s
 

£
0
0
0

U
n

u
s
a
b

le
 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
s
 

£
0
0
0

T
o

ta
l 

A
u

th
o

ri
ty

 

R
e
s
e
rv

e
s
 

£
0
0
0

Balance at 31st March 2016 20,289 547 1,373 22,209 (5,660) 16,549

Movement in reserves during 

2016/17

Total Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure (9,834) 0 0 (9,834) (2,263) (12,097)

 Adjustments between accounting 

basis and funding basis under 

regulations (Note 9) 11,728 (547) (1,373) 9,808 (9,808) 0

Increase or Decrease in 

2016/17 1,894 (547) (1,373) (26) (12,071) (12,097)

Balance at 31st March 2017 

carried forward 22,183 0 0 22,183 (17,731) 4,452

P
age 160



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

23 

 

Balance Sheet 
 
The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the assets and liabilities recognised 
by the authority. The net assets of the authority (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held 
by the authority. Reserves are reported in two categories. The first category of reserves are usable 
reserves, i.e. those reserves that the authority may use to provide services, subject to the need to 
maintain a prudent level of reserves and any statutory limitations on their use (for example the Capital 
Receipts Reserve that may only be used to fund capital expenditure or repay debt). The second 
category of reserves is those that the authority is not able to use to provide services. This category of 
reserves includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses (for example the revaluation reserve), 
where amounts would only become available to provide services if the assets are sold; and reserves 
that hold timing differences shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement line ‘Adjustments between 
accounting basis and funding basis under regulations.’ 
 

31 March 2017 Notes 31 March 2018

£'000 £'000

254,683 Property, Plant and Equipment 14 253,635

6,640 Heritage Assets 15 7,358

1,020 Investment Property 16 354

10 Long Term Investments 17 10

850 Long Term Debtors 17 643

263,203 Long-term Assets 262,000

0 Short-term Investments  17 13,521

177 Assets Held for Sale 21 306

100 Inventories  18 88

23,393 Short-term Debtors 19 17,957

1,527 Cash and Cash Equivalents 20 2,793

25,197 Current Assets 34,665

(21,371) Short-term Borrowing  17 (35,999)

(14,038) Short-term Creditors 22 (14,633)

(351) Short-term Provisions 23 (1,483)

(52) Other Current Liabilities  17 (41)

(35,812) Current Liabilities (52,156)

(2,603) Provisions 23 (1,782)

(66,034) Long-term Borrowing  17 (62,168)

(179,449) Defined Benefit Pension Scheme Liability 25 (189,315)

(50) Other Long-term Liabilities 17 (747)

(248,136) Long-term Liabilities (254,012)

4,452 Net Assets (9,503)

22,183 Usable Reserves 24 24,212

(17,731) Unusable Reserves 25 (33,715)

4,452 Total Reserves (9,503)  
 
 
 
 

Page 161



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

24 

 

Cash Flow Statement 
 
The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the authority during the 
reporting period. The Statement shows how the authority generates and uses cash and cash 
equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities. The amount of net 
cash flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent to which the operations of the 
Authority are funded by way of taxation and grant income or from the recipients of services provided by 
the Authority. Investing activities represent the extent to which cash outflows have been made for 
resources which are intended to contribute to the authority’s future service delivery. Cash flows arising 
from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of capital (i.e. 
borrowing) to the authority. 
 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£'000 £'000

174,039 Cash Inflows Generated from Operating Activities 179,171

(170,689) Cash Outflows Generated from Operating Activities (173,571)

3,350 Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities (Note 26) 5,600

(3,041) Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities (Note 27) (17,785)

(1,019) Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities (Note 28) 13,436

(710) Net increase or decrease in Cash and Cash equivalents 1,251

2,196

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the 

Reporting Period 1,527

41 Adjustment to opening balance Central South Consortium 0

0

Adjustment to opening balance Cardiff Capital Region City 

Deal 15

1,527

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Reporting 

Period (Note 20) 2,793  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 162



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

25 

 

Notes to the Statement of Accounts 
 
1.0 Accounting Policies 
 
1.1  General 

 
The Statement of Accounts summarises the Authority’s transactions for the 2017/18 financial year and 
its position at the year-end of 31st March 2018. The Authority is required to prepare an annual Statement 
of Accounts by the Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014, which those Regulations require to 
be prepared in accordance with proper accounting practices. These practices primarily comprise the 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18, supported by 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

 
 The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally historical cost modified 

by the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets and financial instruments.  
 
1.2  Accruals of Income and Expenditure 
 
Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made or 
received.  
 
In particular:  

 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the Authority transfers the significant risks 
and rewards of ownership to the purchaser and it is probable that economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Authority;  

 

 Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the Authority can measure reliably 
the percentage of completion of the transaction and it is probable that economic benefits or 
service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Authority;  

 

 Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there is a gap between 
the date supplies are received and their consumption; they are carried as inventories on the 
Balance Sheet;  

 

 Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) are 
recorded as expenditure when the services are received rather than when payments are made;  

 

 Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for respectively as 
income and expenditure on the basis of the effective interest rate for the relevant financial 
instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by the contract;  

 

 Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been received or paid, 
a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet. Where debts may 
not be settled, the balance of debtors is written down and a charge made to revenue for the 
income that might not be collected.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 163



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

26 

 

1.3  Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty 
on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in no more than 
three months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of 
cash with insignificant risk of change in value. 
  
In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that  are 
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Authority’s cash management. 
 
 
1.4  Prior Period Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies, and Estimates and Errors  
 
Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a material 
error. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, i.e. in the current and future 
years affected by the change and do not give rise to a prior period adjustment.  
Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices or when 
the change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect of transactions, other events 
and conditions on the Authority’s financial position or financial performance. Where a change is made, 
it is applied retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening balances and comparative 
amounts for the prior period as if the new policy had always been applied.  
Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending opening 
balances and comparative amounts for the prior period. 
 
A prior period amendment has been made to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
and to Note 8 of the Statement of Accounts. This is a correction to the inclusion of the balances and 
transactions of the Central South Consortium Joint Arrangement. The impact of the prior period 
adjustment is as follows: 
 

Original Restated

2016/17 2016/17

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement £'000 £'000

People and Performance Expenditure 101,028 95,554

People and Performance Income (27,218) (21,744)

Note 8 Expenditure and Income analysed by nature £'000 £'000

Other Service Expenses 91,277 85,803

Fees charges and other service income (18,383) (12,909)  
 
 
1.5 Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets  
 
Services and support services are debited with the following amounts to record the cost of holding non-
current assets during the year:  
 

 depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service;  

 revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are no 
accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which the losses can be written off; 

 

Page 164



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

27 

 

The Authority is not required to raise council tax to fund depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses 
or amortisation. However, it is required to make an annual contribution from revenue towards the 
reduction in its overall borrowing requirement. Depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses and 
amortisation are therefore replaced by the contribution in the General Fund Balance, by way of an 
adjusting transaction with the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for 
the differences between the two.  
 
1.6 Employee Benefits 
 
Benefits Payable during Employment  
Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled wholly within 12 months of the year-end.  
They include such benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave, bonuses and 
non-monetary benefits (e.g. cars) for current employees and are recognised as an expense for services 
in the year in which employees render service to the Authority. An accrual is made for the cost of holiday 
entitlements (or any form of leave, e.g. time off in lieu) earned by employees but not taken before the 
year-end which employees can carry forward into the next financial year. The accrual is made at the 
wage and salary rates applicable in the following accounting year, being the period in which the 
employee takes the benefit. The accrual is charged to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services, 
but then reversed out through the Movement in Reserves Statement so that holiday benefits are charged 
to revenue in the financial year in which the holiday absence occurs. 
 
Termination Benefits  
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Authority to terminate an 
officer’s employment before the normal retirement date, or an officer’s decision to accept voluntary 
redundancy in exchange for those benefits and are charged on an accruals basis to the appropriate 
service segment at the earlier of when the Authority can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits 
or when the Authority recognises costs for a restructuring. Where termination benefits involve the 
enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions require the General Fund balance to be charged with 
the amount payable by the Authority to the pension fund or pensioner in the year, not the amount 
calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement, 
appropriations are required to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits 
for pension enhancement termination benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the 
pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end.  
 
Post-Employment Benefits  
Employees of the Authority are members of two separate pension schemes:  

 The Teachers’ Pension Scheme, administered by Capita Teachers’ Pension on behalf of the 
Department for Education.  

 The Local Government Pension Scheme, administered by Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough 
Council.  

 
Both schemes provide defined benefits to members (retirement lump sums and pensions), earned as 
employees worked for the Authority.  
 
However, the arrangements for the teachers’ scheme mean that liabilities for these benefits cannot 
ordinarily be identified specifically to the Authority. The scheme is therefore accounted for as if it was a 
defined contribution scheme and no liability for future payments of benefits is recognised in the Balance 
Sheet. The People and Performance line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is 
charged with the employer’s contributions payable to Teachers’ Pensions in the year.  
 
 
 

Page 165



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

28 

 

The Local Government Pension Scheme  
The Local Government Scheme is accounted for as a defined benefits scheme:  

 The liabilities of the Rhondda Cynon Taf pension fund attributable to the Authority are included 
in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method – i.e. an assessment 
of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits earned to date by 
employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, employee turnover rates and 
projections of projected earnings for current employees.  

 Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate (based on the 
indicative rate of return on the constituents of the iBoxx index of AA rated corporate bonds).  

 The assets of the Rhondda Cynon Taf pension fund attributable to the Authority are included in 
the Balance Sheet at their fair value: 

 Quoted securities – current bid price 

 Unquoted securities – professional estimate 

 Unitised securities – current bid price 

 Property – market value  

 
 
The change in the net pension’s liability is analysed into the following components:  
 

 Service cost comprising: 
 

 current service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned this 
year- allocated in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the services for 
which the employees worked;  

 

 past service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme amendment or 
curtailment whose effect relates to years of service earned in earlier years - debited to the 
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement.  

 

 net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset) - the net interest expense for the 
Authority – the change during the period in the net defined benefit liability (asset) that arises 
from the passage of time charged to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 
line of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement – this is calculated by 
applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning 
of the period to the net defined benefit liability (asset) at the beginning of the period – taking 
into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset) during the period as a 
result of contribution and benefit payments.  

 

 Re-measurements comprising: 
 

 the return on plan assets – excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined 
benefit liability (asset) – charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure;  
 

 actuarial gains and losses – changes in the net pensions liability that arise because    
events have not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or because 
the actuaries have updated their assumptions – charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure  

 

Page 166



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

29 

 

 Contributions paid to the Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council pension fund – 
cash paid as employer’s contributions to the pension fund in settlement of liabilities; not 
accounted for as an expense.  

 
In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund balance to be charged 
with the amount payable by the Authority to the pension fund or directly to pensioners in the year, not 
the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In the Movement in Reserves 
Statement, this means that there are transfers to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional 
debits and credits for retirement benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension 
fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end. The negative balance 
that arises on the Pensions Reserve thereby measures the beneficial impact to the Council Fund of 
being required to account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as benefits that 
are earned by employees. 
 
Discretionary Benefits  
The Authority also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits in the 
event of early retirements. Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award to any member of 
staff (including teachers) are accrued in the year of the decision to make the award and accounted for 
using the same policies as are applied to the Local Government Pension Scheme.  
Full pension’s details are included in Note 38. 
 
1.7 Events after the reporting period 
 
Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur 
between the end of the reporting period and the date when the Statement of Accounts is authorised for 
issue. Two types of events can be identified: 

 
 those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period – 

the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events;  
 

 those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the Statement 
of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of events would 
have a material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and their 
estimated financial effect.  

 
Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement of 
Accounts. 
 
 
1.8 Financial Instruments 
 
Financial Liabilities 
Financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Authority becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value and are carried 
at amortised cost. Annual charges to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Account for interest payable are based on the carrying value of 
the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument.  
 
Gains and losses on the repurchase or early settlement of borrowing are credited and debited to the 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement in the year of repurchase/settlement.  
 

Page 167



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

30 

 

Where premiums and discounts have been charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement, regulations allow the impact on the General Fund Balance to be spread over future years.  
 
Financial Assets 
Financial assets are classified into two types: 

 loans and receivables – assets that have fixed or determinable payments but are not quoted in 
an active market 

 available for sale assets – assets that have a quoted market price and/or do not have fixed or 
determinable payments 

 
Loans and Receivables 
Loans and receivables are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Authority becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of a financial instrument and accounted for as described per the Financial 
Liabilities section above. 
 
1.9 Government Grants and Contributions 
 
Whether paid on account , by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third party contributions 
are recognised as due to the Authority when there is reasonable assurance that: 

 

 The Authority will comply with the conditions attached to the payments, and 

 The grants or contributions will be received. 
 
Amounts recognised as due to the Council are not credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement until conditions attached to the grant or contribution have been satisfied.  
 
Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are carried 
in the balance sheet as creditors. When conditions are satisfied, the grant or contribution is credited to 
the relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they are 
reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. Where the grant 
has yet to be used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted to the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve. 
Where it has been applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment Account. Amounts in the Capital Grants 
Unapplied Reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account once they have been applied to 
fund capital expenditure. 
 
1.10 Heritage Assets 
 
Heritage assets are defined as non-current assets with historical, artistic, scientific, technological, 
geophysical or environmental qualities that are held and maintained principally for their contribution to 
knowledge and culture.  
 
The heritage assets included within the statement of accounts include historical buildings, collections of 
fine art, archaeological artefacts and civic regalia. 
 
Historic buildings and monuments have been valued in accordance with section 1.15 below, Property, 
Plant and Equipment. Heritage assets included within the Museum collection are measured at valuation.  
  
 
 
 

Page 168



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

31 

 

The valuation was carried out by an external valuer as follows: 
 
Bonhams, 
7/8 Park Place, 
Cardiff. 
CF10 3DP. 
 
The valuation date was 20th March 2017.  
 
Depreciation or amortisation is not required on heritage assets which have indefinite lives. 
 
The Authority’s policy for the acquisition, preservation, management and disposal of heritage assets is 
included within the Authority’s ‘Collections Development and Documentation Policy’. Paragraph 1.1.3 
of this document details that the policy follows the accreditation scheme which all museums are 
expected to follow. 
 
 
1.11 Interests in Companies and Other entities 
 
Joint operations 
Joint operations are arrangements where the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have 
rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement. The activities 
undertaken by the authority in conjunction with other joint operators involve the use of the assets and 

resources of those joint operators. The Authority participates in Joint Committees which are 
accounted for as joint operations. For 2017/18 the Llwydcoed Crematorium Joint Committee, the 
Central South Consortium Joint Committee and the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Joint Committee 
are included within the Authorities financial statements. The Authority has reflected its share, 46.6% of 
the transactions and balances of the Llwydcoed Crematorium Joint Committee, 6.68% of the 
transactions and balances of the Central South Consortium Joint Committee and 3.94% of the Cardiff 
Capital Region City Deal Joint Committee into the Authority’s Accounts on a line-by-line basis.  
 
A description of the Joint Committees are contained in Note 42 to the Statement of Accounts. 
 
The accounting policies of the joint operations recognised in the Statement of Accounts are in line with 
those of the Authority. 
 
Associates 
Capita Glamorgan Consultancy Ltd meets the definition of an associate. The Authority has significant 
influence over this associate as it has representation on the board of directors. Group Accounts are not 
prepared as the Authority’s interest in Capita Glamorgan Consultancy is not considered material. For 
further details see Note 42. 
 
 
1.12 Inventories 
 
Inventories are included in the Balance Sheet at the last actual purchase price known. This does not 
comply with IAS 2 which requires valuation at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The departure 
from the accounting standard is not deemed to be material. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 169



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

32 

 

1.13 Investment Properties 
 
Investment Properties are those that are used solely to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. The 
definition is not met if the property is used in any way to facilitate the delivery of services or production 
of goods or is held for sale. 
 
Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair value, being the price that 
would be received to sell such an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. As a non-financial asset, investment properties are measured at highest and best 
use. Properties are not depreciated but are revalued annually according to market conditions at the 
year-end. Gains and losses on revaluation are posted to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
statement. 
 
Rentals received in relation to investment properties are credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement and result in a gain for the General Fund Balance. However, revaluation and 
disposal gains and losses are not permitted by statutory arrangements to have an impact on the General 
Fund Balance. The gains and losses are therefore reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and (for any sale 
proceeds greater than £10,000) the Capital Receipts Reserve.  
 
 
1.14 Leases 
 
Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 
and rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the lessor to the lessee. 
All other leases are classified as operating leases.  
Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land and buildings elements are considered 
separately for classification.  
 
Arrangements that do not have the legal status of a lease but convey a right to use an asset in return 
for payment are accounted for under this policy, where fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on 
the use of specific assets. 
 
The Authority as Lessee 
 

 Finance Leases 
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases is recognised on the Balance Sheet at the 
commencement of the lease at its fair value measured at the lease’s inception (or the present value of 
the minimum lease payments, if lower). The asset recognised is matched by a liability for the obligation 
to pay the lessor. 
 
Lease payments are apportioned between:  

 a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property, plant or equipment – applied to write 
down the lease liability; and  

 

 a finance charge (debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement).  

 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment recognised under finance leases is accounted for using the policies 
applied generally to such assets, subject to depreciation being charged over the lease term if this is 

Page 170



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

33 

 

shorter than the asset’s estimated useful life (where ownership of the asset does not transfer to the 
Authority at the end of the lease period).  
 
The Authority is not required to raise council tax to cover depreciation or revaluation and impairment 
losses arising on leased assets. Instead, a prudent annual contribution is made from revenue funds 
towards the deemed capital investment in accordance with statutory requirements. Depreciation and 
revaluation and impairment losses are therefore substituted by a revenue contribution in the General 
Fund Balance, by way of an adjusting transaction with the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement 
in Reserves Statement for the difference between the two. 
 

 Operating Leases  
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement as an expense of the services benefitting from use of the leased property, plant or equipment. 
Charges are made on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease; even if this does not match the 
pattern of payments (e.g. there is a rent-free period at the commencement of the lease). 
 
The Authority as Lessor  
 

 Finance Leases  
Where the Authority grants a finance lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, the relevant 
asset is written out of the Balance Sheet as a disposal. At the commencement of the lease, the carrying 
amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet (whether Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) or Assets 
Held for Sale) is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. A gain, representing the Authority’s net 
investment in the lease, is credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the carrying value of the 
asset at the time of disposal), and matched by a lease (long-term debtor) asset in the Balance Sheet. 
 
Lease rentals receivable are apportioned between: 

 
 a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property – applied to write down the lease 

debtor (together with any premiums received); and  
 

 finance income (credited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement).  

 
The gain credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on disposal is not 
permitted by statute to increase the Council Fund Balance and is required to be treated as a capital 
receipt. Where a premium has been received, this is posted out of the Council Fund Balance to the 
Capital Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement. Where the amount due in relation 
to the lease asset is to be settled by the payment of rentals in future financial years, this is posted out 
of the General Fund Balance to the Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement. When the future rentals are received, the element for the capital receipt for the disposal of 
the asset is used to write down the lease debtor. At this point, the deferred capital receipts are 
transferred to the Capital Receipts Reserve.  
 
The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of fixed assets is fully 
provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are therefore appropriated to 
the Capital Adjustment Account from the Council Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement. 
 
 

Page 171



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

34 

 

 Operating Leases  
Where the Authority grants an operating lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, the 
asset is retained in the Balance Sheet. Rental income is credited to the Other Operating Expenditure 
line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Credits are made on a straight-line basis 
over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments (e.g. there is a premium 
paid at the commencement of the lease). 
 
 
1.15 Property, Plant and Equipment Non-Current Assets 
 

Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods or 
services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and that are expected to be used during 
more than one financial year are classified as Property, Plant and Equipment. 
 
Recognition  
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment is capitalised 
on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the future economic benefits or service potential 
associated with the item will flow to the Authority and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver future economic benefits 
or service potential (i.e. repairs and maintenance) is charged as an expense when it is incurred. 
 
De Minimis Limit 
The Authority operates a Non-Current Asset de minimis limit of £10,000. This means that expenditure 
on non-current assets is only capitalised provided that the expenditure exceeds £10,000. On disposal 
all non-current assets with values less than £10,000 are written out of the Balance Sheet in accordance 
with The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Wales) Regulations 2003 whereby 
receipts not exceeding £10,000 are not to be treated as capital receipts. 
 
Measurement 
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising: 
 

 The purchase price 

 Any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be 
capable of operating in the manner intended by management 

 The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on 
which it is located 

 
The Authority does not capitalise borrowing costs incurred whilst assets are under construction. 
 
The costs of assets acquired other than by purchase is deemed to be its fair value. 
 
Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases: 
 

 Infrastructure, Community assets and assets under construction are shown at depreciated 
historical cost 

 Vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment are shown at depreciated historical cost 

 Land is shown at market value      

 Operational properties are shown at depreciated replacement cost where there is no market 
based evidence of fair value 

 Land and Buildings componentised assets such as hardstanding and boilers are shown at 
depreciated replacement cost 

 Surplus assets are shown at fair value 

Page 172



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

35 

 

Donated Assets are those transferred for nil consideration or less than fair value. They are not included 
in the accounts since they are considered immaterial. 
 
Valuation 
  
Assets included in the Balance sheet at current value are revalued on a five year rolling basis to ensure 
their carrying amount is not materially different from their current value at the year end. Increases in 
valuations are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised gains. 
Exceptionally, gains might be credited to the Income and Expenditure Account where they arise from 
the reversal of an impairment loss previously charged to a service revenue account.  
 
Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for by:  

 where there is a balance in the Revaluation Reserve the difference between the historic 
carrying value of the asset and its re-valued value is written off against that balance (up to the 
amount of the accumulated gains)  

 

 where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance the difference 
between the historic carrying amount of the asset and its re-valued value (impaired value) is 
written down against the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Account.  

 
The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date of its 
formal implementation. Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into the Capital 
Adjustment Account. 
 
Valuations are carried out by Bilfinger GVA, the Authority’s independent valuers. A valuation of the 
whole portfolio was carried out as at 31st March 2013. A revaluation of land and property is undertaken 
annually thereafter on the basis of a sample of assets. The sample will equate to approximately 20% of 
the Authority’s portfolio being valued each year throughout the geography of the Authority. In addition 
there is also an annual revaluation of the ten highest value properties in the Authority’s portfolio at the 
relevant balance sheet date. Bilfinger GVA also carry out an assessment of assets where Capital 
Expenditure has been incurred. The remainder of the asset population has been reviewed to consider 
whether there has been any material valuation movement by reference to nationally published indices.  
   
Impairment 
Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be 
impaired. Where indications exist and any possible differences are estimated to be material, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount of the 
asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall. 
 
Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for as follows: 
 

 Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the 
carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the 
accumulated gains) 

 Where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying 
amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement 

 
Where an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the reversal is credited to the relevant service 
line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up to the amount of the original loss, 
adjusted for depreciation that would have been charged if the loss had not been recognised. 

Page 173



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

36 

 

 
Depreciation 
 
Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the systematic allocation 
of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives. An exception is made for assets without a 
determinable finite useful life (i.e. freehold land and certain Community Assets) and assets that are 
not yet available for use (i.e. assets under construction).  
 
Depreciation is calculated on the following bases: 

 Infrastructure – Roads, bridges and culverts  up to 40 years 

 Infrastructure – Street Furniture   25 years 

 Vehicles, Plant, Furniture and Equipment  5-10 years  

 Operational properties    straight line over useful life of property as
        estimated by the valuer 

 Finance Leases     Term of lease 

 Surplus Assets     Asset life 
 
Land is not depreciated and non-operational properties re-valued at Market Value are not depreciated. 
In addition community assets and assets under construction are not depreciated. 
Where an item of property, plant and equipment asset has major components whose cost is significant 
in relation to the total cost of the item, the components are depreciated separately. 
 
Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between current value 
depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would have been chargeable based on their 
historical cost being transferred each year from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment 
Account.  
 
Disposals and Non-current Assets Held for Sale 
 
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally through a 
sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is reclassified as an Asset Held for Sale. The 
asset is re-valued immediately before reclassification and then carried at the lower of this amount and 
fair value less costs to sell. Where there is a subsequent decrease to fair value less costs to sell, the 
loss is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. Gains in fair value are recognised only up to the amount of any previous losses recognised 
in the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services. Depreciation is not charged on Assets Held for Sale.  
 
If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are reclassified back 
to non-current assets and valued at the lower of their carrying amount before they were classified as 
held for sale; adjusted for depreciation, amortisation or revaluations that would have been recognised 
had they not been classified as Held for Sale, and their recoverable amount at the date of the decision 
not to sell. 
 
Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as Assets Held for Sale.  
When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance 
Sheet (whether Property, Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is written off to the Other 
Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the 
gain or loss on disposal. Receipts from disposals (if any) are credited to the same line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. 
netted off against the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal). Any revaluation gains 
accumulated for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 

Page 174



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

37 

 

Amounts received for a disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital receipts and are 
credited to the Capital Receipts Reserve, and can then only be used for new capital investment or set 
aside to reduce the Authority’s underlying need to borrow (the capital financing requirement). Receipts 
are appropriated to the Reserve from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement.  
 
The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of fixed assets is fully 
provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are appropriated to the Capital 
Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
 
1.16 Provisions and Contingent Liabilities 
 
Provisions 
 
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a legal or constructive 
obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic benefits or service potential, and 
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  
 
Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement in the year that the Authority becomes aware of the obligation, and are 
measured at the best estimate at the balance sheet date of the expenditure required to settle the 
obligation, taking into account relevant risks and uncertainties. 
 
When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the Balance Sheet. 
Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year – where it becomes less than 
probable that a transfer of economic benefits will now be required (or a lower settlement than anticipated 
is made), the provision is reversed and credited back to the relevant service. 
 
The nature of each provision is disclosed in Note 23 to the Statement of Accounts. 
 
Contingent Liabilities 
 
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a possible obligation 
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not 
wholly within the control of the Authority. Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a 
provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably. 
 
Contingent Liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but are disclosed in a note to the 
accounts, refer to Note 39 of the Statement of Accounts. 
 
1.17 Reserves 
 
The Authority sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes. Reserves are created 
by transferring amounts out of the General Fund Balance. When expenditure to be financed from a 
reserve is incurred, it is charged to the appropriate service in that year to score against the surplus or 
deficit on the Provision of services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The 
reserve is then transferred back into the General Fund Balance so that there is no net charge against 
council tax for expenditure. 
 
The Authority’s reserves, under the Code of Practice, are categorised between Usable and Unusable 
Reserves, as defined in the Narrative Report to these accounts. 

Page 175



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

38 

 

 
Usable Reserves disclosed in the Balance Sheet are as follows: 
 
The Capital Receipts Reserve represents the amount of capital receipts available to finance future 
capital expenditure. Refer to Note 9 to the Statement of Accounts. 
 
The Capital Grants Unapplied Account represents capital grants and contributions received from 
Government and Non-government Departments where the terms and conditions of the grants and 
contributions have been met by the Authority but not yet applied to finance capital expenditure. Refer 
to Note 9 to the Statement of Accounts. 
 
The Insurance Fund represents monies set aside to meet the Authority’s potential future insurance 
liabilities and is not available to finance general unspecified expenditure. Refer to Note 10 to the 
Statement of Accounts. 
 
Local Management of Schools Balances represent monies set aside by the Authority’s schools to be 
used for individual school specific purposes and is not available to finance general unspecified 
expenditure. Refer to Note 10 to the Statement of Accounts. 
 
Other Earmarked Balances represent monies set aside or relating to a specific purpose and are not 
available to finance general unspecified expenditure. Refer to Note 10 to the Statement of Accounts. 
 
The Council Fund Balance represents the monies available to the Authority to spend on general 
expenditure and is not earmarked for specific projects. Refer to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement, Movement in Reserves Statement and Note 9 to the Statement of Accounts. 
 
The Consolidated Llwydcoed Crematorium Reserve represents the distributable revenue reserve 
attributable to Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council from the Llwydcoed Crematorium Joint 
Committee. The reserve consists of the accumulated surpluses of the Crematorium’s operations. Refer 
to Note 10 to the Statement of Accounts. 
 
The Consolidated Central South Consortium Reserve represents the distributable revenue reserve 
attributable to Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council from the Central South Consortium Joint 
Committee. The reserve consists of the accumulated surpluses of the Consortium’s operations.  Refer 
to Note 10 to the Statement of Accounts. 
 
The Consolidated Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Reserve represents the distributable revenue 
reserve attributable to Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council from the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal 
Joint Committee. The reserve consists of the accumulated surpluses of the Joint Committee’s 
operations.  Refer to Note 10 to the Statement of Accounts. 
 
 
Unusable Reserves disclosed in the Balance Sheet are as follows: 
 
The Revaluation Reserve records unrealised revaluation gains/losses arising (since 1 April 2007) from 
holding non-current assets. Refer to Note 25 to the Statement of Accounts. 
  
The Capital Adjustment Account provides a balancing mechanism between the different rates at 
which assets are depreciated under the Code of Practice and are financed through the capital controls 
system. Refer to Note 25 to the Statement of Accounts. 
 

Page 176



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

39 

 

The Financial Instruments Adjustment Account provides a balancing mechanism between the 
different rates at which gains and losses are recognised under the Code of Practice and are required 
by statute to be met from the General Fund. Refer to Note 25 to the Statement of Accounts. 
 
The Accumulated Absences Adjustment Account represents the Employee Benefits accrual 
calculated in compliance with International Accounting Standard (IAS) 19. Refer to Note 25 to the 
Statement of Accounts. 
  
The Pensions Reserve represents an assessment of the pension liability in respect of retirement 
benefits earned to date by employees. Refer to Note 25 to the Statement of Accounts. 
 
 
1.18 Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute 
 
Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions but does not 
result in the creation of non-current assets has been charged as expenditure to the relevant service 
revenue account in the year. Where the Authority has determined to meet the cost of this expenditure 
from existing capital resources or by borrowing, a transfer to the Capital Adjustment Account then 
reverses out the amounts charged in the Movement in Reserves Statement so there is no impact on the 
level of council tax. 
 
 
 
1.19 Schools 
 
The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom confirms that the balance of 
control for local Authority maintained schools lies within the local Authority. The code also stipulates 
that those school’s assets, liabilities, reserves and cash flows are recognised in the local Authority 
financial statements as if they were the transactions, cashflows and balances of the Authority. 
 
1.20 VAT 
 
VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable from Her Majesty’s 
Revenue and Customs. VAT receivable is excluded from income. 
 
1.21 Fair Value Measurement 
 
The Authority measures some of its non-financial assets such as surplus assets or investment 
properties at fair value. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer 
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value 
measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 
a) In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
b) In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability 
 
Inputs to the valuation techniques in respect of assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or 
disclosed in the Authority’s financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, as 
follows: 
 

 Level 1 Inputs - quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities that the Authority can access at the measurement date 

 Level 2 Inputs – Inputs other than quoted prices within Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly 

Page 177



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

40 

 

 Level 3 Inputs - unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 
 
 
2.0 Accounting Standards that have been Issued but have not yet been Adopted 
 
The Code requires the disclosure of information relating to the impact of an accounting change that will 
be required by a new standard that has been issued but not yet adopted. The 2018/19 Code has been 
issued and relevant standards are: 

 
 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments  

 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers including amendments to IFRS 15 
Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  

 Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised 
Losses  

  Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Disclosure Initiative.  
 
The Authority does not expect any of the new or amended standards within the 2018/19 Code to have 
a material impact on the Financial Statements. 
 
3.0 Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies 
 
In applying the accounting policies set out in Note 1, the Authority has had to make certain judgements 
about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about future events. The critical judgements 
made in the Statement of Accounts are:  
 

 There remains a high degree of uncertainty about future levels of funding for local government. 
However, the Authority has determined that this uncertainty is not yet sufficient to provide an 
indication that the assets of the Authority might be impaired as a result of a need to close facilities 
and reduce levels of service provision. 

 
 
4.0 Assumptions made about the Future and other Major Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
 
The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by the 
Authority about the future, or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made taking into account 
historical experience, current trends and other relevant factors. However, because balances cannot be 
determined with certainty, actual results could be materially different from the assumptions and 
estimates.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 178



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

41 

 

 
The items in the Authority’s Balance Sheet at 31 March 2018 for which there is a significant risk of 
material adjustment in the forthcoming financial year are as follows: 
 
 

Item Uncertainties Effect if Actual results differ from 

Assumptions

Property, Plant 

and Equipment

A  source of uncertainty is the valuation of 

fixed assets, which depends on 

judgements made in relation to build costs, 

useful economic life as well as the 

condition and location of the assets. A firm 

of independent valuers is engaged to 

provide the Authority with expert advice 

about the assumptions applied (further 

information on the valuation is included in 

1.15 of the Accounting Policies).

If the Useful life of assets is reduced, 

depreciation increases and the carrying 

amount of the asset falls. It is estimated 

that the annual depreciation charge would 

increase by £197,000 for Buildings and 

£142,000 for Infrastructure for every year 

that useful lives had to be reduced. 

Fair Value 

Measurements

When the fair values of financial assets 

and financial liabilities cannot be measured 

based on quoted prices in active markets 

(i.e. Level 1 inputs), their fair value is 

measured using valuation techniques (e.g. 

quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities 

in active markets or the discounted cash 

flow (DCF) model. Where possible, the 

inputs to these valuation techniques are 

based on observable data, but where this 

is not possible judgement is required in 

establishing fair values. These judgements 

typically include considerations such as 

uncertainty and risk. However, changes in 

the assumptions used could affect the fair 

value of the Authority’s assets and 

liabilities.Where level 1 inputs are not 

available, the Authority employs relevant 

experts to identify the most appropriate 

valuation techniques to determine fair 

value (for example for investment 

properties, the senior external valuer). 

The Authority uses a selection of valuation 

methods to measure the fair value of its 

surplus assets, investment properties and 

financial assets and liabilities. The 

significant unobservable inputs used in the 

fair value measurement include 

management assumptions regarding rent 

growth, vacancy levels (for investment 

properties) and discount rates – adjusted 

for regional factors (for both investment 

properties and some financial assets). 

Significant changes in any of the 

unobservable inputs would result in a 

significantly lower or higher fair value 

measurement particularly for the 

investment properties. 

Pensions 

Liability

Estimation of the net liability to pay 

pensions depends on a number of complex 

judgements relating to the discount rate 

used, the rate at which salaries are 

projected to increase, changes in 

retirement ages, mortality rates and 

expected returns on pension fund assets. 

A firm of consulting actuaries, Aon Hewitt 

Limited, is engaged to provide the Authority 

with expert advice about the assumptions 

to be applied, refer to Note 38.

The effects on the net pension liability of 

changes in individual assumptions can be 

measured. For instance, a 0.1% increase 

in the discount rate assumption would 

result in a decrease to the Present value of 

the total obligation of £7.56 million.

Page 179



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

42 

 

Arrears If collection rates were to deteriorate, a 

doubling of the amount of impairment for 

doubtful debts would increase the 

provision to £2.776m

At 31 March 2018, the Authority had 

amounts it was owed for items such as 

Sundry Debtors, Council Tax, Non 

Domestic Rates (NDR) and Housing 

Benefit overpayments.                                               

The Authority has made an allowance for 

non collection against these debts (totalling 

£8.887m) of £1.388m (15.6%), however in 

the current economic climate it is not 

guaranteed that this level of allowance will 

be sufficient. 

 
 
5.0 Material Items of Income and Expenditure 
     
When items of income or expense are material, an Authority shall disclose their nature and amount 
separately. 
 
There are no material items of income or expense to disclose for the 2017/18 financial statements. 
 
6.0 Events after the reporting period 
 
The statement of Accounts was authorised by the Chief Finance Officer on 26 September 2018. Events 
taking place after this date are not reflected in the financial statements or notes. Where events taking 
place before this date provided information about conditions existing at 31st March 2018, the figures in 
the financial statements and notes have been adjusted in all material respects to reflect the impact of 
this information. 
 
There are no Events after the reporting period.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 180



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

43 

 

7.0 Note to the Expenditure and funding analysis 
 

Adjustments from the General 

Fund to arrive at the 

Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement Amounts

Adjustments 

for Capital 

Purposes 

(Note 1)

Net change for 

the Pensions 

Adjustments 

(Note 2)

Other 

Differences 

(Note 3)

Total 

Adjustments

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

People and Performance 2,939 (497) 305 2,747

Places and Transformation 6,711 (206) 42 6,547

Corporate Costs 5,692 (53) 39 5,678

Net Cost of Services 15,342 (756) 386 14,972

Other income and expenditure 

from the Expenditure and Funding 

Analysis

(8,235) 4,458 (91) (3,868)

Difference between General Fund 

Surplus or deficit and 

Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement Surplus or 

Deficit on Provision of Services

7,107 3,702 295 11,104

Adjustments between Funding and Accounting 

Basis 2017/18

 
 

Adjustments from the General 

Fund to arrive at the 

Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement Amounts

Adjustments 

for Capital 

Purposes 

(Note 1)

Net change for 

the Pensions 

Adjustments 

(Note 2)

Other 

Differences 

(Note 3)

Total 

Adjustments

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

People and Performance 3,612 (840) 422 3,194

Places and Transformation 6,864 (342) (18) 6,504

Corporate Costs 5,944 (53) 43 5,934

Net Cost of Services 16,420 (1,235) 447 15,632

Other income and expenditure 

from the Expenditure and Funding 

Analysis

(9,372) 5,516 (48) (3,904)

Difference between General Fund 

Surplus or deficit and 

Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement Surplus or 

Deficit on Provision of Services

7,048 4,281 399 11,728

Adjustments between Funding and Accounting 

Basis 2016/17

Page 181



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

44 

 

Note 1 - Adjustments for Capital purposes 
Adjustments for capital purposes – this column adds in depreciation and impairments and revaluation 
gains and losses in the service line, and for: 

 Other operating expenditure – adjusts for capital disposals with a transfer of income on 
disposals of assets and the amounts written off for those assets  

 Financing and investment income and expenditure – the statutory charges for capital 
financing – i.e. minimum revenue provision and other revenue contributions are deducted from 
other income and expenditure as these are not chargeable under generally accepted accounting 
practices. 

 Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure – capital grants are adjusted for 
income not chargeable under generally accepted accounting practices. Revenue grants are 
adjusted from those receivable in the year to those receivable without conditions or for which 
conditions were satisfied throughout the year. The taxation and Non Specific Grant Income and 
Expenditure line is credited with capital grants receivable in the year without conditions or for 
which conditions were satisfied in the year. 

 
 
Note 2 - Net changes for the Pensions Adjustments 
Net change for the removal of pension contributions and the addition of IAS19 Employee Benefits 
pension related expenditure and income: 
 

 For services this represents the removal of the employer pension contributions made by the 
Authority as allowed by statute and the replacement with current service costs and past service 
costs. 

 For Financing and investment income and expenditure – the net interest on the defined 
benefit liability is charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 
Note 3 - Other Differences 
Other differences between amounts debited/credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement and amounts payable/receivable to be recognised under statute: 
 

 For Financing and investment income and expenditure the other differences column 
recognises adjustments to the General Fund for the timing differences for premiums and 
discounts. 

 The charge under Taxation and Non-specific grant income and expenditure represents the 
difference between what is chargeable under statutory regulations for council tax and NDR that 
was projected to be received at the start of the year and the income recognised under generally 
accepted accounting practices in the Code. This is a timing difference as any difference will be 
brought into future surpluses or Deficits on the Collection Fund. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 182



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

45 

 

8.0 Expenditure and Income analysed by nature 
 

Restated

2017/18 2016/17

Expenditure/Income £'000 £'000

Expenditure

Employee Benefits Expenses 76,222 75,310

Other Service Expenses 84,138 85,803

Depreciation, amortisation, impairment 16,296 16,420

Interest Payments 4,648 4,829

Precepts and Levies 6,884 6,670

Gain on the disposal of assets (636) (91)

Total expenditure 187,552 188,941

Income

Fees charges and other service income (15,079) (12,909)

Interest and Investment Income (62) (57)

Income from council tax, non-domestic rates (43,877) (41,435)

Government Grants and Contributions (117,164) (124,706)

Total income (176,182) (179,107)

Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services 11,370 9,834
 

 
9.0 Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations 
 
This note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive income and expenditure 
recognised by the Authority in the year in accordance with proper accounting practice to arrive at the 
resources that are specified by statutory provisions as being available to the Authority to meet future 
capital and revenue expenditure. The following sets out a description of the reserves that the 
adjustments are made against. 
 
General Fund Balance 
The General Fund is the statutory fund into which all the receipts of an Authority are required to be paid 
and out of which all liabilities of the Authority are to be met, except to the extent that statutory rules 
might provide otherwise. These rules can also specify the financial year in which liabilities and payments 
should impact on the General Fund Balance, which is not necessarily in accordance with proper 
accounting practice. The General Fund Balance therefore summarises the resources that the Authority 
is statutorily empowered to spend on its services or on capital investment at the end of the year. 
 
Capital Receipts Reserve 
The capital receipts reserve holds the proceeds from the disposal of land or other assets, which are 
restricted by statute from being used other than to fund new capital expenditure or to be set aside to 
fund historical capital expenditure. The balance on the reserve shows the resources that have yet to be 
applied for these purposes at year end. 
 
Capital Grants Unapplied 
The Capital Grants Unapplied Account holds the grants and contributions received towards capital 
projects for which the Council has met the conditions that would otherwise require repayment of the 
monies but which have yet to be applied to meet expenditure. The balance is restricted by grant terms 
as to the capital expenditure against which it can be applied and/or the financial year in which it can 

Page 183



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

46 

 

take place.

2017/18

Adjustments to the Revenue Resources General 

Fund 

Balance

Capital 

Receipts 

Reserve

Capital 

Grants 

Unapplied

£'000 £'000 £'000

Adjustments to the Revenue Resources

Amounts by which income and expenditure included in 

the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement are different from revenue for the year 

calculated in accordance with statutory requirements

• Pensions costs 3,702 0 0

• Financial Instruments (65) 0 0

• Holiday Pay 357 0 0

• Reversal of entries included in the Surplus or Deficit 

on the Provision of Services in Relation to capital 

expenditure

17,255 0 0

Total adjustments to Revenue Resources 21,249 0 0

Adjustments between Revenue and Capital 

Resources• Transfer of non-current asset sale proceeds from 

revenue to the Capital Receipts Reserve

(1,591) 1,591 0

• Statutory Provision for the repayment of Debt (2,479) 0 0

• Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances (291) 0 0

• Other 0 0 0

Total adjustments between Revenue and Capital 

Resources

(4,361) 1,591 0

Adjustments to Capital Resources

• Use of the capital receipts reserve to finance capital 

expenditure

0 (1,353) 0

• Application of capital grants to finance capital 

expenditure

(5,784) 0 2,048

Total Adjustments to Capital Resources (5,784) (1,353) 2,048

Total Adjustments 11,104 238 2,048

Usable Reserves

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 184



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

47 

 

 
 

2016/17

Adjustments to the Revenue Resources General 

Fund 

Balance

Capital 

Receipts 

Reserve

Capital 

Grants 

Unapplied

£'000 £'000 £'000

Adjustments to the Revenue Resources

Amounts by which income and expenditure included in 

the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement are different from revenue for the year 

calculated in accordance with statutory requirements

• Pensions costs 4,281 0 0

• Financial Instruments (16) 0 0

• Holiday Pay 415 0 0

• Reversal of entries included in the Surplus or Deficit 

on the Provision of Services in Relation to capital 

expenditure

16,951 0 0

Total adjustments to Revenue Resources 21,631 0 0

Adjustments between Revenue and Capital 

Resources• Transfer of non-current asset sale proceeds from 

revenue to the Capital Receipts Reserve

(622) 622 0

• Statutory Provision for the repayment of Debt (2,330) 0 0

• Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances (260) 0 0

• Other 0 0 0

Total adjustments between Revenue and Capital 

Resources

(3,212) 622 0

Adjustments to Capital Resources

• Use of the capital receipts reserve to finance capital 

expenditure

0 (1,169) 0

• Application of capital grants to finance capital 

expenditure

(6,691) 0 (1,373)

Total Adjustments to Capital Resources (6,691) (1,169) (1,373)

Total Adjustments 11,728 (547) (1,373)

Usable Reserves

Page 185



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

48 

 

10.0  Movement in Earmarked Reserves 
 
This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Fund in earmarked reserves to provide 
financing for future expenditure plans and the amounts posted back from earmarked reserves to meet 
General Fund expenditure in 2017/18: 
 

Balance 

at 1st 

April 

2016

Transfers 

Out 

2016/17

Transfers 

In 2016/17

Balance 

at 31st 

March 

2017

Transfers 

Out 

2017/18

Transfers 

In 2017/18

Balance 

at 31st 

March 

2018

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

General Fund 4,627 0 0 4,627 0 73 4,700

Llwydcoed Reserve 377 0 150 527 0 251 778

Central South Consortium Reserve 9 0 0 9 0 0 9

Cardiff Capital Region City Deal 0 0 0 0 0 (16) (16)

Balances held by schools under a 

scheme of delegation

779 (255) 432 956 (70) 960 1,846

Insurance Reserve 2,031 0 351 2,382 (213) 0 2,169

Budget Reserve 1,408 (698) 3,922 4,632 (3,229) 1,566 2,969

Ffos-Y-Fran (Miller Argent) Account 1,523 (921) 729 1,331 (963) 605 973

Corporate Risk Fund Reserve 1,200 (182) 0 1,018 (468) 494 1,044

Living Wage Reserve 1,340 (492) 50 898 (277) 0 621

Redundancy Cost Reserve 500 0 0 500 0 500 1,000

Renewal Areas Tenants' 

Contributions

645 (156) 0 489 (391) 0 98

Capital earmarked reserve 0 (116) 508 392 (284) 370 478

City Deal reserve 0 0 352 352 0 0 352

Section 106 Agreements 0 0 408 408 (15) 189 582

ISB Allocation Surplus Account (41) (203) 505 261 (272) 116 105

Highways - S38 Road Agreements 331 (81) 0 250 (63) 13 200

Grant Agency Fees 254 (100) 88 242 (62) 9 189

Care Fees Provision 531 (207) 0 324 (234) 263 353

BIFFA Profit Sharing Grant 

Account

378 (181) 12 209 (33) 0 176

Working Skills for Adults and 

Bridges2 

0 (14) 208 194 (28) 45 211

Welfare Changes 38 0 116 154 (65) 65 154

Welsh Government Preliminary 

flood defences risk assessment

165 (18) 0 147 (26) 0 121

Capital financing cost reserve 0 0 0 0 0 340 340

Neighbourhood Services 

Earmarked Reserve

0 0 0 0 0 207 207

NRSWA Ring-fenced Earmarked 

Reserve

0 0 107 107 (119) 170 158

LASPO (Legal Aid, Sentencing, & 

Punishment of Offenders)

90 0 26 116 0 12 128

ICT server infrastructure upgrade 0 0 0 0 0 111 111

Other 4,085 (3,851) 1,404 1,638 (724) 921 1,835

Central South Consortium 

Earmarked Reserves

19 0 1 20 0 15 35

Total 20,289 (7,475) 9,369 22,183 (7,536) 7,279 21,926

Page 186



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

49 

 

Refer to accounting Policy 1.17 for a description of the General Reserve, Llwydcoed Reserve, Central 
South Consortium Reserve, Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Reserve, Balances held by schools under 
a scheme of delegation and the Insurance Reserve. 
 
The nature and purpose of each earmarked reserve is as follows: 
 
Budget Reserve - This reserve was created to assist the Authority with its forward financial planning in 
both financing future costs of retirement and enabling investment to improve projects generating future 
efficiency gains.  
 
Ffos-Y-Fran (Miller Argent) Account - This consists of monies received from Miller Argent (South 
Wales) Limited to a Community Fund as part of the approval for the land reclamation scheme at Ffos- 
Y-Fran. The monies are earmarked for community projects throughout the borough as approved by the 
Ffos-Y-Fran Panel. 
 
Corporate Risk Fund Reserve - Monies set aside to address unavoidable in-year budget pressures 
and to invest in innovative projects with longer term benefits. 
 

Living Wage Reserve - Monies set aside to finance the Authority’s corporate Foundation Living Wage 
commitment for the period 2016/17 to 2019/20. 
 
Redundancy Cost Reserve - This consists of monies set aside to fund the costs of future redundancies. 
 
Renewal Areas Tenants’ Contributions - This reserve contains tenants’ contributions towards work 
carried out on their properties as part of the renewals programme. 
 
Capital earmarked reserve – Monies set aside to fund one-off capital projects. 
 
City Deal reserve – Monies set aside to fund future requirements of the City Deal Programme. Refer 
to Note 42. 
 
Section 106 Agreements - Monies from private developers that must be used to fulfil the specific 
planning obligations set out in each agreement. 
 
ISB Allocation Surplus Account - This consists of the difference between budgeted and outturn 
Individual Schools Budget Allocation which is carried forward into the following year’s calculation.
  
Highways - S38 Road Agreements - Agreements between the Authority and private contractors to 
ensure new roads meet local authority highways adoption standards.  
 
Grant Agency Fees - This consists of monies received from the Grant Agency’s clients for 
administrative work undertaken on their behalf. The monies are earmarked to meet future service 
demands. 
 
Care Fees Provision - This reserve contains monies set aside for Residential places within the 
Borough. 
 
BIFFA Profit Sharing Grant Account - This consists of monies received from Biffa Waste under the 
profit sharing agreement at Trecatti Tip. The reserve is to be utilised on projects throughout the County 
Borough.  
 
 

Page 187



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

50 

 

Working Skills for Adults and Bridges 2 – This consists of monies required to cash match the 
European Structural Funds projects for the period 2016-2019. 
 
Welfare Changes – Monies set aside to fund projects associated with changes to Welfare Regulations. 
 
Welsh Government Preliminary flood defences risk assessment - Monies earmarked for use 
improving and repairing existing flood infrastructure 
 
Capital Financing Cost Reserve – This consists of monies set aside to fund the revenue impact of 
future capital financing costs.  
 
Neighbourhood Services Reserve – This consists of monies set aside to fund specific projects within 
the Neighbourhood Service area 
 
NRSWA Ring fenced Earmarked Reserve – This income is generated by Fixed Penalty notices and 
has to be spent on specific Highways Improvement Planning functions. 
 
LASPO (Legal Aid, Sentencing and punishment of Offenders) Reserve – This is income received 
by the Ministry of Justice and is ring fenced to be spent on Legal Aid, sentencing and punishment of 
offenders 
 
ICT Server infrastructure upgrade – This includes monies set aside to finance one off infrastructure 
projects that are to be completed in the 2018/19 financial year. 
 
Other - This consists of 64 miscellaneous balances ranging up to a value of £98,133. 
 
11.0        Other operating expenditure  
 

2016/17 2017/18

£'000 £'000

3,720 South Wales Police Precept 3,944

21 Bedlinog Community Council Precept 21

2,748 South Wales Fire and Rescue Authority Levy 2,743

181 Other Levies 176

(91) (Gains)/losses on the disposal of non-current 

assets

(636)

6,579 Total 6,248

 
 
12.0 Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£'000 £'000

4,829 Interest payable and similar charges 4,648

5,516 Net interest on the net defined benefit liability 

(asset)

4,514

(57) Interest receivable and similar income (62)

10,288 Total 9,100  

Page 188



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

51 

 

 
13.0 Taxation and “Non-specific” Grant Income and Expenditure 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£'000 £'000

(23,875) Council tax income (24,812)

(17,560) Non-domestic rates income (19,065)

(71,629) Non-ringfenced government grants (Revenue 

Support Grant)

(69,698)

(6,691) Capital grants and contributions (4,830)

(119,755) Total (118,405)  
 
National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) 
NNDR is organised on a national basis. The government specifies an amount for the rate and, subject 
to the effects of transitory arrangements, local businesses pay rates calculated by multiplying their 
rateable value by that amount. The Authority is responsible for collecting rates due from ratepayers in 
its area but pays the proceeds into the NNDR pool administered by the Welsh Government (WG). The 
WG redistributes the sums payable back to the Authority on the basis of a fixed amount per head of 
population.  
 
The total Non-Domestic Rateable Value as at 31st March 2018 was £39,627,630 (£43,182,879 as at 
31st March 2017) with the Non-Domestic Rate Multiplier being £0.499 (49.9 pence) in the pound (£0.486 
(48.6 pence) in the pound for 2016/17). The total number of chargeable properties for 2017/18 was 
1,861 (2016/17 – 1,784). The net proceeds from Non-Domestic Rates in 2017/18 was £19,065,380 
(2016/17 - £17,559,799).  
 
Council Tax 
 
Council Tax income derives from charges raised according to the value of residential properties, which 
have been classified into nine valuation bands. Charges are calculated by taking the amount of income 
required for the forthcoming year and dividing this amount by the Council Tax base. The number of 
chargeable dwellings for Council Tax for 2017/18 was 27,142 (2016/17 – 26,994).  
  
 
A breakdown of the chargeable dwellings over the nine valuation bands is as follows: 
  

Dwellings Band Range Dwellings

2016/17 (Based on 1 April 2003 values) 2017/18

14,043 A Not exceeding £44,000 14,100

6,629 B Between £44,000 and £65,000 6,633

2,168 C Between £65,000 and £91,000 2,168

2,081 D Between £91,000 and £123,000 2,114

1,375 E Between £123,000 and £162,000 1,422

546 F Between £162,000 and £223,000 554

142 G Between £223,000 and £324,000 142

2 H Between £324,000 and £424,000 2

8 I Exceeding £424,000 7

26,994 27,142  

Page 189



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

52 

 

Dwellings Tax Base Dwellings Tax Base

2016/17 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

Total Number of properties on the valuation list 26,994 26,994 27,142 27,142

Less Exempt properties 100% 835 (835) 812 (812)

Less Single Discounts 25% 9,251 (2,313) 9532 (2,383)

Less Multiple Discounts 50% 651 (326) 650 (325)

Band D Conversion (4,878) (4,799)

Losses on Collection (746) (753)

Tax Base 17,896 18,070

Requirement for Merthyr Tydfil County £25,056,054.00 £26,032,008.00

Basic Band D tax for the year £1,400.07 £1,440.68

Payable to South Wales Police £3,719,760.00 £3,943,507.00

Band D tax for South Wales Police £207.85 £218.24

*Total Band D tax for the year £1,607.92 £1,658.92

*Band D community council addition for properties in Bedlinog £18.19 (£19.05 2016/17)

 
The basic amount for a Band D property is multiplied by the proportion specified for the particular band 
to give the individual amount due: 
 
 

Band A B C D E F G H I

Multiplier 6/9 7/9 8/9 1 11/9 13/9 15/9 18/9 21/9

Page 190



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

53 

 

14.0 Property, Plant and Equipment  

L
a
n

d
 a

n
d

 

B
u

il
d

in
g

s

V
e
h

ic
le

s
, 

P
la

n
t,

 

F
u

rn
it

u
re

 a
n

d
 

E
q

u
ip

m
e
n

t

In
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 

A
s
s
e
ts

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 

A
s
s
e
ts

S
u

rp
lu

s
 

A
s
s
e
ts

A
s
s
e
ts

 U
n

d
e
r 

C
o

n
s
tr

u
c
ti

o
n

T
o

ta
l 

P
ro

p
e
rt

y
, 

P
la

n
t 

a
n

d
 

E
q

u
ip

m
e
n

t

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost or Valuation

At 1st April 2017 152,692 5,653 140,076 241 4,932 294 303,888

Acquisitions/Additions 4,054 264 2,781 61 0 1,634 8,794

Revaluation Increases/Decreases recognised in 

the Revaluation Reserve

281 0 0 0 418 0 699

Revaluation Increases/Decreases to 

Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services

(6,127) 0 0 (61) (40) (164) (6,392)

Derecognition - Disposals (175) (632) 0 0 (155) 0 (962)

Derecognition - Other (2,337) 0 0 0 0 0 (2,337)

Reclassification and Transfers 3,650 0 (2,805) 0 (1,001) 0 (156)

At 31st March 2018 152,038 5,285 140,052 241 4,154 1,764 303,534

Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment

As 1st April 2017 3,524 4,112 41,495 0 3 71 49,205

Depreciation Charge 2,948 687 3,234 0 3 0 6,872

Depreciation written out to the Revaluation 

Reserve

(2,492) 0 0 0 (5) 0 (2,497)

Depreciation written out to the Surplus/Deficit on 

the Provision of Services

(431) 0 0 0 0 0 (431)

Impairment losses/(reversals) recognised in the 

Revaluation Reserve

60 0 0 0 0 0 60

Impairment losses/(reversals) recognised in the 

Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services

(814) 0 355 0 (3) 59 (403)

Derecognition - Disposals (8) (562) 0 0 0 0 (570)

Derecognition - Other (2,337) 0 0 0 0 0 (2,337)

Reclassification and Transfers 483 0 (483) 0 0 0 0

At 31st March 2018 933 4,237 44,601 0 (2) 130 49,899

Net Book Value

At 31st March 2018 151,105 1,048 95,451 241 4,156 1,634 253,635

At 31st March 2017 149,168 1,541 98,581 241 4,929 223 254,683

 

P
age 191



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

54 

 

L
a
n

d
 a

n
d

 

B
u

il
d

in
g

s

V
e
h

ic
le

s
, 

P
la

n
t,

 

F
u

rn
it

u
re

 a
n

d
 

E
q

u
ip

m
e
n

t

In
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 

A
s
s
e
ts

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 

A
s
s
e
ts

S
u

rp
lu

s
 

A
s
s
e
ts

A
s
s
e
ts

 U
n

d
e
r 

C
o

n
s
tr

u
c
ti

o
n

T
o

ta
l 

P
ro

p
e
rt

y
, 

P
la

n
t 

a
n

d
 

E
q

u
ip

m
e
n

t

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost or Valuation

At 1st April 2016 146,854 5,455 128,373 241 5,724 9,467 296,114

Acquisitions/Additions 5,826 206 2,468 158 0 67 8,725

Revaluation Increases/Decreases recognised in 

the Revaluation Reserve

3,216 0 0 0 (498) 0 2,718

Revaluation Increases/Decreases to 

Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services

(2,780) 0 0 (158) (383) 0 (3,321)

Derecognition - Disposals (101) (8) (5) 0 (292) 0 (406)

Derecognition - Other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Reclassification and Transfers (323) 0 9,240 0 381 (9,240) 58

At 31st March 2017 152,692 5,653 140,076 241 4,932 294 303,888

Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment

As 1st April 2016 3,362 3,363 37,098 0 28 802 44,653

Depreciation Charge 2,602 756 3,248 0 27 0 6,633

Depreciation written out to the Revaluation 

Reserve

(2,175) 0 0 0 (48) 0 (2,223)

Depreciation written out to the Surplus/Deficit on 

the Provision of Services

(420) 0 0 0 (3) 0 (423)

Impairment losses/(reversals) recognised in the 

Revaluation Reserve

34 0 0 0 0 0 34

Impairment losses/(reversals) recognised in the 

Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services

123 0 356 0 0 67 546

Derecognition - Disposals 0 (7) (5) 0 (3) 0 (15)

Derecognition - Other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Reclassification and Transfers (2) 0 798 0 2 (798) 0

At 31st March 2017 3,524 4,112 41,495 0 3 71 49,205

Net Book Value

At 31st March 2017 149,168 1,541 98,581 241 4,929 223 254,683

At 31st March 2016 143,492 2,092 91,275 241 5,696 8,665 251,461

P
age 192



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

55 

 

Capital Commitments 
As at 31st March 2018, the Authority has entered into a number of contracts for the construction or 
enhancement of property, plant and equipment in 2017/18 and future years budgeted to cost 
£1,129,000. Similar commitments at 31st March 2017 were £2,552,000. The major commitments are: 
 

Capital Scheme      

                                

Value 

£'000

Brandy Bridge Cathodic Protection 60

Cyfarthfa Castle Refurbishments 60

Household Waste Disposal P&E 901

Pontsticill Bridge 25

Riverside Phase 3 83

1,129

 
 
Revaluations 
The Authority carries out a rolling programme that ensures that all Property, Plant and Equipment 
required to be measured at current value is re-valued at least every five years. All valuations were 
carried out externally. Valuations of land and buildings were carried out in accordance with the 
methodologies and bases for estimation set out in the professional standards of the Royal Institution of 
Chartered Surveyors. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 193



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

56 

 

15.0 Heritage Assets 
 

M
u

s
e
u

m
 

C
o

ll
e
c
ti

o
n

C
iv

ic
 R

e
g

a
li
a

H
is

to
ri

c
 

B
u

il
d

in
g

s

M
o

n
u

m
e
n

ts

T
o

ta
l 
A

s
s
e
ts

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost or Valuation

At 1st April 2017 3,788 82 3,195 54 7,119

Acquisitions/Additions 0 0 328 0 328

Revaluation Increases/Decreases recognised in 

the Revaluation Reserve 0 175 257 0 432

Revaluation Increases/Decreases to 

Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services 0 0 0 0 0

Derecognition - Disposals 0 0 0 0 0

Derecognition - Other 0 0 0 0 0

Reclassification and Transfers 0 0 0 0 0

At 31st March 2018 3,788 257 3,780 54 7,879

Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment

As 1st April 2017 0 0 479 0 479

Depreciation Charge 0 0 0 0 0

Depreciation written out to the Revaluation 

Reserve 0 0 0 0 0

Depreciation written out to the Surplus/Deficit on 

the Provision of Services 0 0 0 0 0

Impairment losses/(reversals) recognised in the 

Revaluation Reserve 0 0 0 0 0

Impairment losses/(reversals) recognised in the 

Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services 0 0 42 0 42

Derecognition - Disposals 0 0 0 0 0

Derecognition - Other 0 0 0 0 0

Reclassification and Transfers 0 0 0 0 0

At 31st March 2018 0 0 521 0 521

Net Book Value

At 31st March 2018 3,788 257 3,259 54 7,358

At 31st March 2017 3,788 82 2,716 54 6,640

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 194



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

57 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

M
u

s
e
u

m
 

C
o

ll
e
c
ti

o
n

C
iv

ic
 R

e
g

a
li
a

H
is

to
ri

c
 

B
u

il
d

in
g

s

M
o

n
u

m
e
n

ts

T
o

ta
l 
A

s
s
e
ts

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost or Valuation

At 1st April 2016 3,078 82 2,346 0 5,506

Acquisitions/Additions 0 0 614 54 668

Revaluation Increases/Decreases recognised in 

the Revaluation Reserve 710 0 235 0 945

Revaluation Increases/Decreases to 

Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services 0 0 0 0 0

Derecognition - Disposals 0 0 0 0 0

Derecognition - Other 0 0 0 0 0

Reclassification and Transfers 0 0 0 0 0

At 31st March 2017 3,788 82 3,195 54 7,119

Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment

As 1st April 2016 0 0 280 0 280

Depreciation Charge 0 0 0 0 0

Depreciation written out to the Revaluation 

Reserve 0 0 0 0 0

Depreciation written out to the Surplus/Deficit on 

the Provision of Services 0 0 0 0 0

Impairment losses/(reversals) recognised in the 

Revaluation Reserve 0 0 0 0 0

Impairment losses/(reversals) recognised in the 

Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services 0 0 199 0 199

Derecognition - Disposals 0 0 0 0 0

Derecognition - Other 0 0 0 0 0

Reclassification and Transfers 0 0 0 0 0

At 31st March 2017 0 0 479 0 479

Net Book Value

At 31st March 2017 3,788 82 2,716 54 6,640

At 31st March 2016 3,078 82 2,066 0 5,226

Page 195



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

58 

 

The Authority’s Heritage Assets include Cyfarthfa Castle within the historic buildings category. The 
Museum Collection includes Art, Ceramics, Porcelain work, figurines and instruments. The valuation of 
the Museum Collection is included at insurance valuation. 
 
 
16.0 Investment Properties 
 
Items of income have been accounted for within costs of services in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement: 
 

2017/18 

£'000

2016/17 

£'000

Rental Income from investment property (37) (35)

Direct operating expenses arising from investment 

property

1 1

Net gain/(loss) (36) (34)  
 
 
There are no restrictions on the Authority’s ability to realise the value inherent in its investment property 
or on the Authority’s right to the remittance of income and the proceeds of disposal. The Authority has 
no contractual obligations to purchase, construct or develop investment property or repairs, 
maintenance or enhancement. 
 
The following table summarises the movement in the fair value of investment properties: 
 

2017/18 2016/17

£'000 £'000

Balance at the start of the year 1,020 834

Additions:

• Purchases 0 0

• Construction 0 0

• Subsequent expenditure 0 0

Disposals (554) 0

Net gains/losses from fair value adjustments (104) 212

Transfers:

• to/from Inventories 0 0

• to/from Property, Plant and Equipment (8) (26)

Balance at the end of the year 354 1,020  
 
 
Fair value Hierarchy 
The fair value of the commercial units has been based on the market approach using current market 
conditions and recent sales prices and other relevant information for similar assets in the local authority 
area. Market conditions are such that similar properties are actively purchased and sold and the level 
of observable inputs are significant, leading to the properties being categorised at Level 2 in the fair 
value hierarchy.  
 
In estimating the fair value of the authority’s investment properties, the highest and best use of the 
properties is their current use. There has been no change to the valuation techniques used during the 
year for investment properties. 

Page 196



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

59 

 

 
There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 during the year (refer to Financial Instruments – Fair 
Values Note 17). 
 
17.0 Financial Instruments 
 
Financial Instruments – Classifications  
A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity. Non-exchange transactions, such as those relating to 
taxes and government grant, do not give rise to financial instruments.  
 
The following categories of financial instrument are carried in the Balance Sheet: 
 

31st March 

2018

31st March 

2017

31st March 

2018

31st March 

2017

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Investments: 

Loans and receivables 10 10 13,521 0

Debtors: 

Gellideg Co-operative Loan 429 449 20 20

Welsh Water Loan 147 334 100 0

Other
67 67 4 0

Financial assets carried at 

contract amounts 0 0 17,833 23,373

Borrowings

Financial Liabilities at 

amortised cost 62,168 66,034 35,999 21,371

Other liabilities

Finance Leases and other 747 50 41 52

Creditors: 

Financial liabilities at contract 

amount 0 0 14,633 14,038

Long-term Current

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 197



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

60 

 

The gains and losses recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in relation 
to financial instruments consist of the following: 
 
 

Financial 

Liabilities

Financial 

Assets

Amortised 

Cost

Loans and 

Receivables

2017/18 

Total

2016/17 

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Interest Payable and 

Similar Charges

4,648 0 4,648 4,829

Interest and Investment 

Income

0 (62) (62) (57)

Net (Gain)/loss for the 

year

4,648 (62) 4,586 4,772

 
 
Financial Instruments – Fair Values  
Financial assets classified as loans and receivables and all non-derivative financial liabilities are 
carried in the Balance Sheet at amortised cost. Their fair values have been estimated by calculating 
the net present value of the remaining contractual cash flows at 31st

 March 2018, using the following 
methods and assumptions:  
 

 Loans borrowed by the Authority have been valued by discounting the contractual cash flows 
over the whole life of the instrument at the appropriate market rate for local authority loans.  

 The value of “Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option” (LOBO) loans have been increased by the 
value of the embedded options. The Lenders’ options to propose an increase to the interest 
rate on the loan have been valued according to Bloomberg’s proprietary model for Bermudan 
cancellable swaps. The Borrower’s contingent options to accept the increased rate or repay 
the loan have been valued at zero, on the assumption that lenders will only exercise their 
options when market rates have risen above the contractual loan rate.  

 No early repayment or impairment is recognised for any financial instrument.  

 The fair value of short-term instruments, including trade payables and receivables, is assumed 
to approximate to the carrying amount.  

 
Fair values are shown in the table below, split by their level in the fair value hierarchy:  

 Level 1 – fair value is only derived from quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities 

 Level 2 – fair value is calculated from inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for 
the asset or liability, e.g. interest rates or yields for similar instruments  

 Level 3 – fair value is determined using unobservable inputs, e.g. non-market data such as 
cash flow forecasts or estimated creditworthiness  

 

Page 198



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

61 

 

Fair 

Value

Carrying 

Value

Fair 

Value

Carrying 

Value

Fair 

Value

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial Liabilities held at 

amortised cost

Long-term loans from PWLB 2 48,948 70,160 52,135 77,896

Long-term LOBO Loans 2 12,233 18,472 12,236 19,340

Other long term loans 987 1,663

Short term loans 35,999 21,371

31st March 2018 31st March 2017

 
 
 
The fair value of financial liabilities held at amortised costs is higher than their balance sheet carrying 
value because the authority’s portfolio of loans include a number of loans where the interest rate payable 
is higher than the current rates for similar loans as at the Balance Sheet date. 
 
18.0 Inventories 
 
The breakdown of Inventories is as follows: 
 
 

H
ig

h
w

a
y
s

F
u

e
ls

C
a
te

ri
n

g

C
re

m
a
to

ri
u

m

T
o

ta
l 
A

s
s
e
ts

H
ig

h
w

a
y
s

F
u

e
ls

C
a
te

ri
n

g

C
re

m
a
to

ri
u

m

T
o

ta
l 
A

s
s
e
ts

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

116 17 25 4 162

Balance outstanding at 

the start of the year 44 29 25 2 100

0 344 902 0 1,246 Purchases 206 25 876 1 1,108

(51) (327) (902) (2) (1,282)

Recognised as an 

expense in the year (189) (52) (879) 0 (1,120)

(21) (5) 0 0 (26) Written-off balances 0 0 0 0 0

44 29 25 2 100

Balance outstanding at 

the year-end 61 2 22 3 88

2016/17 2017/18

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 199



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

62 

 

19.0 Short-term Debtors 
 
The breakdown of Debtors at 31st March 2018 is as follows: 
 
 

31st 

March 

2018

31st 

March 

2017

£'000 £'000

Central Government Bodies 6,987 11,989

Other Local Authorities 1,824 1,058

NHS Bodies 1,115 775

Other entities 8,031 9,571

Total 17,957 23,393  
 
 
Debtors shown in the balance sheet are net of the provision for bad debts as follows: 
 

31st 

March 

2018

31st 

March 

2017

£'000 £'000

General Fund (347) (342)

Council Tax (589) (459)

National Non Domestic Rates (452) (442)

Total (1,388) (1,243)

 
 
20.0 Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
This balance recognises the net cash position of the Authority in providing its services to the public. The 
balance at 31st March 2018 is as follows: 
 

31st 

March 

2017

31st 

March 

2018

£'000 £'000

1,527 Bank Current Accounts 2,793

1,527 Total Cash and Cash equivalents 2,793  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 200



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

63 

 

21.0 Assets Held for Sale 
 
The breakdown of assets held for sale at 31st March 2018 is as follows: 
 

2017/18 2016/17

£'000 £'000

Balance outstanding at the start of the year 177 319

Assets newly classified as held for sale 332 0

Revaluation losses (26) 0

Revaluation gains 0 32

Impairment losses 0 (1)

Assets declassified as held for sale (168) (32)

Assets sold (9) (141)

Balances outstanding at year end 306 177

Non-current

 
 
Assets held for sale at 31st March 2018 comprise of land and buildings as follows: 
 

 Various pieces of land which are surplus to requirement. 

 Two small buildings previously run as Public Conveniences are now surplus to requirement. 
 
 
22.0 Creditors 
 
The breakdown of Creditors at 31st March 2018 is as follows: 
 

31st 

March 

2018

31st 

March 

2017

£'000 £'000

Central Government Bodies (2,220) (1,841)

Other Local Authorities (907) (1,024)

NHS Bodies (116) (80)

Other entities (11,390) (11,093)

Total (14,633) (14,038)  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 201



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

64 

 

23.0 Provisions 
 
The balance on provisions at 31st March 2018 is derived as follows: 
 

In
s
u

ra
n

c
e
 

C
la

im
s

P
e
n

g
a
rn

d
d

u

C
it

y
 D

e
a
l

T
o

ta
l

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Balance at 1st April 2017 (1,004) (1,950) 0 (2,954)

Additional provisions made in 2017/18 (546) 0 (71) (617)

Amounts used in 2017/18 306 0 0 306

Unused amounts reversed in 2017/18 0 0 0 0

Balance at 31st March 2018 (1,244) (1,950) (71) (3,265)  
 
 

The Authority expects that the provisions recognised at 31st March 2018 will substantially be utilised 
within 12 months of that date, the split of short and long term provisions is as follows: 
 

Short 

term

Long 

term

Total Short 

term

Long 

term

Total

2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18 2017/18

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Insurance Claims (351) (653) (1,004) (483) (761) (1,244)

Pengarnddu Provision 0 (1,950) (1,950) (1,000) (950) (1,950)

City Deal 0 0 0 0 (71) (71)

(351) (2,603) (2,954) (1,483) (1,782) (3,265)

 
 
 
Insurance Claims Provision 
This provision reflects the Authority’s outstanding insurance claims obligations at 31st March 2018. 
There is an uncertainty around the timing and value of this obligation. Claims are settled when they 
reach Court, depending on the specific circumstances of the case this can take varying time.  
 
Pengarnddu Provision 
The provision consists of monies set aside for the costs of removing several thousand tonnes of residual 
waste on land at Pengarnddu that was left by a previous occupier. Due to the volume and nature of 
waste, and different options being pursued by the Authority, the actual cost and timing for clearing the 
site is not certain. 
 
City Deal Provision 
This balance is as a result of including the Authority’s Share of 3.94% of the Cardiff Capital Region City 
Deal (Note 42) 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 202



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

65 

 

24.0 Usable Reserves 
 
Movements in the Authority’s usable reserves are detailed in the Movement in Reserves Statement, 
note 9 and note 10. 
 
25.0 Unusable Reserves 
 
The breakdown of Unusable Reserves at 31st March 2018 is as follows: 
 

31st 

March 

2017

31st 

March 

2018

£'000 £'000

37,114 Revaluation Reserve 39,471

(2,690) Financial Instruments Reserve (2,624)

128,945 Capital Adjustment Account 120,761

(179,449) Pensions Reserve (189,315)

(1,651) Accumulated Absences Account (2,008)

(17,731) Total Unusable Reserves (33,715)  
 
 
Revaluation Reserve 
The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the Authority arising from increases in the value 
of its Property, Plant and Equipment. The balance is reduced when assets with accumulated gains 
are:  

 Re-valued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost;  

 Used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through depreciation or;  

 Disposed of and the gains are realised.  
 
The reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date that the reserve 
was created. Accumulated gains arising before that date are consolidated in the Capital Adjustment 
Account. 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£'000 £'000

      32,275 Balance at 1st April 37,114

7,039 Upward revaluation of assets 4,388

(1,183) Downward revaluation of assets and impairment losses not charged 

to the Surplus/Deficit on the provision of services

(822)

5,856 Surplus or deficit on revaluation of non-current assets not posted to 

the Surplus or Deficit on the provision of services

3,566

(737) Difference between fair value depreciation and historical cost 

depreciation

(1,041)

(280) Accumulated gains on assets sold or scrapped (168)

(1,017) Amounts written off to the Capital Adjustment Account (1,209)

37,114 Balance at 31st March 39,471

 
 
 

Page 203



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

66 

 

Capital Adjustment Account 
The capital adjustment account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements 
for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and for financing the acquisition, construction 
or additions to those assets under statutory provisions. The account is debited with the cost of 
acquisition, construction or subsequent costs such as depreciation, impairment losses and 
amortisations are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The account is 
credited with the amounts set aside by the Authority as finance for the costs of acquisition, construction 
and subsequent costs. 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£'000 £'000

133,055 Balance at 1st April 128,945

Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure debited or credited 

to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

(5,895) • Charges for depreciation and impairment of non current assets (5,830)

(3,785) • Revaluation losses on property, plant and equipment (5,735)

(6,385) • Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute (2,739)

(532) • Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal or sale as 

part of the gain/loss on disposal to the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement

(955)

(16,597) (15,259)

280 Adjusting amounts written out to the Revaluation Reserve 168

(16,317) Net written out amount of the cost of non-current assets consumed 

in the year

(15,091)

Capital financing applied in the year:

1,169 • Use of Capital Receipts Reserve to finance new capital 

expenditure

1,353

8,065 • Capital grants and contributions credited to the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement that have been applied to capital 

financing

2,782

0 • Application of grants to capital financing from the Capital Grants 

Unapplied Account

0

2,590 • Statutory provision for the financing of capital investment charged 

against the General Fund

2,770

11,824 6,905

383
Movements in the market Value of Investment Properties debited or 

credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
2

128,945 Balance at 31st March 120,761  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 204



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

67 

 

Financial Instruments Adjustment Account 
 
The Financial Instruments Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 
arrangements for accounting for income and expenditure relating to certain financial instruments and 
for bearing losses or benefiting from gains per statutory provisions.  
 
The Authority uses the account to manage premiums paid on the early redemption of loans. Premiums 
are debited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement when they are incurred, but 
reversed out of the General Fund Balance through the Movement in Reserves Statement. Over time, 
the expense is posted back to the General Fund Balance in accordance with statutory arrangements for 
spreading the burden on the Council tax. In the Authority’s case, this period is the unexpired term that 
was outstanding on the loans when they were redeemed.  
 

2016/17 2017/18

£'000 £'000

(2,705) Balance at 1st April (2,690)

51 Premiums incurred in previous financial years to be charged against 

the General Fund Balance in accordance with Statutory 

Requirements

92

(36) Amount by which finance costs charged to the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement are different from finance costs 

chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory requirements

(26)

(2,690) Balance at 31st March (2,624)  
 
Pensions Reserve 
The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for 
accounting for post-employment benefits and for funding benefits in accordance with statutory 
provisions. The Authority accounts for post-employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as the benefits are earned by employees accruing years of service, updating 
the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions and investment returns on any 
resources set aside to meet the costs.  
However, statutory arrangements require benefits earned to be financed as the Authority makes 
employer’s contributions to pension funds or eventually pay any pensions for which it is directly 
responsible. The debit balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in the 
benefits earned by past and current employees and the resources the Authority has set aside to meet 
them. The statutory arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside by the time the 
benefits come to be paid. 

 

2016/17 2017/18

£'000 £'000

(167,050) Balance at 1st April (179,449)

(8,119) Actuarial (gains)/losses on pensions assets/liabilities (6,163)

(4,649) Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited 

to the Surplus or Deficit on the provision of services in the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

(3,594)

369 Net adjustments to Pension strain (109)

(179,449) Balance at 31st March (189,315)  
 
 
 

Page 205



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

68 

 

Accumulated Absences Adjustment Account 
 
The Accumulated Absences Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise on the General 
Fund Balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not taken in the year, e.g. annual 
leave entitlement carried forward at 31 March. Statutory arrangements require that the impact on the 
General Fund Balance is neutralised by transfers to or from the Account. 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£'000 £'000

(1,235) Balance at 1st April (1,651)

1,235 Settlement or cancellation of accrual made at the end of the 

preceding year

1,651

(1,651) Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on an accruals 

basis is different from remuneration chargeable in the year in 

accordance with statutory requirements

(2,008)

(1,651) Balance at 31st March (2,008)  
 
 
 
26.0 Cash Flow Statement  - Operating Activities 
 
The cash flows for operating activities include the following items: 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£'000 £'000

242 Rents ( after rebates ) 186

22,839 Council Tax receipts 24,544

17,560 National non-domestic rate receipts from national pool 19,065

71,629 Revenue Support Grant 69,698

18,109 DWP grants for benefits 22,944

20,900 Other government grants 20,264

26 Interest received 58

15,850 Cash received for goods and services 17,227

6,884 Other operating cash receipts 5,185

174,039 Cash Inflows Generated from Operating Activities 179,171

(69,300) Cash paid to and on behalf of employees (71,331)

(68,650) Cash Payments to Suppliers (70,389)

(4,827) Interest paid (4,651)

(21,243) Housing Benefit paid out (20,317)

(2,929) Levies paid (2,919)

(3,740) Precepts (3,964)

(170,689) Cash Outflows Generated from Operating Activities (173,571)

3,350 Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities 5,600  
  

Page 206



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

69 

 

The surplus or deficit on the provision of services has been adjusted for the following non-cash 
movements: 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£'000 £'000

(9,834) Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services (11,370)

10,035 Depreciation and Impairment 10,280

(91) Gain or loss on disposal of Fixed Assets (636)

(1,599) Other non Cash items charged to the net surplus or deficit on 

the provision of services

(1,198)

4,221 Movement in Pension Liability 3,702

1,652 Increase/decrease in creditors 925

(3,696) Increase/decrease in debtors 1,944

58 Increase/decrease in inventories 12

2,645 Increase/decrease in Provisions and Balances (406)

(41) Adjustment to Central South Consortium Opening Balances 0

0 Adjustment to Cardiff Capital Region City Deal opening 

Balances

24

3,350 3,277  
 
 
 
27.0 Cash Flow Statement – Investing Activities 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£'000 £'000

(9,462) Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment (9,065)

(6,386) Other capital cash payments (3,691)

(71,300) New Short term investments made (91,671)

74,300 Repayments of investments 77,200

622 Sale of fixed assets 1,591

9,185 Capital grants received 7,851

(3,041) Net Cash Flows Generated from Investing 

Activities

(17,785)

 
 
 
 
28.0 Cash Flow Statement – Financing Activities 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£'000 £'000

363 New long-term loans raised 2,781

72,250 New short-term loans raised 83,500

(73,632) Repayments of amounts borrowed (72,845)

(1,019) Cash Flows Generated from Financing 

Activities

13,436

 

Page 207



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

70 

 

29.0 Pooled Budgets 
 
Integrated Community Equipment Store 
 
The authority has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with the Integrated Community Equipment 
Store for the provision of specialist equipment and services to clients in the community. The partnership 
currently comprises Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council, Bridgend County Borough Council, Cwm Taf University Health Board and Abertawe Bro 
Morgannwg University Health Board. This partnership was formalised with the introduction of a Section 
33 Agreement (The Agreement) in accordance with Section 33 of the National Health Service (Wales) 
Act 2006 together with the NHS bodies and Local Authorities (Partnership Agreements) Wales 
regulations 2000 SI 2993 as amended.  Partners contribute an underlying contribution in line with those 
covered by the Section 33 agreement.  Any deficit or surplus arising on the pooled budget is adjusted 
at the end of the financial year based on the actual spend on community equipment for each partner. 
 
The pooled budget is hosted by Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council on behalf of all partners 
to the agreement. 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

Funding provided to the pooled budget:

• the Authority (213) (130)

• Other Partners (2,432) (2,516)

(2,645) (2,646)

Expenditure met from the pooled budget:

• the Authority 207 174

• Other Partners 2,367 2,560

2,574 2,734

Net (surplus)/deficit arising on the 

pooled budget during the year (71) 88

Net (surplus)/deficit attributable to 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 

Council (6) 44  
 
 
Integrated Family Support Team 
 
Local Authorities are required to have an Integrated Family Support Team, either on an individual or 
partnership basis as established by the Children and Families (Wales) Measure 2010. 
 
The Integrated Family Support Team, or alternatively IFST, was created on 1st September 2010 to co-
ordinate jointly Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council’s responsibilities to 
the establishment of their statutory Integrated Family Support Services (IFSS) where both local 
government and their respective health board partners will have collective responsibility to ensure the 
integration and provision of seamless services to families with complex needs. 
 

Page 208



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

71 

 

Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC became the Host Authority upon formation and the Authority’s contribution 
to the team is 50%, at a maximum value of £280,000 
 
 
30.0 Members’ Allowances 
 
The Authority paid the following amounts to members of the council during the year. 
  

2017/18 2016/17

£'000 £'000

Salaries and Allowances 586 591

Pension Contributions 68 82

National Insurance Contributions 43 45

Expenses 2 2

Balance at 31st March 699 720  
 

Page 209



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

72 

 

31.0 Officers’ Remuneration 
 
The remuneration paid to the Authority’s senior employees is as follows: 
 

2017/18 Salary, Fees 

and 

Allowances

Compensation 

for loss of 

Office

Pension 

Contributions

Total

£ £ £ £

Chief Executive 122,246 0 34,107 156,353

Deputy Chief Executive 92,059 0 25,684 117,743

Chief Officer Social Services 76,377 0 21,301 97,678

Chief Officer Neighbourhood Services 73,287 0 20,447 93,734

Chief Officer Community Regeneration 73,287 0 20,447 93,734

Head of Finance 71,081 0 19,832 90,913

Head of Legal & Democratic Services 71,081 0 19,832 90,913

Head of Corporate Services 68,021 0 18,978 86,999

Head of Adult Social Services 66,623 0 18,588 85,211

Head of Public Protection & Housing 65,916 0 18,391 84,307

Head of Children Services & Safeguarding 65,916 0 18,391 84,307

Head of Community Wellbeing 60,697 0 16,922 77,619

Head of Planning & Countryside 60,652 0 16,922 77,574

Head of Planning, Performance & Resources 60,652 0 0 60,652

Chief Officer Learning* 79,098 0 20,215 99,313

Total 1,106,993 0 290,057 1,397,050  
 
The highest paid employee during 2017/18 was the Chief Executive, whose remuneration of £122,246 excluding pension contributions was 5.92 times 
the median remuneration of the workforce £20,661. The Chief Executives’ Salary includes returning officer fees of £10,638. 
 
*The following position was held by two officers during the year.  
Chief Officer Learning– Employment ceased on 30th November 2017 
New post holder commenced on 1st October 2017 on secondment from Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council. 
 
Pension Contribution is 27.9% of pensionable pay, of which 13.8% relates to Employers’ future service cost while 14.1% is deficit funding relating to 
the shortfall concerning past service liabilities. 
 

P
age 210



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

73 

 

2016/17 Salary, Fees 

and 

Allowances

Compensation 

for loss of 

Office

Pension 

Contributions

Total

£ £ £ £

Chief Executive 122,849 0 30,638 153,487

Deputy Chief Executive 91,148 0 23,243 114,391

Chief Officer Social Services 73,566 0 18,744 92,310

Chief Officer Learning 73,506 0 18,744 92,250

Chief Officer Neighbourhood Services 70,476 0 17,971 88,447

Chief Officer Community Regeneration 70,476 0 17,971 88,447

Head of Finance 70,378 0 17,946 88,324

Head of Legal & Democratic Services 70,378 0 17,946 88,324

Head of Corporate Services 67,348 0 17,174 84,522

Head of Public Protection & Housing 67,308 0 17,164 84,472

Head of Adult Social Services 63,179 0 16,111 79,290

Head of Children Services & Safeguarding 63,179 0 16,111 79,290

Head of Planning & Countryside 60,051 0 15,313 75,364

Head of Planning, Performance & Resources 60,051 0 0 60,051

Corporate Director People & Performance* 30,383 15,521 7,748 53,652

Total 1,054,276 15,521 252,824 1,322,621  
 
The highest paid employee during 2016/17 was the Chief Executive, whose remuneration of £122,849 excluding pension contributions was 6.16 times 
the median remuneration of the workforce £19,939. The Chief Executives’ Salary includes returning officer fees of £8,913. 
 
*The following position was employed for part of the year: 
Corporate Director People and Performance – Employment ceased on 31st July 2016 
The compensation payment of £15,521 received by the Corporate Director People and Performance is non taxable. 
 
Pension Contribution is 25.5% of pensionable pay, of which 13.8% relates to Employers’ future service cost while 11.7% is deficit funding relating to 
the shortfall concerning past service liabilities. 
 
 
 

P
age 211



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

74 

 

The number of employees receiving more than £60,000 remuneration for the year (excluding employer’s 
pension contributions) were paid the following amounts: 
 

2017/18 2016/17

Remuneration Band Number of  

Employees

Number of  

Employees

£60,000 - £64,999 11 13

£65,000 - £69,999 8 4

£70,000 - £74,999 7 7

£75,000 - £79,999 1 3

£80,000 - £84,999 2 0

£85,000 - £89,999 0 0

£90,000 - £94,999 1 1

£95,000 - £99,999 0 0

£100,000 - £104,999 0 1

£105,000 - £109,999 0 0

£110,000 - £114,999 0 0

£115,000 - £119,999 0 0

£120,000 - £124,999 1 1

31 30  
 
The table above includes disclosures for Senior Officers that are also disclosed within the first two tables 
of this note. 
 
The numbers of exit packages with total cost per band and total cost of the compulsory and other 
redundancies are set out in the table below: 
 

Exit package cost 

band

2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17

£0 - £20,000 0 5 6 8 6 13 42 65

£20,001 - £40,000 0 1 2 2 2 3 41 93

£40,001 - £60,000 0 1 1 0 1 1 58 44

£60,001 - £300,000 0 0 1 4 1 4 133 478

Total cost included in 

bandings and in the 0 7 10 14 10 21 274 680

Number of 

compulsory 

redundancies

Number of other 

departures 

agreed

Total number of 

exit packages by 

cost band

Total cost of exit 

packages in each 

band £'000

 
 
The £60,001 to £300,000 band has been grouped to ensure individual exit packages cannot be 
identified. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 212



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

75 
 

Under the Powers of a Capitalisation Direction in place from 1st April 2016, revenue costs in respect of 
service reform are eligible to be treated as capital expenditure and hence funded from capital receipts. 
The costs incurred relate to Redundancy costs and Early Pension Payment Costs relating to employees 
leaving the Council through service reconfiguration and rationalisation. Below is a summary of the 
service area restructures, the 5 year saving as a result of the restructure:  
 

Service Area

2017/18                

5 Year Gross 

Saving £'000

2017/18 

Capitalised 

Cost £'000

Social Services Adult Services restructure 5,360 174

Social Services Youth Services restructure 464 1

Social Services Children's Services restructure 168 23

Support Services restructure 2,090 203

Education Department restructure 1,205 122

Schools restructures 3,790 93

School Catering restructure 266 7

Street Cleansing/Waste Services restructure 1,822 85

Public Protection & Housing restructure 937 112

Grounds Maintenance restructure 1414 114

Highways and Engineering restructure 851 70

Senior Management restructure 558 74

Tourist Info Centre closure 144 2

19,069 1,080  
 

Service Area

2016/17                

5 Year Gross 

Saving £'000

2016/17 

Capitalised 

Cost £'000

Social Services Adult Services restructure 5,360 178

Social Services Youth Services restructure 464 1

Social Services Children's Services restructure 168 8

Support Services restructure 1,377 85

Education Department restructure 1,287 36

Schools restructures 1,050 53

School Catering restructure 266 6

Street Cleansing/Waste Services restructure 1,518 50

Public Protection & Housing restructure 837 74

Grounds Maintenance restructure 1,414 108

Senior Management restructure 596 21

Tourist Info Centre closure 144 2

14,481 622  
 
As redundancy costs are borne over a period of four years, it should be noted that the five year gross 
saving column will in certain cases include savings achieved in the previous year. 
 

Page 213



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

76 
 

32.0 External Audit Costs 
 
The Authority has incurred the following costs in relation to the audit of the Statement of Accounts, 
certification of grant claims and statutory inspections: 
 

2017/18 2016/17

£'000 £'000

Fees payable with regard to external audit services carried out by 

the appointed auditor for the year

160 170

Fees payable in respect of statutory inspections 101 116

Fees payable for the certification of grant claims and returns for the 

year

46 52

Total 307 338  
 
 
33.0 Grant Income 
 
The Authority credited the following grants and contributions to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement in 2017/18: 
 

2017/18 2016/17

£'000 £'000

Credited to Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income 

and Expenditure

Revenue Support Grant (69,698) (71,629)

Capital Grants and Contributions

Vibrant and Viable Places Grant (1,300) (4,040)

Collaborative Change Programme (1,296) (114)

General Capital Grant (986) (992)

Local Authority Roads Refurbishment (374) 0

ECO Scheme (262) (449)

Safe Routes In Communities (147) (137)

Renewal Areas Grant 0 (799)

Flying Start Grant (101) (155)

Project Riverside 0 (69)

*Other Capital Grants and Contributions (364) 64

Total (74,528) (78,320)

 
 
*A positive balance was shown in 2016/17 due to an in year correction of a brought forward credit 
balance. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 214



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

77 
 

 

2017/18 2016/17

Credited to Services £'000 £'000

People and Performance

Flying Start (2,431) (2,332)

Education Improvement Grant (2,186) (2,198)

Supporting People Programme Grant (2,123) (2,149)

Pupil Deprivation Grant (2,040) (2,084)

Communities First (1,295) (1,873)

Families First (1,030) (1,002)

Welsh Independent Living Fund Grant (569) (596)

Social Care Workforce Fund - National Living Wage (408) 0

Other Revenue Grants (1,941) (1,106)

Place and Transformation

Concessionary Fares Grant (2,038) (2,242)

Environment and Sustainable Development Revenue 

Grant

(1,160) (1,231)

Inspire 2 Achieve (359) 0

Housing Benefit Subsidy Admin Grant (273) (297)

Other Revenue Grants (3,269) (2,525)

Contributions (3) (57)

Corporate

Housing Benefit Subsidy (20,366) (21,005)

Other Grants (352) (249)

Total (41,843) (40,946)  
 
The authority has received a number of grants, contributions and donations that have yet to be 
recognised as income as they have conditions attached to them that will require the monies to be 
returned to the giver. The balances at the year end are as follows: 
 

2017/18

Current Liabilities £'000

Grants Receipts in Advance (Revenue Grants)

Flying Start (101)

Discretionary Housing Payments Grant (42)

Families First (42)

Communities First (16)

Other Revenue Grants (19)

Total (220)  
 

Page 215



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

78 
 

2016/17

Current Liabilities £'000

Grants Receipts in Advance (Revenue Grants)

Communities First (12)

Families First (16)

Flying Start (132)

Other Revenue Grants (4)

Total (164)  
 
 
34.0 Related Party Transactions 
 
The Authority is required to disclose material transactions with related parties – bodies or individuals 
that have the potential to control or influence the Authority or to be controlled or influenced by the 
Authority. Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to assess the extent to which the Authority 
might have been constrained in its ability to operate independently or might have secured the ability to 
limit another party’s ability to bargain freely with the Authority.  
  
Central Government (i.e. Welsh Government) has effective control over the general operations of the 
Authority. It is responsible for providing the statutory framework, within which the Authority operates, 
provides the majority of its funding in the form of grants and prescribes the terms of many of the 
transactions that the Authority has with other parties. Grants received from government departments 
are set out in note 33. Grant receipts outstanding at 31 March 2018 are shown in note 19. 
 
Members of the Authority have direct control over the Authority’s financial and operating policies. The 
total of members’ allowances paid in 2017/18 is shown in note 30. Interests in other organisations held 
by members and their close family have been identified by an inspection of the Members’ and Officers’ 
Declaration of Interest Register, and are set out in the table below. 
 
Officers - details of officers’ emoluments are shown in note 31 to the Core Financial Statements. 
Interests in other organisations held by senior officers and their close family have been identified, and 
are set out in the table below. 
 
Joint Operations - the Authority is involved in a number of joint operations, the details of which are 
shown in note 42. 
 
Precepts and Levies are shown in note 11. 
 
Other Bodies – the Authority is represented on a number of other outside bodies, and these are set 
out in the table below. 
 

Page 216



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

79 
 

Description

Expenditure 

incurred by 

Authority 

£000

Income 

received by 

Authority 

£000

Owed by 

Authority 

(Creditors) 

£000

Owed to 

Authority 

(Debtors) 

£000

Companies / voluntary bodies in which 

Members' interests declared

Cwm Taf University Health Board 981 (1,595) (120) 1,112

Voluntary Action Merthyr Tydfil 361 (1) 0 1

Cwm Taf Care & Repair 116 (2) 0 0

Other companies / voluntary bodies in which 

Members' interests declared

340 (31) (9) 3

Companies / voluntary bodies in which 

Officers' interests declared

South Wales Fire & Rescue Authority 0 (3) 0 1

The College of Merthyr Tydfil 139 (43) (9) 9

Other companies / voluntary bodies in which 

Members' interests declared

6 0 0 0

Outside Bodies on which the Authority is 

represented

Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust 3,364 (696) (57) 153

Merthyr Valleys Homes* 152 (199) (32) 467

Safer Merthyr Tydfil 281 (3) (51) 1

Capita Glamorgan Consultancy 28 0 0 0

Citizen Advice Bureau 116 (1) 0 0

Other bodies on which the Authority is 

represented

80 (85) 0 1

In-year Transactions 

2017/18 Balances at 31 March 2018

 
 
*The Authority provided a loan to Merthyr Valleys Homes in the 2014/15 financial year, and the balance 
outstanding at 31 March 2018 is £448,800.00. The Authority is represented on the Board. 
 

Description

Expenditure 

incurred by 

Authority 

£000

Income 

received by 

Authority 

£000

Owed by 

Authority 

(Creditors) 

£000

Owed to 

Authority 

(Debtors) 

£000

Companies / voluntary bodies in which 

Members' interests declared

Cwm Taf University Health Board 993 (1,543) (80) 760

Other companies / voluntary bodies in which 

Members' interests declared

220 (60) (5) 14

Companies / voluntary bodies in which 

Officers' interests declared

South Wales Fire & Rescue Authority 0 (2) 0 0

The College of Merthyr Tydfil 130 (39) (3) 5

Outside Bodies on which the Authority is 

represented

Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust 2,854 (575) (112) 19

Merthyr Valleys Homes* 248 (391) 0 497

Safer Merthyr Tydfil 296 (1) (83) 0

Capita Glamorgan Consultancy 91 0 (3) 0

Other bodies on which the Authority is 

represented

237 (98) (10) 29

In-year Transactions 

2016/17 Balances at 31 March 2017

 

Page 217



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

80 
 

35.0  Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 
 
The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below (including the 
value of assets acquired under finance leases and PFI/PP contracts), together with the resources that 
have been used to finance it. Where capital expenditure is to be financed in future years by charges to 
revenue as assets are used by the Authority, the expenditure results in an increase in the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR), a measure of the capital expenditure incurred historically by the Authority 
that has yet to be financed. The CFR is analysed in the second part of this note. 

 
 

2017/18 2016/17

£'000 £'000

Opening Capital Financing Requirement 96,369 92,418

Capital Investment

Property, Plant and equipment 8,345 9,256

Investment Properties 0 0

Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute 2,737 6,386

Joint Committee Additions 778 137

Sources of finance

Capital receipts (1,353) (1,169)

Government grants and other contributions (2,782) (8,065)

Direct revenue Contributions (306) (191)

Minimum Revenue Provision (2,423) (2,266)

Closing Capital Financing Requirement 101,365 96,506

Explanation of movements in year

Increase in underlying need to borrow (supported by 

government financial assistance) 1,619 1,630

Increase in underlying need to borrow (unsupported by 

government financial assistance) 5,976 4,587

Impact of Joint Committees (176) 137

Minimum Revenue Provision (2,423) (2,266)

Increase/(decrease) in Capital Financing Requirement 4,996 4,088  
 
Minimum Revenue Provision 
Under the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Wales) Regulations 2003, Local 
Authorities are required to charge to their revenue account for each financial year a Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP) to account for the cost of their debt in that financial year. Regulation 21 set 
out the method Authorities were required to follow in calculating MRP. 
 
Under the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Amendment) (Wales) Regulations 
2008, the detailed calculation was replaced with a requirement that local authorities calculate an 
amount of MRP which they consider to be prudent. The broad aim of prudent provision is to ensure 
that debt is repaid over a period reasonably commensurate with that over which the capital 
expenditure provides benefits. 
 
 
 
 

Page 218



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

81 
 

The following has been applied for the 2017/18 accounts in calculating the provision:  
 

 Historic debt liability at 31st March 2007 – charged to revenue over 44 years by the straight 
line method rather than 4% reducing balance method 

 Post 1st April 2007 debt – charged to revenue over the life of the asset 
 

36.0 Leases 
 
Authority as Lessee 
 
Finance Leases 
 
The assets acquired under finance leases are carried as Property, Plant and Equipment in the Balance 
Sheet at the following net amounts. 
   

31st March 

2018

31st March 

2017

£'000 £'000

Other land and Buildings 45 55

Vehicles, Plant, Furniture and 

Equipment

60 99

105 154  
 
The Authority is committed to making minimum payments under these leases comprising settlement of 
the long-term liability for the interest in the property acquired by the Authority and finance costs that will 
be payable by the Authority in future years while the liability remains outstanding. The minimum lease 
payments are made up of the following amounts. 
  

31st March 

2018

31st March 

2017

£'000 £'000

Finance lease liabilities (net 

present value of minimum lease 

payments)

• current (40) (50)

• non-current (23) (52)

Finance costs payable in future 

years

(1) (2)

Minimum lease payments (64) (104)  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 219



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

82 
 

The minimum lease payments will be payable over the following periods. 
  

31st March 

2018

31st March 

2017

31st March 

2018

31st March 

2017

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Not later than one year 41 52 40 50

Later than one year and not later 

than five years

23 52 23 52

Later than five years 0 0 0 0

64 104 63 102

Minimum Lease Payments Finance Lease Liabilities

 
Operating Leases 
 
The Authority has entered into operating leases with lessors for buildings, vehicles and equipment. The 
future minimum annual lease payments due are as follows. 
 

31st March 

2018

31st March 

2017

£'000 £'000

Not later than one year 337 443

Later than one year and not later 

than five years

458 845

Later than five years 45 58

840 1,346   
 
The expenditure charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement during the year in 
relation to these leases was as follows. 
 

2017/18 2016/17

£'000 £'000

Minimum lease payments 597 563

597 563  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 220



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

83 
 

Authority as Lessor 
 
Operating Leases 
 
The Authority has entered into operating leases with lessees for buildings, vehicles and equipment. The 
future minimum annual lease payments due to the Authority are as follows: 

 
  
£37,000 of income was received in 2017/18 (£35,000 in 2016/17) from lease agreements in respect of 
Investment Properties. 
 
37.0 Pension Schemes accounted for as defined contribution schemes 
 
Teachers employed by the Authority are members of the Teachers’ Pension Scheme, administered by 
the Department for Education. The Scheme provides teachers with specified benefits upon their 
retirement, and the authority contributes towards the costs by making contributions based on a 
percentage of members’ pensionable salaries. 
 
The scheme is a multi-employer defined benefit scheme. The Scheme is unfunded and the Department 
for Education uses a notional fund as the basis for calculating the employer’s contribution rate paid by 
local authorities. Valuations are undertaken every four years. The Authority is not able to identify its 
share of the underlying financial position and performance with sufficient reliability for accounting 
purposes, therefore it is accounted for on the same basis as a defined contribution scheme. 
 
In 2017/18 the Authority paid £2,982,000 to the Teachers’ Pensions (£3,007,000 in 2016/17) in respect 
of teachers’ pension costs, which represents 16.48% of teachers’ pay (16.48% in 2016/17).  
 
The Authority is responsible for the costs of any additional benefits awarded upon early retirement 
outside of the terms of the teachers’ scheme. These costs are accounted for on a defined benefit basis 
as detailed in Note 38. 
 
The Authority expects to pay £3.05 million in contributions into the scheme in 2018/19. 
 
 
38.0 Defined Benefit Pension Schemes 
 
 
Participation in Pension Schemes  
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers, the Authority makes contributions 
towards the cost of post-employment benefits. Although these benefits will not actually be payable 
until employees retire, the Authority has a commitment to make the payments for those benefits and 
to disclose them at the time that employees earn their future entitlement.  
 
 

31st March 

2018

31st March 

2017

£'000 £'000

Not later than one year 235 72

Later than one year and not later 

than five years

764 255

Later than five years 826 803

1,825 1,130

Page 221



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

84 
 

The Authority participates in two post-employment schemes:  
 

 The Local Government Pension Scheme, administered locally by Rhondda Cynon Taf County 
Borough Council under the Local Government Pension Scheme regulations– this is a funded 
defined benefit scheme, meaning that the authority and employees pay contributions into a 
fund, calculated at a level intended to balance the pensions liabilities with investment assets. 
On retirement, members receive an annual pension based on their final salary (or career-
average pensionable salary from 1st April 2014) and have the option to take part of their 
pension as a tax-free lump sum. 

 

 Arrangements for the award of discretionary post-retirement benefits upon early retirement 
(Unfunded Teachers’ Discretionary Benefits) – this is an unfunded defined benefit 
arrangement under which liabilities are recognised when awards are made. However, there 
are no investment assets built up to meet these pension liabilities, and cash has to be 
generated to meet actual pensions payments as they eventually fall due.  
 

 The principal risks to the Authority of the scheme are the longevity assumptions, statutory 
changes to the scheme, structural changes to the scheme (i.e. large scale withdrawals from 
the scheme), changes to inflation, bond yields and the performance of the equity investments 
held by the scheme. These are mitigated to a certain extent by the statutory requirements to 
charge the General Fund the amounts required by statute as described in the accounting 
policies note. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 222



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

85 
 

 
Transactions Relating to Post-employment Benefits  
The Authority recognises the cost of retirement benefits in the reported cost of services when they are 
earned by employees, rather than when the benefits are eventually paid as pensions. However, the 
charge we are required to make against council tax is based on the cash payable in the year, so the 
real cost of post-employment / retirement benefits is reversed out of the General Fund via the Movement 
in Reserves Statement. The following transactions have been made in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement and the General Fund Balance via the Movement in Reserves Statement during 
the year. 

2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement

Cost of services:

Service cost comprising

• current service cost 9.74 7.44 0.00 0.00

• past service cost 0.13 0.86 0.00 0.52

• (gain)/loss from settlements 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

• adjustment to pension strain 0.11 (0.37) 0.00 0.00

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure

• Net interest expense 4.10 5.01 0.41 0.51

Total post employment Benefits charged to the 

Surplus or Deficit on provision of services 14.08 12.94 0.41 1.03

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability 

comprising:

• Return on plan assets (excluding the amount 

included in the net interest expense) (5.75) (26.13) 0.00 0.00

• Actuarial gains and losses arising on changes in 

demographic assumptions 0.00 (14.38) 0.00 (0.38)

• Actuarial gains and losses arising on changes in 

financial assumptions 7.01 69.04 0.23 1.69

• Actuarial gains and losses arising on changes in 

experience 2.14 (21.61) 2.58 (0.12)

• Other (0.05) (0.01) 0.00 0.00

Total post employment Benefits charged to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement 17.43 19.85 3.22 2.22

Movement in Reserves Statement

• reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or 

Deficit on the Provision of Services for post 

employment benefits in accordance with the code (14.08) (12.94) (0.41) (1.03)

Actual amount  charged against the General Fund 

Balance for pensions in the year:

Employers contributions payable to scheme 9.82 8.68

Retirement benefits payable to pensioners 0.97 1.00

Local Government 

Pension Scheme 

Discretionary 

Benefits 

Arrangements£m £m

 
 
 
 
 

Page 223



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

86 
 

 
Pensions Assets and Liabilities recognised in the Balance Sheet 
 
The amount included in the Balance Sheet arising from the Authority’s obligation in respect of its defined 
benefit plan is as follows: 
 

2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17

Present Value of the defined benefit 

obligation (409.91) (390.59) (18.68) (16.43)

Fair value of plan assets 239.43 227.62 0.00 0.00

Sub-total (170.48) (162.97) (18.68) (16.43)

Other movements in the liability (asset) (0.16) (0.05) 0.00 0.00

Net liability arising from the defined 

benefit obligation (170.64) (163.02) (18.68) (16.43)

Local Government Discretionary Benefits 

£m £m

 
 
Reconciliation of the Movement in the Fair Value of Scheme (Plan) Assets 
 

2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17

Opening fair value of scheme assets 227.62 195.67 0.00 0.00

Interest Income 5.92 6.65 0.00 0.00

Remeasurement gain/(loss)

• The return on plan assets, excluding the 

amount in the net interest expense 5.75 26.13 0.00 0.00

Contributions from the employer 9.82 8.68 0.97 1.00

Contributions from employees into the 

scheme 1.99 1.98 0.00 0.00

Benefits paid (11.72) (11.96) (0.97) (1.00)

Net increase in assets from 

disposals/acquisitions 0.05 0.47 0.00 0.00

Closing fair value of scheme assets 239.43 227.62 0.00 0.00

Local Government Discretionary Benefits 

£m £m

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 224



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

87 
 

 
Reconciliation of Present Value of the Scheme Liabilities (Defined Benefit Obligation) 
 

2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17

Opening balance at 1 April 390.59 347.10 16.43 15.21

Current Service cost 9.74 7.44 0.00 0.00

Interest Cost 10.03 11.66 0.41 0.51

Contributions from scheme participants 1.99 1.98 0.00 0.00

Remeasurements (gains) and losses

• Actuarial gains and losses arising on 

changes in demographic assumptions 0.00 (14.38) 0.00 (0.38)

• Actuarial gains and losses arising on 

changes in financial assumptions 7.01 69.04 0.23 1.69

• Actuarial gains and losses arising on 

changes in experience 2.14 (21.61) 2.58 (0.12)

Past service cost 0.13 0.86 0.00 0.52

Losses/(gains) on curtailment 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Benefits paid (11.72) (11.96) (0.97) (1.00)

Net increase in assets from 

disposals/acquisitions 0.00 0.46 0.00 0.00

Closing balance at 31 March 409.91 390.59 18.68 16.43

£m £m

 
Local Government Pension Scheme assets comprised 
 

As at 31st 

March 2018

As at 31st 

March 2017

£m £m

Equities 179.10 165.25

Property 12.93 13.43

Government Bonds 20.35 21.40

Corporate Bonds 22.51 22.76

Cash 4.55 4.78

239.44 227.62  
 
 
Basis for Estimating Assets and Liabilities 
 
Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method, an estimate of the 
pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on assumptions about mortality rates, salary 
levels, etc.  
 
Both the Local Government Pension Scheme and Discretionary Benefits and have been assessed by 
Aon Hewitt, an independent firm of actuaries, estimates for the Rhondda Cynon Taf County Council 
Pension Fund being based on the latest full valuation of the scheme as at 31 March 2016. 
 

Page 225



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

88 
 

 
The significant assumptions used by the actuary have been: 
 

2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17

Longevity at 65 at accounting date

Males 22.90 22.80 22.90 22.80

Females 25.00 24.90 25.00 24.90

Longevity at 45 at accounting date

Males 25.10 25.00

Females 27.30 27.20

Discount rate 2.60% 2.60% 2.60% 2.60%

RPI Inflation 3.20% 3.10% 3.20% 3.10%

CPI Inflation 2.10% 2.00% 2.10% 2.00%

Pension increases 2.10% 2.00% 2.10% 2.00%

Pension accounts revaluation rate 2.10% 2.00%

Salary increases 3.35% 3.25%

Local Government Discretionary Benefits 

 
The duration of the defined benefit obligation (i.e. the weighted average of the time until payment of 
future cash flows) for scheme members at 31st March 2018 was calculated by the actuary as 18.6 years 
(18.6 years at 31st March 2017). 
 
The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions set out in the 
table above. The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonably possible 
changes of the assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period and assumes for each change 
that the assumptions remain constant. The assumptions in longevity, for example, assume that life 
expectancy increases or decreases for men and women. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and 
changes in some of the assumptions may be interrelated. The estimations used in the sensitivity 
analysis have followed the accounting policies for the scheme, i.e. on an actuarial basis using the 
projected unit credit method. The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity 
analysis below did not change from those used in the previous period: 
 
 

Increase in 

assumption

Base Figure Decrease in 

assumption

£m £m £m

Discount Rate (increase or decrease by 

0.1%)
402.35 409.91 417.6

Rate of increase in salaries (increase or 

decrease by 0.1%)
411.49 409.91 408.34

Rate of increase in pensions (increase 

or decrease by 0.1%)
416.00 409.91 403.91

Post retirement mortality assumption 

(increase or decrease by 1 year) 422.25 409.91 397.66

Impact on the Defined Benefit Obligation 

in the scheme

 
 
 

Page 226



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

89 
 

Contribution rates are set by the fund’s actuary based on triennial actuarial valuations. The objectives 
of the scheme are to keep employers’ contributions at as constant a rate as possible. The Authority has 
agreed a strategy with the scheme’s actuary to achieve a funding level of 100% of the overall liabilities 
of the fund. The next triennial valuation is due to be completed on 31st March 2019. 
The authority expects to pay £10.38 million contributions into the scheme in 2018/19. 
 
39.0 Contingent liabilities 
 
As at 31st March 2018, the Authority has the following contingent liabilities: 
 

 Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust - Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust has been admitted as a body to the 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council Pension Fund (the Pension Fund). To do this, the 
Authority and the Pension Fund entered into an Admissions Agreement with Merthyr Tydfil 
Leisure Trust so that eligible Leisure Trust employees could access the Pension Scheme. The 
Pension Fund required a guarantee from the Authority to indemnify the Pension Fund against 
the risk of the Trust failing to make contributory payments due under the agreement. This is a 
standard request by administering Authorities, however the likelihood of default is remote. In 
order to mitigate this risk further, the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council has included a 
clause within the Services and Finance Management Agreement to reduce management fee 
payments to the Trust if the situation occurs. 

 
In addition the admission agreement states that any accrued pension liabilities relating to 
scheme members at the transfer date are the Authority’s liability. The Trust is responsible for 
the increase in liabilities post transfer. However it is not possible to reliably measure the value 
of this contingent liability.    

 

 Merthyr Valleys Homes - As part of the legal agreements associated with the transfer of the 
Authority’s Housing Stock to Merthyr Valleys Homes (MVH), a number of warranties and 
indemnities have been provided for a period of 30 years from the transfer date (March 2009), 
covering areas including environmental pollution and asbestos. The limit to claims made 
against these warranties is £15,000 for each property (uprated annually by RPI), with the 
exception of the warranty for environmental pollution and asbestos, where the limits are £40m 
(environmental pollution) and without limit (asbestos). Claims are subject to a de minimis level 
below which the Authority is not liable to reimburse MVH, these being £10,000 generally and 
£3.3m for Asbestos works. Potential liabilities that could arise in respect of environmental 
pollution have been mitigated by means of insurance policies, providing aggregate cover of 
£20m. At this stage, there have been no definite claims associated with the warranties 
provided and it is not possible to determine the extent and value of claims that may arise in the 
future. 
 
 

40.0 Risks Arising from Financial Instruments 
 

 The Authority’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: 
 

 Credit risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the Authority 

 Liquidity risk – the possibility that the Authority might not have funds available to meet its 
commitments to make payments 

 Market risk – the possibility that financial loss might arise for the Authority as a result of 
changes in such measures as interest rates and stock market conditions 

 

Page 227



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

90 
 

The Authority’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets 
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the resources available to fund services. Risk 
management is carried out by Chief Executive’s Directorate, under policies outlined in the Treasury 
Management Policy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy approved by Council annually, prior to 
the commencement of the new financial year. 
 
Credit Risk 
Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to the 
Authority’s customers. This Authority currently relies on information supplied by investment brokers to 
determine the creditworthiness of counterparties. It is the Authority’s policy to deal with only the major 
UK banks and top 25 UK building societies based on total assets. 
 
The Authority’s Treasury Management Policy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 2017/18 
reported to Council on 22rd March 2017 set limits for investments for 2017/18 of: 
 

 £5 million to any one UK Local Authority 

 £5 million to any one UK Bank or Building Society 

 UK Government as required 
 
A Treasury Management In Year Review of the 2017/18 financial year was also reported to Council on 
22nd November 2017. 
 
The Authority does not apply credit ratings to other financial assets, however the following table 
summarises potential exposure to credit risk based on experience of default and uncollectability: 
 
 

2017/18

Description

Balance 

outstanding 

as at 31st 

March 2018

Historic 

Experience 

of Default %

Estimated 

exposure to 

non-

repayment at 

31st March 

2018

Council Tax £4,627k 12.72% £589k

Sundry Debtors £2,725k 1.75% £48k

 
 
 

 

2016/17 

Description

Balance 

outstanding 

as at 31st 

March 2017

Historic 

Experience 

of Default %

Estimated 

exposure to 

non-

repayment at 

31st March 

2017

Council Tax £4,476k 10.26% £459k

Sundry Debtors £2,370k 1.83% £43K

Page 228



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

91 
 

The Authority expects repayment of its general debt within 30 days. However all of the above is past 
this due date and analysed as follows (net of provision):  
 

2017/18

Age of Debt

Council 

Tax £'000

Sundry 

Debts 

£'000

Up to 1 Year: 1,356 2,448

Between 1 & 2 Years: 917 109

Between 2 & 3 Years: 639 87

Between 3 & 4 Years: 420 43

Between 4 & 5 Years: 307 12

Greater than 5 Years: 988 26

Total 4,627 2,725  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2016/17 

Age of Debt

Council 

Tax £'000

Sundry 

Debts 

£'000

Up to 1 Year: 1,401 2,060

Between 1 & 2 Years: 877 164

Between 2 & 3 Years: 551 72

Between 3 & 4 Years: 390 25

Between 4 & 5 Years: 274 10

Greater than 5 Years: 983 39

Total 4,476 2,370

Page 229



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

92 
 

Liquidity Risk 
The Authority has a comprehensive cash flow management system that seeks to ensure that cash is 
available as needed. If unexpected movements happen, the Authority has ready borrowing access to 
borrowings from the money market and the Public Works Loans Board. There is no significant risk that 
the Authority will be unable to raise finance to meet its commitments under financial instruments. 
Instead, the risk is that the Authority will be bound to replenish a significant proportion of its borrowings 
at a time of unfavourable interest rates. The Authority sets limits on the proportion of its fixed borrowings 
during specified periods. The maturity analysis of financial liabilities is as follows: 
 

PWLB LOBO Other Market 

Loans

Total

Less than one year 3,187 0 787 32,025 35,999

Between one and two years 3,187 0 349 0 3,536

Between two and five years 10,198 0 638 0 10,836

More than five years 35,563 12,233 0 0 47,796

52,135 12,233 1,774 32,025 98,167

2017/18

£'000

 
 

PWLB LOBO Other Market 

Loans

Total

Less than one year 2,550 0 781 18,006 21,337

Between one and two years 3,187 0 343 0 3,530

Between two and five years 9,561 0 987 0 10,548

More than five years 39,386 12,236 368 0 51,990

54,684 12,236 2,479 18,006 87,405

2016/17

£'000

 
 
 
All trade and other payables are due to be paid in less than one year. 
 
Market Risk 
 
The Authority could be exposed to significant risk in terms of its exposure to interest rate movements 
on its borrowings and investments. Movements in interest rates have a complex impact on the Authority. 
For instance, a rise in interest rates would have the following effects: 

 Borrowings at variable rates – the interest expense charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services will rise 

 Borrowings at fixed rates – the fair value of the liabilities borrowings will fall 

 Investments at variable rates – the interest income credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services will rise 

 Investments at fixed rates – the fair value of the assets will fall 
 
 
Borrowings are not carried at fair value, so nominal gains and losses on fixed rate borrowings would not 
impact on the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services or other Comprehensive Income and 

Page 230



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

93 
 

Expenditure. However, changes in interest payable and receivable on variable rate borrowings and 
investments will be posted to the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services and affect the General Fund 
Balance.  
 
The Authority’s strategies for managing interest rate risk are set out in the Treasury Management Policy 
and Annual Investment Strategy. All the Public Works Loan Board Loans are fixed rate whereas the £12 
million EuroHypo Bank Loans are variable. In respect of Investments, the Authority invests monies at 
both fixed and variable rate but the risk is minimised since the maximum period of investment is less 
than 1 year. 
 
If the Authority had experienced interest rates at 1% higher than the actual levels, the financial effect 
for 2017/18 would have been as follows: 

£'000

Increase in interest payable on variable rate borrowings 120

Increase in interest payable on variable rate investments 0

Impact on Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services 120
  

 
41.0 Trust Funds 
 
The Authority administers trust funds on behalf of various bodies, since they are not the Authority’s 
property they are not shown in the Balance Sheet. 
 
All Trust Funds are registered with the Charity Commission and the accounting requirements of the 
Charity Commission Statement of recommended Practice are followed where appropriate. 
The funds in question are as follows: 
 

2017/18 Income Expenditure Assets Liabilities

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Education Trust Funds 2 0 114 0

Merthyr Tydfil Prize 0 0 4 0

Total 2 0 118 0

2016/17 Income Expenditure Assets Liabilities

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Education Trust Funds 2 10 110 10

Merthyr Tydfil Prize 0 0 4 0

Total 2 10 114 10  
 
 
Education Trust Funds 
This consists of donations for various educational purposes utilised to encourage further improvement 
in educational attainment. 
 
 
 
 

Page 231



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

94 
 

The balance disclosed above is the total of 12 separate Trust Funds. Two of the largest donations are 
as follows: 
 

David Jones Trust Fund – Balance of £62,388 as at 31st March 2018 
This fund is to support the provision / purchase of resources for the hearing impaired children at four 
schools. 
 
Merthyr Tydfil Further Education Trust Fund – Balance of £30,707 as at 31st March 2018 
This fund is to benefit those who have for not less than two years at any time attended a County 
Secondary School in the area of the former County Borough of Merthyr Tydfil (prior to 1974).  Awards 
are available in the form of:                                                                
                                                           
1. Grants for those attending approved course outside the normal awards scheme, including 

professional and technical courses and;                                                    
2. Financial assistance towards the purchase of outfits, clothing, tools, instruments or books for  
 leaving school or college to assist their entry into a profession, trade or calling.      
 
Merthyr Tydfil Prize 
This Prize has the objectives of the relief of poverty, sickness, distress and helping the aged in the 
County Borough of Merthyr Tydfil. The award is made to a person who, in the opinion of the trustees, 
has made a significant contribution to achieving these objectives. 
 
42.0 Interests in other entities 
 
Associates 
 
Capita Glamorgan Consultancy Ltd is a Joint Venture between Capita Property and Infrastructure 
Limited, Bridgend County Borough Council, Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council and Merthyr 
Tydfil County Borough Council. The Authority owns 6% of the shares of the Company. 

 
The principal activity of the company is the provision of engineering, design and consultancy services, 
primarily in the fields of highways and transportation engineering, project management and construction 
management.  
 
An extract from the latest available financial statements as at 31st December 2016 is detailed below. 
There is a nine month window for auditing the financial statements and the 2017 financial statements 
are expected in October 2018: 

31st December 

2016

31st December 

2015

£'000 £'000

Expenditure

Cost of Sales 2,061 2,085

Administration Expenses 979 837

Total Expenditure 3,040 2,922

Income

Turnover (3,150) (3,118)

Operating Profit (110) (196)

Tax on loss/profit of ordinary activities 27 42

Profit and comprehensive income for the financial year (83) (154)

 

Page 232



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

95 
 

31st December 

2016

31st December 

2015

£'000 £'000

Fixed Assets

Intangible 0 3

Tangible 49 78

49 81

Current Assets

Debtors 687 763

Cash 619 667

1,306 1,430

Current Liabilities

Creditors (408) (648)

Net Current Assets 898 782

Total Assets less Liabilities 947 863

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 0 0

Profit and loss account 947 863

Shareholders' Funds 947 863

 
 
Joint Operations 
 
Under IFRS, the Authority is required to recognise its share of the income and expenditure and assets 
and liabilities in relation to Joint Operations. The Authority had such an arrangement in place with the 
following bodies: 
 

 Glamorgan Archives 

 Llwydcoed Crematorium Joint Committee 

 Central South Consortium Joint Education Service 

 Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Regional Adoption Collaborative 

 Cardiff Capital Region City Deal 
 
Glamorgan Archives 
 
This is a joint committee, created on 11th April 2006, comprising elected member representatives from 
the County Boroughs of Merthyr Tydfil, Bridgend, Cardiff, Rhondda Cynon Taf, Caerphilly and Vale of 
Glamorgan. The Glamorgan Archives Joint Committee provides, maintains, administers and develops 
a joint archives service for its constituent authorities. Merthyr Tydfil’s contribution to the joint 
arrangement is 6%. 
 
The net financial impact on the Authority’s accounts as a result of including Glamorgan Archives’ 
transactions is not considered material and so has not been included within the statement of accounts 
for 2017/18. 
 
The Authority does however include in its Accounts the contribution paid towards the Glamorgan Record 
Office Building. 
 

Page 233



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

96 
 

Llwydcoed Crematorium Joint Committee 
 
Llwydcoed Crematorium is managed and administered by the Llwydcoed Crematorium Joint 
Committee, under powers conferred by the Local Government (Wales) Act 1994. The Joint Committee 
is made up of nine members, five from Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC and four from Merthyr Tydfil CBC. 
Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC became the Host Authority for the Joint Committee in 1996, taking over from 
the Urban District of Aberdare and the County Borough of Merthyr Tydfil. Merthyr Tydfil CBC's share of 
the joint arrangement is 46.6%. 
 
The Authority has included its share of the joint operation within the 2017/18 financial statements. 
 
Central South Consortium Joint Education Service 
 
The Central South Consortium Joint Education Service was created on 1st September 2012 to provide 
a range of school improvement services within the local Authority areas of Bridgend, Cardiff, Merthyr 
Tydfil, Rhondda Cynon Taf and the Vale of Glamorgan. 
 
The Central South Consortium is managed and administered by the Central South Consortium Joint 
Committee, under powers conferred by the Local Government (Wales) Act 1994.  The Joint Committee 
is made up of ten members, two from each Local Authority.  Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC became the Host 
Authority upon formation of the Joint Committee. Merthyr Tydfil CBC's share of the joint arrangement is 
6.68%. 
 
The Authority has included its share of the joint operation within the 2017/18 financial statements. 
 
Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Regional Adoption Collaborative 
 
This is a statutory consortium that all authorities must be party to as set out by Welsh Government and 
the National Adoption Agency. The Collaborative was set up in June 2015. 
 
It is the Authority’s central agency for assessment, matching and placement work regarding adoptions. 
 
The Collaborative consists the Vale of Glamorgan County Council as Lead Authority, Rhondda Cynon 
Taf County Council, Cardiff County Council and Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. 
 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council contribute 11% into the Collaboration. 
 
The net financial impact on the Authority’s accounts as a result of including the Vale, Valleys and Cardiff 
Regional Adoption Collaborative is not considered material and so has not been included within the 
statement of accounts for 2017/18. 
 
Cardiff Capital Region City Deal 
On 1 March 2017 the £1.2 billion Cardiff Capital Region City Deal between the UK Government, the 
Welsh Government and the 10 constituent councils in South East Wales, which includes Merthyr, was 
formally ratified. The investment is over a 20 year period and the key aim of the fund is to create 
25,000 new jobs by 2036 and lever £4 billion of private sector investment.  
 
 
The CCRD Investment Fund comprises two distinct elements:-  

 £734 million – METRO scheme. This will comprise £503 million of Welsh Government 
funding provided over the first seven years from 2016/17 to 2022/23; £106 million from the 
European Development Fund, (which is committed and guaranteed following Brexit by 

Page 234



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

97 
 

both UK and Welsh Governments); and £125 million from UK Government. This element 
will be the sole responsibility of Welsh Government.  

 

 £495 million – Regional Cabinet Fund, comprising the ten constituent councils’ 
commitment to borrow £120 million over the 20 year period of the Investment Fund, 
together with £375 million from the UK Government. This fund will be used for investment 
in infrastructure, housing, skills and training, innovation, business growth and “Metro plus” 
transport proposals. This element will be the responsibility of the CCRD Regional Cabinet. 
The Council will make a 3.9% contribution to the £120 million based on its proportion of 
the regional population.  

 
Merthyr Tydfil CBC's share of the joint arrangement is 3.94%. 
 
The Authority has included its share of the joint operation within the 2017/18 financial statements. 
 
Other Entities 
 
Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust 
 
Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust was set up on the 1st April 2015. The Authority transferred the function of 
providing existing Leisure and Cultural Services within the County Borough to the Trust. The Trust has 
been set up as a Not for Profit Distributing Organisation and is a Charitable Company Limited by 
Guarantee. The Trust is a registered Charity. The Trust is led by a Board of Trustees, which is required 
to be independent of the Authority. The Board Membership is as follows: 

 

 The Chief Executive Officer 

 8 Community Trustees 

 2 Authority Trustees 

 1 Workforce Trustee 

  
Hence the Authority’s representation is below 20%.  
 
During 2017/18 the Trust were paid a management Fee as agreed in a Contractual framework of 
£2,673,000 (£2,435,000 in 2016/17) to run existing services. 
  
Authority facilities are still to be used to provide Leisure Services and have been leased to the Trust 
over a period of 25 years and have been included within disclosures in Note 36 operating leases. 
 
Further details in regards to Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust Pension Fund are disclosed within Note 39 
Contingent Liabilities. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 235



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

98 
 

Glossary of Terms 

 
Accrual  
An accrual is a sum shown in the accounts representing income or expenditure relating to the 
accounting period, which had not actually been received or paid as at the date of the Balance Sheet.  
 
Actuary  
An actuary is an individual or organisation that calculates insurance premiums and liabilities and 
pension obligations.  
 
Amortisation  
The reduction in the value of an intangible asset, which is charged to revenue  
 
Asset Under Construction 
An Asset Under Construction represents an asset that is not yet complete. 
 
Budget  
A budget is the spending plan for a financial year. 
 
Capital Expenditure  
Expenditure on non-current assets that will be used for several years in the provision of services for 
example buildings.  
 
Capital Financing Requirement 
An Authority’s underlying need to borrow for a capital purpose. It measures capital expenditure incurred 
but not yet financed. 
 
Capital Receipt  
Proceeds from the sale of capital assets that can be used to fund new capital expenditure schemes, or 
reduce the underlying need to borrow.  
 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA)  
CIPFA is the professional body responsible for issuing financial guidance to be followed by public sector 
bodies.  
 
Contingent Asset  
A possible asset that arises from a past event but whose existence will only be confirmed after an 
uncertain future event e.g. the outcome of a court case. 
 
Contingent Liability  
A possible financial cost of a past event but which will only be confirmed by the occurrence of one or 
more uncertain future events e.g. the outcome of a legal case.  
 
Creditor  
A creditor is an organisation/individual who is owed money by the Authority for goods/services provided. 
 
Current Assets  
Assets that are short term (less than one year) and are considered to be liquid. 
 
Current Liabilities 
Liabilities that are short term (less than one year). 
 

Page 236



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

99 
 

Debtor  
A debtor is an organisation/individual who owes the Authority for goods/services received. 
 
Depreciation 
A charge made to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to reflect the use of non-
current assets during the year. 
 
Earmarked Reserves 
Amount set aside from the General Fund Balance to fund future expenditure plans. 
 
Fair Value 
The price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at a measurement date. 
 
Financial Instruments  
A financial Instrument arises from a contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a 
financial liability of another. Examples are trade debtors, creditors, investments and borrowings. 
 
Financial Liabilities  
A financial liability is an obligation to transfer economic benefits controlled by the Authority and can be 
represented by a contractual obligation to deliver cash or financial assets e.g. Loans, trade payables 
 
Financial Assets  
A financial asset is a right to future economic benefits controlled by the Authority that is represented 
by cash or other instruments or a contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset e.g. 
loans, trade receivables. 
 
Financial Year 
This is the accounting period that starts on 1 April and finishes on 31 March in the following year.  
 
Finance Leases 
Financing capital assets over a number of years through annual payments to a leasing company.  
 
Heritage Asset - A tangible asset with historical, artistic, scientific, technological, geophysical or 
environmental qualities held and maintained for its contribution to knowledge and culture. 
 
Impairment  
Impairment occurs when the value of a non-current asset changes significantly for example as a result 
of physical damage. 
  
International Accounting Standard (IAS)  
Financial Regulations to be followed as set by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).  
 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)  
International Financial Reporting Standards are produced by the IASB (International Accounting 
Standards Board) with the aim of ensuring consistency within the countries adopting the standards.  
 
Inventories  
Raw materials used in carrying out services, unused items are shown as current assets in the Balance 
Sheet.  
 
Leasing  
A method of financing expenditure for assets through a rental payment over a set period of time.  

Page 237



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

100 
 

Lessee  
The user or renter of the leased asset or property.  
 
Lessor  
The owner of the asset or property that is leased. 
 
Levies 
Charges on the Authority by other public bodies to enable them to cover their costs in the performance 
of their services. 
 
Liability  
An obligation to transfer economic benefits as a result of past transactions or events.  
 
Lender Option Borrower Option Loans (LOBOs) 
Loans to the Authority where the lender can request a change in the rate of interest payable by the 
Authority at predetermined dates. 
 
Long-Term Asset  
Assets that are used in the provision of services (for a period greater than one year).  
 
Market Loans 
Borrowing that is sourced from the market i.e. organisations other than the Public Works Loan Board 
or a Public Sector Body. 
Government Accountancy 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
The charge to revenue for each financial year to account for the cost of the debt in that financial year. 
 
Net Realisable Value 
The selling price of an asset, reduced by the relevant cost of selling it.  
 
Non-Current Assets  
Long term assets to be used for more than one year. 
 
Non-Domestic Rates (NDR)  
The NDR, or Business Rates, is the charge to occupiers of business premises. NDR is set by the Welsh 
Government and is based upon the rateable value of the premises. Amounts collected by the Authority 
are paid into the Pool and are then redistributed amongst all Welsh Authorities on the basis of 
population. 
 
Operating Leases  
Financing for the use of capital assets through annual payments to a leasing company over a number 
of years. The risks and rewards of ownership remain with the leasing company. 
 
Pooled Budget  
A pooled budget is a financial mechanism, in which several organisations pool funding to provide a 
service/goods for a specific function.  
 
Precept 
A demand levied by one public Authority, which is collected on its behalf by another Authority. 
 

Page 238



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

101 
 

Provision  
A provision is an obligation to transfer economic benefits as a result of past events where a reliable 
estimate can be made of the obligation, but the amount or timing of which cannot yet be determined 
accurately.  
 
Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) 
The Public Works Loan Board is a Government Body that provides long term loans to local Authorities.  
 
Recharge 
An internal charge for services rendered by one Council section to another. 
 
Reserves 
Finance set aside to meet future expenditure plans. 
 
Revenue Expenditure funded from Capital Under Statute (REFCUS) 
Expenditure that is capital in nature but that creates no asset for the Authority e.g. Disabled Facility 
Grants. 
 
Revenue Support Grant 
Welsh Government Grant provided to Local Authority towards funding its services. 
 
Trust Funds 
Monies held by the Authority on behalf of individuals or organisations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 239



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

102 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

FINAL                           

 ANNUAL GOVERNANCE 

STATEMENT 

2017/18 
 
 

 
August 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 240



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

103 
 

MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

FINAL ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2017/18 

 

1.  SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY 

 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (the Council) is responsible for ensuring that its 

business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money 

is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively. 

 

The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires the Council to set and publish 

wellbeing objectives and to identify how it will work towards meeting those objectives using 

the sustainable development principle.  Public bodies in Wales must work in a sustainable way 

to achieve the common vision to improve the economic, social, cultural and environmental 

wellbeing of Wales. Therefore, we need to make sure that when we make decisions, we take 

into account the impact they could have on the people living their lives in Merthyr Tydfil now 

and in the future. 

 

Public bodies covered by the Act, including Local Government are required to consider the 

longer term in making their decisions and to work collaboratively with other public bodies to 

improve wellbeing in Wales.  The Act places a wellbeing duty to set wellbeing objectives that 

maximise their contribution to achieving wellbeing goals.  Public bodies’ first wellbeing 

objectives were set and published by 31st March 2017.  Public bodies are required to report 

annually on their progress towards meeting their wellbeing objectives. 
 

The Act also establishes public service boards (PSB’s) for each Local Authority area.  The Cwm Taf Public Services 

Board (PSB) is a collection of public bodies working together to improve the economic, social, 

environmental and cultural well-being of people who live, work and visit the Cwm Taf areas of 

Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr Tydfil.  Each PSB is required to improve the economic, social, 

environmental and cultural well-being of its areas by working to achieve the wellbeing goals.  

PSB’s contribution to achievement of the goals must include preparing and publishing an 

assessment of local wellbeing by May 2017, preparing and publishing a local wellbeing plan by 

May 2018 and preparation of an annual progress report specifying the steps it has taken, since 

publishing its most recent local well-being plan, to meet the objectives set out in the plan. 

 

The Act is central to the Welsh Government’s long-term policy for the public services and its 

themes tie in with the International Framework: Good Governance in the Public Sector (CIPFA 

– the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy/IFAC – International Federation of 

Accountants, 2014), on which the Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: 

Framework (CIPFA/SOLACE – the Society of Local Authority Chief Executives and Senior 

Managers, 2016) is based. 

 

Page 241



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

104 
 

In discharging this overall responsibility, the Council is responsible for putting in place proper 

arrangements for the governance of its affairs, and facilitating the effective exercise of its 

functions, which includes arrangements for the management of risk. 

 

Guidance has been issued called Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework 

(CIPFA/SOLACE, 2016) and applies to annual governance statements prepared for the financial 

year 2016/17 onwards. 

 

The Council has a Local Code of Corporate Governance in place.  This is currently being 

reviewed to determine what changes may be necessary to reflect the requirements of 

Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (CIPFA/SOLACE, 2016). 

 

This Annual Governance Statement explains how the Council has complied with the 

CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) and also 

meets the requirements of Part 2 of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.   

 

2.  THE PURPOSE OF THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 

 

Governance is about how local government bodies ensure that they are doing the right things, 

in the right way, for the right people, in a timely, inclusive, open, honest and accountable 

manner.  

A governance framework comprises the systems and processes, and culture and values, by 

which the Council and its activities are directed and controlled.  It also embodies the way in 

which it accounts to, engages with, and leads the community.  It enables the Council to monitor 

the delivery of its wellbeing objectives and priorities and to consider whether this has led to 

improved outcomes for the citizen.  The system of internal control is a significant part of that 

framework and is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level.  It cannot eliminate all risk of 

failure to achieve policies or deliver its objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable 

and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.  

 

The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and 

prioritise the risks to the achievement of the Council’s policies, wellbeing objectives and 

priorities.  It also evaluates the likelihood of those risks being realised and the associated impact 

should they occur, and identifies how the risks will be managed.  

 

The Council has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of 

its governance framework including the system of internal control.  The review of effectiveness 

is informed by the work conducted by external agencies and internal arrangements, including 

performance management arrangements. 

 

Page 242



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

105 
 

A governance framework has been in place at the Council for the year ended 31st March 2018 

and up to the date of approval of the Annual Governance Statement and Statement of 

Accounts. 

 

 

3.  THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 

 

The following is a description of the structures and processes that comprise the Council’s 

governance arrangements including arrangements for:   

 

a) Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and 

respecting the rule of law. 

 

All Councillors and Officers in the Council are required to comply with the relevant Codes of 

Conduct as set out in the Constitution, which details the particular roles and responsibilities of 

Councillors and Officers.   

 

The Code of Conduct and Declaration of Interests form part of the Councillor’s Induction 

Process.   Councillors are expected to declare to an appropriate Director or Manager and in the 

Register of Interests any financial/non-financial interests which could conflict the Council’s 

interests. Councillors must also declare any offers/ acceptance of hospitality.  

 

The Council has confirmed a number of Core Values and associated behaviours: 

 

 Honesty & Openness 

 Trust & Respect  

 Accountability 

 Learning 

 Aspiration 

 Team Working 

 Communication 

 

The Council has formed a Standards Committee to promote and maintain high ethical 

principles and these are enshrined within the Code of Conduct for Councillors.  All Councillors 

have to agree to follow the Code of Conduct to ensure high standards in the way they 

undertake their duties. The Standards Committee is responsible for training and advising 

Councillors on the Code of Conduct. 

 

All new starters within the Council are provided with a Staff Handbook which provides a 

summary of the Council’s relevant policies and working practices.  Included within the 

Handbook is a summary of the Employee Code of Conduct. The complete Employee Code of 

Conduct is also available on the Council’s Intranet site.   

Page 243



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

106 
 

 

The Head of Legal and Democratic Services is the Monitoring Officer for the Council, with the 

specific responsibility for ensuring that the Council, its Officers and its Councillors maintain the 

highest standards of conduct in all they do as per Section 5 of The Local Government and 

Housing Act 1989 and as amended by schedule 5 paragraph 24 of the Local Government Act 

2000. 

The functions of the Monitoring Officer include support to the Standards Committee in its 

promotion of high standards; acting on Ombudsman reports; and conducting investigations 

into certain categories of complaints against councillors remitted by the Ombudsman.  Any 

complaints received against Councillors are referred to the Ombudsman for investigation.  

Complaints are only referred to the Standards Committee if the Ombudsman felt there was an 

appropriate outcome to do so.  In 2017/18, a total of 8 complaints made against Councillors 

were referred to the Ombudsman for investigation.  All complaints received were dismissed 

with the exception of 1 complaint which remains under investigation.  In 2017/18, there were 

no complaints referred to the Standards Committee.   

 

An updated induction process has been implemented for all newly elected Councillors.  This 

includes a list of obligatory training sessions for the elected Councillors to attend.  All elected 

Councillors were required to attend obligatory training with regards to Councillors Code of 

Conduct, Standards and Ethics and the role of Councillors in Planning Committee and Data 

Protection.  Other training offered during the first phase of induction included: 

 

 Introduction to Scrutiny 

 Wellbeing and Future Generations (Wales) Act 

 Equalities, Welsh Language and Risk Management 

 Health and Safety (including the Council’s Lone Worker Facility) 

 Social Media 

 Licensing Committee 

 

Including the obligatory sessions referred to above, a total of 34 training events were offered 

during the first six months which resulted in an overall attendance of 52%.  A breakdown of 

individual Councillors’ attendance is recorded and monitored.  In 2018, every elected Councillor 

will be subject to an individual Training Needs Analysis, and asked if there is any specific 

training required to assist with their continued learning and development.  This process will 

help Councillors identify their key strengths, consider their continued development needs and 

what support may be required to meet their personal objectives and deliver the Council’s 

corporate vision.    

 

Cabinet members are actively involved in reviewing the Council's core values to underpin all 

Council business. 

 

Page 244



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

107 
 

Senior Managers have undertaken a range of courses under the banner of the Managers 

Academy to ensure skills and knowledge are updated and refreshed.    

 

The Council’s Procurement Strategy requires that all procurement activity will be undertaken 

to the highest standards of probity and professionalism and that Councillors and Officers will 

be fair and ethical and will avoid conduct that may contradict this or suggest a conflict of 

interest.  

 

The Procurement Team will comply with the CIPS (Chartered Institute of Procurement and 

Supply) code of ethics and promote this throughout the Council to all members of staff that 

have a responsibility to commit expenditure. 

 

To support the management of risk, Key Partners are identified within each of the Councils Risk 

Registers.  The Council has developed an Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) which 

incorporates the Council's Wellbeing Objectives, the Sustainable Development principle (the 

five ways of working), Welsh Language, Equalities and Biodiversity, to support effective decision 

making and ensuring compliance with other pieces of legislation that the Council is subject to. 

This has been applied to business cases and projects as part of the Councils project 

management framework.  The IIA is due to be introduced for Council & Cabinet Reports during 

2018/19. 

 

The Council operates an in-house Internal Audit Service that is compliant with the Public Sector 

Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS). The Internal Audit Service undertakes a comprehensive annual 

programme of work based upon a risk assessed plan.  

 

The Council is a participant in the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) and the work of Internal Audit 

includes processing the National Fraud Initiative data matches and other relevant work. 

 

The Council has an operating and effective Audit Committee that is compliant with the Local 

Government Measure (Wales) 2011 and the Accounts and Audit Regulations (Wales) 2014. The 

Committee Terms of Reference are compliant with best practice guidance. The Council's 

External Auditors undertake a comprehensive annual programme of work that they report on.   

 

The Council's Financial Procedure Rules and Constitution documents contain guidance and 

instruction for staff and also detail the arrangements in place. 

 

The Council has an Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy in place. This is currently being reviewed 

to ensure it remains up-to-date and effective.   

 

The Council has a Whistleblowing Policy in place encouraging staff to raise any concerns they 

may have regarding malpractice within the Council.  In 2017/18 there were no complaints made 

Page 245



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

108 
 

under the Whistleblowing Policy. The Policy is periodically publicised to remind staff about 

making referrals if the need be.   

  

Page 246



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

109 
 

b) Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement. 

 

A series of new engagement and consultation activities have been adopted by the Council in 

compliance with the Consultation Charter.  Consultation and engagement is one of the main 

tools the Council uses to inform and understand the opinions and views of local residents, 

customers and other stakeholders within the County Borough. The Council has developed a 

Communications, Consultation and Engagement Strategy which applies to all work streams 

that require engagement and consultation activities.  In line with the Communications, 

Consultation and Engagement Strategy, the Council is continually reviewing their 

communication and engagement channels.  These include:  

 

 Contact Magazine  Council’s Website 

 Council’s internal Intranet  Electronic Signage Facilities  

 Use of local, regional and national 

media 

 Use of service users for planning 

groups 

 Chief Executive’s Core brief 

 Social Media including Facebook 

and Twitter 

 

 Improved telecommunication access 

channels 

 Specific consultation on change 

programmes e.g. Chief Executive 

Information Sessions, Chief Executives 

Blog 

 Face to face engagement session such 

as drop in sessions and  roadshows 

 

The public were engaged as part of the process to undertake the Wellbeing Assessment to 

inform the Wellbeing Plan on behalf of the Public Services Board (PSB) and further engagement 

and consultation was undertaken to inform the Council’s Wellbeing Statement and objectives 

linked to the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act. 

 

There are clear channels of communication in place corporately for all consultation and 

engagement activity.  This is done through the Cwm Taf Engagement Hub, Council’s website 

(www.merthyr.gov.uk), social media sites and the Contact Community magazine.  It addition to 

this, there is a citizen panel for Merthyr Tydfil and a combined panel with Rhondda Cynon Taff 

CBC to ensure that the Council is consulting and engaging with all sections of the community.   

 

Responsibility for consultation and engagement sits with the Corporate Communications and 

Consultation Team within the Council.   

 

The Council has also confirmed a number of Core Values and associated behaviours including 

Honesty and Openness, and Communication.  

 

The Council is proactive with all consultation and engagement across the Cwm Taf Footprint 

through closer partnership working via the Strategic and Practitioners Public Engagement 

Group meetings.  The level of engagement has improved significantly through the Public 

Page 247



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

110 
 

Service Board Cwm Taf footprint with the launch of the Cwm Taf portal.  Internally, the Council 

has developed more robust consultation and engagement processes and procedures through 

working with an accredited Consultation and Engagement Consultant. 

 

Regular progress updates are provided on all communication and consultation activity 

internally through Corporate Management Team, Senior Leadership Team, Communications 

and Consultation Sub Group, the Change Programme Steering Group and the Change 

Programme Board.  Progress on certain consultation exercises are also communicated back to 

the Cwm Taf Public Engagement Group. 

 

The Public Service Board represents a statutory partnership of public and voluntary sector 

organisations.  Wide ranging consultation was undertaken during the development of the Cwm 

Taf Wellbeing Assessment and the development of the Cwm Taf Wellbeing Plan. 

 

To support the work of the Wellbeing Plan, an Involvement, Communication and Engagement 

Group (ICE) has been set - up as part of the Public Service Board.  A Communication, 

Consultation and Engagement Strategy has been developed to ensure that the work of the PSB 

is understood and its aim of changing the way we serve the public. 

 

In preparing the Wellbeing Assessment the PSB talked to hundreds of people who live, work 

and use public services across the Cwm Taf area, community groups and members of our 

communities who wanted to have their say. The findings from the Assessment were used to 

help start a more detailed work to find out what was important to communities and what can 

be done to improve people’s well-being. The Wellbeing Assessment will be used across public 

services to inform design and delivery of services. To ensure that everyone is able to work 

together to improve well-being in Cwm Taf, the Public Services Board is supported in 

engagement and communications by officers from PSB member organisations. 

 

All Council agendas, reports and minutes are available on the Council’s website as they are 

published and Full Council and Planning Committee meetings are webcast.  Consideration is 

currently being given to webcasting Scrutiny Committees.  Further to this, all agendas are 

published in both the Welsh and English language.  

 

The Council operates a corporate complaints policy and a social services complaints policy to 

ensure it effectively deals with any concerns or complaints customers may have about services 

provided by the Council.  

 

The Council adopts a positive attitude towards complaints and views them as a valuable form 

of feedback, which assists in the development and improvement of services.  Complaints also 

provide an opportunity to learn lessons where a service has fallen short of an expected 

standard.  

 

Page 248



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

111 
 

In 2017/18, a total of 237 corporate complaints were received against the Council; 86 

complaints were upheld, 104 were not upheld, 27 were partly upheld and 20 complaints were 

not progressed for a variety of reasons.  Corporate complaints are not currently being reported 

to Cabinet.  

 

The Council is required by the Social Services Complaints Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 

and the Representations Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 to produce an Annual Report 

about the operation of their Social Services Complaints, Representations and Compliments 

policy and procedures.  The report in relation to complaints received during 2017/18 will be 

presented to Cabinet in September 2018. 

 

 

c) Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental 

benefits. 

 

The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires the Council to set and publish 

wellbeing objectives and to identify how it will work towards meeting those objectives using 

the sustainable development principle. Public bodies in Wales must work in a sustainable way 

to achieve the common vision to improve the economic, social, cultural and environmental 

wellbeing of Wales. Therefore, we need to make sure that when we make decisions, we take 

into account the impact they could have on the people living their lives in Merthyr Tydfil now 

and in the future. 

 

Public bodies covered by the Act, including Local Government are required to consider the 

longer term in making their decisions and to work collaboratively with other public bodies to 

improve wellbeing in Wales.  The Act places a wellbeing duty to set wellbeing objectives that 

maximise their contribution to achieving wellbeing goals.  Public bodies’ first wellbeing 

objectives were set and published by 31st March 2017.  Public bodies are required to report 

annually on their progress towards meeting their Wellbeing Objectives. 

 

The Council has an approved vision that is at the heart of delivering the local Wellbeing 

Objectives and PSB objectives.  This aligns with the seven Wellbeing Goals and Five Ways of 

Working (Long Term; Preventative; Integration; Involvement; Collaboration).  The Council also 

has a Statement of Wellbeing and a Focus on the Future document that sets out the local 

Wellbeing Objectives.  A PSB Wellbeing Plan has been developed.  There are strategies for each 

Wellbeing Objective underneath the vision with appropriate performance indicators identified.  

An extensive exercise has been carried out when developing the local Wellbeing objectives and 

PSB objectives.  This is reflected in the PSB Wellbeing Plan and MTCBC Wellbeing Statement 

and Focus on the Future documents.  The same approach is taken to change projects and 

budget setting.  This is then used in setting budgets and local Wellbeing objectives. 

 

Page 249



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

112 
 

For openness and transparency, information supporting all engagement and public 

consultations, is available on the Council's communication channels i.e. Council website, social 

media sites, Facebook and Twitter and via the Cwmtaf Hub.  Stakeholders can access these 

channels to feedback in response to any engagement session or public consultation with the 

opportunity to also respond via a paper copy, email or a petition.  All information will be 

recorded and analysed by the Corporate Communications Team, the outcome of which will be 

forwarded to Senior Managers and Politicians at Corporate Management Team and Corporate 

Leadership Team for consideration.  Following this, a report will be presented to Full Council 

with a recommendation for Council to approve.  The outcome and the impact of the decision 

made will be reported via the Council's communication channels. 

 

Performance is monitored through self-assessment and performance challenge. Service 

performance is also challenged at scrutiny committee meetings.   

 

The Council has a Corporate Risk Register in place which is an essential part of the Council's 

corporate governance arrangements.  The Corporate Risk Register is a risk register which allows 

the Council to focus on managing and mitigating the most significant corporate risks that could 

impact on the organisation and/or community.  

 

The Council’s updated Corporate Risk Register is presented to Audit Committee and Cabinet 

for approval, along with an Annual Report on risk management. Reporting on risk management 

is an integral part of the Council’s risk governance arrangements. Lead Corporate Management 

Team Officers are invited to attend Audit Committee on a rolling programme basis to report 

on progress in managing their Corporate Risks. 

  

Budget consultation exercises are held throughout the County Borough in evaluating customer 

priorities for the allocation of scarce resources. These take the form of Cabinet roadshows, on-

line surveys and social media engagement.  In addition the customer's opinion on Council Tax 

increases in supporting local services is also sought.  This engagement assists in informing the 

Budget Setting process and also informs the customer of the financial pressures faced by the 

Council in allocation of resources to competing demands.  Business cases are developed and 

challenged using the seven Wellbeing Goals, Five Ways of Working, regional Wellbeing 

Objectives and local Wellbeing Objectives.   

 

Extensive public engagement processes are in place, these include managing expectations.  

This is also true for internal change.  Business cases, project initiation documentation and 

delivery reports include assessments against determining priorities and making the best use of 

the resources available.   

 

The Capital Programme is compiled for a four year period based on proposals submitted by 

Chief Officers/Senior Managers, supported by Cabinet and approved by Council.  Revenue 

implications of capital decisions are included as part of an integrated Medium Term Financial 

Page 250



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

113 
 

Plan, for example capital financing cost implications of borrowing to support the capital 

expenditure. A significant proportion of capital expenditure is funded through external grants 

received from a number of external awarding bodies which are subject to rigorous prescriptive 

terms and conditions. 

 

The Welsh Procurement Policy Statement is a key driver for procurement activity.  The Council’s 

Procurement Board is driving the application of economic, social and environmental impacts 

of procurement related activity. Community benefits are tested on all contracts over £1mllion. 

The Council collaborates with other public bodies extensively across the procurement portfolio 

and the procurement strategy supports the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

including supplier engagement. Open accessible competition is provided through e-

procurement tools funded by Welsh Government (Sell2wales, etenderwales, AWARD, 

marketplace), and simplified standardised process are provided through P2P. 

 

When inviting tenders, the process ensures that the most advantageous tender is approved 

and stipulates conditions in respect of complying with the Council's wellbeing objectives and 

the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 as appropriate.   

 

In terms of ensuring fair access to services the Council has adopted a Strategic Equality Plan 

(SEP) for 2016-2020 in line with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010.   The SEP sets out 

the following Equalities Vision for Merthyr Tydfil: 

 

"A place where diversity is valued and respected and everyone can participate, flourish and have 

the opportunity to fulfil their potential free from discrimination and prejudice." 

 

This Vision is supported by the following four Equality Objectives that are set out in the Plan: 

 

 Equality Objective 1 - Community Engagement: 

Put citizens’ voices at the heart of local decision making so that their contribution is 

understood, recognised and used to help the Council understand and respond to the 

needs of its communities. 

 Equality Objective 2 - Equality Awareness Raising: 

To support and facilitate Equalities training and learning opportunities so that staff at 

all levels, Councillors and partners recognise and incorporate Equalities as part of their 

role. 

 Equality Objective 3 - Understanding our Staff and Communities:  

Develop robust monitoring systems to collect, collate, monitor and publish equalities 

data on our employees and customers, which will help the Council to ensure that it 

provides fair and accessible services. 

 Equality Objective 4 - Gender/Equal Pay: 

Ensure equity of pay across Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. 

 

Page 251



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

114 
 

The Council publishes an Annual Equality Report noting progress across all aspects of its 

equalities work, including progress on delivering its Equality Objectives in line with the Public 

Sector Equality Duty. 

 

The Council has approved its Welsh Language Promotional Strategy. The Strategy sets out the 

following Welsh language Vision for Merthyr Tydfil:  

“A place which promotes the use of the Welsh language and treats the Welsh and English 

languages on the basis of equality”. 

 

This will be achieved by enabling and encouraging: 

 The broad provision of Welsh language education throughout the County Borough. 

 The opportunities for people to use Welsh at work, at home and at play. 

 The perception of languages as life skills, which enriches the lives of those who use 

them. 

 People throughout the County Borough to feel pride in their language, and confidence 

to use it. 

 

It is the Council’s vision to encourage a cultural change in the way that the two languages of 

Wales are perceived in this County Borough. “We want to make a difference." 

 

d) Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the 

intended outcomes. 

 

The delivery of corporate change is monitored and supported via the Change Management 

Steering Group as part of the procurement framework and governance arrangements.  This 

group comprises of professionals from across the Council, e.g. Legal, Procurement, Risk, 

Equalities, Performance, Finance, Corporate Communications, HR, Business Change and Project 

Management (as part of the procurement framework and governance arrangements).  

Following delivery, the Budget Board monitors the financial position.  Performance is monitored 

through self-assessment and performance challenge (however this is not across all service areas 

due to the timeline for development of the Focus on the Future Wellbeing plan).  Service 

performance is also challenged at Scrutiny Committee meetings.  

 

The challenge of documents is carried out by various relevant Boards as part of the governance 

arrangements.  All reports to Cabinet and Council require an Equalities Impact Assessment.  The 

challenge against the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 is done as part of this 

process.   

 

The Council has a project management framework that assesses risk, resources and finance (as 

well as other elements of the proposal).  The business case template sets out each option for 

appraisal.  The project initiation documentation sets out timescales and additional information 

as required.   

Page 252



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

115 
 

 

Corporate Management Team assess reports prior to Cabinet and Council with feedback from 

documentation and Boards being available.   

 

In addressing budget reduction requirements business cases consist of a number of options 

complete with risk and equality assessments and projected timelines for achievement. 

 

Feedback from any public engagement and consultation process including Budget 

Consultation is analysed by the Communication, Consultation and Engagement Department 

and a report of the findings will be considered by Corporate Management Team and Cabinet 

members.  Following this an additional report will be presented to Full Council for a decision 

to be made.  The outcome of this decision will be communicated to all stakeholders via the 

Council's communication channels i.e. Council website, Social media sites and Contact 

community magazine. 

 

On request from our residents, additional information and events are held with support from 

the Council's Cabinet. 

 

Internal engagement with staff is undertaken via the Council's Intranet, Chief Executive’s Blogs, 

Roadshows, staff emails and staff forums. 

 

Planning and control cycles that cover strategic and operational plans, priorities and targets 

have been established. These are currently delivered as part of Corporate Management Team 

and Scrutiny functions.  Education and Social Services have additional control cycles to meet 

external requirements (including safeguarding protocols).   

 

Appropriate local performance indicators (as well as relevant statutory or other national 

performance indicators) are used to identify how the performance of services and projects are 

to be measured.  

 

As part of the Strategy on a Page Development a full review of Performance, Scrutiny, 

Partnerships, Welsh Language, Business Change, Risk and Equalities Team has taken place to 

ensure capacity exists to generate the information required to review service quality regularly. 

 

The Medium Term Financial Plan aids financial planning and corporate decision making and is 

integrated with the Council’s Wellbeing Objectives, Asset Management Plan, Strategic 

Workforce Plan, Financial Context, Revenue Budget, Capital Programme, Reserves Strategy and 

Treasury Management Policy. 

 

The Council's Medium Term Financial Plan is for a four year period integrating revenue 

expenditure and capital plans linked to strategic objectives. The Capital Programme is set for 

four years. Four year budget requirement projections are compiled for revenue indicating 

Page 253



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

116 
 

projected budget deficits for years two to four.  In determining affordability of the Council's 

plans, the Medium Term Financial Plan is compiled on the basis of projected funding received 

from Welsh Government. This informs the amount of available resources for Council services in 

defining the affordability envelope. 

 

Professionally qualified and part qualified Accountants work with Service Managers in 

establishing budget requirements and identifying the impact of proposed budget reductions. 

Timelines are communicated along with expectations. The Medium Term Financial Plan marries 

capital ambitions with revenue implications over the four year period of the plan. 

 

Although the Medium Term Financial Plan currently only indicates projected budget deficits 

for year’s two to four, a sensitivity analysis in respect of Welsh Government Funding and Council 

Tax increases allow the impact of changes in the external environment to be determined.  This 

provides further meaningful information to the decision maker. 

 

e) Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the 

individuals within it. 

 

Operations, performance and use of assets are reviewed on a regular basis to ensure their 

continuing effectiveness. 

 

Delivery of corporate change is monitored and supported by the Change Management 

Steering Group as part of the procurement framework and governance arrangements. 

Following delivery of change, the Budget Board monitors the financial position. Performance is 

monitored through self-assessment and performance challenge. Service performance is also 

challenged at Scrutiny Committee meetings.  

 

The Corporate Asset Management Plan (2014-19) sets out the Councils five year plan for 

managing its assets. This is reviewed regularly to ensure that the property portfolio is closely 

aligned to service requirements and corporate priorities. There is a robust property review 

exercise in place which analyses service requirements recommending property rationalisation 

where appropriate and delivers on the release of surplus property to fund the capital 

programme. 

 

Assets surplus to requirements are continuously reviewed and recommended for sale where 

appropriate. 

 

Benchmarking and horizon scanning techniques are used in the development of strategies and 

business cases for change.  Benchmarking with other Local Authorities, Public Sector and 

Private Sector is undertaken where appropriate when budget saving proposals are presented. 

In addition benchmarking information is used in supporting the 'Income Management and Cost 

Recovery Policy' to assist in evaluating the extent to which services with an income stream are 

Page 254



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

117 
 

recovering costs. This then informs proposals for increases in fees and charges. Benchmarking 

is also utilised to assess Value for Money of Council Services, for example educational 

attainment. 

 

In terms of effective operation of partnerships the Council has a Risk Category Checklist as part 

of its risk identification process.  The Checklist includes the following in relation to partnership 

related risks: 

 

 Consideration  of, for example,  the impact of working with private and/or public sector 

organisations, accountability frameworks and partnership boundaries, large-scale 

projects with joint ventures, outsourced services, relationship management, change 

control/exit strategies, business continuity and contractual liabilities. 

 

The updated Checklist also forms part of the Council's revised Project Management Framework.   

 

The Council has developed an Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) which incorporates the 

Council's Wellbeing Objectives, the Sustainable Development principle (the five ways of 

working), Welsh Language, Equalities and Biodiversity, to support effective decision making 

and ensuring compliance with other pieces of legislation that the Council is subject to.  

 

The IIA also includes partnership risk as part of the five ways of working. The IIA asks the 

following under Collaboration (Actively working together with other partners (internal and 

external) to deliver wellbeing objectives):  

 

•  Do partners identify, understand and manage their role in the partnership in the most 

appropriate way – identifying factors which influence the success of the partnership 

and the relationships, identifying the risks, what might go wrong, what might prevent 

the partnership from achieving its objectives and outcomes?  

 

•  Have the risks associated with creating, establishing, managing and delivering 

successful partnerships been identified and are being managed? Examples of some of 

the risks that could be considered include financial, legal, reputation, resource conflicts, 

reliance on a particular partner, how well other partners are managing risk. 

 

This has been applied to business cases and projects as part of the Councils project 

management framework.  The IIA is due to be introduced for Council & Cabinet Reports during 

2018/19. 

 

Political Leaders are aware of the political balance rules and senior salary limitations relating to 

committee membership and they work together to ensure that nominations are made to cover 

all seats on committees, on outside bodies and partnership boards. 

 

Page 255



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

118 
 

With a large number of new Councillors in 2017 there has been intensive work between Senior 

Councillors and Officers to facilitate understanding of roles and the functioning of the 

organisation. 

 

Induction and new Councillor training has taken place together with close working between 

Corporate Management Team and Cabinet including a number of joint meetings being held.   

 

The accountability of the role of Member Champions has been clarified and they will be 

required to report back on the work that they have been involved with and how it has impacted 

the Council's vision and wellbeing objectives.   

 

The Leader and Chief Executive have defined and distinctive leadership roles that are set out in 

a number of areas in the Council's Constitution. This area is being reviewed owing to the 

appointment of new Councillors and the need to more clearly define and distinguish between 

the respective roles and responsibilities. 

 

Senior Managers have undertaken a range of courses under the banner of the externally 

facilitated Managers Academy to ensure skills and knowledge are updated and refreshed.  This 

has allowed the creation of new networks through coaching and action learning sets.   

 

A Strategic Workforce Plan is in place based on a combination of internal and external 

performance measures.  This is currently in the process of being updated alongside the creation 

of Departmental Workforce Plans to support Strategies on a Page and Service Strategies. This 

will be submitted to Council in the near future together with a new Organisational Development 

Strategy. 

 

A performance management system has been in place and this has been reviewed with an 

updated performance management appraisal system called Focus on Performance having 

recently been launched. Workshops have been arranged to discuss new templates and how to 

ensure that personal development plans to capture training and development needs are 

included. 

 

There are a number of health and safety policies in place to help maintain the health and 

wellbeing of the workforce, along with supporting staff in maintaining their own physical and 

mental wellbeing. These policies include: 

 

 Corporate Health & Safety Policy 

 Risk Assessment Policy,  

 Workplace Stress Policy,  

 Manual Handling Policy,  

 First Aid Policy,  

 Display Screen Equipment Policy,  

Page 256



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

119 
 

 Hand Arm Vibration Policy, Noise at Work Policy.   

 

Out of a total of 22 local authorities in Wales, the Council has the lowest percentage of Sickness 

Absence.  In addition, Merthyr Tydfil is the only Council to have commissioned a bespoke 

annual Stress at Work survey. 

 

Occupational Health support is available to all staff including assessments by trained medical 

personnel, access to counselling, and workplace/workstation adaptations to comply with 

disability legislation and requirements. 

 

f) Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public 

financial management. 

 

A Self-Assessment of the Council’s Risk Management arrangements has been undertaken to 

establish the Council’s level of risk maturity. The Council’s level of Risk Maturity was assessed 

as:  

 

 Risk Management is working and embedded in the organisation  

 

The Wales Audit Office (WAO) has published a National Summary Report in 2017 setting out 

how Councils in Wales are dealing with service change. Several positive examples from Merthyr 

Tydfil County Borough Council are highlighted in the report.  These include the Council’s 

continued work to refine its arrangements through self-review. It also highlights the work that 

the Council has done in restructuring its risk register to reflect the requirements of the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

 

The Council has a Corporate Risk Register & Chief Officer and Service Area Risk Registers in 

place. These Risk Registers capture and report on the management of risks and issues that 

could impact on: 

 Delivering the Council’s Wellbeing Objectives. 

 The wellbeing of our communities and future generations. 

 The organisation (MTCBC). 

 

The Council also has an established Equality Impact Assessment process in place enabling 

report authors to identify any threats (negative impacts) and/or opportunities (positive impacts) 

associated with proposals in Council and Cabinet reports that could impact on Protected 

Groups, in line with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010. 

 

Risk Management is a key element of the Council’s Project Management Framework to ensure 

that it is incorporated into all levels of programmes and projects across the Council. Risk 

Management continues to be an integral part of the Council’s Change Programme. This 

Page 257



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

120 
 

includes having a Programme Risk and Issue Log in place that is monitored and reported on a 

quarterly basis. 

 

As part of the Council’s Scrutiny Work Programme, risks and issues together with the related 

risk mitigation are monitored and reported in the Wellbeing Plan Reports.  These are presented 

to the respective Scrutiny Committees in line with the Council’s Wellbeing Plan. 

 

Risk Management is an integral part of the Councils Procurement Toolkit which helps service 

departments and staff when procuring goods and services. It assists Procurement to manage 

stakeholder expectations, and facilitate outcomes that are within the risk tolerance of the 

Council.  

 

The Council has an approved Risk Management Strategy that includes a Corporate Risk 

Management Policy Statement.  The Risk Management Policy and Strategy is reviewed annually 

to ensure that it continues to provide an effective process for the systematic identification and 

management of risk within the Council which will ensure that the objectives of the Council’s 

Risk Management Policy are realised. 

 

Each Corporate Risk is allocated to a Portfolio Member, Lead Corporate Management Team 

Officer and Lead Officers to ensure that there are clear lines of responsibility and awareness at 

all levels of the Council.  

 

To support the management of each Corporate Risk, Team Members and Key Partners are also 

identified within the Corporate Risk Register. 

 

Within the Chief Officer and Service Area Risk Registers each risk/issue is allocated to a Risk 

Owner, Team Members and Key Partners.  The risks/issues in the Change Management 

Programme Risk Log have been allocated to the Senior Responsible Officer. 

 

The Budget Board, which includes the Leader of the Council, Cabinet Member for Governance 

and Corporate Services, Chief Executive (Chair), Deputy Chief Executive and Chief Finance 

Officer, meet on a monthly basis to scrutinise service performance against budgets.  Where 

financial issues exist, Chief Officers, with Cabinet Members are invited to Budget Board to 

provide explanations and potential solutions. Cabinet formally consider Budget Monitoring 

statements on a quarterly basis. 

 

Detailed reports and analysis are provided to Councillors to support decision making along 

with appropriate advice and discussion. 

 

Councillors are provided with electronic access to committee papers as they are published and 

receive ongoing statutory and non-statutory training to support them in their role as decision 

makers.  

Page 258



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

121 
 

 

Business cases in supporting budget reduction proposals provide rationale for options 

presented and recommendations made and include where appropriate benchmarking 

information, risk and equalities assessments. These are considered at Cabinet, Scrutiny 

Committees, Audit Committee and Council and are subject to engagement and consultation 

with all stakeholders. 

 

The Council has a Risk Category Checklist as part of its risk identification process. This aims to 

ensure that risk identification is undertaken in a structured way to help ensure that all potential 

categories of risk are considered rather than just the initial risks that come to mind. 

 

The Checklist is based on the widely used PESTLE Model (Political, Economic, Social, 

Technological, Legal and Environmental).  The Checklist has been reviewed and updated in 

consultation with service areas across the Council to consider the risk requirements of the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The Checklist has also been updated to 

reflect other areas of risk in relation to partnerships, procurement and reputation, for example. 

 

Culture has also been added as a Risk Category to ensure the Council considers risk from an 

environmental, social, economic and cultural wellbeing perspective. The five ways of working 

(Long Term, Integration, Involvement, Collaboration and Prevention) have also been added to 

the Checklist to ensure they are considered when developing risk action plans. 

 

 

The Council’s Corporate Risk Register is prepared using a combination of the following risk 

sources: 

 

 Corporate Risks that were identified in the previous year's Corporate Risk Register. 

 An analysis and grouping of:  

o The identified risks that have been scored 12 or above in the Chief Officer and 

Service Risk Registers. 

o The identified issues in the Chief Officer and Service Risk Registers. 

o Risk Identification Workshops for Corporate Management Team and Councillors. 

 

The Council has developed an Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) which incorporates the 

Council's Wellbeing Objectives, the Sustainable Development principle (the five ways of 

working), Welsh Language, Equalities and Biodiversity, to support effective decision making 

and ensuring compliance with other pieces of legislation that the Council is subject to. This has 

been applied to business cases and projects as part of the Councils project management 

framework.  The IIA is due to be introduced for Council & Cabinet Reports during 2018/19. 

 

The Council has six scrutiny committees in place; the Governance, Performance, Business 

Change and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee; the Learning & LAESCYP Scrutiny 

Page 259



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

122 
 

Committee; the Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee; 

Regeneration and Public Protection (also Crime & Disorder Committee); and the Social Services 

Scrutiny Committee. These committees meet approximately every six weeks.  There is also a 

Joint Scrutiny Committee with membership including all the Scrutiny Councillors and Co-opted 

members.  The Joint Scrutiny Committee meet when there is an issue or item that affects all 

the scrutiny committees.   The Joint Scrutiny Committee met once last year to consider the 

draft budget proposals.   

 

The scrutiny committees are made up of elected local members (Councillors) who are not part 

of the Council’s Cabinet, along with co-opted representatives.  Their role is to monitor 

performance, challenge the Council’s spending proposals, review services, contribute to policy 

development, examine the work of other local public service providers and promote public 

engagement in the democratic process.  In addition to having publically appointed co-opted 

members of each of the scrutiny committees, there are voluntary sector represented co-opted 

members, and Youth Forum co-opted members.  All Cabinet decisions are subject to “call-in” 

by the scrutiny committees.  All Councillors are sent a link to the Cabinet agenda.  Minutes / 

decision notices are sent to scrutiny members for them to decide if they wish to “call-in” a 

decision.  During 2017/18 no Cabinet decisions have been subject to “call-in”.  Cabinet 

members regularly attend scrutiny committee meetings where they are subject to challenge on 

their areas of responsibility.  The Council’s Wellbeing Objectives have regularly been reported 

to all of the scrutiny committee as can be evidenced in the meeting agendas and minutes.  The 

Council sets out the respective roles and responsibilities of scrutiny Councillors in the Council’s 

Constitution. 

  

The Constitution also sets out the terms of reference for the scrutiny committees.  Each year 

the Council’s scrutiny committees produce an Annual Report which includes a retrospective 

insight into the work undertaken by each of the Council’s Scrutiny Committees during the 

municipal year.  The Annual Report for 2017/18 was submitted to Council during July 2018.  

 

The Cwm Taf Joint PSB Scrutiny Committee was established during 2016/17 (MTCBC & 

RCTCBC) with the role of scrutinising and challenging the work of the Cwm Taf Public Services 

Board. Training has been provided to Councillors on the Joint PSB Scrutiny Committee on their 

role by the WLGA.  Following Local Government elections in May 2017 the Council has had a 

programme of training for Councillors. 

 

The Change Management Board members include Cabinet Members.  As such monthly updates 

are received.  Outcomes and progress are reported to Corporate Management Team and Senior 

Leadership Group, again on a monthly basis.  Quarterly reports are provided to Cabinet for 

information on progress.  Progress towards outcome achievement is challenged at governance 

scrutiny committee meetings.  Senior Management meetings are in place for each directorate 

to present reports on service delivery plans.   

 

Page 260



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

123 
 

Budget Setting, Budget Monitoring and Budget Outturn statements follow a consistent 

template which is also the format reported to Budget Board and Cabinet. Delivery of approved 

savings are monitored by Change Management Steering Group and Budget Board. 

 

The Council's Financial Procedure Rules and Constitution documents contain guidance and 

instruction for staff and also detail arrangements in place. They are reviewed periodically to 

ensure they remain fit for purpose and relevant. Both the Financial Procedure Rules and other 

elements of the Constitution are in need of updating to reflect changes that have taken place 

in recent years.  

 

Risk Management informs the Internal Audit Plan that is put in place for the year, and each year 

Internal Audit will focus on a number of Corporate Risks as part of their audit work. 

 

The Internal Audit plan is devised using a risk based strategy. Individual Internal Audit reports 

give opinions on risk management and internal control arrangements. The Risk Management 

function is subject to periodic Internal Audit review in line with the Audit Plan. 

 

The Annual Internal Audit Report for the financial year 2017/2018 incorporating the Audit 

Manager’s opinion has been produced and reported to the Council’s Audit Committee.  Based 

upon the work undertaken during the year Internal Audit gave a satisfactory opinion on the 

internal control environment, risk management arrangements and governance arrangements 

for 2017/18. 

 

The Council operates an in-house Internal Audit Service that is compliant with the Public Sector 

Internal Audit Standards.  

 

The Council is a participant in the National Fraud Initiative and the work of Internal Audit 

includes processing the National Fraud Initiative data matches and other relevant work. 

 

The Council has and operates a Whistleblowing Policy and Anti-fraud and Corruption Policy 

that includes guidance and the avenues that can be used for reporting fraud to a number of 

points of contact both within the Council and externally e.g. the police, the external auditors, 

the ombudsman etc. 

 

There are a number of measures used within the Revenues and Benefits Service to identify 

benefit and council tax reduction fraud activity and there are defined courses of action to be 

followed for any identified cases that can include court action and criminal prosecution. 

 

The Council has an operating and effective Audit Committee that is compliant with the Local 

Government Measure (Wales) 2011 and the Accounts and Audit Regulations (Wales) 2014.  The 

Committee Terms of Reference are compliant with best practice guidance. 

 

Page 261



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

124 
 

The Audit Committee meets approximately every 6 weeks.  It is independently chaired by a 

member of the non-ruling political group.  Each meeting is attended by Internal Audit and a 

representative from the External Auditors.   All meetings are minuted and open to the public. 

All minutes are published. Minutes and agendas of the meeting are maintained and retained 

on the Council's democratic administration system. Training is provided to Councillors 

periodically and when requested. 

 

Effective arrangements are in place for the safe collection, storage, use and sharing of data, 

including processes to safeguard personal data.  In readiness for the implementation of the 

General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) on 25th May 2018, the Data Protection Officer has 

prepared all relevant documents and continues to offer training to staff and Councillors to 

implement the legislation. Reviews of current data processing have taken place. 

 

The Council is a member of Wales Accord on the Sharing of Personal Information (WASPI) and 

as such will enter into WASPI agreements when sharing information with partners that are also 

party to the accord.  In instances where a data controller is not a member of the WASPI, 

information sharing protocols are in place that will support the sharing of personal information. 

 

Reviewing and auditing the quality and accuracy of data used in decision making and 

performance monitoring forms part of the challenge around quarterly returns, statutory 

returns, scrutiny committee meetings, and self-evaluation and performance board meetings. 

This work is currently being reviewed to align with the Wellbeing of Future Generation (Wales) 

Act 2015. 

 

The annual budget process encompasses medium term financial planning with the intention 

that budget decisions are aligned to wellbeing objectives, asset management planning and 

workforce strategy. The Council approved Medium Term Financial Plan covers a four year 

period with currently a balanced budget set for year one and indicative budget deficits stated 

for years two to four (based on reported assumptions). 

 

g) Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver 

effective accountability. 

 

All Committee agendas, reports and minutes are written, communicated and published on the 

Council's website for the public and other stakeholders.  These are available in both English 

and Welsh.  Full Council meetings and Planning meetings are webcast. 

 

Reports are subject to officer challenge as part of governance arrangements (e.g. Change 

Management Steering Group) and prior to Cabinet and Council via Corporate Management 

Team, and Service Management meetings. This provides a means for ensuring a balance 

between the correct level of information for transparency and ability to make a true decision.   

 

Page 262



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

125 
 

Committee Membership, Attendance, Declarations at meetings, Registered Interests and 

Councillor Representation on Outside Bodies are monitored and published on the Council’s 

website and included in the Councillors' Annual Reports. 

 

A report on Remuneration paid to elected Councillors is published annually on the Council 

Website and updated with any changes throughout the financial year.  All of this information 

is also reported to the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales (IRPW). 

 

The Annual Performance and Progress Report for 2017/18 will be issued in September 2018.  

The Council has issued the forward looking plan Focus on the Future - Wellbeing in our 

Community 2017-2022.  

 

Annual Financial Statements are presented to Full Council for approval following External Audit 

by the Wales Audit Office.  This is a statutory requirement. As part of the annual Council 

approval of the forthcoming year's Budget ("Budget Requirement and Council Tax - State of 

the Council Debate") the Chief Finance Officer comments on the robustness of the estimates 

and adequacy of financial reserves.  

 

The way that Council resources are used to contribute to the Well Being objectives is 

demonstrated in the Budget Report. 

 

Recommendations from the Wales Audit Office's Annual Improvement Report (including best 

practice) are also taken into account.  

 

Medium Term Financial Plan updates are also presented to Council prior to formal approval. 

 

The Annual Statement of Accounts is compiled based on the Chartered Institute of Public 

Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice followed by every Local Authority.  This 

ensures consistency of reporting allowing for meaningful comparisons and benchmarking. 

Completion and publication is governed by statutory timescales.  Limited performance data is 

included within the audited annual accounts. 

 

An annual assessment of application of the principles contained within the Governance 

Framework is undertaken and involves a number of key officers and members of Corporate 

Management Team including the Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer, 

Section 151 Officer, and also Councillors via committee responsibilities e.g. the Audit 

Committee, Governance, Performance, Business Change and Corporate Services Scrutiny 

Committee. 

 

The assessment process involves comparing existing arrangements within the Council against 

the checklist published by CIPFA/SOLACE. This checklist is populated by the key officers, 

evidence is provided to support checklist comments. The checklist, evaluations and evidence 

Page 263



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

126 
 

are independently evaluated by the Internal Audit Service. The checklist, any actions for 

improvement required arising from its completion and a draft version of the Annual 

Governance Statement is reviewed and evaluated by the Corporate Management Team, 

Scrutiny and Audit Committees; and also the Wales Audit Office. 

 

The assessment process and the results of the assessment are published within the Annual 

Governance Statement. 

 

Actions for improvement are included in the authority's corporate action plan monitoring 

system known as the 'AAP (Audit and Inspection Action Plans) system'. 

 

There are a number of shared service arrangements in existence that the Council participate in.  

Shared services are hosted by a Lead Authority with those services following the governance 

arrangements in place with those Lead Authorities.  There are also specific arrangements in 

place for reporting on performance, use of resources and other important governance matters 

established for different partnerships or shared services.     

 

The Council has introduced a process for monitoring External Audit, Regulation and Inspection 

reports and their actions/recommendations. This involves Internal Audit checking all reports 

and maintaining a monitoring system. Reports are presented to Corporate Management Team 

and Audit Committee including update reports on progress on the implementation of agreed 

recommendations. 

 

Peer challenge is built into the performance challenge arrangements.  This work is currently 

being reviewed to align with the Wellbeing of Future Generation (Wales) Act 2015. 

 

Peer challenges, reviews and inspections from Regulatory bodies are welcomed as a means to 

provide added assurance over service delivery or to identify opportunities for improvement. 

Good links exist with Wales Audit Office, ESTYN, the Social Services Regulators and other key 

regulators, commissioners & stakeholders.   

 

The Council operates an in-house Internal Audit Service that is compliant with the Public Sector 

Internal Audit Standards. The Internal Audit Service undertakes a comprehensive annual 

programme of work based upon a risk assessed plan.   

 

The Council has an operating and effective Audit Committee that is compliant with the Local 

Government Measure (Wales) 2011 and the Accounts and Audit Regulations (Wales) 2014. The 

Committee Terms of Reference are compliant with best practice guidance.  It is independently 

chaired by a member of the non-ruling political group.   

 

Audit Committee, Corporate Management Team and other key councillors and officers are 

consulted on areas of audit for inclusion in the annual plan.  At the end of the financial year the 

Page 264



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

127 
 

Audit Manager writes an Annual Report and Opinion on the control environment, risk 

management and governance arrangements at the council using the work completed 

throughout the year as the basis on which to formulate an opinion.  This opinion is also included 

within and informs the Council's Annual Governance Statement. 

 

The Council has a Risk Category Checklist as part of its risk identification process. The Checklist 

has been reviewed and updated in consultation with service areas across the Council to 

consider the risk requirements of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  The 

Checklist has also been updated to reflect other areas of risk in relation to partnerships, 

procurement and reputation.  

 

Risk is an integral part of the procurement process, the Procurement Board and Change 

Management Steering Group considers risks through each procurement gateway report. 

 

The Public Services Board (PSB) has a detailed Terms of Reference which sets out the 

arrangements for a number of matters including, roles and responsibilities, public participation, 

governance and management; and accountability for the Board and a range of partnerships.     

 

 

 

 

  

Page 265



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

128 
 

4.  REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS 

 

The Council has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of 

its governance framework including the system of internal control.  

 

A review of the effectiveness and annual assessment of application of the principles contained 

within the Governance Framework is undertaken and involves a number of key officers and 

members of Corporate Management Team including the Chief Executive, Deputy Chief 

Executive, Monitoring Officer, Section 151 Officer, and also Councillors via committee 

responsibilities e.g. the Audit Committee, Governance, Performance, Business Change and 

Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee. 

 

The assessment process involves comparing existing arrangements within the Council against 

the checklist published by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 

(CIPFA)/the Society of Local Authority Chief Executives and Senior Managers (SOLACE). This 

checklist is populated by the key officers, evidence is provided to support checklist comments 

and then the checklist and evaluations and evidence is independently evaluated by the Internal 

Audit Service. The checklist, any actions for improvement required arising from its completion 

and a draft version of the Statement is reviewed and evaluated by the Corporate Management 

Team and the Governance Scrutiny Committee and Audit Committees and also the Wales Audit 

Office. 

 

The assessment process and the results of the assessment are published within the Annual 

Governance Statement. 

 

The Internal Audit Service and key officers of the Council carried out a review based on 

CIPFA/SOLACE guidance to ensure that evidence was in place to support the production of the 

Annual Governance Statement, to identify gaps where that was not the case and to review the 

effectiveness of existing arrangements.  

 

Throughout 2017/18 the Council has maintained and reviewed its system of internal control in 

a number of ways.  In particular: 

 

The Internal Audit Service has undertaken planned reviews of internal control procedures, risk 

management and governance arrangements across departments and across a range of 

functions within the Council.  The Internal Audit Service worked to its Plan for 2017/18.   Reports 

were published upon completion of assignments and circulated to management. Action plans 

are included in the Council’s Audit, Inspection Action Plans system (AAPs).  

 

Minutes and agenda papers of Audit Committee demonstrate that both internal audit, external 

audit (Wales Audit Office) and other external inspection/regulation agencies reports have been 

made to Audit Committee and also that officers have been called to the Audit Committee to 

Page 266



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

129 
 

discuss their respective reports and action plans and to subsequently provide further updates 

on progress at future Audit Committee meetings.   

The Annual Internal Audit Report for the financial year 2017/18 incorporating the Audit 

Manager’s opinion was produced and reported to the Council’s Audit Committee on the 11th 

June 2018. Based upon the work undertaken during the year Internal Audit gave a satisfactory 

opinion on the internal control environment, risk management arrangements and governance 

arrangements for 2017/18.  

 

The Scrutiny committees have examined a number of issues as part of their work programme 

in 2017/18 as demonstrated in their Annual Report which will be reported to Full Council in 

July 2018. 

 

Information taken into consideration for producing the Annual Governance Statement includes 

performance management information, work completed by the Internal Audit Service, work 

completed by the External Auditor and other external inspection agencies, Scrutiny work, Risk 

Management and the Internal Control Framework including procedures, codes of conduct and 

policies and financial management controls as outlined in the CIPFA/SOLACE guidance. 

 

The Significant Governance Issues identified for 2017/18 are shown in section 5 and take into 

account the definition identified in Appendix 1. 

 

The Significant Governance Issues identified in 2016/17 together with the updated current 

position regarding their status is included in section 6.  

 

  

Page 267



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

130 
 

5.  SIGNIFICANT GOVERNANCE ISSUES 2017/18 

 

Issues 2017/2018 AGS Position & Action Taken/Planned  

Financial 

Pressures: 

Limited financial 

resources versus 

increasing 

demand for 

services and 

capital projects 

causes budget 

pressures which 

impact upon the 

delivery of 

public services.  

 

E.g. Reduction in 

funding from 

the Welsh 

Government, 

lack of 

investment 

income, capital 

receipts, costly 

care packages, 

reductions in 

grant funding.   

The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 2017/2018 to 2020/2021 was presented 

for approval to Council on 22 March 2017 and indicated an estimated budget 

deficit of £16.4 million over the period of the MTFP based on assumptions 

contained within the MTFP.  The MTFP 2018/19 to 2021/22 was approved by 

Council on 07 March 2018 indicating a revised estimated budget deficit of £13.7 

million over the 4 year period, to be addressed through the Council's Corporate 

Change Programme.  

 

Although the Council aligns the MTFP with its priorities determined by its 

wellbeing objectives, it must be appreciated that a MTFP is a rolling programme 

continuously updated for changing circumstances, new developments and 

priorities.  Consequently it was recognised that a significant amount of work was 

still required to fully align spending requirements to Corporate Wellbeing 

Objectives and available finance. The Council's Operating Model Design defines 

how the Council is to carry out its business and supports the Council's Corporate 

Strategy, Wellbeing Objectives and Chief Officer's 'Strategies on a Page'.  The 

Performance Board will monitor achievement against the measures of success 

and desired outcomes. In addition financial sustainability and resilience of the 

Council is monitored by the Chief Finance Officer.      

 

A significant provisional revenue outturn surplus (before transfer to the Budget 

Reserve) of £1.301 million is reported for 2017/18 with General Reserves 

provisionally at £4.7 million (4% of net revenue budget), remaining in line with 

the Council’s Corporate Reserves Policy. Both the Budget Board and Change 

Management Steering Group have been instrumental in delivering this 

provisional surplus through robust scrutiny and challenge of Budget Managers, 

when identifying potential financial issues at an early stage thus supporting 

timely corrective action.     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 268



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

131 
 

6.  SIGNIFICANT GOVERNANCE ISSUES 2016/17 - UPDATE 

 

Issues CURRENT POSITION (2017/18) 

Financial 

Pressures: 

Limited financial 

resources versus 

increasing demand 

for services and 

capital projects 

causes budget 

pressures which 

impact upon the 

delivery of public 

services.  

 

E.g. Reduction in 

funding from the 

Welsh 

Government, lack 

of investment 

income, capital 

receipts, costly 

care packages, 

reductions in grant 

funding. 

 

 

 

 

   

Reduction in funding from the Welsh Government continues and as a result this 

remains a significant governance issue for 2017/18. 

 

See Section 5 – ‘Significant Governance Issues 2017/18’ for the current position 

and action taken / planned to address the issue. 

 

We propose over the coming year to take steps to address the above matters to further 

enhance our governance arrangements. We are satisfied that these steps will address the need 

for improvements that were identified in our review of effectiveness and will monitor their 

implementation and operation as part of our next annual review. 

 

 

 

Councillor       Gareth Chapman  

Leader of the Council     Chief Executive 

Page 269



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

132 

 

Appendix 1 

 

In determining what may constitute a significant governance issue, the following was taken 

into consideration: 

 

A single definition of a significant governance issue is not possible. Councils need to exercise 

judgement in deciding whether or not a particular issue should be regarded as falling into this 

category, but factors that may be helpful in exercising that judgement include: 

 

 The issue has seriously prejudiced or prevented achievement of a principal objective. 

 

 The issue has resulted in a need to seek additional funding to allow it to be resolved, or 

has resulted in significant diversion of resources from another aspect of the business. 

 

 The issue has led to a material impact on the accounts. 

 

 The audit committee, or equivalent, has advised that it should be considered significant 

for this purpose. 

 

 The Audit Manager has reported on it as significant, for this purpose, in the annual 

opinion on the internal control environment. 

 

 The issue, or its impact, has attracted significant public interest or has seriously damaged 

the reputation of the organisation. 

 

 The issue has resulted in formal action being taken by the Chief Finance Officer and/or 

the Monitoring Officer. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 270



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

133 
 

The independent auditor’s report of the Auditor General for Wales to the members of Merthyr 
Tydfil County Borough Council 
 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion 
I have audited the financial statements of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council for the year ended 
31 March 2018 under the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004.  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council’s financial statements comprise the Movement in Reserves 
Statement, the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, the Balance Sheet, the Cash 
Flow Statement, and the related notes, including a summary of significant accounting policies and the 
Expenditure and Funding Analysis.  
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017-18 based on 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). 
In my opinion the financial statements:  

 give a true and fair view of the financial position of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council as at 31 

March 2018 and of its income and expenditure for the year then ended; and 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with legislative requirements and the Code of 

Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017-18. 

 

Basis for opinion 

I conducted my audit in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing in the 
UK (ISAs (UK)). My responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of my report. I am independent of the 
council in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit of the financial 
statements in the UK including the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard, and I have fulfilled 
my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. I believe that the audit 
evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. 

 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require 
me to report to you where: 

 the use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is 
not appropriate; or 

 the responsible financial officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified 
material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the council’s ability to continue to 
adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date 
when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

 

Other information 

The responsible financial officer is responsible for the other information in the annual report and 
accounts. The other information comprises the information included in the annual report other than 
the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon. My opinion on the financial statements does 
not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated later in my report, I 
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

Page 271



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

134 
 

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other 
information to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify 
any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the 
knowledge acquired by me in the course of performing the audit. If I become aware of any apparent 
material misstatements or inconsistencies I consider the implications for my report. 

 

Report on other requirements 

 

Opinion on other matters 
In my opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of my audit: 

 the information contained in the Narrative Report for the financial year for which the financial 

statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and the Narrative Report has 

been prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 

United Kingdom 2017-18;  

 The information given in the Annual Governance Statement for the financial year for which the 

financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and the Annual 

Governance Statement has been prepared in accordance with guidance.  

 

Matters on which I report by exception 
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the council and its environment obtained in the 
course of the audit, I have not identified material misstatements in the Narrative Report or the Annual 
Governance Statement. 
I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters, which I report to you, if, in my opinion: 

 adequate accounting records have not been kept; 

 the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

 I have not received all the information and explanations I require for my audit. 

 

Certificate of completion of audit 
I certify that I have completed the audit of the accounts of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council in 
accordance with the requirements of the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004 and the Auditor General for 
Wales’ Code of Audit Practice. 

 

Responsibilities 

Responsibilities of the responsible financial officer for the financial statements 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts set out on 
pages 17 to 18, the responsible financial officer is responsible for the preparation of the statement of 
accounts, which give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the responsible financial 
officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation of statements of accounts that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
In preparing the statement of accounts, the responsible financial officer is responsible for assessing 
the council’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless deemed inappropriate.  
 
 
 

Page 272



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council                                         Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

 

135 
 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
A further description of the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located 
on the Financial Reporting Council's website www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description 
forms part of my auditor’s report. 
   
 
 
     
 
           
For and on behalf of Auditor General for Wales     24 Cathedral Road
            Cardiff 

CF11 9LJ 
 
           

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 273



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Ethical Employment Practices in Supply Chains – 
Code of Practice

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 In March 2017, Welsh Government developed and published a Code of Practice 
related to ethical employment practices, this was followed by a number of guides to 
support the Code.

1.2 The Code of Practice was developed in response to the Modern Slavery Act 2015 
and supports the development of more ethical supply chains to deliver contracts for 
the Welsh public sector and third sector organisations in receipt of public funds.

1.3 The Code is designed to ensure that workers in public sector supply chains are 
employed ethically and in compliance with both the letter and spirit of UK, EU, and 
international laws.  The Code covers the following employment issues
 Modern Slavery and human rights abuses;
 Blacklisting;
 False self-employment;
 Unfair use of umbrella schemes and zero hours contracts and,
 The Living Wage.

1.4 The Welsh public sector is expected to sign up to the Code, the Cabinet Secretary 
for Finance and Local Government and Cabinet Secretary for Local Government and 
Public Services wrote to the Leader of the Council on the 9th February 2018 to 
reinforce this expectation.

Date Written *6th June 2018
Report Author Paul Davies
Service Area Procurement
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 275

Agenda Item 9



1.5 Whilst the Code refers to ethical employment in supply chains, which, suggests a 
responsibility through the procurement process, the Code also places an obligation 
to develop internal policies, communications and training.

1.6 There is no specific timescale to implement/consider the Code, and some areas are 
already being met, some are relatively easy to incorporate into procurement projects 
but some elements will take time to carry out due diligence and will require some 
coordination of internal services and wider, through a network of sharing events to 
ensure that efforts are shared on a collaborative basis. 

1.7 An action plan will be required to draft implementation and to track achievements. 
Modern Slavery elements of the Code also link in with the Corporate Safeguarding 
Reference Group work.

1.8 The Code has 12 commitments that should be implemented and/or considered.  
These are listed at Appendix 1.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The sign up to the Code of Practice and prioritising the commitments in accordance 
with available resources be approved and,

2.2 The establishment of a working group from HR, Legal, Procurement and 
Safeguarding, to create an action plan, monitor and deliver the Code of practice be 
approved.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Welsh public sector spends around £6bn every year on goods, services and 
works involving complex supply chains.  A huge range of goods, services and works 
are purchased by every part of the public sector but the uniting factor is that people 
are involved in each stage of these supply chains.

3.2 It is therefore essential that at each stage of the supply chain, there are good 
employment practices for the employees.  Good employment practices which 
empower and reward workers, help to improve the quality of life of people in Wales 
and further afield, which, in turn should result in better quality goods and services.  
Poor and unethical practices can lead to poor morale, high staff turnover and, in 
some cases can be exploitative.

3.3 Although slavery was outlawed many years ago, and is illegal throughout the world, 
it is still an endemic problem in some industries and some parts of the world.  There 
are reported cases of people being held in conditions of modern slavery within the 
UK, South Wales Police have reported that there were 123 referrals of potential 
victims of modern slavery in Wales.

3.4 The Code of Practice is designed to ensure that the public sector in Wales works 
towards eradicating unethical employment practices from within its supply chains.  It 

Page 276



has been in existence since March 2017 with additional guides being published later 
in the same year.

4.0 SIGNING UP, IMPLEMENTING AND REPORTING ON THE CODE

4.1 Sign up to the code requires an email to vwpolicy@wales.gsi.gov.uk

4.2 The Welsh Government appreciates that the commitments within the Code are wide 
ranging, some of which the Council can act on quickly (see next points), but, some 
will take time to consider and/or implement.  The Council will be required to create 
an action plan and prioritise the commitments according to the Councils impacts and 
situation, develop plans to undertake implementation and assign timescales to each 
of the actions.

4.3 Incorporating appropriate tender stage questions and contract clauses from one of 
the guides included within the toolkit can be actioned by procurement staff in 
agreement with client departments (commitment 4).

4.4 The Council is already taking action to ensure that Tax and NI contributions are 
deducted from personal service companies invoices in line with IR35 (commitment 
8).

4.5 For many existing service contracts the Council can demonstrate that our suppliers 
in the UK are paying their workers at least the minimum wage (Commitment 10).

4.6 For the small number of outsourced contracts in existence, the Council can  
demonstrate that Council employee terms and conditions have been transferred in 
line with TUPE Laws (Commitment 12 part i).

4.7 Areas of the Code which have not been assessed up to this time will require 
consideration and targets set in the action plan.

4.8 Commitment 10 is purposely worded as ‘consider’ in terms of the Living Wage 
Foundation’s Living Wage due to the potential financial impact this could have on a 
number of existing and future contracts. Therefore, the requirement is to consider 
this commitment and understand the impact, some of this work has been 
commenced.  It is also important to understand that not all sectors of our supply 
chains are subject to this commitment.

4.9 Commitment 12 refers to the Code of Practice on Workforce Matters (2014) that we 
are already reporting on annually through HR.

4.10 Welsh public sector organisations that sign up to the code will be asked to report on 
the status in relation to implementation of the Code providing information on:-
 The number of staff involved in procurement who have undertaken training on 

modern slavery and ethical employment practices; 
 The number of suppliers who have signed up to the Code of Practice as a result 

of action taken by the Council; and,
 The Code of Practice action plan.

Page 277

mailto:vwpolicy@wales.gsi.gov.uk


4.11 There is a website provided by TISC (Transparency in Supply Chains) Report – 
which is an open data register committed to ending modern slavery and supply chain 
abuses.  The Council has already registered on this site which will be used to report 
on progress.  

4.12 Progress can be reported to Procurement Board and/or Corporate Management 
Team at least on an annual basis prior to reporting progress to Welsh Government.

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

5.1 It is acknowledged that there could be significant financial implications attached to 
implementation of parts of the Code especially commitment 10 and to a lesser 
degree commitment 12 (part ii).  

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is required.   The form can be 
accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via ‘Equality Impact Assessment’ link.

6.2 The positive impacts are: The Code will seek to ensure that all workers employed in 
delivering Council contracts are paid at least the minimum wage.

6.2.1 The code is seeking to improve employment practices and ensure that our suppliers 
maintain ethical practices across their supply chains, this should be positive in terms 
of disabled persons, religious beliefs, ethnicity, gender, sexual orientation.

6.2.2 There is evidence of Modern Slavery within the UK and Wales. The underlying 
legislation of the Modern Slavery Act seeks to eliminate these unethical practices. 
The code was developed to support the Modern Slavery Act by empowering the 
Public Sector to promote ethical employment practices not only within our own 
organisations, but wider through our many suppliers that deliver goods, services and 
works to the Council.

6.3 The negative impacts are nil.

6.4 Current proposals to address the issues are contained within the recommendations 
of this report.

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

Page 278



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Ethical employment in 
supply chains – Code of 

practice and guides

March 2017 Procurement Office

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? NO

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 279



Appendix 1

The Code of Practice includes 12 commitments these are:-

1. Produce a written policy on ethical employment within our own organisation and our 
supply chains, and, appoint an Anti-Slavery and Ethical Employment Champion.

2. Produce a written policy on whistle-blowing to empower staff to raise suspicions of 
unlawful and unethical employment practices, and, provide a mechanism for people 
outside our organisation to raise the same suspicions.

3. Ensure that those involved in buying/procurement and recruitment and deployment 
of workers, receive training on modern slavery and ethical employment practices and 
keep a record of those that have been trained.

4. Ensure employment practices are considered as part of the procurement process.
i. Include a copy of our ethical employment policy (commitment 1) in all 

procurement documentation;
ii. Include appropriate questions on ethical employment in tenders and assess 

responses provided;
iii. Incorporate where appropriate, elements of the Code as conditions of 

contract;
iv. Ask bidders to explain the impact that low costs may have on their workers 

each time an abnormally low quote or tender is received.

5. Ensure that the way in which we work with our suppliers does not contribute to the 
use of illegal or unethical employment practices with the supply chain.

i. Ensure that undue cost and time pressures are not applied to any of our 
suppliers if this is likely to result in unethical treatment of workers;

ii. Ensure that our suppliers are paid on time – within 30 days of receipt of a valid 
invoice.

6. Expect our suppliers to sign up to the code, to help ensure that ethical employment 
practices are carried out throughout the supply chain.

7. Assess our expenditure to identify and address issues of modern slavery, human 
rights abuses and unethical employment practice.

i. Carry out regular reviews of expenditure and undertake risk assessments on 
findings;

ii. Investigate any supplier identified as high risk, by direct engagement with 
workers where possible;

iii. Work with our suppliers to rectify any issues of illegal or unethical employment 
practice;

iv. Monitor the employment practices of high risk suppliers, making this a 
standard agenda item for contract management reviews.

8. Ensure that false self-employment is not undertaken and that umbrella schemes and 
zero hours contracts are not used unfairly or as a means to:

i. Avoid, or facilitate avoidance of, the payment of tax and national insurance 
contributions and relevant minimum wages;

Page 280



ii. Unduly disadvantage workers in terms of pay and employment rights, job 
security and career opportunities;

iii. Avoid health and safety responsibilities.

9. Ensure that workers are free to join a Trade Union or collective agreement and to 
undertake and related activity and raise worker concerns without risk of 
discrimination.

i. Not make use of blacklists/prohibited lists;
ii. Ensure that our suppliers do not make use of blacklists/prohibited lists;
iii. Not contract with any supplier that has made use of a blacklist/prohibited list 

and failed to take steps to put matters right;
iv. Expect our suppliers to ensure that Trade Union representatives can access 

members and contracted workers.

10. Consider paying all staff the Living Wage Foundation’s Living Wage as a minimum 
and encourage our suppliers to do the same.

i. Consider paying at least the Living Wage Foundation’s Living Wage to all our 
staff in the UK;

ii. Consider becoming an accredited Living Wage employer;
iii. Encourage our suppliers based overseas to pay a fair wage to all staff, and to 

ensure that staff working in the UK are paid at least the minimum wage.

11. Produce an annual written statement outlining the steps taken during the financial 
year, and plans for future actions to ensure slavery and human trafficking are not 
taking place in any part of our organisation and its supply chains.
i. Ensure that the statement is signed off at senior management/board level;
ii. Publish the statement on our website or make the statement available to 

anyone within 30 days of a request.

12. Ensure all those undertaking work on an outsourced contract are treated fairly and 
equally.
i. Ensure that public sector staff who are transferred as part of a public service 

which is outsourced to a third party retain their terms and conditions of 
employment;

ii. Ensure that other staff working on an outsourced public service are employed 
on terms and conditions that are comparable to the transferred public sector 
staff.

Page 281



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Annual Scrutiny Report - 2017/2018

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 Following the local elections in May 2017 (Cyfarthfa Ward June 2017) the 
membership of the Scrutiny Committees changed with the appointment of new 
members on each of the themed Scrutiny Committees. It is inevitable that the first 
year following an election will be about building on the skills of new Members and 
returning Members and providing training and support needed to undertake the 
scrutiny role.

1.2 Scrutiny is a function of local authorities in England and Wales. It was introduced 
by the Local Government Act 2000 which created separate Executive and 
Scrutiny functions within local authorities. The Local Government (Wales) 
Measure 2011 strengthened the role of Scrutiny in Wales. 

1.3 Scrutiny’s role includes monitoring performance, challenging the Council’s 
spending proposals, reviewing services, contributing to policy development, 
examining the work of other local public service providers, and promoting public 
engagement in the democratic process.

1.4 The scrutiny function at Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is performed by 
six scrutiny committees. These scrutiny committees are made up of elected 
Members (Councillors) who are not part of the Council’s executive (Cabinet), 
along with Co-opted representatives. 

1.5 The purpose of the report is to apprise Council and other interest parties of the 
role of the Scrutiny Committees, and their work during the 2017/18 municipal 
year. 

Date Written 20th June 2018
Report Author Scrutiny Section
Service Area Scrutiny
Exempt/Non Exempt Non-Exempt
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 283

Agenda Item 10



2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that

 2.1 Council notes the contents of this report.

2.2 Council’s instructions are requested with regard to a pilot scheme for the 
webcasting of scrutiny committee meetings.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Each year the Council's Scrutiny Committees produce an Annual Report. This 
report includes a retrospective insight into the work undertaken by each of the 
Council's Scrutiny Committees during the municipal year.

3.2 Overview and Scrutiny (or just “scrutiny” as it is more commonly referred to) is a 
function of local authorities in England and Wales and was introduced by the 
Local Government Act 2000 which created separate Executive (Cabinet) and 
Scrutiny functions within councils. In Wales the scrutiny function was extended in 
the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011. 

3.3 All local authorities operating a Cabinet and Scrutiny model have a Cabinet 
(Executive) made up of the Leader of the Council and up to nine other members. 
At MTCBC it is the Leader plus five other members. All executive decisions (i.e. 
those needed to implement the Policy Framework and Budget approved by the 
Council) are taken by the Cabinet. 

3.4 Scrutiny committees are not decision-making bodies nor do they have the power 
to instruct decision-makers; their role is rather as an influencing body and ‘critical 
friend’ – checking and challenging decisions in a robust, constructive and 
purposeful way. 

3.5 Broadly speaking, local government scrutiny committees operate in a manner 
similar to the select committees supporting the UK Parliament. They are 
composed of non-executive councillors of all political groups (in proportion to the 
Council’s overall political balance), and meet both in public and in private to: 

 Help the Administration develop and review policies; 
 Test the Council’s performance and offer advice for improvement; 
 Provide pre-decision scrutiny of decisions that the administration is about to 

make; 
 Periodically call in for examination decisions that the administration has 

recently made; 
 Offer a platform for citizens and citizen groups to represent their concerns or 

ideas for improvement.

3.6 As noted above Scrutiny was introduced in local government across the UK 
through the Local Government Act 2000, as the traditional “Committee System” of 
local government administration was replaced with a more streamlined “Cabinet 
and Scrutiny System”. Scrutiny was seen by the Centre for Public Scrutiny as 
having four ‘cornerstones’, namely: 

Page 284



 Led by ‘independent minded governors who own the scrutiny role; 
 Acts as a ‘critical friend’ of the executive, holding decision makers to account; 
 Represents the views and concerns of the citizen; and 
 Leads to the improvement of public services.

4.0 SCRUTINY COMMITTEES AND MEMBERSHIP

4.1 As already mentioned all non-executive (non-Cabinet) Councillors are eligible for 
membership of the scrutiny committees. 

4.2 During 2017/18 the Council operated six Scrutiny Committees. 

Committee name Membership1

1
Governance, Performance, 
Business Change, and Corporate 
Services

11 Councillors plus co-opted members 
(One of the Councillors is the Chair of 
the Audit Committee)

2
Neighbourhood Services, 
Planning and Countryside 7 Councillors plus co-opted members

3
Regeneration and Public 
Protection2 7 Councillors plus co-opted members

4 Learning and LAESCYP 7 Councillors plus co-opted members

5 Social Services 7 Councillors plus co-opted members

6 Joint Scrutiny Committee All Members of committees 1) to 5) 
above

Each of these committees can establish time-limited Task and Finish Group 
reviews that focus on a particular issue and consider it in greater detail than is 
possible at scheduled committee meetings.

Whilst the scrutiny committees meet approximately eight times per annum, the 
Joint Scrutiny Committee only meets when there are subjects or issues that are 
common to or relate to all the scrutiny committees e.g. Budget Proposals / 
Medium Term Financial Plan, and MTCBC Change Programme proposals. This 
committee meets approximately twice a year.

1 From AGM May 2018 the Councillor membership on the Governance Scrutiny Committee reduced to 7 
Councillors, with the scrutiny committees 2) to 5) reducing from 7 Councillors to 6 Councillors per 
committee.
2 The Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny committee also undertakes the role of the Authority’s 
“Crime and Disorder Committee”.

Page 285



4.3 This Authority has also set up a joint Scrutiny Committee with Rhondda Cynon 
Taf County Borough Council, the “Cwm Taf Public Services Board Joint Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee” 

4.4 At the time of writing this report an additional Joint Scrutiny Committee is being 
established i.e. the “Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee”. See paragraph 7.0 for further details.

 
4.5  In addition each scrutiny committee at 4.2 has co-opted members who provide 

invaluable assistance to the work of the scrutiny committees and the Council as a 
whole. The membership of each committee as per 30th April 2018 is shown at 
APPENDIX I.

4.6 Co-opted membership. Each committee has:-

 1 Voluntary Sector Co-opted member as nominated by Voluntary Action 
Merthyr Tydfil (VAMT).  

 1 Merthyr Tydfil Borough-Wide Youth Forum member as nominated by the 
Forum

 There are also two publicly appointed co-opted members per scrutiny 
committee.  

 The Learning & LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee also appoints a Merthyr Tydfil 
Governors Association representative, Parent Governor Representatives and 
Church Representatives.

4.7 The diagram below shows how scrutiny “fits” into the political structure at Merthyr 
Tydfil County Borough Council.

Page 286



5.0 WORK UNDERTAKEN BY THE SCRUTINY COMMITTEES FOR 
THE PERIOD 1st MAY 2017 TO 30th APRIL 2018

Work programming is the process for determining which topics scrutiny will look 
at over a 12 month period. This involves evaluating a number of factors to decide 
which topics are to be investigated and when. The process will typically involve 
long-listing and then short-listing topics before making a final decision. Below you 
will find a list of topics that the scrutiny committees have been involved with over 
the past 12 months.

5.1 The Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services 
Scrutiny Committee. 
The Committee considered the following:-
 Draft Annual Governance Statement 2016/17
 Governance Scrutiny Report: Transformation & Efficiency Programme

Human Resources Report
 Local Authority Support to the Third Sector
 Wellbeing objective - Making Skills Work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the 

Workforce of the Future (Working Life 1)
 Overview and Scrutiny Project - Fit for the Future?
 MTCBC Transformation & Efficiency Programme
 Wellbeing Objective - Developing the Environment & Infrastructure for 

Business to Flourish (Working Life 2)
 Transformation & Efficiency Programme; Customer Work Stream
 Scrutiny of Wellbeing Objectives: Lessons Learned
 Local Authority Support to the Third Sector Services
 Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust

5.2 Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee 
The Committee considered the following:-
 Grounds maintenance, Parks and Open Spaces
 Sports pitches / facilities in the County Borough
 Vacancies for Co-opted Members
 Wellbeing objective - Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage 

and cultural (Environmental Wellbeing 2)
 The 5th quality framework for Welsh public libraries - Welsh Public Library 

Standards Return 2016-17
 Department responses to Scrutiny Committee questions - Grounds 

Maintenance, Parks and Open Spaces; and Sports Pitches/Facilities in the 
County Borough

 Overview and Scrutiny Project - Fit For the Future? Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council

 Wellbeing objective - Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural 
environment and countryside. (Environmental Wellbeing 1)

 Fly Tipping Update including Prosecutions and Penalties
 Referral from Cabinet Member; Capital Project Scrutiny Referral (Brandy 

Bridge scheme / Road Slip - South of Pontygwaith)
 Update on Carbon & Energy Management Activities
 Highways & Street Lighting – Performance Update
 Recycling / Landfill Performance Data

Page 287



 End of year report on the performance of the two wellbeing objectives : 
Environmental Wellbeing 1 and 2

5.3 Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee. 
The Committee considered the following:-
 Economic Growth Report
 Destination Management Plan Update
 Wales Audit Office Review – “Overview and Scrutiny Fit for the Future? 

Project”
 Continued Development of the Town Centre
 Enterprise and Business Support
 Cwm Taf Community Safety Needs Assessment
 Wellbeing objective - Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the 

workforce of the future (Working Life 1)
 Wellbeing objective - Developing the environment and infrastructure for 

business to flourish (Working Life 2)
 Wellbeing objective- Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage 

and cultural assets (Environmental Wellbeing 2)
 Homelessness in the County Borough
 Economic Growth Strategy and Partnership
 End of year report on the performance of the two wellbeing objectives : 

Working Life 1 and 2

5.4 Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee
 The Committee considered the following:-
 Overview of the Learning Department
 Performance Report - Corporate Plan standards of attainment
 Wellbeing objective - Children get the best start to life (Best Start to Life 1)
 The effectiveness of the Central South Consortium (CSC)
 Impact of work in the Central South Consortium's business plan on the region 

and Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council and the outcome on the Estyn 
monitoring visit

 Self-evaluation of support for school improvement
 Wellbeing Objective - Children and young people are equipped with the skills 

they need to be successful learners and confident individuals (Best Start to 
Life 2)

 Wales Audit Office Review – “Overview and Scrutiny Fit for the Future? 
Project”

 The effect of poor attendance on outcomes within our schools
 Self-evaluation Key Question 3.2 Self-evaluation and Improvement Planning
 Self-evaluation Key Question 3.1 Quality and Effectiveness of Leaders and 

Managers
 Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2017-2020
 New Estyn Inspection Areas
 National Categorisation of Schools
 Merthyr Secondary School Key Stage 4 Performance
 Governor Training and Development
 School Review Group Meetings

Page 288



 Estyn Thematic Reviews
 Local Government Education Services -Estyn Inspection Areas: 2.3 (Other 

Education Services) and 3.4 (Use Of Resources)
 Merthyr Secondary School Key Stage 4 Performance
 End of year report on the performance of the two wellbeing objectives : Best 

Start to Life 1 and 2
 Additional Learning Needs (ALN) - Review of learning resources bases 

across the Authority

5.5 Social Services Scrutiny Committee
The Committee considered the following:-
 CSSIW Performance Review of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Social Services
 Children's Services Strategy for Improving Wellbeing
 Welsh Community Care Information System
 Cwm Taf Youth Offending Service Inspection
 Annual Report on Social Services 2016 /2017
 Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014
 Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Adoption Service Annual Report
 Wellbeing Objective - People Live Independently (Living Well 3)
 Caseloads - Children's Services
 NEETS Strategy 2018 -2021
 Communities First Update report
 Wellbeing objective - Developing Safer Communities (Living Well 1)
 Cwm Taf Integrated Family Support Team's annual report 2016-2017
 Adult Social Care Strategies
 Cwm Taf Violence against Women Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 

Strategy
 Budget update
 Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014
 CTSB Annual Plan 2018-19
 Wellbeing Objective: People Have Good Physical and Mental Health (Living 

Well 2)
 End of year report on the performance of the three wellbeing objectives : 

Living Well 1, 2 and 3

5.6 Joint Scrutiny Committee
The Committee considered the following:-
 Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 2021/22 – Update
 Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 2021/22 - Service Budget 

Reduction Business Cases

6.0 SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMMES 2018/19 

6.1 At the time of this report the scrutiny work programmes are nearing completion.  
The work programmes will be aimed at ensuring scrutiny maintains a strategic 
and co-ordinated approach based on major areas of Council and partner 
organisations’ activity. 

Page 289



6.2 The selection of review topics for the work programmes takes account of what is 
of direct and significant interest to residents, and what would be timely, relevant, 
and likely to add value. Please note however that the work programmes will 
necessarily be subject to continual refinement and updating. 

6.3 It is imperative that the Council delivers its services in smarter and more efficient 
ways, and Scrutiny has a role in ensuring that decisions are well informed, that 
alternate options are considered, and that Cabinet is held to account to ensure 
decisions are robust, evidence based and transparent. This too will need to be 
considered when developing the work programmes for all the scrutiny 
committees.

7.0 ESTABLISHMENT OF THE CARDIFF CAPITAL REGION CITY 
DEAL JOINT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

7.1 At its meeting held on the 20 November 2017, the Cardiff Capital Region City 
Deal Joint Cabinet discussed proposals for the establishment of a Joint Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee (JOSC) comprising non-executive Members from each 
of the ten local authorities involved.

7.2 A report was considered by the Governance, Performance, Business Change 
and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee on 7th July 2018 when details of the 
JOSC were detailed. Subsequent to that meeting a report will be presented to 
Council on 25th July 2018 seeking Full Councils agreement to participate on the 
Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

7.3 This will be the second Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee this Authoity will 
be involved with, the other being the Cwym Taf Public Services Board Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee (with Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council).

7.4 For the future - it is worth pointing out that the Welsh Government in its White 
Paper “Reforming Local Government: Resilient and Renewed” (January 2017) 
say that the establishment of joint overview and scrutiny committees will be 
required where services are being delivered collaboratively. The WG will in due 
course provide a range of options for the approach to scrutiny and ensure that 
those undertaking scrutiny have a duty to consider the regional as well as the 
local interest.  

8.0 WALES AUDIT OFFICE REVIEW – “OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY – 
FIT FOR THE FUTURE? MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH 
COUNCIL

8.1 A `light touch` review was to be undertaken by the Wales Audit Office in the 
Autumn of 2017 which focussed on how `fit for the future` the scrutiny functions 
are and included how the Authority was responding to current challenges such as 
scrutiny of the Public Services Board. 

Page 290



8.2 At the time of writing this report we await the result of the review.

9.0 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION AT SCRUTINY 

9.1 Whilst Scrutiny members, Cabinet members and Council officers contribute 
regularly to scrutiny activities, we also welcome public attendance and input at 
our meetings. 

9.2 The involvement of local residents, community organisations and partners is an 
important part of the scrutiny process and scrutiny committees are committed to 
responding to the views and concerns of residents.  We would like to encourage 
residents and organisations to attend and contribute to scrutiny work in securing 
the best possible public services. The intention is to make sure that we are 
dealing with the matters that are most important to the community and are 
delivering quality services.

9.3 The Constitution3 allows for members of the public to attend and speak at 
scrutiny meetings. With this in mind a guide4 as to how this can work in practice 
has been produced. The guide provides details on how to for example to submit a 
written representation on an agenda item and the time limit for the member of 
public to put their case. This hopefully will allow members of the public the 
opportunity to tell Councillors directly about the things that concern them.

9.4 If members of the public feel that there is a topic that scrutiny should look at, they 
can let us know by completing a Scrutiny Request Form or by contacting the 
Scrutiny section on 01685 725464; or email scrutiny@merthyr.gov.uk

10.0 WEBCASTING OF SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETINGS

10.1 As Councillors will be aware scrutiny meetings are currently recorded but not 
webcast, as are Full Council and Planning & Regulatory meetings. 

10.2 It is becoming more commonplace across Wales for scrutiny committees to be 
webcast. Blaenau Gwent, Torfaen, Wrexham, Monmouthshire, Bridgend, 
Gwynedd, and Cardiff webcast either all or a selection of their scrutiny meetings.

10.3 In the Annual Scrutiny report 2015/16, which went to Full Council on 7th 
September 2016, there was a recommendation that “Webcasting of all / a 
selection of scrutiny committee meetings be introduced as soon as practicable 
after the May 2017 Local Government Elections”. As such it will be a 

3 MTCBC Constitution - Citizens Rights 2.03.01 (c). Participation. Citizens have the right to participate in the 
Council’s question time, speak at meetings of the Cabinet (when agended), and other Committees with the 
permission of the Chairperson and contribute to investigations by the Scrutiny Committees. 

4 “Scrutiny at MTCBC – Public Speaking Arrangements”

Page 291

https://eform.merthyr.gov.uk/default.aspx/RenderForm/?ID=gJ6qeVZ1jd1&HideToolbar=1
mailto:scrutiny@merthyr.gov.uk
http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/1628/scrutiny-public-speaking-arrangements-guidance.pdf


recommendation of this report that consideration be given to the piloting of 
webcasting of a selection of scrutiny meetings.

11.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
11.1 There are no financial implications as a result of this report.

12.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

12.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose 
of this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  
The form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality 
Impact Assessment’ link.  

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

As per document 
references
Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 292



 

AUDIT COMMITTEE       /          DEMOCRATIC SERVICES COMMITTEE 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

VACANT 
(Indep Grp) 

 
 
 

VACANT 
(Indep Grp) 

Mr David Gibby (Lay Person with voting rights on 
Audit Committee) 
 

N.B. Mr Gibby is not a member of the  
Democratic Services Committee 

 Cllr Darren Roberts 
(Chair) (Labour) 

Cllr Chris Barry 
 (V Chair) Labour 

Cllr Julian Amos 
(Indep Member) 

 Cllr Lee Davies  
(Indep Grp) 

Cllr Sherelle Jago 
(Indep Grp) 

Cllr Clive Jones  
(Labour) 

Cllr Gareth Lewis 
(Labour) 

Cllr Declan Sammon 
(Indep Grp) 

  

 

CABINET  
(and Portfolios) 

SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEES (x6) 

There is 6th “Joint Scrutiny Committee” to be chaired by the Chair of the Governance Scrutiny Committee, and membership will comprise all members (Councillors and Co-opted Members) of the 5 Scrutiny committees as 
shown below.  Quorum for the Joint Scrutiny Committee will be at least half the Councillor membership of the Committee eligible to be present; to include at least one Councillor Member from each of the five scrutiny 
committees as per below. The quorum for the Governance Scrutiny committee is five Councillors present, and the remaining four scrutiny committees, the quorum is three Councillors present. 

 

Cllr 
Kevin 
O’Neill 
(Indep Grp) 

  

Cllr 
Andrew 
Barry 
 
(Indep Grp) 

 

Governance, 
Performance, 

Business 
Change, and 

Corporate 
Services 

(4.00pm start) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

    

As
 A

ud
it 

C
ha

ir 

(Co-optees) 
 
Mr Jeff Beard Public (non-voting) 
 
Mrs Alison Harris  Public (non-voting) 
 
Vacant -  Voluntary Sector (non-voting) 
 
Kaitlin Sutton MTBWYF (non-voting) Leader of the Council Governance and 

Corporate Services 
Cllr Tanya 

Skinner 
(Chair) (Indep Grp) 

Cllr Tony 
Rogers(V Chair)  

(Indep Member) 

Cllr Julian 
Amos 

(Indep Member) 

Cllr Brent 
Carter 

Labour 

Cllr Chris 
Davies 
(Indep Grp) 

Cllr David 
Jones 
Labour 

Cllr Harvey 
Jones 
Labour 

Cllr Declan 
Sammon 
(Indep Grp) 

Cllr Bill 
Smith 
Labour 

Cllr Darren 
Roberts  

Labour 

 

 

Cllr 
Howard 
Barrett 

 
 (Indep Grp) 

 

Neighbourhood 
Services, 

Planning and 
Countryside 

 
 

(2.30pm start) 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Co-opted Members 
 

Mr John McCarthy  
Mr Robert Holdaway  

Vacant 
                Ethan Scriven 

 

 
 
 

Public Appointed (non-voting) 
Public Appointed (non-voting) 
Voluntary Sector (non-voting) 
Merthyr Tydfil Borough Wide Youth Forum 
(MTBWYF) Neighbourhood 

Services, Planning and 
Countryside 

Cllr Declan 
Sammon 

(Chair)  (Indep Grp) 

Cllr David 
Jones 

(V Chair)  Labour 

Cllr Rhonda 
Braithwaite 

Labour 

Cllr Malcolm 
Colbran 
(Indep Grp) 

Cllr Kevin 
Gibbs 

(Indep Grp) 

Cllr Clive 
Jones 
Labour 

Cllr John 
Thomas 
(Indep Grp) 

 

Cllr  
Geraint 
Thomas 
 
(Indep Grp) 

 

Regeneration 
and Public 
Protection 

(also Crime & Disorder 
Committee) 

 
(2.30pm start) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Co-opted Members 
 

Mrs Hilary Hopkins 
Vacant  

Mr Howard Jackson 
Morgan Ellis 

 

 

 
 
 
Public Appointed (non-voting) 
Public Appointed (non-voting) 
Voluntary Sector (non-voting) 
Merthyr Tydfil Borough Wide Youth Forum 
(MTBWYF) Regeneration and 

Public Protection 
Cllr Julian 

Amos (Chair) 
(Indep Member) 

Cllr Brent 
Carter 

(V Chair) (Labour) 

Cllr Chris  
Barry 
Labour 

Cllr Paul 
Brown 

(Merthyr Indep) 

Cllr Malcolm 
Colbran 
(Indep Grp) 

Cllr Ernie 
Galsworthy  

Labour 

Cllr Gareth 
Lewis  
Labour 

 

 
Cllr Lisa 
Mytton 
(Dep Leader) 
 
(Indep Grp) 

 
Learning and 

LAESCYP 
 

 (LAESCYP - Local 
Authority Education 

Services for Children and 
Young People) 

 

(4.00pm start) 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Co-opted Members 
Vacant 
Vacant 

Mr Alan Rees 
Mrs Anne Roberts 

Vacant 
Mrs Rosa Lazell 
Ms Claire Brown 

Ryan Crowley           

 
 MT Assoc. of School Governors (non-voting) 
 Public Appointed (non-voting) 
 Public Appointed (non-voting) 
 Voluntary Sector (non-voting) 
 Diocesan Rep – Catholic Diocesan (voting) 
 Parent Governor - Secondary/Special (voting) 
 Parent Governor – Primary (voting) 
Merthyr Tydfil Borough Wide Youth Forum (MTBWYF) 
 

 
Learning  

Cllr Harvey 
Jones (Chair) 

Labour 

Cllr Chris 
Davies 

 (V Chair) (Indep Gp) 

Cllr David 
Chaplin 

Labour 

  Cllr Lee 
Davies 

 (Indep Grp) 

  Cllr Sherelle 
Jago 

 (Indep Grp) 

  Cllr Declan 
Sammon 
 (Indep Grp) 

Cllr Scott 
Thomas  

Labour 

 

Cllr 
David 
Hughes 
 
(Indep Grp) 

 
 
 

Social Services 

(3.00pm start) 

 

  

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

VACANT 
(Indep Grp 

 

Co-opted Members 
Mr Michael Elford 

Vacant 
Mr Brian Lewis 

           Vacant 

 
 
 
 

    Public Appointed (non- voting) 
    Public Appointed (non-voting) 

Voluntary Sector (non-voting) 
Merthyr Tydfil Borough Wide Youth Forum 
(MTBWYF) 

 
Social Services 

Cllr Bill Smith 
(Chair)  (Labour) 

Cllr Declan 
Sammon 

Vice Chair (Indep Gp) 

Cllr Gareth 
Richards 

Labour 

Cllr Tony 
Rogers 

(Indep Member) 

Cllr Ian 
Thomas 

Labour 

Cllr Clive 
Tovey 

(Indep Grp) 

  

 
 

 

PLANNING, REGULATORY & LICENSING COMMITTEE     /      STATUTORY LICENSING COMMITTEE 
See Constitution for membership rules of “Licensing Sub Committee”; “Statutory Licensing Sub Committee”; and “Rights of Way Committee” 

 

 
 

 

 
 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
Cllr Clive Tovey 
(Chair) Indep Grp 

Cllr Malcolm Colbran 
(Indep Grp) 

Cllr David Chaplin 
Labour 

Cllr Julian Amos  
(Indep Member) 

Cllr Scott Thomas  
Labour 

Cllr Clive Jones 
Labour 

Cllr Kevin Gibbs 
(Indep Grp) 

Cllr Gareth Lewis  
Labour 

Cllr John Thomas 
(Indep Grp) 

Cllr Ernie Galsworthy  
Labour 

Cllr Howard Barrett 
 (Indep Grp) (Vice Chair) 

Gurnos Bedlinog Cyfarthfa Dowlais Merthyr Vale Park Penydarren Plymouth Town Treharris Vaynor 

Version 16th April 2018 
  

P
age 293

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s28655/MTCBC%20Constitution.pdf
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=467
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=483
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=467
jonesh1
Highlight

jonesh1_1
Text Box
        APPENDIX I



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Change to Committee Appointments 2018-2019 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To agree the Appointment of Councillor Jeremy Davies to the Neighbourhood 
Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee following the Gurnos By-
Election on Thursday 26 July 2018.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS THAT

2.1 Councillor Jeremy Davies be appointed to the Neighbourhood Services, Planning 
and Countryside Scrutiny Committee.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The outcome of the Gurnos Ward By-election affected the balance of allocation of 
seats to scrutiny committees and the vacancy has been allocated to an Independent 
Group member.

3.2 Councillor Jeremy Davies has been nominated as the Independent Group’s 
representative to fill the vacancy on the Neighbourhood Services, Planning and 
Countryside Scrutiny Committee.

Date Written 14th September 2018
Report Author Ann Taylor
Service Area Democratic Services
Exempt / Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 295

Agenda Item 11



4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

4.1 There are no additional financial implications associated with this report.

5.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR KEVIN O’NEILL
LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

No Background Papers

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s Constitution? Yes
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 296



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Home to School Transport
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report proposes changes to the current home to school transport service 
for pupils in mainstream education. The report seeks approval to consult with 
the community on options of change.

1.2 Based on the principle of providing high quality education in the Borough of 
Merthyr Tydfil for Merthyr Tydfil children, a business case (appendix 1) has 
been developed that appraises three options:

1.2.1 Option 1 – The service remains as is.

1.2.2 Option 2 – Streamline the service so free home to school transport is 
provided for children attending schools within Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough (including Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun for Welsh-medium and St 
Johns for faith).

1.2.3 Option 3 – Streamline the service so free home to school transport is 
provided for children attending schools within Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough (including Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun for Welsh-medium)

1.3 The consultation process will ensure that the community has access to the 
information regarding the possible options before any decision is made. It will 
also give the community the opportunity to express any views they may have.

Date Written 12th September 2018
Report Author Sue Walker & Alyn Owen
Service Area Learning & Transport
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 297

Agenda Item 12



2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS  that:

2.1 Council approve the start of a public consultation exercise regarding options 
for the provision of mainstream home to school transport, which will be 
conducted from October 2018 to January 2019. 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Following the review of home to school transport it has become apparent that 
the Council is providing transport for pupils in mainstream education to attend 
schools outside of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough. This report puts forward 
options for the mainstream transport service to be streamlined whereby free 
home to school transport is provided for children attending schools within the 
County Borough only. Transport to the Welsh-medium school (Ysgol Gyfun 
Rhydywaun) will continue, along with the Church in Wales faith school (St 
Johns) in option 2.

3.2 To be able to gather the views of service users and the wider public, we would 
like to consult on the options in this report and indeed gather additional views 
should they arise.

3.3 The current home to school transport policy states that for pupils of 
compulsory school age (5-16) there is a statutory duty placed upon the 
Authority to provide free home to school transport to a pupil’s nearest suitable 
school if they reside beyond the ‘walking distance’ to that school - i.e. 2 miles 
for primary aged pupils and 3 miles for secondary aged pupils. Based on our 
current policy, this is the case even if the school attended is not maintained by 
the Authority, for example, if it is in a neighbouring Local Authority area.

3.4 The Council provides free transport to a number of schools outside the County 
Borough. There are six secondary schools and one primary school to which 
pupils from Merthyr Tydfil are transported to, these are listed below:

3.4.1 The schools are:

 Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun, RCT
 Lewis Boys School, Pengam
 Lewis Girls School, Ystrad Mynach
 Ysgol Gyfun Cwm Rhymni, Blackwood
 Cardinal Newman R.C School, Pontypridd
 St Johns Baptist Church in Wales High School, Aberdare
 St Michael's R.C Primary, Pontypridd

3.5 Currently for academic year 2018/19, 593 pupils are transported to schools 
outside of the County Borough. 413 pupils attend Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun 
and the remaining 180 pupils attend the other 6 schools listed in 3.4. These 
figures are detailed in the Finance section of the Business Case below 
(appendix 1)

Page 298



3.6 In reviewing the current service delivery three options have been considered, 
with the principle of continuing to provide high quality education within the 
Borough of Merthyr Tydfil for Merthyr Tydfil children. The first option is to 
remain as is. The second option is to streamline the service whereby free 
home to school transport is provided for children attending schools within 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough (including Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun for Welsh-
medium and St Johns for Church in Wales faith). The third option is to 
streamline the service whereby free home to school transport is provided for 
children attending schools within Merthyr Tydfil County Borough (including 
Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun for Welsh-medium). These three options are detailed 
in section 6 below.

4.0 RATIONALE

4.1 The reviewing of the mainstream home to school transport service arose as 
part of an exercise set out by Corporate Management Team (CMT). Here we 
considered the long term sustainability of the service and the continuation of 
providing the required educational needs within the County Borough. In 
addition we also recognised our transport and education policies could be 
better aligned, thus preventing pupils looking outside the County Borough to 
meet their needs and consequently increasing the funding schools receive. 
Currently we pay £162,984.00 per year to transport pupils to schools in other 
Local Authorities (excluding Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun) and we are not gaining 
any benefit from doing so. In options 2 and 3 we are proposing to retain 
Merthyr children within Merthyr Tydfil education; to benefit our pupil numbers 
and as a result will boost the budget for schools. Please see section 5 below 
for further explanation on pupil-funding.

4.2 As an Authority, we have a legal duty to provide free home to school transport 
for pupils of compulsory school age (5-16), to their ‘nearest suitable’ school if 
they reside beyond the ‘walking distance’ to that school (2 miles for primary 
aged pupils and 3 miles for secondary aged pupils). However the Learner 
Travel Operational Guidance (2014) says that deciding which suitable school 
is the learners 'nearest' is a matter for the Authority to determine in 
accordance with our own transport and education policies. Currently we have 
no definition in our school admissions policy of what is a ‘suitable school’ so 
historical practice in some instances is to simply transport to the nearest 
school according to distance, which for some pupils is outside the County 
Borough.

4.3 The Learner Travel Operational Guidance (2014) defines ‘nearest suitable 
school’ as: “where the ‘education or training provided is suitable having regard 
for the age, ability and aptitudes of the learner and any learning difficulties he 
or she may have’”, not necessarily the nearest in terms of distance.

4.4 Options 2 and 3 recommend a change in policy wording to better define the 
term ‘nearest suitable’ and to also state that the nearest suitable will be within 
the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough (unless the provision is not provided within 
Merthyr Tydfil). This would help implement the benefits outlined in 4.1.

Page 299



4.5 There are 3 options listed in section 1 and explained further in section 6. 
Officers would like to engage with service users and the wider public 
regarding these options.

4.6 Using the approved Operating Model Design of the Council and the Wellbeing 
of Future Generation (WFG) Act it is proposed to progress possible options for 
changing the home to school transport provision by going out to public 
consultation in October 2018. 

4.7 The consultation process will ensure that the community has access to the 
information about the possible options before any decision is made. It will also 
give the community the opportunity to ask questions and express their views.

4.8 Consultation events will be held at key locations where the majority of people 
who would potentially be affected live. The consultation will also be carried out 
via digital interactions on the consultation hub, Social Media and Council 
website. This will be done over a 12 week period (not including school 
holidays) starting in October 2018 and expected to end January 2019.

4.9 It is proposed that the feedback from the public consultation exercise is 
presented back to Council in 2019. Following Council decision, any policy 
changes will be made in October 2019 ready for implementation in the 
academic year 2020/21. Parents will be made aware in the new admissions 
policy which schools transport will be provided to, so they are fully informed 
before they make their school choice.  

4.10 Any removal of mainstream transport to a school shall not affect children 
already in attendance. Therefore transport will not completely cease from a 
school until academic year 2023/24. However the number of pupils accessing 
free transport will reduce year on year. Pupils who have already started at the 
school, on or before academic year 2019/20 will be offered free transport for 
their remaining time at the school.

4.11 The amount of additional funding schools may receive via pupil funding is 
governed by the Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and therefore this needs to 
be considered. Please see section 5 below for further explanation.

5.0 PUPIL FUNDING

5.1 The Welsh Government provides funding to local authorities for pre-16 
provision in schools through the local government revenue settlement in the 
form of the Revenue Support Grant (RSG). The RSG is distributed to local 
authorities using a commonly agreed formula. Local authorities are then 
responsible for deciding how they spend their allocation of RSG on the 
services for which they are responsible, which includes schools. Internally we 
use a funding formula for determining how much funding each school will 
receive (based on a number of factors such as size and pupil numbers).

Page 300



5.2 The amount of RSG each local authority in Wales receives is announced 
annually in the Local Government Settlement. The amount is determined by a 
number of factors, but one factor is the number of pupils in our education 
system. If our pupil numbers increase, the more grant we receive. However it 
should be noted that this positive increase in funding for pupils numbers may 
still mean an overall reduction in RSG for the Authority.  

5.3 For 2018/19, we have calculated that there would have been a net financial 
benefit to the Authority for each pupil moving to one of our schools. The 
figures for 2019/20 onwards will not be known until each settlement is 
released, but we are confident that each additional pupil moving into our 
schools would give us a net financial benefit. Although, it needs to be 
highlighted that there is a potential risk associated with increasing pupil 
numbers. If the RSG funding does not cover the funding required for schools 
to absorb those extra pupils, the money would need to be found corporately.

5.4 For academic year 2018/19 we have 180 pupils (year 7 – 13) being 
transported to schools outside of the County Borough (excluding Ysgol Gyfun 
Rhydywaun) at a cost of £162,984.00 per year.

5.5 As we are proposing a phased approach with the 2 options, whereby any new 
children in 2020/21 will be encouraged to attend Merthyr Schools, the number 
of additional children per year (based on a current year group average) that 
potentially will be joining Merthyr Tydfil schools is 30. 

6.0 OPTIONS

6.1 This section details the options with risks, potential financial savings and the 
advantages and disadvantages. Appendix 1 describes how the options relate 
to the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act, including the Council Wellbeing 
Objectives.

6.2 Option 1 – Remain as is

This option assumes that the current arrangements remain, that there are no 
changes to current provision.

Page 301



6.2.1 There will be no revenue savings with this option as there will be no 
change to the service. It’s good to note that spend could increase when 
operator contracts are renewed/retendered in the future.

6.2.2 The two highest risks that have been identified to implement this option 
are: the Council fails to achieve the revenue savings required and future 
travel costs could escalate. To mitigate these risks it is advantageous to 
implement option 2 or 3.

6.3 Option 2 – Streamline service

Streamline the service so we provide free home to school transport for 
children attending schools within Merthyr Tydfil County Borough (including 
Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun for Welsh-medium education and St Johns for faith).

Advantages Disadvantages
* There will be no immediate change to 
the service that we currently provide.

* Transport operators will continue with 
contracts so no impact on local 
businesses

* Free transport will continue to the 
Welsh provider which positively promotes 
Welsh medium education and is in 
accordance with the Education Act 1996.

* Free transport will continue to the 
nearest Church in Wales faith provider.

* The Council will fail to achieve any financial 
savings potentially putting other services at risk

* The cost of running the service in the future is 
likely to increase due to operator fare increases.

* We fail to support our own schools.

* We are losing out on additional pupil funding 
per year

Page 302



6.3.1 The revenue savings in option 2 will be approximately £80,278.80 per 
year. This saving is based on current figures for academic year 2018/19. 
It is made up of potentially 115 pupils not needing transport to their 
nearest suitable school within Merthyr Tydfil (according to the distance 
criteria)

6.3.2 The two highest risks that have been identified to implement this option 
are: the Council fails to achieve the revenue savings required and travel 
costs could escalate. To mitigate these risks options can go to public 
consultation to gauge public view and a communication plan developed 
and implemented. 

6.4 Option 3 – Streamline service

Streamline the service so we provide free home to school transport for 
children attending schools within Merthyr Tydfil County Borough (including 
Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun for Welsh-medium education).

Advantages Disadvantages
* It keeps Merthyr Tydfil children studying 
within the County Borough to benefit our 
Education service. Currently we are 
paying for pupils to study in schools in 
other Local Authorities.

* Additional money may go into the 
Education budget (pupil funding) by 
retaining pupils within Merthyr Tydfil.

* Free transport will continue to the 
Welsh provider which positively promotes 
Welsh medium education and is in 
accordance with the Education Act 1996.

* Free transport will continue to the 
nearest Church in Wales faith provider.

* We may achieve some savings. Most 
children will still need to be transported to 
a Merthyr school as they comply with the 
distance criteria. However there may be 
some pupils who do not comply and 
therefore a smaller bus could be used.

* Fail to achieve long term revenue savings.

* Potential impact on transport operators with 
the change in some contracts.

* Possible negative feedback from parents and 
schools.

* The cost of running the service in the future is 
likely to increase due to operator fare increases. 
For academic year 2018/19 the cost of home to 
school transport increase by approximately 3%.

Page 303



6.4.1 The revenue savings in option 2 will be approximately £162,984.00 per 
year. This saving is based on current figures for academic year 2018/19. 
It is made up of potentially 180 pupils not needing transport to their 
nearest suitable school within Merthyr Tydfil (according to the distance 
criteria)

6.4.2 The three highest risks that have been identified to implement this option 
are: future travel costs could escalate, could impact on local travel 
operators and possible negative feedback from parents and schools. To 
mitigate these risks options can go to public consultation to gauge public 
view and a communication plan developed and implemented.

7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

7.1 There are no financial implications concerned with this report.

8.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

8.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the 
purpose of this report. The outcomes are summarised below. The form can be 
accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via ‘Equality Impact Assessment’ 
link.

Advantages Disadvantages
* It keeps Merthyr Tydfil children studying 
within the County Borough to benefit our 
Education service. Currently we are 
paying for pupils to study in schools in 
other Local Authorities.

* Additional money may go into the 
Education budget (pupil funding) by 
retaining pupils within Merthyr Tydfil.

* Free transport will continue to the 
Welsh provider which positively promotes 
Welsh medium education and is in 
accordance with the Education Act 1996.

* We may achieve some savings. Most 
children will still need to be transported to 
a Merthyr school as they comply with the 
distance criteria. However there may be 
some pupils who do not comply and 
therefore a smaller bus could be used.

* Fail to achieve long term revenue savings.

* Potential impact on transport operators with 
the change in some contracts.

* Possible negative feedback from parents and 
schools.

* The cost of running the service in the future is 
likely to increase due to operator fare increases. 
For academic year 2018/19 the cost of home to 
school transport increase by approximately 3% 
compared to the previous year.

Page 304



8.2 It has been deemed that there is a neutral impact on all of the 11 protected 
characteristics at this time (pre-consultation).

SUE WALKER
CHIEF OFFICER FOR LEARNING

ALYN OWEN
CHIEF OFFICER FOR REGENERATION

LISA MYTTON
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING

GERAINT THOMAS
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION AND PUBLIC 
PROTECTION 

Page 305



Appendix A
Business Case – Home to School Transport

Project Title Home to School Transport

Date September 2018

Lead Officer(s) Sue Walker and Alyn Owen

Service Area Learning and Transport

Purpose of the Business Case

Project Background
In the sections below, please give the reasons identified for this project to take place, addressing the 
Council's Wellbeing Objectives (Wellbeing of Future Generation Act, 2015) and what has encouraged 
the development of this business case?  Consider what approach has been taken place against the 5 
Ways of Working e.g. - take an integrated approach when setting and taking steps to meet our 
Wellbeing Objectives; work with others in a collaborative way to find shared sustainable solutions; 
involve people in the decisions that affect them, reflecting the diversity of our communities.  Please 
build on Project Concept.

The purpose of this project is to outline & appraise proposed changes to the mainstream 
home to school transport service. This business case aims to explore a potential alternative 
to the current way the service is delivered.

The provision of the home to school transport service is managed by the Public Protection 
and Housing Service, and the policy is determined by the Education department. The current 
policy for the provision of mainstream home to school transport 2018/19 states that for pupils 
of compulsory school age (5-16) there is a statutory duty placed upon the Authority to 
provide free home to school transport to a pupil’s nearest suitable school if they reside 
beyond the ‘walking distance’ to that school - i.e. 2 miles for primary aged pupils and 3 miles 
for secondary aged pupils. Currently this is the case even if the school attended is not 
maintained by the Authority, for example, if it is in a neighbouring Local Authority area.

The Learner Travel Operational Guidance (2014) defines ‘nearest suitable school’ as:
“where the ‘education or training provided is suitable having regard for the age, ability and 
aptitudes of the learner and any learning difficulties he or she may have’”, not necessarily 
the nearest in terms of distance.

The provision of school transport is funded out of core grant funding. For the upcoming 
academic year 2018/19 the total cost of mainstream transport will be £1,090,843 for 1478 

Page 306



pupils (figures as of 09/08/2018). 

There are 10 Merthyr Tydfil Schools we currently provide free mainstream travel to. They 
consist of 4 secondary schools and 6 primary schools.

There are 7 schools outside the County Borough we currently provide free mainstream 
transport to. These are:

* Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun, RCT (Welsh)
* Lewis Boys School, Pengam
* Lewis Girls School, Ystrad Mynach
* Ysgol Gyfun Cwm Rhymni, Blackwood (Welsh)
* St Michael's R.C, Pontypridd (Faith)
* Cardinal Newman R.C School, Pontypridd (Faith)
* St Johns Baptist Church in Wales High School, Aberdare (Faith)

Business Need / Case for Change

In the Learner Travel Operational Guidance (2014), the definition of 'nearest suitable school' 
is where the education is suitable having regard for the age, ability and aptitudes of the 
learner. Relevant legislation in the Learner Travel (Wales) Measure 2008 states that 
transport must be provided free of charge to a school outside a Local Authority's area if that 
establishment is deemed to be the learner's ‘nearest suitable’ school by the Authority.

The guidance says that deciding which suitable school is the learners 'nearest' is a matter for 
the Authority to determine in accordance with our own transport and education policies. 
Parents and learners may express a preference for a particular school or a particular type of 
language/faith provision but the Learner Travel (Wales) Measure 2008 does not confer on 
those parents and learners any rights to free transport to their preferred school, unless that 
school is determined by the Authority to be their nearest suitable school and the learner 
meets the distance criteria.

Currently we have no definition in our school admissions policy of what is a ‘suitable school’. 
Also, our transport policy is not aligned with our school admissions policy. Within the 
transport policy, it does not list or refer to any particular schools and therefore when parents 
approach us requesting travel for their child, the Transport team simply identify which school 
is their ‘nearest suitable’ according to distance (which for some pupils is outside the County 
Borough). With this in mind, for two options outlined below we are proposing to better align 
the two policies and also identify ‘nearest suitable’ schools within the school admissions 
policy. This way there will be a definitive list of what schools we will provide transport to, and 
the transport policy will make reference to this list.

Welsh-Medium Education

As an Authority, we have a legal duty to promote access to Welsh-medium education. The 

Page 307



Learner Travel (Wales) Measure 2008 states when Local Authorities decide which schools 
are most suitable for learners, they have a duty under Section 10 of the measure to 'promote 
access to education and training through the medium of Welsh'. In assessing the needs of 
Welsh learners, there is no Welsh secondary education provider in Merthyr Tydfil and so the 
nearest suitable school is Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun in Rhondda Cynon Taff.

The Education Act 1996 - Section 354 states it is the Local Authority's policy that every child 
should have the opportunity to learn and use the Welsh language. Our School Admissions 
policy 2018/19 names Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun as the school to continue their education 
after primary school.

Faith education

We currently provide mainstream home to school transport for students to attend three faith 
schools out of the County Borough. These are St Johns Baptist Church in Wales High 
School (Aberdare), Cardinal Newman R.C School (Pontypridd) and St Michael's R.C Primary 
School (Pontypridd). The above faith schools are not currently listed in our School 
Admissions policy.

The Learner Travel (Wales) Measure 2008 guidance on faith provision is if a learner wishes 
to attend a faith-based school which is the ‘nearest suitable’ and also meets the distance 
criteria, then the local authority will be under a duty to provide free home to school transport. 
However if this criteria is not met, there is no legal requirement for a local authority to 
provide free transport. In such cases, the provision of transport is a discretionary matter.

With regards to Cardinal Newman R.C School and St Michael’s R.C School, they are both 
Roman Catholic schools. However in Merthyr Tydfil we have 4 Roman Catholic schools (3 
primary’s and 1 secondary). Therefore these schools would be a suitable school for children 
living in Merthyr Tydfil who are of Catholic faith. However currently 15 children are 
transported to catholic faith schools outside of the County Borough at a cost of £26,204.80.

St John’s is a Church in Wales (Anglican) secondary school in neighbouring authority 
Rhondda Cynon Taff. Children can attend St Johns from ages 11 to 18 and currently we 
transport 65 pupils from Merthyr Tydfil at a cost of £82,705.20. However there are no 
Christian/Anglican primary schools in Merthyr Tydfil. Currently pupils attend non-faith 
primary schools and then choose to continue their studies from year 7 onwards at St John’s. 
St John’s admissions policy states they will accept pupils who are not of faith as well as 
those who are. 

Equality legislation and school transport

In the Learner Travel (Wales) Measure 2008 it states we have the following legal obligations:

1. Provide free home to school transport for learners of compulsory school age 
attending primary school who live 2 miles or further from their nearest suitable 
school.

2. Provide free home to school transport for learners of compulsory school age 

Page 308



attending secondary school who live 3 miles or further from their nearest suitable 
school.

3. Discretionary provision to all other establishments (including faith, post-16)
4. Promote access to Welsh medium education.

Section 11 of the Equality Act (2010) states that in relation to religious or belief related 
discrimination, the provisions of the Equality Act do not apply with regards to transport to and 
from school. Therefore, it is legal to provide more favourable treatment to pupils of one 
particular religion or belief over another type of religion or belief. However local authorities 
still need to ensure that their transport policies do not unlawfully discriminate in relation to 
other protected characteristics or contravene the Human Rights Act and also that they 
comply with the statutory Learner Travel Guidance.

As well as the duty to provide transport for some pupils, a Local Authority has discretionary 
powers to provide home to school transport for other learners. A Local Authority does not 
have to use their discretionary powers to provide free travel. However, if they do the 
authority must ensure the policy is fair, reasonable and complies with relevant equality 
legislation to ensure that they do not discriminate unlawfully between learners when using 
their discretionary powers.

Pupil funding

The Welsh Government provides funding to local authorities for pre-16 provision in schools 
through the local government revenue settlement in the form of the Revenue Support Grant 
(RSG). The RSG is distributed to local authorities using a commonly agreed formula. Local 
authorities are then responsible for deciding how they spend their allocation of RSG on the 
services for which they are responsible, which includes schools. Internally, we use a funding 
formula for determining how much funding each school will receive (based on a number of 
factors such as size and pupil numbers).

The amount of RSG each local authority in Wales receives is announced annually in the 
Local Government Settlement. The amount is determined by a number of factors, but one 
factor is the number of pupils in our education system. If our pupil numbers increase, the 
more grant we receive. However it should be noted that this positive increase in funding for 
pupils numbers may still mean an overall reduction in RSG for the Authority.  

For 2018/19, we have calculated that there would have been a net financial benefit to the 
Authority for each pupil moving to one of our schools. The figures for 2019/20 onwards will 
not be known until each settlement is released, but we are confident that each additional 
pupil moving into our schools would give us a net financial benefit. Although, it needs to be 
highlighted that there is a potential risk associated with increasing pupil numbers. If the RSG 
funding does not cover the funding required for schools to absorb those extra pupils, the 
money would need to be found corporately.

For academic year 2018/19 we have 180 pupils (year 7 – 13) being transported to schools 
outside of the County Borough (excluding Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun) at a cost of £162,984.00 
per year.

Page 309



As we are proposing a phased approach with the 2 options, whereby any new children in 
2020/21 will be encouraged to attend Merthyr Schools, the number of additional children per 
year (based on a current year group average) that potentially will be joining Merthyr Tydfil 
schools is 30. 

Coach operator contracts

Transport operator contracts were renewed in July 2018 for one year and most operators 
increased their renewal contracts. In total the service to transport children out of the County 
Borough (excluding Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun) for 2018/19 will cost £8,215.70 more than it 
did in 2017/18. 
The cost to run the service is expected to increase further in the future.

Implementation

For the proposed options, changes cannot be implemented until Academic year 2020/21 and 
the first savings will not be realised until April 2021. 
Following Council decision, any changes to the admissions policy will be made in October 
2019 in readiness for the following academic year 2020/21. Parents will be made aware in 
the new admissions policy which schools transport will be provided to, so they are fully 
informed before they make their school choice.  

Any removal of mainstream transport to a school shall not affect children already in 
attendance. Therefore transport will not completely cease from a school until academic year 
2023/24. However the number of pupils accessing free transport will reduce year on year 
over the 4 years.
Pupils who have already started at the school, on or before academic year 2019/20 will be 
offered free transport for their remaining time at the school.

There are three options for consideration within this business case:

* Option 1 - Remain as is
* Option 2 – Streamline the service so free transport is provided for children attending 
schools within Merthyr Tydfil borough (including Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun for Welsh-medium 
and St Johns for faith)
* Option 3 - Streamline the service so free transport is provided for children attending 
schools within Merthyr Tydfil borough (including Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun for Welsh-medium)

These options will be explored in more detail in the options section below.

Page 310



Consultation & Engagement
A full 12 week public consultation exercise is planned for this project, starting in October 2018 and 
expected to end January 2019. The 12 weeks will not include school holidays.

Consultation events will be held at key locations. The consultation will also be done via digital 
interactions on the consultation hub, Social Media and Council website. 

HR Implications
No MTCBC staff would be affected by removal of school transport at this time.

Corporate Fit and Project Drivers
Please indicate where the project meets our Wellbeing objectives and/or service objectives.
Wellbeing of Future Generations Act (2015)  Y

Social Services & Wellbeing  Act (2014) N

Driven by External Funding Opportunity N

Driven by Service Benefits / Resilience Y

Driven by Savings Opportunities Y

Other (please state): N/A

Options:
Provide information and data regarding the proposed service changes.  In this section please refer to 
the nine Wellbeing objectives.  

1. Option 1 – Remain as is; this option assumes that the current arrangements 
remain and there are no changes to current provision

Option 1 description

There is no change to the existing arrangements.

Advantages

 There will be no immediate changes to the service that we currently provide.
 Transport operators will continue with contracts so no impact on local 

businesses
 Free transport will continue to the Welsh provider (Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun) 

which positively promotes Welsh-medium education and is in accordance with 
the Education Act 1996.

Page 311



 Free transport will continue to St Johns Baptist C.I.W School (faith provider).

Disadvantages

 The cost of running the service in the future is likely to increase due to 
operator fare increases. For academic year 2018/19 the cost of home to 
school transport increased by approximately 3% compared to the previous 
year.

 We fail to support our own educational establishments.
 We are losing out on additional pupil-funding per year due to the children 

being educated in other Authorities.
 The Council will fail to achieve any financial savings potentially putting other 

services at risk.

2. Option 2 – Reduce the service; free transport is provided for children attending 
schools within Merthyr Tydfil County Borough (including Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun 
and St Johns)

Option 2 Description

Streamline the service so we provide free mainstream home to school transport for 
pupils attending schools within Merthyr Tydfil. Still with the caveat that the school is 
their nearest suitable and is more than 2 miles (Primary) or 3 miles (Secondary) away 
from home.
Free transport will no longer be available for pupils who wish to attend a different 
school to those listed in our School Admissions Policy. However, free transport will 
still be provided to Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun for Welsh-medium education and St 
Johns for Faith education.

Advantages

 It keeps more Merthyr Tydfil children studying within the County Borough to 
benefit our Education service. Currently we are paying for pupils to study in 
schools in other Local Authorities. 

 Additional money will go into the schools budget (pupil funding) by retaining 
pupils within Merthyr Tydfil.

 Free transport will continue to the Welsh provider (Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun) 
which positively promotes Welsh-medium education and is in accordance with 
the Education Act 1996.

 Free transport will continue to St Johns Baptist C.I.W School (faith provider).
 We may achieve some savings. Most children will still need to be transported 

to a Merthyr school as they comply with the distance criteria. However there 
may be some pupils who do not and therefore a smaller bus could be used.

Disadvantages

 Possible negative feedback from parents and schools.
 Potential impact on transport operators with the change in some contracts.

Page 312



 The cost of running the service in the future is likely to increase due to 
operator fare increases. For academic year 2018/19 the cost of home to 
school transport increased by approximately 3% compared to the previous 
year.

3. Option 3 – Reduce the service; free transport is provided for children attending 
schools within Merthyr Tydfil County Borough (including Ysgol Gyfun 
Rhydywaun)

Option 3 Description

Streamline the service so we provide free mainstream home to school transport for 
pupils attending schools within Merthyr Tydfil. Still with the caveat that the school is 
their nearest suitable and is more than 2 miles (Primary) or 3 miles (Secondary) away 
from home.
Free transport will no longer be available for pupils who wish to attend a different 
school to those listed in our School Admissions Policy. However, free transport will 
still be provided to the Welsh provider (Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun).

Advantages

 It keeps more Merthyr Tydfil children studying within the County Borough to 
benefit our Education service. Currently we are paying for pupils to study in 
schools in other Local Authorities. 

 Additional money will go into the schools budget (pupil funding) by retaining 
pupils within Merthyr Tydfil.

 Free transport will continue to the Welsh provider (Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun) 
which positively promotes Welsh-medium education and is in accordance with 
the Education Act 1996.

 We will achieve savings. Most children will not comply with the distance 
criteria as they live close enough to their catchment school, so will not need 
transport. Some lower valleys pupils may still need to be transported to a 
Merthyr school but a smaller bus could be used.

 The service will be more sustainable in the future.

Disadvantages

 Possible negative feedback from parents and schools.
 Potential impact on transport operators with the change/loss of some 

contracts.
 The cost of running the service in the future is likely to increase due to 

operator fare increases. For academic year 2018/19 the cost of home to 
school transport increased by approximately 3% compared to the previous 
year.

Page 313



Project Objectives and Critical Success Factors - Home to School Transport

The tables below identifies whether each option will meet the project objectives, critical success factors, wellbeing objectives and project outcomes.  Each 
option has then been scored to identify the number of objectives and critical success factors the option meets. The objectives and outcomes will need to be 
SMART (Specific; Measurable; Achievable; Realistic; Time-bound)

Project Objectives 

P
age 314



Critical Success Factors

P
age 315



Wellbeing Objectives

P
age 316



Project Outcomes

Risk Assessment –Home to School Transport

Below are the potential risks and barriers, scored against the various options.

Risks

P
age 317



Barriers

SummaryP
age 318



Finance

Below are the current costs of the home to school transport provision to schools out of the County Borough (excluding Ysgol Gyfun 
Rhydywaun) for academic year 2018/19, and the potential savings associated with the various options (as of 11/09/2018):

P
age 319



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Equality Impact 
Assessment

November 2017 Business Change Team

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in 
respect of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 320



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Post-16 Home to School Transport

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report proposes changes to the current post-16 home to school transport 
service. The service is discretionary, and making changes will allow for the 
continuation of a sustainable service and savings to be made.  The options for 
change are summarised below. 

1.2 A business case (Appendix 1) has been developed that appraises five 
options:

1.2.1 Option 1 – The service remains as is.

1.2.2 Option 2 – Provide free post-16 transport only to The College Merthyr 
Tydfil, Pencoed College or to the schools that are the nearest suitable 
that still provide post-16 education – Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun (Welsh-
medium), St John’s and Cardinal Newman (Faith), Lewis Boys school 
and Lewis Girls school.

1.2.3 Option 3 – Provide free post-16 transport only to The College Merthyr 
Tydfil, Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun (Welsh-medium), St John’s and 
Cardinal Newman (Faith). Where the course is not provided by The 
College Merthyr Tydfil, transport will be provided to the following 
colleges if deemed their nearest suitable course provider: Coleg 
Morgannwg (Ystrad Mynach, Aberdare) and Pencoed College.

1.2.4 Option 4 – Provide post-16 transport at a cost that makes it cost 
recovering.

Date Written 12th September 2018
Report Author Sue Walker & Alyn Owen
Service Area Learning & Transport
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 321

Agenda Item 13



1.2.5 Option 5 - Remove service.

1.3 On 13th December 2017, Council approved the start of a public consultation 
exercise regarding the above options for the provision of post-16 home to 
school transport. This report details the outcome of the 12 week public 
consultation.  

1.4 Following public consultation, on 25th July 2018 the final report was presented 
to Council for a decision. The recommended option was option 3, which was 
also the public’s preferred option during the consultation. However during 
Council, it was highlighted further clarity was needed on the proposed options 
and it was agreed for amendments be made to the recommended option. 
Therefore the report was deferred until next Council (26th September 2018). 
This report has been amended with these changes, plus has been updated 
with the new academic year’s (2018/19) figures and finances.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 Option 3 (amended) be approved for the reasons set out in the report: taking in to 
consideration the advantages and disadvantages of each option, the financial 
implications and the public consultation feedback.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Following a review of the post-16 home to school transport service it has 
become apparent that the Council is providing free transport for students to 
attend courses over and above what is required. The service is fully 
discretionary and therefore the Council does not have to provide it. The 
Council also provides transport for students to attend schools and colleges 
out of the County Borough. This report puts forward options for the post-16 
transport service to become efficient, effective and sustainable for the future. 

3.2 The Home to School Transport Policy section 8 sets out the provision of post-
16 home to school transport for 2018/19 and states that all students aged 16, 
17 or 18 years on September 1st, who are attending a first course of full time 
study at a college/school, may be entitled to free travel if they are required to 
travel at least three miles in each direction (providing the student is attending 
the nearest appropriate post-16 provider).

3.3 The service is discretionary. There is no statutory duty to provide free home to 
school transport to any post-16 students continuing their studies in 
mainstream, further education or training – whether that be within or outside
the County Borough. Policy is determined by our Education department whilst 
the provision of transport to those eligible sits within the Public Protection and 
Housing Service. 

3.4 As mentioned above in paragraph 3.1, the Council provides free transport to a 
number of schools and colleges for students to attend their courses. There 

Page 322



are currently five colleges and six schools to which students from Merthyr 
Tydfil are transported to, these are listed below:

3.4.1 The colleges are:
 The College Merthyr Tydfil
 Coleg Morgannwg (campuses in Aberdare, Nantgarw and 

Ystrad Mynach)
 Bridgend College (Pencoed College)

3.4.2 The schools are:
 Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun (Welsh-medium) - RCT
 Lewis Boys School - Pengam
 Lewis Girls School - Ystrad Mynach
 Ysgol Gyfun Cwm Rhymni (Welsh-medium) - Blackwood
 St Johns Baptist Church in Wales High School (Faith) - 

Aberdare
 Cardinal Newman R.C. School (Faith) – Pontypridd

3.5 Our current transport policy states the following 12 colleges are where free 
transport will be provided to:

 Coleg Cymoedd (campuses at Aberdare, Rhondda, Nantgarw, Ystrad 
Mynach, Rhymney and Pontypridd)

 Bridgend College (campuses at Bridgend and Pencoed)
 University of South Wales, Art, Design and Technology College 

(campuses at Pontypridd and Newport)
 The College Merthyr Tydfil

3.6 The transport provided to the Colleges is for post-16 students only, and for 
transport provided to schools the post-16 students travel amongst mainstream 
students. Currently 137 students receive sole post-16 transport and 81 
students travel on mainstream transport.

3.7 In reviewing the current service delivery, various options have been 
considered; including streamlining the service to make it a more financially 
efficient service that can be sustainable in the future, remaining as is and 
ceasing the service.  These options are detailed in section 5 below.  

3.8 Following Council approval on 13th December 2017, it was agreed that a 12 
week consultation exercise would commence January 2018.  The purpose 
being to engage with the community to involve them in our decision making by 
obtaining their views on our proposed options.  

3.9 The consultation ran from the 22nd January 2018 to 16th April 2018. 
Four drop-in consultation sessions were held across the County Borough: 

 The College Merthyr Tydfil – 31st January 2018
 Theatr Soar – 22nd March 2018
 Bedlinog RFC – 28th March 2018

Page 323



 Treharris Library – 28th March 2018

3.10 The process used for consultation took a varied range of methodologies to 
ensure as wide a response as possible. This gave the public an opportunity to 
have their say. This included:

  An online questionnaire designed using the Cwm Taf Community 
Engagement Hub so that people could respond electronically.

  Letters were sent to all Primary and Secondary schools within the 
County Borough together with those schools outside the County 
Borough who may be affected. Head Teachers then passed the letters 
to parents via their pupils. Other stakeholders such as the transport 
operators were also sent letters. 

 An online live social media consultation session was held on 11th April 
2018.

 A press release was created, plus several messages were posted on 
social media informing the general public of the consultation and how 
to take part. 

 At each of the consultation venues paper questionnaires were available 
for the public to express their views.

3.11 Further detail including the feedback from the public consultation exercise is 
included in this report and is explained below in Appendix 2. 

3.12 Following public consultation, on 25th July 2018 the final report was presented 
to Council for a decision. The recommended option was option 3, which was 
also the public’s preferred option during the consultation. However during 
Council, it was highlighted further clarity was needed on the proposed options 
and it was agreed that amendments be made to the recommended option. 
Therefore the report was deferred until next Council (26th September 2018). 
This report has been amended with these changes, plus has been updated 
with the new academic year’s (2018/19) figures and finances.

4.0 RATIONALE

4.1 The reviewing of the post-16 home to school transport service arose as part of 
the budget review exercise set out by Corporate Management Team (CMT). It 
became apparent that post-16 transport could be an area where sustainability 
could be strengthened and savings made. The Council provides post-16 
transport over and above the guidelines. As the service is discretionary there 
is the option to cease provision of the service, as is explained below in section 
5. 

4.2 There are 5 options listed in section 1 and explained further in section 5. Each 
option is viable and has differing revenue savings attributed to them. Officers 
have engaged with service users and the wider public to gauge opinion.

4.3 Using the agreed Operating Model Design of the Council and the Wellbeing of 
Future Generations Wales (WFG) Act 2015, five ways of working (i.e. moving 
long term, preventative and integrated ways of working whilst involving and 

Page 324



collaborating appropriately to do so), possible options for changing the post-
16 home to school transport provision were progressed.

4.4 The public consultation ensured that the community had access to the 
information regarding all of the possible options before any decision is made 
by the Council. It also gave the community the opportunity to ask questions 
and suggest alternative options.

4.5 Following Council decision, any policy changes will occur in October 2018 
ready for implementation in the academic year 2019/20. Implementation of 
any change will be as follows:

 Students already enrolled on a college course (before academic year 
2019/20 begins) will continue to receive free transport for the full 
duration of their course to allow them to finish.

 If either option 2, 3 or 5 is chosen, the removal of transport from a 
school for post-16 students will be implemented in a phased approach. 
In academic year 2019/20, students who have already commenced 
studies at a school that provides post-16 education will continue to 
receive free transport for the full duration of their schooling through to 
year 13. However any students who will be starting year 7 at those 
schools in academic year 2019/20 will only receive free transport up to 
and including year 11. 

5.0 OPTIONS

5.1 This section details the options with the advantages and disadvantages, 
potential financial savings, risks and public consultation outcomes.

5.2 Option 1 – (Remain as is)

This option assumes that the current arrangements remain, and there are no 
changes to current provision. 

5.2.1 There will be no revenue savings with this option as there will be 
no change to the service. Also spend could increase in the future 
when contracts are retendered.

Advantages Disadvantages
* There will be no immediate change to the 
service that we currently provide.

* Transport operators will continue with 
contracts so no impact on local 
businesses.

* The Council will fail to achieve any short term or 
long term financial savings putting other services 
at risk.

* The cost of running the service in the future is 
likely to increase due to operators/travel fare 
increases.

* We fail to support our own educational 
establishments.

Page 325



5.2.2 The two highest risks that have been identified to implement this 
option are: the Council fails to achieve the revenue savings 
required and future travel costs could escalate. To mitigate these 
risks it is advantageous to implement options 2, 3, 4 or 5.

5.2.3 The outcome from the public consultation showed respondents 
voted option 1 as their second preferred option. The breakdown 
by percentage for option 1 is as follows, with 43.18% giving it a 
ranking of 1 (most preferred) and 14.46% giving it a ranking of 5 
(least preferred):

5.2.4 It is recommended that Option 1 is shortlisted

5.3 Option 2 - (Streamline service)

Provide free post-16 transport only to The College Merthyr Tydfil, Pencoed 
College or to the schools that are the nearest suitable and who still provide 
post-16 education (Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun, St Johns, Cardinal Newman, 
Lewis Boys school and Lewis Girls school). This is still with the caveat that the 
provider is more than 3 miles away from home.

Page 326



5.3.1 The revenue savings in option 2 will be approximately £32,390.00 
per year (based on current cost). This saving will be made by 
ceasing the transport to Ystrad Mynach College and Coleg 
Morgannwg campuses in Aberdare and Pontypridd.

5.3.2 The three highest risks that have been identified by implementing 
this option are: the Council fails to achieve the revenue savings 
required, future travel costs could escalate and the potential 
negative impact on the Council’s reputation. However some 
revenue savings are made. To mitigate these risks a 
communication plan can be developed and implemented with 
alternative provision provided within Merthyr Tydfil. Talks are 
already in progress between the Authority and The College 
Merthyr Tydfil regarding putting on new courses. For further 
information on the types of courses students attend in colleges 
outside the County Borough, please see Appendix 1.

5.3.3 The outcome from the public consultation showed respondents 
voted option 2 as their third preferred option. The breakdown by 
percentage for option 2 is as follows, with 16.73% giving it a 
ranking of 1 (most preferred) and 14.26% giving it a ranking of 5 

Advantages Disadvantages
* The College Merthyr Tydfil will be 
identified as our main post-16 provider 
and it will be promoted as such.

* Keeps more Merthyr Tydfil residents 
studying within the County Borough to 
benefit our Education establishments. 
Currently we are paying for students to 
study out of the County Borough.

* Free transport will continue to the 
Welsh provider (Ysgol Gyfun 
Rhydywaun) which positively promotes 
Welsh-medium education and is in 
accordance with the Education Act.

* Free transport will continue to the Faith 
providers (St Johns and Cardinal 
Newman).

* Free transport will continue to Pencoed 
College and the nearest secondary 
schools for lower valley students (Lewis 
Boys and Lewis Girls).
 
* Would achieve some revenue savings.

* The service will be more sustainable in 
the future.

* Fail to achieve long term revenue savings.

* Council could be seen as not providing a fair 
and equal service to all learners.

* Potential impact on coach/taxi operators with 
the loss of some post-16 contracts.

* Possible negative feedback from parents and 
schools.

* Restricted choice for learners.

* Could impact on the number of students 
continuing in post-16 education.

* Potential impact on people not in Education, 
Employment or Training (NEET's).

* The cost of running the service in the future is 
likely to increase due to operators/travel fare 
increases.

Page 327



(least preferred):

5.3.4 It is recommended that option 2 is shortlisted

5.4 Option 3 - (Streamline service)

Provide free post-16 transport only to The College Merthyr Tydfil, Ysgol Gyfun 
Rhydywaun (Welsh-medium), St John’s and Cardinal Newman (Faith). Where 
the course is not provided by The College Merthyr Tydfil, transport will be 
provided to the nearest suitable course provider to the following colleges: 
Coleg Morgannwg (Ystrad Mynach, Aberdare) and Pencoed College. 

This is still with the caveat that the provider is more than 3 miles away from 
home.

5.4.1 The revenue savings with option 3 will be approximately £1,000 
per year (based on current cost). Any additional savings made 

Advantages Disadvantages
* The College Merthyr Tydfil will be 
identified as our main post-16 provider 
and it will be promoted as such.

* Keeps Merthyr Tydfil residents studying 
within the County Borough to benefit our 
Education service. Currently we are 
paying for students to study outside the 
County Borough.

* Free transport will continue to the 
Welsh provider (Ysgol Gyfun 
Rhydywaun) which positively promotes 
Welsh-medium education and is in 
accordance with the Education Act 1996.

* Free transport will continue to the Faith 
providers (St Johns and Cardinal 
Newman).

* Free transport will continue to colleges 
that provide different courses to The 
College Merthyr Tydfil (Ystrad Mynach, 
Aberdare and Pencoed)

* The service may be more sustainable in 
the future.

* Fail to achieve long term revenue savings.

* Council could be seen as not providing a fair 
and equal service to all learners.

* Potential impact on coach/taxi operators with 
the loss of some post-16 contracts.

* Possible negative feedback from parents and 
schools.

* Restricted choice for learners.

* Could impact on the number of students 
continuing in post-16 education.
 
* Potential impact on people not in Education, 
Employment or Training (NEET's).

* The cost of running the service in the future is 
likely to increase due to operators/travel fare 
increases.

Page 328



from removing post-16 students from mainstream travel will be 
offset by the additional transport required to transport the students 
to The College Merthyr Tydfil instead (due to the students living 
over 3 miles away).  

5.4.2 The three highest risks that have been identified by implementing 
this option are: the council fails to achieve the revenue savings 
required, future travel costs could escalate and the potential 
negative impact on the Council’s reputation. To mitigate these 
risks a communication plan can be developed and implemented 
with alternative provision provided within Merthyr Tydfil. Talks are 
already in progress between the Authority and The College 
Merthyr Tydfil regarding putting on new courses. For further 
information on the types of courses students attend in colleges 
outside the County Borough, please see Appendix 1.

5.4.3 The outcome from the public consultation showed respondents 
voted option 3 as their first preferred option. The breakdown by 
percentage for option 3 is as follows, with 52.07% giving it a 
ranking of 1 (most preferred) and 11.98% giving it a ranking of 5 
(least preferred):

5.4.4 It is recommended that option 3 is accepted

5.5 Option 4 - (Cost recovery service)

Provide post-16 transport at a cost to students which will make the service 
cost recovering.

Page 329



5.5.1 The revenue savings with option 4 will be approximately 
£145,779.14 per year (based on current cost) – the savings 
identified with this option are attributable to students paying for 
the service therefore there will be no cost to the Council.

5.5.2 The three highest risks that have been identified with 
implementing this option are: parents fail to pay the charge for the 
transport, potential negative impact on the Council’s reputation 
and future travel costs could escalate. However all of the revenue 
is saved and the service is cost recovering. To mitigate these 
risks a communication plan can be developed and implemented. 

5.5.3 The outcome from the public consultation showed respondents 
voted option 4 as their fourth preferred option. The breakdown by 
percentage for option 4 is as follows, with 10.74% giving it a 
ranking of 1 (most preferred) and 35.54% giving it a ranking of 5 
(least preferred):

Advantages Disadvantages
* This option will achieve long term 
savings.

* Students can continue to be educated 
in the school/college of their choice.

* The service could be more sustainable 
in the future.

* Some students are put at a disadvantage if 
they cannot afford the fees.

* Would require an intensive administrative 
function to coordinate, manage the payments 
and recover any arrears.

* A previous attempt at cost recovery led to non-
payments, debt recovery and write off of Council 
debts.

* Could impact on the number of students 
continuing in post-16 education. 

* Potential impact on people not in Education, 
Employment or Training (NEET's).

* Possible negative feedback from parents and 
schools.

* The cost of running the service in the future is 
likely to increase due to operators/travel fare 
increases.

* If student numbers decrease, the cost each 
student would be required to pay could increase 
accordingly to ensure the service stays cost 
neutral.

Page 330



5.5.4 It is recommended that option 4 is shortlisted

5.6 Option 5 – (Remove the service)

There will be no free post-16 transport service provided.

5.6.1 The revenue savings with option 5 will be approximately 
£145,779.14 per year (based on current cost). Additional savings 
will be made from removing post-16 students from mainstream 
travel and the remaining travel reconfigured (it is difficult to 
identify exact saving at this time). 

5.6.2 The three highest risks that have been identified by implementing 
this option are: the potential negative impact on the Council’s 
reputation, risk to learners continuing in further education and the 
potential impact on the number of young people not in education, 
employment or training (NEETS). To mitigate these risks a 
communication plan can be developed and implemented with 
alternative provision provided within Merthyr Tydfil. Talks are 
already in progress between the Authority and The College 
Merthyr Tydfil regarding putting on new courses. For further 
information on the types of courses students attend in colleges 
outside the County Borough, please see Appendix 1.

5.6.3 The outcome from the public consultation showed respondents 
voted option 5 as their fifth preferred option. The breakdown by 
percentage for option 5 is as follows, with 12.60% giving it a 
ranking of 1 (most preferred) and 81.82% giving it a ranking of 5 
(least preferred):

Advantages Disadvantages
* Will achieve long term savings.

* The service will be more sustainable in 
the future.

* Could impact on the number of students 
continuing in post-16 education.

* Potential impact on people not in Education, 
Employment or Training (NEET's).

* Possible negative feedback from parents and 
schools.

* No support for post-16 Welsh or faith based 
education.

Page 331



5.6.4 It is recommended that option 5 is shortlisted

6 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

6.1 The financial savings that will be achieved as a result of implementing this 
business case is £1,000 (Option 3). A detailed breakdown of the current costs 
of the post-16 provision and the potential savings each option would bring are 
shown below in the Business Case Appendix 1.

6.2 The savings attributed to each option are:

7 EQUALITY IMPACT  ASSESSMENT

7.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the 
purpose of this report. A breakdown of the impact on the protected 
characteristics for all options is shown in the form. The form can be accessed 
on the Council’s website/intranet via ‘Equality Impact Assessment’ link.

7.2 For the recommended option (Option 3) it has been deemed that there will be 
a neutral impact on 10 of the 11 protected characteristics including Religion 
and Belief characteristic as well as the Welsh Language characteristic as the 
transport to these schools will remain. 

There could be a negative impact on the Age characteristic as some post-16 
courses that students wish to attend may not be provided by The College 
Merthyr Tydfil and those students may not be entitled to post-16 transport to 
an alternative school/college. Taking this in to consideration, the Local 
Education Authority and The College Merthyr Tydfil look to work together to 
establish learner requirements so more course choices can be offered.

SUE WALKER
CHIEF OFFICER FOR LEARNING

ALYN OWEN
CHIEF OFFICER FOR REGENERATION

LISA MYTTON
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING

GERAINT THOMAS
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION AND PUBLIC 
PROTECTION

Page 332



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Equality Impact 
Assessment

June 2018 Business Change Team

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 333



APPENDIX 1 - Post-16 Home to School Transport Business Case

Business Case – Post 16 Home to School Transport

Project Title Post-16 Home to School Transport

Date September 2018

Lead Officer(s) Sue Walker and Alyn Owen

Service Area Learning and Transport

Purpose of the Business Case

Project Background
In the sections below, please give the reasons identified for this project to take place, addressing the Council's 
Wellbeing Objectives (Wellbeing of Future Generation Act, 2015) and what has encouraged the development 
of this business case?  Consider what approach has been taken place against the 5 Ways of Working e.g. - 
take an integrated approach when setting and taking steps to meet our Wellbeing Objectives; work with others 
in a collaborative way to find shared sustainable solutions; involve people in the decisions that affect them, 
reflecting the diversity of our communities.  Please build on Project Concept.

The purpose of this project is to outline & appraise proposed changes to the post-16 home to 
school transport service. This business case aims to explore potential alternatives to the current 
way the service is delivered.

The provision of the post-16 home to school transport service is managed by the Public 
Protection and Housing Service, and the policy is determined by our Education department. The 
current policy for the provision of home to school transport 2018/19 states that all students aged 
16, 17 or 18 years on September 1st, who are attending a first course of full time study at a 
college/school, may be entitled to free travel if they are required to travel at least three miles in 
each direction providing the student is attending the nearest appropriate post-16 provider.

The provision of post-16 transport is funded out of core grant funding. As of the 11/09/2018 the 
total cost of post-16 transport was £145,779.14 for 218 students. The cost of sole post-16 
transport was £93,280.00 for 137 students. The Council also transport post-16 students amongst 
mainstream students at a cost of £52,499.14 for 81 students. This cost is worked out as the cost 
for each post-16 student and is not the full cost of running the mainstream service.

There are 5 Colleges we currently provide free post-16 travel to:
* The College Merthyr Tydfil
* Coleg Morgannwg (campuses in Aberdare, Nantgarw and Ystrad Mynach)
* Bridgend College (Pencoed College)

There are 6 Schools we currently provide free post-16 travel to (amongst mainstream students):

Page 334



* Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun (Welsh-medium) - RCT
* Lewis Boys School - Pengam
* Lewis Girls School – Ystrad Mynach
* Ysgol Gyfun Cwm Rhymni (Welsh-medium) - Blackwood
* St Johns Baptist Church in Wales High School (Faith) - Aberdare
* Cardinal Newman R.C. School (Faith) - Pontypridd 

Business Need / Case for Change

Post-16 home to school transport is a discretionary service however the Council does have a duty 
to consider access to education for all learners. The Council's transport policy currently states we 
will provide transport for post-16 learners subject to the proviso they attend their nearest course 
provider and that the provider is over 3 miles from home. However there is no statutory duty to 
provide free transport to any post-16 students continuing their studies in mainstream, further 
education or training - whether that be within or outside the County Borough. Plus providing free 
transport for post-16 learners to attend a specific provision (i.e. Welsh or Faith education) is also 
discretionary.

Relevant legislation in the Learner Travel (Wales) Measure 2008 states that Authorities only have 
to assess the travel needs of post-16 learners and determine if there are adequate travel 
arrangements (bus or train services, bicycle and walking routes) available for students to gain 
access to education.

Coach operator contracts

Coach operator contracts were renewed in July 2018. They have been renewed for 1 year at an 
average increase of 3% in comparison to 2017/18 costs. There is the possibility that the cost to 
run the service could increase further in the future.

Cost Recovery

An option to make the service cost recovering has been explored (see options section). The 
charges each student would need to make can be found in the finance section. These charges 
range from £220 to £6,090 per student per year (based on current student numbers, which could 
increase or decrease if numbers change). If student numbers decrease, the cost each student 
would be required to pay could increase accordingly to ensure the service stays cost neutral. 
To run a cost recovering service, it should be noted that it would require an intensive 
administrative function to coordinate and manage the payments.
A risk with running this type of service is non-payment. It would require a large amount of 
administrative work to try to recover arrears and in most cases may not result in successfully 
retrieving the money.
In 2012/13 a payment service was run for mainstream transport. The service allowed parents to 
buy a seat if they didn't already receive free transport (as under the 2 mile threshold). It only lasted 
for one year as a large number of parents did not pay. The administrative work that was required 
was intensive. After failed efforts to retrieve the money, most debts just had to be written off.

Page 335



Welsh-Medium Education

As a Council, we have a legal duty to promote access to Welsh-medium education. However as 
explained above, post-16 transport is a discretionary service. 
Legislation in the Learner Travel (Wales) Measure 2008 states we need to assess the travel 
needs of learners. In assessing the needs of Welsh learners, there is no Welsh secondary and 
post-16 education provider in Merthyr Tydfil and so the nearest suitable school is Ysgol Gyfun 
Rhydywaun in RCT. As we already provide transport for mainstream to Rhydywaun, post-16 has 
continued.

The Education Act 1996 - Section 354 states it is the local authority's policy that every child should 
have the opportunity to learn and use the Welsh language. Our School Admissions policy 2018/19 
names Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun as the school to continue their education after primary school.

Faith education

We currently provide post-16 transport for students to attend faith schools out of the County 
Borough - St Johns Baptist Church in Wales High School (Aberdare) and Cardinal Newman RC 
School (Pontypridd). However the Council has no legal duty to provide post-16 transport for 
students to attend a faith school. 
Free post-16 transport to Cardinal Newman was an agreement after the removal of sixth form 
provision at Bishop Hedley High School. Students choose to go to St Johns because it classes 
itself as a Welsh Faith provider; however it is not currently listed in our School Admissions policy.

Implementation

Following Council decision, any policy changes will occur in October 2018 ready for 
implementation in the academic year 2019/20. Implementation of any change will be as follows:

 Students already enrolled on a college course (before academic year 2019/20 begins) will 
continue to receive free transport for the full duration of their course to allow them to finish.

 If either option 2, 3 or 5 is chosen, the removal of transport from a school for post-16 
students will be implemented in a phased approach. In academic year 2019/20, students 
who have already commenced studies at a school that provides post-16 education will 
continue to receive free transport for the full duration of their schooling through to year 13. 
However any students who will be starting year 7 at those schools in academic year 
2019/20 will only receive free transport up to and including year 11.

There are 5 options for consideration within this business case:

* Option 1 - Remain as is
* Option 2 - Streamline service (Provide free post-16 transport only to The College Merthyr Tydfil,
   Pencoed College or to the schools that are the nearest suitable that still provide
   post-16 education - Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun (Welsh-medium), St John’s and Cardinal Newman
   (Faith), Lewis Boys school and Lewis Girls school.
* Option 3 - Streamline service (Provide free post-16 transport only to The College Merthyr Tydfil,
   Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun (Welsh-medium), St John’s and Cardinal Newman (Faith). Where the 
   course is not provided by The College Merthyr Tydfil, transport will be provided to the following

Page 336



   colleges if deemed their nearest suitable course provider: Coleg Morgannwg (Ystrad Mynach,
   Aberdare) and Pencoed College).
* Option 4 - Cost Recovering service (Provide post-16 transport at a cost that makes it cost
   recovering)
* Option 5 - Remove service

These options will be explored in more detail in the options section below.

Consultation & Engagement
Following a decision by Council on 13th December 2017 to go to public consultation, a 12 weeks 
consultation was held. 

The public consultation ran from 22nd January 2018 to 16th April 2018. Four consultation sessions 
were held at The College Merthyr Tydfil, Theatr Soar, Bedlinog RFC and Treharris Library. An 
online live social media consultation session was also held. 

Feedback

 Via the Cwm Taf Community Engagement Hub, we received a total of 480 responses. 

 Via paper questionnaires at the consultation venues, we received a total of 6 responses.

Further detail including the feedback from the public consultation exercise is explained below in 
Appendix 2. 

HR Implications
No staff will be affected by removal of post-16 transport at this time.

Corporate Fit and Project Drivers
Please indicate where the project meets our Wellbeing objectives and/or service objectives.
Wellbeing of Future Generations Act (2015)  Y

Social Services & Wellbeing  Act (2014) N

Driven by External Funding Opportunity N

Driven by Service Benefits / Resilience Y

Driven by Savings Opportunities Y

Other (please state): N/A

Page 337



Options:
Provide information and data regarding the proposed service changes.  In this section please refer to the nine 
Wellbeing objectives.  

1. Option 1 – Remain as is – this option assumes that the current arrangements remain 
and there are no changes to current provision

Option 1 description

There is no change to the existing arrangements.

Advantages

 There will be no immediate changes to the service that we currently provide.
 Bus operators will continue with contracts so no impact on local businesses.

Disadvantages

 The Council will fail to achieve any short term or long term financial savings putting 
other services at risk.

 The cost of running the service in the future is likely to increase due to 
operators/travel fare increases.

 We will fail to support our own educational establishments.

2. Option 2 – (Streamline service) Provide free post-16 transport only to The College 
Merthyr Tydfil, Pencoed College or to the schools that are the nearest suitable and who 
still provide a sixth form.

Option 2 Description

Streamline the service so that we only provide free post-16 transport to students attending 
The College Merthyr Tydfil, Pencoed College or to the schools that are the nearest suitable 
and who provide a post-16 education (Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun, St Johns, Cardinal 
Newman, Lewis Boys school and Lewis Girls school). This is still with the caveat that the 
provider is more than 3 miles from home. Free transport will no longer be available for 
learners who wish to attend a different school/college.

Advantages

 The College Merthyr Tydfil will be identified as our main post-16 provider and it will 
be promoted as such.

 Keeps more Merthyr Tydfil residents studying within the County Borough to benefit 
our Education service. Currently we are paying for students to study in other County 
Boroughs.

 Free transport will continue to the Welsh provider (Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun) which 
positively promotes Welsh-medium education and is in accordance with the 
Education Act.

 Free transport will continue to the Faith providers (St Johns and Cardinal Newman).

Page 338



 Free transport will continue to Pencoed College and the nearest secondary schools 
for lower valley students (Lewis Boys and Lewis Girls). 

 Would achieve some revenue savings.
 The service will be more sustainable in the future.

Disadvantages

 Fail to achieve long term revenue savings.
 Council could be seen as not providing a fair and equal service to all learners.
 Potential impact on coach/taxi operators with the loss of some post-16 contracts.
 Possible negative feedback from parents and schools.
 Restricted choice for learners.
 Could impact on the number of students continuing in post-16 education.
 Potential impact on people not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET's).
 The cost of running the service in the future is likely to increase due to 

operators/travel fare increases.

3. Option 3 – (Streamline service) Provide free post-16 transport only to The College 
Merthyr Tydfil, Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun (Welsh-medium), St John’s and Cardinal 
Newman (Faith)

Option 3 Description

Streamline the service so that we only provide free post-16 transport to The College Merthyr 
Tydfil, Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun (Welsh-medium), St John’s and Cardinal Newman (Faith). 
Where the course is not provided by The College Merthyr Tydfil, transport will be provided to 
the following colleges if deemed their nearest suitable course provider: Coleg Morgannwg 
(Ystrad Mynach, Aberdare) and Pencoed College.

Free transport will no longer be available for learners who wish to attend a different 
school/college.

Advantages

 The College Merthyr Tydfil will be identified as our main post-16 provider and it will 
be promoted as such.

 Keeps Merthyr Tydfil residents studying within the County Borough to benefit our 
Education service. Currently we are paying for students to study in other County 
Boroughs.

 Free transport will continue to the Welsh provider (Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun) which 
positively promotes Welsh medium education and is in accordance with the 
Education Act 1996.

 Free transport will continue to the Faith providers (St Johns and Cardinal Newman).
 Free transport will continue to colleges that provide different courses to The College 

Merthyr Tydfil (Ystrad Mynach, Aberdare and Pencoed)
 The service may be more sustainable in the future.

Page 339



Disadvantages

 Fail to achieve long term revenue savings.
 Council could be seen as not providing a fair and equal service to all learners.
 Potential impact on coach/taxi operators with the loss of some post-16 contracts.
 Likely negative feedback from parents and schools.
 Restricted choice for learners.
 Could impact on the number of students continuing in post-16 education. 
 Potential impact on people not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET's).
 The cost of running the service in the future is likely to increase due to 

operators/travel fare increases.

4. Option 4 – (Cost recovery service) Provide post-16 transport at a cost that makes it cost 
recovering

Option 4 Description

Continue to run the service, but charge students to make it a cost recovering service.

Advantages

 This option will achieve long term savings.
 Students can continue to be educated in the school/college of their choice.
 The service could be more sustainable in the future.

Disadvantages

 Some students are put at a disadvantage if they cannot afford the fees.
 Would require an intensive administrative function to coordinate, manage the 

payments and recover any arrears.
 Previous attempt at cost recovery led to non-payments, debt recovery and write off of 

Council debts.
 Could impact on the number of students continuing in post-16 education. 
 Potential impact on people not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET's).
 Likely negative feedback from parents and schools.
 The cost of running the service in the future is likely to increase due to 

operators/travel fare increases.
 If student numbers decrease, the cost each student would be required to pay could 

increase accordingly to ensure the service stays cost neutral.

5. Option 5 – (Remove the service) 

Option 5 Description

Remove the service. Free post-16 transport will no longer be run as a service.

Advantages

 This option will achieve long term savings.

Page 340



 The service could be more sustainable in the future

Disadvantages

 Could impact on the number of students continuing in post-16 education.
 Potential impact on people not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET's).
 Likely negative feedback from parents and schools.
 No support for Welsh or faith based post-16 education

Page 341



Project Objectives and Critical Success Factors - Post-16 Home to School Transport

The tables below identifies whether each option will meet the project objectives, critical success factors, wellbeing objectives and project outcomes.  Each 
option has then been scored to identify the number of objectives and critical success factors the option meets. The objectives and outcomes will need to be 
SMART (Specific; Measurable; Achievable; Realistic; Time-bound)

Project Objectives

Critical Success Factors

P
age 342



Wellbeing Objectives

P
age 343



Project Outcomes

Risk Assessment – Post-16 Home to School Transport

Below are the potential risks and barriers, scored against the various options.

P
age 344



Risks

P
age 345



Barriers

P
age 346



Summary

P
age 347



Finance

Below are the current costs of the post-16 provision for academic year 2018/19, and the costs associated with the various 
options (as of 11/09/2018). The information is broken down in to two groups; transport that is provided solely for post-16 
students and transport where the mainstream and post-16 are combined. The operating costs regarding the transport for 
both mainstream and post-16 students is the total cost for all students.

P
age 348



Please note:
With option 3, it is unlikely additional savings (on top of the £1,000) will be made by removing the post-16 students from the 
mainstream transport as transport would then be required to The College Merthyr Tydfil (due to the students living over 3 
miles away). 

P
age 349



With option 5, the saving figure is calculated by identifying how much the transport costs and dividing it by the number of 
students using the service. For post-16 travelling with mainstream, this means the total cost divided by the total number of 
students, then multiplying this by the number of post-16 students. In reality it is difficult to identify an exact saving by 
removing post-16 students from mainstream transport as it doesn’t automatically mean a reduction in bus size. Potentially for 
some routes, the bus could be re-routed and therefore less or smaller buses are required. However this may not be the case 
for all routes so the bus costs stay the same. 

In academic year 2018/19 we are unlikely to see any savings as any changes made to the policy in 2018 cannot be 
implemented until academic year 2019/20. Any change to the service will occur September 2019 for new students.

Post-16 Courses in Merthyr

Discussions with The College Merthyr Tydfil have been taking place. The aim is to firstly establish what courses students are 
attending outside the County Borough and whether the courses are currently available in the college. If courses are not 
currently available, talks are being held to establish whether the college could accommodate them from September 2019.  

For academic year 2017/18, 42 students were attending courses outside the County Borough. 18 of these students were 
accessing courses currently provided by The College Merthyr Tydfil. The remaining 24 students were accessing courses 
currently unavailable in the college.  

Below is the breakdown of the courses the 42 students were attending outside the County Borough, along with information 
on whether the course could be run by The College Merthyr Tydfil in the future.

P
age 350



Of these courses, The College Merthyr Tydfil is giving careful consideration to providing Electrical Installation and Plumbing 
from September 2019 and there were 10 students in 2017/18 who accessed these courses. This results in 24 students on 
the list above who would not be accommodated in The College. These students are accessing courses, that for 
infrastructure and location reasons, The College Merthyr Tydfil would not be able to provide.

The College Merthyr Tydfil will take a decision on courses to be run from September 2019 around November 2018. 

P
age 351



APPENDIX 2 - Post-16 Home to School Transport Public Consultation Feedback

The Consultation Process

The proposal is to change the current post-16 provision to become efficient, effective and 
sustainable. In a 12 week public consultation exercise, we put forward to the public five 
options to be considered. These options were:

1. The service remains as is.
2. Provide free post-16 transport only to The College Merthyr Tydfil or to the schools 

that are the nearest suitable that still provide post-16 education.
3. Provide free post-16 transport only to The College Merthyr Tydfil, Welsh school and 

Faith schools.
4. Provide post-16 transport at a cost that makes it cost recovering.
5. Remove the service.

With this full range of options, we wanted to understand the views of the people of Merthyr 
Tydfil on the potential change to the post-16 transport service. A project team was 
developed to deliver the consultation. The team comprised of officers from Education, 
Transport, Corporate Communications and Business Change. The team were responsible 
for all aspects of the consultation.

Letters inviting people to take part in the consultation were sent out to all Primary and 
Secondary schools within the County Borough, including those schools outside the County 
Borough who may be affected. Head Teachers then passed the letters to parents via their 
pupils. Other stakeholders such as the transport operators were also sent letters. A press 
release was created, plus several messages were posted on social media informing the 
general public of the consultation and how to take part. 

The consultation lasted for 12 weeks, running from 22nd January 2018 to 16th April 2018. It 
was made available through many avenues: online, consultation events and a live social 
media session.  

An online questionnaire was designed using the ‘Cwm Taf Community Engagement Hub’ 
so people could take part in the consultation electronically. Paper questionnaires were also 
made available at the consultation sessions and by request from Corporate 
Communications.

A live social media session was held where officers answered questions from the 
community.

Officers from Transport, Education and Corporate Communications were present at all 
consultation venues. A welsh speaking officer was also on hand to translate in Welsh if 
required.

Public Consultation Questionnaire

A series of consultation questions were developed, which were as follows:

Page 352



1. Merthyr Tydfil CBC is proposing the following five options in changing the current 
post-16 home to school transport provision. By entering numbers 1-5 (1 = Most 
preferred and 5 = Least preferred). Please rank the options according to your 
preference:

2. If you have any comments or suggestions on options we may have not considered 
please comment below:

3. Are you:
 A pupil
 Parent/carer
 Transport provider
 Other

The public were also provided with an options document which details the advantages and 
disadvantages of each option. They were encouraged to read this prior to completing the 
questionnaire.

Feedback from the Public Consultation

Respondents were asked to use the questionnaire to respond formally to the consultation; 
via the Cwm Taf Community Engagement Hub or by paper copy (provided at the 
consultation venues or by request from Corporate Communications).

Consultation Responses

In total 487 responses were received.

 480 received via the online questionnaire.
 7 received via the paper questionnaire.

Questionnaire Results

Respondents were asked to rank the five options in accordance to their preference (1 = 
Most preferred and 5 = Least preferred) in a grid as shown below. 

Page 353



They were asked to mark the circle against each option to show how they ranked them. 
When filling it in electronically on the Cwm Taf Community Engagement Hub, two circles in 
the same column could not be chosen i.e. two options could not be given a score of 1.

Of the seven paper questionnaires received, three had to be discarded from the vote as the 
forms were filled in incorrectly. However their comments have been taken in to 
consideration. Of the four remaining questionnaires, the results have been analysed.

After the 12 week consultation, the results from the Cwm Taf Community Engagement Hub 
and the paper questionnaires showed respondents voted in the following way:

The results show the percentage of people who ranked each option. For each option the 
100% (moving horizontally) is split between the 5 different rankings, showing whether that 
option was voted most preferred or least preferred.

For example – For option 1, the vote is split where 43.18% of people gave it a rating of 1, 
8.06% gave it a rating of 2 and so on. 

Looking at the results above, we can see Option 3 was the most preferred with over 52% of 
people giving this option a ranking of 1. We can see option 5 was the least preferred with 
over 81% of people giving this option a ranking of 5.

Page 354



Of the 484 respondents who completed the questionnaire, 446 answered the question 
asking who they were; pupil, parent, transport provider or other. Below is the breakdown 
according to the type of respondent they were:

Public Consultation Feedback

The responses have been analysed to identify views and concerns raised by respondents 
in the questionnaire feedback, consultation sessions and live social media session. 

Respondents were asked to provide any comments or suggestions regarding the proposed 
changes to post-16 travel. Of primary concern to a large proportion of respondents is the 
risk to Welsh-medium education. The reason can be broadly summarised into several key 
areas of concern:

 Loss of Welsh-medium education: As there is currently no Welsh secondary and 
post-16 education provider in Merthyr Tydfil, pupils wishing to continue their studies 
in the medium of Welsh are provided with free travel to the nearest Welsh school 
which is Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun in RCT. Removing free transport to this provision 
is considered by many a huge detriment to their children’s education following 
Primary school.

 Impact on the Welsh language: The Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 puts 
the Welsh language on an equal footing with the English language in Wales. Along 
with Welsh Government’s ambition for “enabling the Welsh language to thrive”, the 
public consider a change to the post-16 transport provision to the Welsh school as a 
negative impact on the future of the Welsh language. 

 The Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) places each Local Authority in Wales 
with a statutory duty to plan and demonstrate clear actions and steps to maximise 
opportunities for Welsh-medium education. It is felt by most that by removing the free 
post-16 transport, it is taking the opportunity away for pupils to be educated in the 
language of their choosing. 

Pupil Voice

In addition to the 12 week consultation events, we were keen to receive feedback from 
pupils so we could ensure that their views had been heard. The schools in support of pupil 
voice asked their pupils their views regarding the proposed changes and provided them 
with the consultation questionnaire, along with detail on the options being considered.

Page 355



Unfortunately no schools came back to us with pupil voice outcomes in the timescale set, 
despite several requests from the team. Some schools advised their pupils to complete the 
online questionnaire during the public consultation period, so these pupils may have voiced 
their opinion this way. As mentioned in the consultation responses section above, 180 
(40.36%) of respondents who completed the online questionnaire were pupils.

Page 356



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Period Poverty

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 In response to the notice of motion presented to Council regarding period poverty 
this report provides Members with information on the issues faced by females in 
relation to “Period Poverty” and the availability of free sanitary products.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION that

2.1 The findings and recommendations of the report attached as Appendix 2, be noted. 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 At the Full Council meeting of 4th April 2018 a notice of motion was presented.  It 
was noted that female hygiene products are a necessity not a choice.  Council 
commended the recent RCTCBC initiative to provide free sanitary products in all of 
their schools in a bid to stamp out period poverty.  Council accepted the need to help 
women and school girls who cannot afford sanitary products and therefore agreed to 
take the necessary action to provide free sanitary products in schools as a first step 
to make period poverty and stigma a thing of the past. 

3.2 In addition there has been recognition by Welsh Government that it is unacceptable 
that some young females cannot afford to buy essential feminine hygiene products 
when they need them.  Welsh Government has allocated funding to address this 
inequality. In March 2018 MTCBC received a letter from Welsh Government 
confirming the capital and revenue grant allocation.  The available capital funding of 
£12,860 and revenue grant funding of £4,370.00 have been allocated to MTCBC for 
the financial years of 2018/19 and 2019/20. (Appendix 1)

Date Written 4th June 18 *
Report Author Sarah Bowen 
Service Area Education- Inclusion 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 357

Agenda Item 14



4.0 EVALUATION OF CURRENT PRACTICE

4.1 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is supporting ‘The Red Box Project’.
This project quietly ensures that no young woman misses school because she has 
her period.  Working as a nationwide community of women, ‘The Red Box Project’ 
seeks to provide free sanitary items for the young women in our local schools.  The 
LA is looking for donations of sanitary products for the “The Red Box Project” as an 
interim measure.

4.2 On receipt of the letter informing the LA of the forthcoming money to address period 
poverty the young females and staff in our schools were asked to take part in a 
questionnaire with regards to ascertaining their views in respect of the facilities and 
products provided for menstruation.  This was made available with both primary and 
secondary schools.  The consultation with our young females is paramount in raising 
the profile of this matter.  The report also includes information on current practice 
across the UK and beyond. (Appendix 2)

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 The cost of the sanitary products, vending machines and dispensers would be met 
by the capital funding and revenue grant allocations in financial years 2018/19 and 
2019/20. (Appendix 2)

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

 

SUE WALKER
CHIEF OFFICER (LEARNING)

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

 Period poverty: capital funding allocation 
for 2017/18 and revenue grant allocation 

for 2018

Survey to evaluate current practice of 
female menstruation 

March 2018 

March 2018

Education and Accountancy

Education 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 358



Julie James AC/AM 
Arweinydd y Tŷ a’r Prif Chwip 
Leader of the House and Chief Whip  
 
 
 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru                  

Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales 
 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 

in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
 
Ein cyf/Our ref: MA-P/JJ/1003/18/19 
 
Cllr Kevin O'Neil  

Leader 
Merthyr Tydfil Council 
kevin.o'neill@merthyr.gov.uk 

 
 

21 March 2018 
 
Dear Kevin, 
 
Period poverty: capital funding allocation for 2017/18 and revenue grant allocation for 
2018 
 
It is unacceptable that some women and girls in Wales cannot afford to buy essential 
feminine hygiene products when they need them. I am committed to doing everything I can 
to tackle this inequality.  
 
I am writing to offer your local authority a package of funding to help deliver the change in 
approach that is needed.  
 
Firstly I am pleased to be able to make available capital funding allocation of £12,860 for 
the 2017/18 financial year. This will be distributed using the schools element of the 2017/18 
general capital funding formula.   
 
I would like all local authorities to spend this money on investing in sanitary equipment and 
necessary changes to toilet facilities in schools where it is needed. This could mean 
disposal bins for feminine hygiene products, new vending machines or adjustments to 
cubicles. 
 
I recognise that the allocation is coming very late in the year for you to make the necessary 
arrangements to spend within this financial year. Therefore, I would encourage you to use 
the allocation in the best way you can now and commit to using a matching sum in the 
2018/19 financial year to address any equipment and facilities issues in relation to 
addressing period poverty faced by schools in your local authority. 
 
Secondly to complement the capital funding, I am also pleased to be able to make available 
revenue grant funding of £4,370 for the 2018/19 and 2019/20 financial years. This will be 
distributed using the latest standard local government spending assessment formula. 
 

Page 359

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales


 
 
 
This revenue funding must be used to provide feminine hygiene products to those women 
and girls most in need in your authority. You are in the best position to determine the most 
appropriate mechanisms to reach your vulnerable communities which may include 
distributing through partnerships with local food banks, community hubs or other local 
groups. My officials will be writing to your officials about both allocations separately. 
 
 
Yours sincerely  
 

 
 

Julie James AC/AM 
Arweinydd y Tŷ a’r Prif Chwip 
Leader of the House and Chief Whip  
 
 
Copied to: 
 
Gareth Chapman, Merthyr Tydfil Council 
Gareth.Chapman@merthyr.gov.uk 

Steve Jones, Merthyr Tydfil Council 
Steve.jones@merthyr.gov.uk 
Jon Rae, Welsh Local Government Association 

jon.rae@wlga.gov.uk 
 

 

Page 360

mailto:Gareth.Chapman@merthyr.gov.uk
mailto:Steve.jones@merthyr.gov.uk
mailto:jon.rae@wlga.gov.uk


1

Survey to evaluate the current practice in respect of female menstruation

Please note that the extent of the problem may not be fully represented, as despite all 
schools in MTCBC being contacted, not all schools participated.

Introduction

On April 20th 2018 schools were asked to take part in a questionnaire with regards to ascertaining 
the views of young women in respect of menstruation. This was made available with both primary 
and secondary schools and both pupils and staff were encouraged to complete the questionnaire. 

The participation of the pupils in this survey is paramount in raising the profile of the provision of 
sanitary products within schools. This report also includes information on current practice across the 
UK and beyond. 

It is worth noting that there is no age restriction for the use of tampons.  

Summary of Findings 

It is evident that whilst most schools, who responded offer some form of free sanitary products, this 
is not the case in all of the schools that responded. There is no consistency across the LA.

Of the sanitary products that were offered by schools, sanitary towels were the most frequently 
offered. 

The majority of schools offered these products via a designated staff member, having free products 
independently accessed would alleviate the embarrassment of having to ask. 

Although most schools offered sanitary disposal facilities these were not always in the cubicles and it 
was noted that these were not always emptied often enough.

16% of those pupils who responded stated that no lessons were delivered on menstruation. 

Below are the key findings from the questionnaire that was received from 3 secondary and 1 primary 
school and young people from the Youth Forum. 

Number of schools:  4
(3 secondary, 1 primary) and the Youth 
Forum 

Number of pupils:  102

Q1 Are free sanitary products available in 
your school?

Yes (98) No (2) Don’t know(2)

Q2 If so what is the most available sanitary 
product in your school?

Pads (majority), tampons, don’t know

Q3 Where in the school are the sanitary 
products available?

Cupboard, Nurse's office, Wellbeing Team, 
Wellbeing Officer, PSE coordinator, progress leader 
(HOY), attendance office, reception

Q4 Are you happy with the choice of sanitary 
products available in your school?

Yes (95) No (5) Don’t know (2)

Q5 Are you happy with the quality of the 
sanitary products available in your 
school?

Yes (97) No (4)Don’t know (1)

Page 361



2

Q6 Are sanitary product disposal facilities 
(bins) available in the girl’s toilets?

Yes (majority) one answered don’t know, one 
answered no

Q7 Where in the girl’s toilets is the sanitary 
product disposal facilities (bins) located?

Next to the big toilet. In cubicles (2 answered not 
emptied enough)

Q8 Does your school offer any 
lessons/sessions to inform you about 
periods?

Yes (86) No (16 pupils in one secondary school)

Q9 Have your periods had an impact on your 
school attendance?

Yes: 17, No: 85

Q10 Have your periods had an impact on your 
school performance?

Yes: 23, No:  79

Q11 In the future how would you like to 
access free sanitary products in your 
school?

Same way, Toilets, Cupboard, Don't know, Privately 
asking, Vending machine in toilets

Q12 What sanitary products would you like 
available to you from the school?

Pads (some said thin with wings), tampons, Any 
product, Don't know

Below are the key findings from the questionnaire that was received from staff at 3 secondary and 2 
primary schools. 

Number of schools: 5
(3 secondary, 2 primary)

Number of staff: 27

Q1 Do you offer feminine hygiene products 
in your school?

YES:24      NO:3

Q2 Are the hygiene products offered free of 
charge to you learners?

YES:24    NO:3

Q3 What type of products do you offer? Pads, tampons, none
Q4 How are these products dispensed? Teachers cupboard, Class LSA, Office, From the 

wellbeing team, from reception, attendance office 
(TAF) progress leaders (heads of year)

Q5 Are sanitary product disposal facilities 
(bins) available in your school?

Yes (all)

Q6 Do the current female pupil toilet 
cubicles provide adequate privacy for the 
pupils?

YES:24    NO:3

Q7 Are pupils allowed to leave lessons to 
use the toilet facilities?

YES:24  NO:3

Q8 Do you offer lessons to learners to 
inform them about menstruation?

YES:24       NO:2

Q9 In your opinion have pupils been absent 
from school as a result of their period?

Occasionally - pain:3  NO:16 YES:8

Q10 Could pupils be referred to the school 
nurse for menstrual issues?

YES: 22 Not aware: 1  NO: 4

Q11 Have pupils been sent home as a result 
of menstrual issues?

YES: 9  NO: 15 (in severe cases sometimes home to 
change and back)   Don't know:3

Q12 Has your school got a budget for sanitary 
products?

Private school fund: 2 
NO: 20 Don't know:5

Q13 How do you inform pupils of the 
availability of these products in your 
school?

By class LSA, Tell children ourselves, Through PSE 
lessons & staff awareness, By asking , Word of 
mouth, Told in PHASES, form tutor and signage.

Page 362



3

Findings - UK and Beyond 
Rhondda Cynon Taf has undergone a similar exercise and found the provision for sanitary products 
lacking, particularly for those from economically deprived backgrounds.  Bridgend County Borough 
Council has started an initiative with a charity organisation- Wings Cymru. Wings Cymru was set up 
to deal with the issue of sanitary provision in schools and has the support of the Council’s Director of 
Education and Assembly Member, Huw Irranca Davies. A pilot scheme has been trialled in the 
Maesteg area of Bridgend involving three schools – Maesteg Comprehensive School and two of its 
feeder Primary Schools has commenced. 

Scotland 
Research found that a pilot being undertaken by Community Food Initiatives  North East (CFNE)  on 
behalf of the Scottish Government to operate and coordinate a pilot scheme for six months through 
which sanitary products  would be made available free to all those on low incomes who need them, 
and  were to be issued via the `Food Bank` Service. This pilot was more for those living in poverty 
and there was no commitment by the Scottish Government to maintain the service beyond the life 
of the pilot. 

However, in a statement made to the Scottish Parliament on the 5th September, 2017, it was 
announced by the First Minister, Nicola Sturgeon when outlining her plans within the 2017-18 
Programme for Government:  “I am extremely proud that Scotland is one of the first countries in the 
World to tackle `period poverty` through the current pilot scheme in Aberdeen – I welcome Cross 
Party support for that approach”. 

New York City Council 
New York City Council, has piloted the installation of free sanitary product dispensers in all public 
schools, prisons and shelters in June, 2016.  This was built upon the highly successful pilot 
introduced for those living in deprived boroughs, schools and high schools in Queens and the Bronx 
launched in September, 2015 by New York Council Member   Julissa Ferreras-Copeland at the High 
School for Arts and Business.  Attendance at the schools increased from 90% to 92.4% since the 
installation of the free dispensers and where fewer girls asked to be excused from their classes 
throughout the day.  

Recommendations 
Having undertaken this exercise the following recommendations are being put forward for 
consideration;
 For all schools in MTCBC with pupils aged 9 years and above, to provide a range of free sanitary 

products to their female learners that can be independently accessed within their toilets. 
 To source resources and raise awareness across all schools in MTCBC of menstrual issues with 

learners, staff, parents and carers. 
 For all schools to raise awareness to their female learners aged 9 years and above as to how 

then can access free sanitary products on the school site. 
 To ensure that there are adequate disposal facilities in place throughout the schools in MTCBC 

that is easily and discretely accessible to female learners. 
 To consider appropriate signage within female toilets identifying the location of the disposal 

facilities if they are not present in every cubicle. 
 That the Procurement Unit revisits the current contractual arrangements for sanitary products 

and their disposal to extend this to cover the provision of both corporate buildings and school 
sites. 

 To use the revenue of £4,370 for supplies and the grant funding of £12,860 for the initial 
installation in the financial year of 2018/19 to put the above recommendations in place. 

Page 363



4

Costs

Revenue Grant allocation for supplies - £4,370 
Item Quantity Unit cost Total Cost
Sanitary Products (sanitary towels- 
Always with wings packet of two) 

9 cases (200 packs per case- 
48 to fill one machine)

£187.21 + VAT £1,684.89

Capital  Funding allocation or initial installation- £12,860
Item Quantity Unit cost Total Cost
Vending Machine (no cost) 37 £72.30 (rental) £2,693.60
Sanitary Bin/Disposal + monthly 
collection 

245 £16.20 £3,969.00

£6,662.60

School No. of female toilets (Years 5/6 and above)

Abercanaid Community Primary 3
Afon Taf High 21

Bedlinog  Community Primary 5
Bishop Hedley R.C. High 37

Caedraw Primary 4
Cyfarthfa High School 34
Cyfarthfa Park Primary 4
Dowlais Primary School 2

Edwardsville Primary School 12
EOTAS 2

Gellifaelog Primary 2
Goetre Primary 4

Greenfield Special School 6
Gwaunfarren Primary 8

Heolgerrig Primary 2
Pantysgallog Primary 4

Pen-y-Dre High 24
St Aloysius RC Primary 4

St Illtyds RC Primary 5
St Mary’s RC Primary 3

Trelewis Primary 5
Troedyrhiw Community School 6

Twynyrodyn Community Primary 7
Ynysowen Community Primary 2
Ysgol Gynradd Coed y Dderwen 6

Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Rhyd-y-Grug 5
Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Santes Tudful 3

Ysgol Y Graig 7
Total 227

Disabled Toilets 18

Total 245

Page 364



5

 Vending Machines x 37- £80.00 (secondary x 12, EOTAS x 1, Greenfield x 2, Primary x 22
 Sanitary Bins x 245- £16.20 (secondary x 220, EOTAS x 1, Greenfield x 2, Primary x 22)

Having checked against these figures with caretakers they are correct. With the newer buildings i.e. 
Heolgerrig and Ynysowen, each class has a toilet off the classroom which would account for the low 
number. The other schools have toilet facilities for year groups positioned around the buildings i.e. 
nursery/reception; years 1/2, years 3/4 and 5/6 (hope that makes sense). 

Page 365



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL - INFORMATION REPORT

To:   Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

PETITION RECEIVED BY THE AUTHORITY

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To advise Council of a petition received by the Authority and for Council to note  
receipt of this petition.  

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 A petition has been received by the Authority with a request to retain the children’s 
playing area situated at the north end of Woodlands Avenue, Treharris.

2.2 The Council’s Petitions Policy states that a petition must include a clear, concise 
statement covering the subject of the petition; and whilst this statement was evident 
on the cover page and some of the other sheets, the statement was not on all the 
pages.  

2.3 Whilst there were approximately 250 signatures on the submitted petition, only 74 of 
them comply with the Petitions Policy, and evidence the fact that the individuals 
signing the petition were fully aware of what they were signing up to.

2.4. This petition has now been forwarded to the Parks Department for their 
consideration and an information report will be scheduled to a future Cabinet 
meeting on the outcome.    

Date Written 12th September 2018
Report Author Karen Vokes
Service Area Democratic Services
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 367

Agenda Item 15



3.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

3.1 There are no financial implications to the Authority from this report. 

4.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Petitions received by Democratic 
Services 

5th August 2018 Democratic Services

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 368



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL - INFORMATION REPORT

To:   Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Update to the Email Acceptable Use Policy

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) provides email as a communication 
tool to assist users in the performance of their roles. It has an Email Acceptable 
Use Policy (AUP) in place to ensure the effective and appropriate use of email.

1.2 MTCBC ICT Department are continually developing communication methods for their 
users and will be implementing Instant Messaging (IM), providing the ability to 
communicate quickly and easy with colleagues both internal and external.

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 Instant Messaging, often shortened to IM, is the exchange of real-time messages 
through a stand-alone application. IM usually takes place between two users in a 
back-and-forth style of communication.

2.2 Instant messaging differs from email in the immediacy of the message exchange. 
Because IM is intended to mimic in-person conversations, individual messages are 
often brief. Email, on the other hand, usually reflects a longer-form, letter-writing 
style.

2.3 Generally, IM users know each other’s username or screen name to initiate an IM 
session or to add them to their contact list. Once the intended recipient has been 
identified and selected, the sender opens an IM window to begin the session. IM is 
being rolled out across the public sector in Wales – and will provide us here at 
MTCBC with a communication tool for exchanging real-time messages with our 
colleagues in other local authorities, health organisations and the Police. 

Date Written 10th August 2018
Report Author Ryan James
Service Area ICT
Exempt/Non Exempt Non-Exempt
Committee Date 26th September 2018

Page 369

Agenda Item 16



2.4 Whilst IM will be an extremely useful tool for our users, there does need to be 
controls in place to ensure its effective and appropriate use. MTCBC will provide IM 
to users to assist them in the performance of their roles and to ensure it is always 
used for official MTCBC business. The Email and Instant Messaging Acceptable Use 
Policy will provide users with guidance, and ensure the appropriate on-going use of 
IM.

2.5 The Information Governance Forum are authorised to update and amend the Email 
Acceptable Use Policy and agreed the update at their meeting held 10th July 2018. 

2.6 The updated policy will be communicated to users in a form that is relevant, 
accessible and understandable to the intended reader. The Information Security 
Officer will be available to provide training and further guidance as necessary.

3.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

3.1 There are no financial implications with the introduction of this policy.

4.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.   

ELLIS COOPER
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Email & Instant 
Messaging AUP

10/07/2018 ICT

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 370



Civic Centre, Castle                              
Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL - INFORMATION REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

LOCKING OF THE CEMETERY GATES 
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT  
          
1.1 At a Full Council meeting on 27th September 2017, Council approved that a listening 

and engagement exercise and public consultation take place regarding the possible 
re-introduction of locking the vehicular access gates in cemeteries throughout the 
County Borough.

1.2 This report presents the methodology and findings of both the listening and 
engagement exercise and the public consultation.

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
2.1 In December 2013 a Cabinet decision, subsequently ratified by Full Council on 26th 

February 2014, was taken to leave the Cemeteries’ vehicular gates unlocked 
reducing a security contract and resulting in a £75k saving per annum.

2.2 At this time, as the action of leaving the gates open resulted in an improved service 
to the public (i.e. no restrictions on visiting times) no consultation was required.

2.3 The Pedestrian gates on all our cemeteries have always remained open.

2.4 In the 4 years since the vehicular gates have been left unlocked, there have been no  
Anti-Social Behaviour Reports on the Police ‘Niche’ system or via through the 
Council’s Corporate Complaints procedure in relation to any of our cemeteries.

Date Written 14th August, 2018
Report Author Beth Melhuish 
Service Area Communications, Consultation 

and Engagement
Committee Division Portfolio
Exempt/Non Exempt Non-Exempt
Committee Date 26th September, 2018

Page 371

Agenda Item 17



2.5 A request made to look at re-introducing the locking of vehicular gates at Pant 
cemetery necessitated a review of the situation. This was raised by the Ward 
councillors of Dowlais following feedback from residents.

2.6 A public engagement was required as the reintroduction of locking the vehicular 
gates would constitute a detrimental position to the service user. This was 
undertaken in two parts – a Listening and Engagement exercise and Public 
Consultation. 

2.7 A Listening & Engagement exercise took place between 20th November, 2017 and 
28th November, 2017 followed by a Public Consultation exercise between 29th 
January and 26th February. 

2.8 Unfortunately, the results of the Public Consultation exercise could not be used.  The 
survey software is ‘rule’ driven. This means that the questions answered are 
dependent upon the answers given to previous questions. i.e. if the answer to the 
first question is ‘yes’, then the survey will take you straight to question five.

2.9 As the rule setting wasn’t activated on the first survey, respondents could view and 
answer every question, regardless of their responses. This meant that the results 
couldn’t be analysed correctly.

2.10 This was corrected and the public consultation was carried out again, for a period of 
4 weeks, from Monday, 14th May, 2018 until Monday, 11th June, 2018. 

3.0 LISTENING & ENGAGEMENT EXERCISE 

3.1 We wanted to listen to the views of the community and as part of pre-consultation, 
we held a listening and engagement exercise which consisted of five public drop-in 
sessions.

3.2 11 people in total attended the sessions. Details of turnout at each venue are listed 
below:

Page 372



 

3.3 Those who attended these sessions were in favour of the vehicular access gates at 
cemeteries in Merthyr Tydfil being locked at certain times. 

4.0 PUBLIC CONSULTATION 

4.1 The purpose of the public consultation was to establish if the public want the 
vehicular access to the cemeteries in Merthyr Tydfil to remain open as they are 
currently, or if they want them to be locked at certain times.

4.2 A questionnaire was available to complete online or in hard copy. 

Online questionnaire  

4.3 A questionnaire was created using the Smart Survey software. 

4.4 The link to the questionnaire was:
 

 Uploaded to the Council’s website
 Uploaded to Facebook and Twitter
 Sent to all staff and Councillors

Hard copy questionnaires

4.5 Hard copy questionnaires were handed out to members of the public at the 
cemeteries.

Awareness Raising

4.6 Awareness raising on the public consultation was done through a number of ways:

 A news release was issued to and published in, the Merthyr Express
 A news release was uploaded to the Council’s website
 Information was uploaded regularly to Facebook and Twitter

Venue Date & time Number of attendees

Fir Tree Community 
Centre, Treharris

20th November, 2017
3pm – 5pm

0

Bedlinog Rugby Club 21st November, 2017
3pm – 5pm

0

Cefn Community Centre 22nd November, 2017
4pm – 6pm 

5

Aberfan Community 
Centre

23rd November, 2017
3pm – 5pm

1

Pantyscallog Primary 
School

28th November 
3:30pm – 5:30pm 

5

Page 373



 An e-mail was sent to all staff and Councillors  

Responses 

 536 questionnaires were completed in total.
 466 completed the questionnaire online
 70 completed a hard copy questionnaire 

Partial Responses

4.7 There were 146 ‘Partial Responses’ to the questionnaire online. This meant that 
some questions were answered, but the questionnaire wasn’t submitted.

Key findings

4.8 320 (59.70%) of respondents thought that the vehicular access gates should remain 
open, as they are currently.

4.9 216 (40.30%) of respondents thought that the gates should be locked at certain 
times. 

4.10 We asked those who wanted the gates to be locked at certain times for their 
reasons. Anti-social behaviour was the overwhelming reason (ie. drug-use, 
vandalism, theft and fly-tipping) with some respondents citing respect as being the 
reason that the gates should be locked.

4.11 The most popular time for the gates to be open were from 8am until 8pm, followed 
by 7am until 7pm.

4.12 Of the 216 who thought the gates should be locked, 61 said they would consider 
getting involved in a community group within their area to take ownership of locking 
and closing the gates. 87 said they wouldn’t and 68 said they weren’t sure.

4.13 Despite anti-social behaviour being the main reason why people want the vehicular 
access gates locked at certain times, only 75 people said that they had witnessed or 
been a victim of anti-social behaviour while visiting one of the cemeteries in Merthyr 
Tydfil, compared to 461 who said they hadn’t.    

Historic Information 

4.14 In 2014, approximately 600 signatories expressed concerns that the gates to Pant 
Cemetery would no longer be locked during the hours of darkness. They wanted the 
Council to reconsider its decision in order to prevent unnecessary damage to 
memorials.

To date, there has been no reported damage to memorials at Pant Cemetery.

Page 374



5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

5.1 No financial implications to the Public Consultation. 

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

ELLIS COOPER
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY 
CABINET MEMBER

FOR GOVERNANCE AND CORPORATE 
SERVICES  

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Findings from the 
Listening and 
Engagement Exercise 
on the Opening and 
Locking
Of Cemeteries within 
the County Borough Of
Merthyr Tydfil

Representation from 
Aberfan Cemetery

Findings from the Public 
Consultation on the 
Opening and Locking
Of Cemeteries within 
the County Borough Of
Merthyr Tydfil

Petition received in 
2014

Nov 2017

December 2017

May  – June 2018

2014

Communications, Consultation and 
Engagement Office

Communications, Consultation and 
Engagement Office

Communications, Consultation and 
Engagement Office

Democratic Services Office

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 
No

No

Page 375



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 MTCBC Annual Improvement Report 2017/18
	Appendix 1
	Summary report
	2017-18 performance audit work
	The Council is meeting its statutory requirements in relation to continuous improvement
	Recommendations and proposals for improvement
	Audit, regulatory and inspection work reported during 
2017-18

	Appendices
	Appendix 1 – Status of this report
	Appendix 2 – Annual Audit Letter 
	Appendix 3 – National report recommendations 2017-18



	4a Full Council: 25/07/2018
	4b Cabinet: 25/07/2018
	4c SACRE: 14/06/2018
	4d Standards: 20/07/2018
	4e Planning, Regulatory and Licensing: 18/07/2018
	4f Licensing Committee: 18/07/2018
	4g Rights of Way: 30/07/2018
	4h Audit: 09/07/2018
	4i Scrutiny : Governance, Performance, Business Change and Corporate Services: 04/09/2018
	4j Scrutiny : Regeneration and Public Protection: 17/07 2018
	4k Scrutiny : Learning and LAESCYP: 16/07/2018
	4l Scrutiny : Learning and LAESCYP: 03/09/2018
	4m Scrutiny : Social Services: 24/07/2018
	4n Scrutiny : Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside: 18/06/2018
	5 Annual Governance Statement for Financial Year 2017/18
	6 Appointment of Audit Committee Lay Member
	7 Letter of Representation 2017/18
	Appendix 1

	8 Statement of Accounts 2017/18
	Appendix 1
	Audit of Financial Statements Report – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
	Introduction
	Status of the audit
	Proposed audit report
	Significant issues arising from the audit
	Uncorrected misstatements
	Corrected misstatements
	There are no other significant issues arising from the audit

	The accounts and audit deadlines going forward
	Recommendations arising from our 2017-18 financial audit work
	Independence and objectivity
	Final Letter of Representation
	Representations regarding the 2017-18 financial statements
	Management representations
	Responsibilities
	Information provided
	Financial statement representations

	Representations by the members of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
	Proposed audit report of the Auditor General to the Members of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
	Summary of corrections made to the draft financial statements which should be drawn to the attention of the Members of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
	Recommendations arising from our 2017-18 financial audit work



	Appendix 2

	9 Ethical Employment Practices In Supply Chains – Code Of Practice
	10 Annual Scrutiny Report 2017–18
	Appendix 1

	11 Change to Committee Appointments 2018-2019
	12 Home to school Transport
	13 Post-16 Home to School Transport
	14 Period Poverty
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	15 Petition received by the Authority
	16 Update to the Email Acceptable Use Policy
	17 Locking of Cemetery Gates



